ALBERT EINSTEIN THE INCORRIGIBLE pLAGIARIST

"The secret to creativity is knowing how to hide your sources."—ALBERT EINSTEIN

"All this was maintained by Poincaré and others long before the time of Einstein, and one does injustice to truth in ascribing the discovery to him."—CHARLES NORDMANN

"In the interest of history, I want yet to add, that the transformations which play the main role in the principle of relativity were first mathematically formulated by Voigt, in the year 1887."—HERMANN MINKOWSKI

"H. A. Lorentz has found out the 'Relativity theorem' and has created the Relativity-postulate as a hypothesis that electrons and matter suffer contractions in consequence of their motion according to a certain law."—HERMANN MINKOWSKI

Christopher Jon Bjerknes



ALBERT EINSTEIN The Incorrigible Plagiarist

XTX INC.

Downers Grove, Illinois, U.S.A.

ALBERT EINSTEIN The Incorrigible Plagiarist BY CHRISTOPHER JON BJERKNES

Published by:

XTX INC.

P.O. Box 9361 Downers Grove, IL 60515

E-Mail: info@xtxinc.com

Internet: http://www.xtxinc.com

Copyright © 2002. All Rights Reserved.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Bjerknes, Christopher Jon, 1965-

Albert Einstein: the incorrigible plagiarist/by Christopher Jon Bjerknes.

p. cm.

Includes bibliographical references and index. ISBN 0-9719629-8-7 (alk. paper)

- 1. Einstein, Albert, 1879-1955.
- 2. Physicists—Biography.
- 3. Relativity (Physics).
- 4. Physics-History-20th century.
- I. Title.

QC16.E5 B57 2002 530'.092—dc21 For my father, Christian Edward Køren Bjerknes, to whom I owe everything that I am. . . .

Christopher Jon Bjerknes

DISCLAIMER

This book is intended solely for entertainment purposes. Due to the possibility of mechanical or human error, this book may contain substantial errors, both typographical and as to content. Neither the author, nor the publisher, have any responsibility or liability for any harm, loss, or damage, resulting from the use of, or reliance upon, any information, or quotation, or argument, or conclusion, contained in this book. Neither the author, nor the publisher, guarantee the completeness, or the accuracy, or the adequacy, of any information in this book.

TABLE OF CONTENTS:

1. The Priority Myth	. 7
2. Space-Time, or is it "Time-Space"?	85
3. "Theory of Relativity" or "Pseudorelativism"?	135
4. Hero Worship	155
$5. E = mc^2 \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	161
6. EINSTEIN'S MODUS OPERANDI	169
7. HISTORY	191
8. MILEVA EINSTEIN-MARITY	195
9. POLITICS AND ANECDOTES	219
Notes	237
INDEX	402

"In the interest of history, I want yet to add, that the transformations which play the main rôle in the principle of relativity were first mathematically formulated by Voigt, in the year 1887."—HERMANN MINKOWSKI

"H. A. Lorentz has found out the 'Relativity theorem' and has created the Relativity-postulate as a hypothesis that electrons and matter suffer contractions in consequence of their motion according to a certain law."—HERMANN MINKOWSKI

"The term relativity refers to time and space. [***] This led the Dutch professor, Lorentz, and myself to develop the special theory of relativity."—ALBERT EINSTEIN

"This rigid four-dimensional space of the special theory of relativity is to some extent a four-dimensional analogue of H. A. Lorentz's rigid three-dimensional æther."—ALBERT EINSTEIN

"For certain of the physical magnitudes which enter in the formulas I have not indicated the transformation which suits best. This has been done by Poincaré, and later by Einstein and Minkowski. [***] I have not established the principle of relativity as rigorously and universally true. Poincaré on the contrary, has obtained a perfect invariance of the electromagnetic equations, and he has formulated the 'postulate of relativity,' terms which he was the first to employ."

—HENDRIK ANTOON LORENTZ

1. The Priority Myth

"The secret to creativity is knowing how to hide your sources."—Albert Einstein

"All this was maintained by Poincaré and others long before the time of Einstein, and one does injustice to truth in ascribing the discovery to him."—Charles Nordmann

It is easily proven that Albert Einstein did not originate the special theory of relativity in its entirety, or even in its majority. The historic record is readily available. Ludwig Gustav Lange, Woldemar Voigt, George Francis FitzGerald, Joseph Larmor, Hendrik Antoon Lorentz, Jules Henri Poincaré, Paul Drude, Paul Langevin, and many others, slowly developed the theory, step by step, and based it on thousands of years of recorded thought and research. Einstein may have made a few contributions to the theory, such as the relativistic equations for aberration and the Doppler-Fizeau Effect, though he may also have rendered an incorrect equation for the transverse mass of an electron, which, when corrected, becomes Lorentz' equation.

Albert Einstein's first work on the theory of relativity did not appear until 1905. There is substantial evidence that Albert Einstein did not write this 1905 paper 12 on the "principle of relativity" alone. His wife, Mileva Einstein-Marity, may have been coauthor, or the sole author, of the work. 13

If Albert Einstein did not originate the major concepts of the special theory of relativity, how could such a historically significant fact have escaped the attention of the world for nearly a century? The simple answer is that it did not.

Some called Einstein's priority into question almost immediately. As early as the years 1905-1907, Planck, ¹⁴ Kaufmann, ¹⁵ Ehrenfest, ¹⁶ Laub, ¹⁷ Laue, ¹⁸ Minkowski, and Albert Einstein, ¹⁹ himself, referred to the Einsteins' theory as being a mere interpretation-generalization of Lorentz' well-known theory, which interpretation was first accomplished by Poincaré, and later became known as the "Special Theory of Relativity".

In 1908, Bucherer published a paper titled, "The Experimental Verification of the Lorentz-Einstein Theory". 20

Minkowski acknowledged Voigt's priority for the "Lorentz Transformation", the mathematical backbone of the special theory of relativity,

"In the interest of history, I want yet to add, that the transformations which play the main rôle in the principle of relativity were first mathematically formulated by Voigt, in the year 1887."

"Historisch will ich noch hinzufügen, daß die Transformationen, die bei dem Relativitätsprinzip die Hauptrolle spielen, zuerst mathematisch von Voigt im Jahre 1887 behandelt sind."²¹

Minkowski named Lorentz, Planck and Poincaré, together with Einstein, as the developers of the principle of relativity,

"H. A. Lorentz has found out the 'Relativity theorem' and has created the Relativity-postulate as a hypothesis that electrons and matter suffer

contractions in consequence of their motion according to a certain law."22

and,

"The credit for the development of the general principle [the principle of relativity] belongs to Einstein, Poincaré and Planck, upon whose works I shall presently expound."

"Verdienste um die Ausarbeitung des allgemeinen Prinzips haben Einstein, Poincaré und Planck, über deren Arbeiten ich alsbald Näheres sagen werde."²³

Planck²⁴ and Poincaré attributed the principle of relativity to H. A. Lorentz,

"Will not the principle of relativity, as conceived by Lorentz, impose upon us an entirely new conception of space and time and thus force us to abandon some conclusions which might have seemed established? [***] What, then, is the revolution which is due to the recent progress of physics? The principle of relativity, in its former aspect, has had to be abandoned; it is replaced by the principle of relativity according to Lorentz. It is the transformations of 'the group of Lorentz' which do not falsify the differential equations of dynamics. [***] No, it was the mechanics of Lorentz, the one dealing with the principle of relativity; the one which, hardly five years ago, seemed to be the height of boldness. [***] In all instances in which it differs from that of Newton, the mechanics of Lorentz endures. We continue to believe that no body in motion will ever be able to exceed the speed

of light; that the mass of a body is not a constant, but depends on its speed and the angle formed by this speed with the force which acts upon the body; that no experiment will ever be able to determine whether a body is at rest or in absolute motion either in relation to absolute space or even in relation to the ether. [***] This is easy; we have only to apply Lorentz' principle of relativity."25

In 1909, Philipp Frank wrote of "Lorentz' theorem of relativity" and of the "principle of relativity according to Lorentz."26 Max von Laue wrote of, "the principle of relativity of classical mechanics," and of, "the principle of relativity of the Lorentz Transformation."27 Lorentz, himself, attributed the principle of relativity to Poincaré,

"For certain of the physical magnitudes which enter in the formulas I have not indicated the transformation which suits best. This has been done by Poincaré, and later by Einstein and Minkowski. [***] I have not established the principle of relativity as rigorously and universally true. Poincaré on the contrary, has obtained a perfect invariance of the electromagnetic equations, and he has formulated the 'postulate of relativity.' terms which he was the first to employ."28

Albert Einstein stated.

"The term relativity refers to time and space. [***] This led the Dutch professor, Lorentz, and myself to develop the special theory of relativity."29

Einstein, who knew that Lorentz had the power to end

Einstein's masquerade at any time, wrote to Lorentz,

"My feeling of intellectual inferiority with regard to you cannot spoil the great delight of [our] conversation, especially because the fatherly kindness you show to all people does not allow any feeling of despondency to arise."30

Einstein was grateful to Lorentz, for his theory and for his tact,

"Lorentz is a marvel of intelligence and exquisite tact. A living work of art! In my opinion he was the most intelligent of the theorists present".31

Robert Shankland records that.

"[Einstein] repeatedly praised H. A. Lorentz and at our last meeting he told me: 'People do not realize how great was the influence of Lorentz on the development of physics. We cannot imagine how it would have gone had not Lorentz made so many great contributions."32

In 1912, shortly after Poincaré's untimely death, Vito Volterra wrote in a tribute to Poincaré,

"But a celebrated experiment was performed by Michelson and Morley which kept account of the terms depending on the square of the aberration, and even this experiment, as is well known, gave a negative result.

In a famous paper of 1904 Lorentz showed that this result could be explained by introducing the hypothesis that all bodies are subjected to a contraction in the direction of the motion of the earth.

This paper was the point of departure for the later investigations. The results of Poincaré, Einstein and Minkowski followed closely that of Lorentz. In 1905 Poincaré published a summary of his ideas in the "Comptes Rendus" of the French Academy of Sciences. An extended memoir on the same subject appeared shortly afterwards in the "Rendiconti" of Palermo.

The basic idea in this set of investigations is founded upon the principle that no experiment could show any absolute motion of the earth. That is what is called the *Postulate of Relativity*. Lorentz showed that certain transformations, called now by his name, do not change the equations that hold for an electromagnetic medium; two systems, one at rest, the other in motion, are thus the exact images each of the other, in such a way that we can give every system a motion of translation without affecting any of the apparent phenomena [*Emphasis found in the original*]."³³

In 1913, Arthur Gordon Webster wrote in his memorial to Poincaré,

"The development of Maxwell's electromagnetic theory that has taken place in the last twenty-five years has led to a theory that has attracted the greatest interest among mathematical physicists and has, in fact, become in certain parts of the world no less than a mania. I refer to the so-called principle of relativity, a name which was given to it first, if I am not mistaken, by Poincaré. This principle is no less than a fundamental relation

between time and space, intended to explain the impossibility of determining experimentally whether a system, say the earth, is in motion or not. In an elaborate paper published in 1905 in the Palermo Rendiconti entitled, 'Sur la dynamique de l'électron,' he defines the principle of relativity by means of what he calls the Lorentz transformation. If the coordinates and the time receive the following linear transformation [Lorentz Transformation equations deleted the function x^2 + $y^2 + z^2 - t_1^2$ and the equations of electric propagation will remain invariant. From this follows the impossibility of determining absolute motion. Poincaré then submits the Lorentz transformation, which he shows belongs to a group. to an examination with regard to the principle of least action, which he shows holds for the principle of relativity. He further shows that by aid of certain hypotheses gravitation can be accounted for and shown to be propagated with the velocity of light."34

In 1913, Ernst Gehrcke wrote,

"The theory of relativity is nothing but a completely novel interpretation of the theory of the electrodynamics and optics of bodies in motion, which Lorentz had already developed. The theory of relativity is not distinguished by the creation of substantially new equations, but by a substantially new interpretation of the known transformation equations of Lorentz. The arguments made against this interpretation condemn it, not the equations themselves, which, as was stated, are not Einstein's, but rather Lorentz' equations, and still stand intact today [Emphasis found in the

original]."

"Die Relativitätstheorie ist nichts anderes, als eine völlig neuartige Interpretation einer schon von LORENTZ entwickelten Theorie der Elektrodynamik und Optik bewegter Körper. Das Charakteristikum der Relativitätstheorie besteht nicht in der Aufstellung wesentlich neuer Gleichungen, sondern in der Aufstellung einer wesentlich neuen Interpretation der bekannten Transformationsgleichungnen von LORENTZ. Gegen diese Interpretation richten sich die gemachten Einwände, nicht gegen die Gleichungen selbst, die, wie gesagt, keine EINSTEINschen, sondern LORENTZsche Gleichungen sind und die bis heute unangegriffen dastehen." 35

Alfred Arthur Robb spoke to the issue in 1914,

"Although generally associated with the names of Einstein and Minkowski, the really essential physical considerations underlying the theories are due to Larmor and Lorentz."³⁶

Harry Bateman asserted his priority over Einstein, in 1918,

"The appearance of Dr. Silberstein's recent article on 'General Relativity without the Equivalence Hypothesis' encourages me to restate my own views on the subject. I am perhaps entitled to do this as my work on the subject of General Relativity was published before that of Einstein and Kottler, and appears to have been overlooked by recent writers."

Charles Nordmann averred, in 1921,

"The only time of which we have any idea apart from all objects is the psychological time so luminously studied by M. Bergson: a time which has nothing except the name in common with the time of physicists, of science.

It is really to Henri Poincaré, the great Frenchman whose death has left a void that will never be filled, that we must accord the merit of having first proved, with the greatest lucidity and the most prudent audacity, that time and space, as we know them, can only be relative. A few quotations from his works will not be out of place. They will show that the credit for most of the things which are currently attributed to Einstein is, in reality, due to Poincaré. [***] I venture to sum up all this in a sentence which will at first sight seem a paradox: in the opinion of the Relativists it is the measuring rods which create space, the clocks which create time. All this was maintained by Poincaré and others long before the time of Einstein, and one does injustice to truth in ascribing the discovery to him."40

In 1921, Wolfgang Pauli set the record straight in the Encyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften,

"The metamorphoses in physical concepts brought about by the theory of relativity was a long time in the making. As far back as 1887, Voigt observed in one of his works [***] that it is mathematically possible to introduce a time of position t' into a moving reference system, whose origin is a linear function of the spatial coordinates, while the unit of

time, however, is taken to be constant. Whereby, one can assert, of course, that the wave equation

$$\Delta \phi - \frac{1}{c^2} \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial t^2} = 0$$

also remains valid in the moving system. [***] We now come to a review of the three works of Lorentz, Poincaré and Einstein, which contain the thoughts and developments which are the foundation of the theory of relativity. Lorentz' work holds priority over the others. Above all, it furnished the proof that Maxwell's equations are invariant under the transformation of coordinates [Lorentz Transformation equations deleted] provided that one at the same time suitably selects the field intensity in the primed system."

Pauli argues that Lorentz holds priority for the proof of invariance. Pauli next addresses Poincaré's contribution,

"The formal gaps left by Lorentz's work were filled by Poincaré. He stated the relativity principle to be generally and rigourously valid. Since he, in common with the previously discussed authors, assumed Maxwell's equations to hold for the vacuum, this amounted to the requirement that all laws of nature must be covariant with respect to the 'Lorentz transformation' [The terms 'Lorentz transformation' and 'Lorentz group' occurred for the first time in this paper by Poincaré—notation found in the original]. The invariance of the transverse dimensions during the motion is derived in a

natural way from the postulate that the transformations which affect the transition from a stationary to a uniformly moving system must form a group which contains as a subgroup the ordinary displacements of the coordinate system. Poincaré further corrected Lorentz's formulae for the transformations of charge density and current and so derived the complete covariance of the field equations of electron theory. We shall discuss his treatment of the gravitational problem, and his use of the imaginary coordinate *ict*, at a later stage (see §§ 50 and 7)."42

After giving Poincaré his due credit, and acknowledging that Einstein holds no priority for the special theory of relativity, Pauli, half-heartedly, pays the seemingly obligatory homage to Einstein, the then recently emerged celebrity,

"It was Einstein, finally, who in a way completed the basic formulation of this new discipline." 43

And it appears that Pauli was forced, or felt compelled, to praise Einstein with additional inappropriate and, evidently, insincere comments.

In 1922, Ludwig Lange, who had fought so hard, for so long, against so many, sought, without success, for acknowledgment of his parentage of the inertial system concept, which he published some twenty years before the Einsteins' absolutism,

"Als ich 1886 meine fünf Jahre lang fortgesetzen Forschungen über den Bewegungsbegriff abgeschlossen, in denen ich die relativistische Weiterentwicklung richtig vorausgesagt, im 18 Albert Einstein: The Incorrigible Plagiarist

wesentlichen so, wie sie seitdem sich vollzogen hat, da harrte ich mit große Spannung, aber jahrelang vergeblich auf die werktätige Teilnahme der Physikerwelt. [***] Als ich nunmehr 1902 in der Wundt-Festschrift meine Revision des Systems der Inertialbegriffe herausgebracht hatte, überkam mich ein wohltuendes Gefühl der Befreiung, wie ich mir denke, daß es einer umfassenden und dabei nicht im mindesten zerknirschten Beichte auch sonst folgen mag. Von diesem Zeitpunkt an mußten aber immer noch drei weitere Jahre verstreichen. ehe mit Albert Einstein eine Denkrichtung unter den Physikern sich Bahn zu brechen begann, welche, wenn auch nur indirekt, auf verwandten Gedankengängen aufzubauen unternahm, und ein viertes Jahr mußte hinzukommen, bis H. v. Seeliger (1906) in der Astronomie meine Nomenklatur "Inertialsystem" mit dem erfolg einführte, daß sie sich seitdem bei seinen Fachgenossen nahezu völligdurchgesetz zu haben scheint, während in der Physikfreilich erst die Ansätze dazu wahrzunehmen sind: denn Einstein selber und sein Anhang sträuben sich aus unverständlichen Gründen immer noch dagegen, eine so bequeme und charakteristische Bezeichnungsweise anzuwenden. Nun, die Zeit wird kommen, wo man mich als den Vater jener Nomenklatur und als den sorgfältigen Analysator des Sprachgebrauches der Mechanik, der die Wichtigkeit der relativistischen Richtung für die Physik besonders früh erkannte, nach Verdienst schätzen wird."44

Friedrich Kottler, author of Gravitation und Relativitätstheorie45 in 1903, revealed on March 31st,

1922, through the prestigious, well-read and wellrespected Encyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften.

"H. Poincaré, Palermo Rend. Circ. Math. 21 (1906), p. 129-175, especially p. 175, Formula (14). — This work of Poincaré's is dated July 23, 1905 and is the elaboration of a memorandum by the same title in the Parisian C. R. 140 (June 5, 1905), pp. 1504-8. The 'postulate' of relativity was enunciated here for the first time, before Einstein [Emphasis found in the original]."

"H. Poincaré, Palermo Rend. Circ. Math. 21 (1906), p. 129-175, insbes. p. 175, Formel (14). - Diese Arbeit Poincarés stammt vom 23. Juli 1905 und ist die Ausarbeit einer Note gleichen Titels aus den Paris C. R. 140 (5. Juni 1905), p. 1504-8. Hier wurde zum erstenmal, vor Einstein, das "Postulat" der Relativität ausgesprochen."46

In 1927, H. Thirring wrote,

"H. Poincaré had already completely solved the problem of time several years before the appearance of Einstein's first work (1905). Beginning with an article in Revue de Métaphysique et de Morale which appeared in 1898 (later reprinted in his book "The Value of Science" as a chapter on the concept of time), Poincaré settled the general problem of time from the physical standpoint and had already there referred to the fact that the principle of the constancy of the velocity of light serves as a basis for a definition of time. Poincaré, in his work 'La Théorie de Lorentz

et le Principe de Réaction' [Relevant citations and quotations found in endnote47], then defined Lorentz' "local time" (Fig. 23) as "time", which time is to be measured with clocks synchronized by light signals."

"Die Klärung des Zeitproblems war schon mehrere Jahre vor dem Erscheinen von Einsteins grundlegender Arbeit (1905) durch H. POINCARÉ weitgehend vorbereitet worden. Dieser hatte zunächst in einem im Jahre 1898 in der Revue de Métaphysique et de Morale erscheinenen (später als Kapitel über den Begriff der Zeit in seinem Buche "Der Wert der Wissenschaft" abgedruckten) Artikel das allgemeine Zeitproblem vom physikalischen Standpunkt aus behandelt und hatte dort schon erwähnt, daß sich auf den Satz von der Konstanz der Lichtgeschwindigkeit eine Zeitdefinition gründen läßt. Er hat dann in einer Arbeit "La Théorie de LORENTZ et le principe de réaction" (Arch. Néerland, (2) Bd. 5, 1900, Lorentz-Festschrift) die LORENTZsche Ortszeit (Ziff. 23) als die Zeit definiert, die durch mit Lichtsignalen synchronisierte Uhren gemessen wird."48

The Dictionary of Scientific Biography, in its article on Lorentz, states,

"Einstein's 1905 special relativity paper provided Lorentz' theory with a physical reinterpretation. [***] Einstein deduced the Lorentz transformations and other results that had first been made known through Lorentz' and others' electron theories. [***] Lorentz admired, but never embraced, Einstein's 1905 reinterpretation of the equations of his

electron theory. The observable consequences of his and Einstein's interpretations were the same, and he regarded the choice between them as a matter of taste. [***] Lorentz, and Einstein too, regarded the physical space of general relativity as essentially fulfilling the role of the ether of the older electron theory."49

This statement is very significant. It reveals that the ultimate "fiction" (Vaihinger's sense of the term in his Die Philosophie des Als Ob) of both Lorentz' and the Einsteins' theories is the same, with any distinctions between the two theories being metaphysical (truly just semantic) and not scientific-the theories make the same predictions; and are, therefore, scientifically speaking, indistinguishable. The Einsteins' theory is a quasi-positivistic mathematical analysis of Lorentz' synthetic physical theory—a "dimensional disguise" for it. As Arthur Eddington explained.

"LET us suppose that an ichthyologist is exploring the life of the ocean. He casts a net into the water and brings up a fishy assortment. Surveying his catch, he proceeds in the usual manner of a scientist to systematise what it reveals. He arrives at two generalisations:

- (1) No sea-creature is less than two inches long.
- (2) All sea-creatures have gills.

These are both true of his catch, and he assumes tentatively that they will remain true however often he repeats it.

In applying this analogy, the catch stands for the body of knowledge which constitutes physical science, and the net for the sensory and intellectual equipment which we use in obtaining it. The

casting of the net corresponds to observation; for knowledge which has not been or could not be obtained by observation is not admitted into physical science.

An onlooker may object that the first generalisation is wrong. There are plenty of seacreatures under two inches long, only your net is not adapted to catch them.' The icthyologist dismisses this objection contemptuously. 'Anything uncatchable by my net is ipso facto outside the scope of icthyological knowledge, and is not part of the kingdom of fishes which has been defined as the theme of ichtvological knowledge. In short, 'what my net can't catch isn't fish.' Or-to translate the analogy-'If you are not simply guessing, you are claiming a knowledge of the physical universe discovered in some other way than by the methods of physical science, and admittedly unverifiable by such methods. You are a metaphysician. Bah!"50

The "ether", or "æther", is a hypothetical fluid, which may fill space and conduct electromagnetic waves such as light, and is perhaps an intervening medium between bodies, which causes gravity. Einstein tried to distinguish his work from Lorentz' by calling the æther "superfluous", which assertion Poincaré and countless others had long since enunciated. The existence of this "fluid" has been hotly disputed for thousands of years, but unless we deny dimension as an anthropomorphic delusion of consciousness, "space" as extension without "material" must be something. An empty box contains something, even if we evacuate the air from it. We can give this something any name we like, but changing its name is a matter of semantics, not discovery.

James Mackaye wrote in 1931,

"Einstein's explanation is a dimensional disguise for Lorentz's. [***] Thus Einstein's theory is not a denial of, nor an alternative for, that of Lorentz. It is only a duplicate and disguise for it. [***] Einstein continually maintains that the theory of Lorentz is right, only he disagrees with his 'interpretation.' Is it not clear, therefore, that in this, as in other cases, Einstein's theory is merely a disguise for Lorentz's, the apparent disagreement about 'interpretation' being a matter of words only?"51

Lorentz pointed out in 1913,

"The latter is, by the way, up to a certain degree a quarrel over words: it makes no great difference. whether one speaks of the vacuum or of the æther."

"Letzteres ist übrigens bis zu einem gewissen Grade ein Streit über Worte: es macht keinen großen Untershied, ob man vom Vakuum oder vom Ather spricht."52

In 1934, Albert Einstein confirmed Mackave's assertions.

"Then came H. A. Lorentz's great discovery. All the phenomena of electromagnetism then known could be explained on the basis of two assumptions: that the ether is firmly fixed in space—that is to say, unable to move at all, and that electricity is firmly lodged in the mobile elementary particles. Today his discoveries may be expressed as follows: physical space and the ether are only different

terms for the same thing; fields are physical states of space."53

Obviously, Einstein's efforts to disguise his piracy through semantics and internally inconsistent Metaphysics are nonsense, for physical states compel physical substance, the æther, and Lorentz stated, in 1906,

"We shall add the hypothesis that, though the particles may move, the ether always remains at rest. We can reconcile ourselves with this, at first sight, somewhat startling idea, by thinking of the particles of matter as of some local modifications in the state of the ether. These modifications may of course very well travel onward while the volume-elements of the medium in which they exist remain at rest." ⁵⁴

Herbert Dingle derided Einstein's numerology, his "dimensional disguise for Lorentz's" physical theory,

"This proposal became known as the relativity theory of Lorentz, and certain features of it call for attention here. [***] Like Maxwell, who realised the necessity, if he was to satisfy his mathematical desires, of postulating a 'displacement current' to justify them, so Lorentz, in order to justify his transformation equations, saw the necessity of postulating a physical effect of interaction between moving matter and ether, to give the mathematics meaning. Physics still had de jure authority over mathematics: it was Einstein, who had no qualms about abolishing the ether and still retaining light waves whose properties were expressed by

formulae that were meaningless without it, who was the first to discard physics altogether and propose a wholly mathematical theory."55

As Vaihinger stated,

"Pure mathematical space is a fiction. Its concept has the marks of a fiction: the idea of an extension without anything extended, of separation without things that are to be separated, is something unthinkable, absurd and impossible." 56

Albert Einstein, who, in 1905, had called the æther "superfluous", stated in 1920,

"To deny the ether is ultimately to assume that empty space has no physical qualities whatever. [***] Recapitulating, we may say that according to the general theory of relativity space is endowed with physical qualities; in this sense, therefore, there exists an ether. According to the general theory of relativity space without ether is unthinkable; for in such space there not only would be no propagation of light, but also no possibility of existence for standards of space and time (measuring-rods and clocks), nor therefore any space-time intervals in the physical sense." 67

The eminent physicist Oliver Heaviside, in a handwritten letter to Prof. Bjerknes, discussed Einstein's compulsory shift in position from claiming that the æther was superfluous to stating directly that the æther was fundamental to "Einstein's" theories,

"I don't find Einstein's Relativity agrees with me. It

Herbert Spencer addressed the root of the problem of confusing pure Mathematics with Physics,

"To sum up this somewhat too elaborate argument:-We have seen how in the very assertion that all our knowledge, properly so called. is Relative, there is involved in the assertion that there exists a Non-relative. We have seen how, in each step of the argument by which this doctrine is established, the same assumption is made. We have seen how, from the very necessity of thinking in relations, it follows that the Relative is itself inconceivable, except as related to a real Nonrelative. We have seen that unless a real Nonrelative or Absolute be postulated, the Relative itself becomes absolute; and so brings the argument to a contradiction. And on contemplating the process of thought, we have equally seen how impossible it is to get rid of the consciousness of an actuality lying behind appearances; and how, from this impossibility, results our indestructible belief in that actuality."60

Surely, the assertion of a physical æther is a scientific hypothesis, which recognizes the need of the real behind the relative, while the abstract set of human rules which constitute "space-time" represent nothing real or imagined.

Sir Edmund Whittaker in his detailed survey, A History of the Theories of Aether and Electricity, Volume II, (1953), included a chapter entitled "The Relativity Theory of Poincaré and Lorentz". Whittaker thoroughly documented the development of the theory, documenting the authentic history, and demonstrated through reference to primary sources that Einstein

is the most unnatural and difficult to understand way of representing facts that could be thought of. His distorted space is chaos [***] The Einstein enthusiasts are very patronizing about the 'classical' electromagnetics and its ether, which they have abolished. But they will come back to it by and by. [***] But you must work fairly, with the Ether, and Forces, & Momentum etc. They are the realities, without Einstein's distorted nothingness. [***] And I really think that Einstein is a practical joker, pulling the legs of his enthusiastic followers, more Einsteinisch than he. He knows the weakness of his 2nd Theory. He only does it to annoy [***] I can't get away from Einstein the Joker. [***] Did such a clever man as Einstein not see the significance of Poisson's theorem? It is said that it was by noticing some of H. A. Lorentz' formulas, and those of Minkowski, led him to the result. Well, we must believe it, if he says so, and like the silent parrot, think the more."58

In 1938, Einstein and Infeld, in a co-authored work, averred,

"Our only way out seems to be to take for granted the fact that space has the physical property of transmitting electromagnetic waves, and not to bother too much about the meaning of this statement. We may still use the word ether, but only to express some physical property of space. This word ether has changed its meaning many times in the development of science. At the moment it no longer stands for a medium built up of particles. Its story, by no means finished, is continued by the relativity theory." 59

held no priority for the vast majority of the theory. Einstein offered no counter-argument to Whittaker's famous book, in which the following passage appeared,

"Einstein published a paper which set forth the relativity theory of Poincaré and Lorentz with some amplifications, and which attracted much attention. He asserted as a fundamental principle the constancy of the velocity of light, i.e. that the velocity of light in vacuo is the same in all systems of reference which are moving relatively to each other: an assertion which at the time was widely accepted, but has been severally criticized by later writers."61

Whittaker also wrote a realistic biography of Einstein, in Biographical Memoirs of Fellows of the Royal Society, which reiterated the truth, that Einstein did not create the theory of relativity,

"The aggregate of all the transformations so obtained, combined with the aggregate of all the rotations in ordinary space, constitutes a group, to which Poincaré* gave the name the group of Lorentz Transformations.

Einstein [***] adopted Poincaré's Principle of Relativity (using Poincaré's name for it) as a new basis for physics and showed that the group of Lorentz transformations provided a new analysis connecting the physics of bodies in motion relative to each other. Notable results appearing in this paper for the first time were the relativist formulae for aberration and also for the Doppler effect."62

Even among Einstein's admirers, voices are heard,

which deny Einstein's priority. Max Born averred that,

"Lorentz enunciated the laws according to which the measured quantities in various systems may be transformed into each other, and he proved that these transformations leave the field equations of the electron theory unchanged. This is the mathematical content of his discovery. Larmor (1900) and Poincaré (1905) arrived at similar results about the same time. It is interesting historically that the formula of transformation to a moving system, which we nowadays call Lorentz' transformation (see vi, 2, p. 200 formula (72)), were set up by Voigt as early as 1877 [sic63] in a dissertation which was still founded on the elastic theory of light. [***] In the new theory of Lorentz the principle of relativity holds, in conformity with the results of experiment, for all electrodynamic events."64

and.

"As mentioned already, Lorentz and Poincaré have succeeded in doing this by careful analysis of the properties of Maxwell's equations. They were indeed in possession of a great deal of mathematical theory. Lorentz, however, was so attached to his assumption of an ether absolutely at rest that he did not acknowledge the physical significance of the equivalence of the infinite numbers of systems of reference which he had proved. He continued to believe that one of them represented the ether at rest. Poincaré went a step further. It was quite clear to him that Lorentz's viewpoint was not tenable and that the

mathematical equivalence of systems of reference meant the validity of the principle of relativity. He also was quite clear about the consequences of his theory."65

and.

"I have now to say some words about the work of these predecessors of Einstein, mainly of Lorentz and Poincaré. [***] H. A. Lorentz' important papers of 1892 and 1895 on the electrodynamics of moving bodies contain much of the formalism of relativity. [***] POINCARE's papers [***] show that as early as 1899 he regarded it as very probable that absolute motion is indetectable in principle and that no ether exists. He formulated the same ideas in a more precise form, though without any mathematics, in a lecture given in 1904 to a Congress of Arts and Science at St. Louis, U.S.A., and he predicted the rise of a new mechanics which will be characterized above all by the rule, that no velocity can exceed the velocity of light. [***] The reasoning used by Poincaré was just that, which Einstein introduced in his first paper of 1905 [***] Does this mean that POINCARÉ knew all this before Einstein? It is possible [***] Many of you have looked upon [Einstein's] paper 'Zur Elektrodynamik bewegter Körper' in Annalen der Physik [***] and you will have noticed some peculiarities. The striking point is that it contains not a single reference to previous literature. It gives you the impression of quite a new venture. But that is, of course, as I have tried to explain, not true."66

Einstein's friend, physicist Peter Gabriel Bergmann, asserted.

"The Dutch physicist, Hendrik Antoon Lorentz (1853-1928) contrived a theoretical scheme according to which absolute motion of physical objects, including measuring rods, should compress them in such a manner that differences in the speed of light remained undetectable by any conceivable apparatus. Jules Henri Poincaré (1854-1912), the French mathematician, suggested that the consistent failure to identify the frame representing absolute rest indicated that no such frame existed, and that Newton's scheme of the multiplicity of inertial frames was valid after all. In 1905, Einstein combined Lorentz' and Poincaré's ideas into a new approach to the issue of frames of reference and so was able to explain why no experiment had uncovered the absolute motion of the earth, without contradicting Maxwell's theory of electricity and magnetism."67

The Einsteins' 1905 paper failed to present references to the work it "combined" of Lorentz and Poincaré. That which was "new" in the "approach" is of minor significance. Poincaré's work was itself the combination of Lorentz' and Poincaré's ideas, which "combination" Mileva and Albert did not create, but simply repeated, parroting Poincaré's earlier works, virtually verbatim.

G. H. Keswani argued that,

"As far back as 1895, Poincaré the innovator had conjectured that it is impossible to detect absolute motion. In 1900 he introduced the 'The principle of relative motion' which he later called by the

equivalent terms 'The law of relativity' and 'The principle of relativity' in his book Science and Hypothesis published in 1902. He further asserted in this book that there is no absolute time and that we have no intuition of the 'simultaneity' of two 'events' (mark the words) occurring at different places. In a lecture given in 1904, Poincaré reiterated the principle of relativity, described the method of synchronisation of clocks with light signals, urged a more satisfactory theory of the electrodynamics of moving bodies based on Lorentz's ideas and predicted a new mechanics characterized by the rule that the velocity of light cannot be surpassed. This was followed in June 1905 by a mathematical paper entitled 'Sur la dynamique de l'électron' in which the connection between relativity (impossibility of absolute motion) and the Lorentz Transformation given by Lorentz a year earlier was recognized. In point of fact, therefore, Poincaré was not only the first to enunciate the principle, but he also discovered in Lorentz's work the necessary mathematical formulation of the principle. All this happened before Einstein's paper appeared."68

How do we account for the striking similarity between Lorentz' and Poincaré's writings and Einstein's words in both the "special" and "general" theories of relativity? Who published what, first? Was it mere coincidence that time after time, Einstein repeated what Poincaré had earlier published? The record indicates that Poincaré held priority, often by many years, over Einstein. Why is it that Albert's last name is a household word and is synonymous with "relativity", and Poincaré's name is substantially more obscure? Einstein believed.

"The secret to creativity is knowing how to hide vour sources."69

The mathematical transformations in relativity theory are called "Lorentz Transformations", 70 an appellation supplied by Poincaré.71 The record indicates that Voigt,72 FitzGerald, Larmor, Poincaré and Lorentz began developing the mathematical expressions of the theory of relativity some 18 years before Einstein, and completed them before Einstein published on the subject. The "Lorentz Transformation" is not Lorentz' transformation, as is, and was, widely known,

"Nor did Lorentz discover these equations. They were first used by Voight[sic]."73

The Brockhaus Enzyklopädie succinctly states,

"Voigt [***] presented (among the introduction of the term 'Tensor') a theory of elasticity; in the treatment of optical properties, he formulated for the first time in 1887 the formulas, which later became known through the special theory of relativity as the Lorentz-Transformation ."

"Voigt [***] lieferte (unter Einführung des Begriffes >Tensor<) eine Elastizitätstheorie; bei der Behandlung der opt. Eigenschaften formulierte er 1887 erstmalig die später als Lorentz-Transformation durch die Spezielle Relativitätstheorie bekanntgewordenen Formeln."74

"Maxwell's and Lorentz' theory are not really opposites, but rather the rigid and the non-rigid, Zeppelin's and Parseval's electron. In the interest of history, I want yet to add, that the transformations which play the main rôle in the principle of relativity were first mathematically formulated by Voigt, in the year 1887. With the aid of these transformations, Voigt had already drawn conclusions at that time regarding the Doppler Effect."

"Nicht die Maxwellsche und die Lorentzsche Theorie sind die eigentlichen Gegensätze, sondern das starre und das unstarre, das Zeppelinsche und das Parsevalsche Elektron. Historisch will ich noch hinzufügen, daß die Transformationen, die bei dem Relativitätsprinzip die Hauptrolle spielen, zuerst mathematisch von Voigt im Jahre 1887 behandelt sind. Voigt hat damals bereits mit ihrer Hilfe Folgerungen in bezug auf das Dopplersche Prinzip gezogen."

to which Voigt responded,

"Mr. Minkowski recalls an old work of mine. It addressed the application of the Doppler Effect to some special cases which arise due to the elastic theory of light, not the electromagnetic. It had already at that time revealed some of the consequences, which were later arrived at through the electromagnetic theory."

"Herr Minkowski erinnert an eine alte Arbeit von

mir. Es handelt sich dabei um Anwendungen des Dopplerschen Prinzips, die in speziellen Teilen auftreten, aber nicht auf Grund der elektromagnetischen, sondern auf Grund der elastischen Theorie des Lichtes. Indessen haben sich damals bereits einige derselben Folgerungen ergeben, die später aus der elektromagnetischen Theorie gewonnen sind."⁷⁵

Lorentz, himself, acknowledged Voigt's priority, and was uncomfortable with Poincaré's term "Lorentz Transformation". Lorentz wrote to Voigt,

"Of course I will not miss the first opportunity to mention, that the concerned transformation and the introduction of a local time has been your idea."⁷⁶

Lorentz kept his word:

"In a paper "Über das Doppler'sche Princip", published in 1887 (Gött. Nachrichten, p. 41) and which to my regret has escaped my notice all these years, Voigt has applied to equations of the form (6) (§3 of this book) a transformation equivalent to the formulae (287) and (288). The idea of the transformations used above (and in §44) might therefore have been borrowed from Voigt and the proof that it does not alter the form of the equations for the *free* ether is contained in his paper."

"It was these considerations published by me in 1904, which gave rise to the dissertation by Poincaré on the dynamics of the electron, in which he has attached my name to the transformation of which I have just spoken. I am obliged to again note the observation that the same transformation itself was previously hit upon in an article from Mr. Voigt published in 1887, and I did not remove the artifice from it to the fullest extent possible. In fact, for certain of the physical magnitudes which enter in the formulas I have not indicated the transformation which suits best. This has been done by Poincaré, and later by Einstein and Minkowski. To discover the 'transformations of relativity', as I will call them now, . . . "

"Ce furent ces considérations publiées par moi en POINCARÉ d'écrire son 1904 qui donnèrent lieu à mémoire sur la Dynamique de l'électron, dans lequel il a attaché mon nom à la transformation dont je viens de parler. Je dois remarquer à ce propos que la même transformation se trouve déjà dans un article de M. Voigt publié en 1887 et que je n'ai pas tiré de cet artifice tout le parti possible. En effet, pour certaines des grandeurs physiques qui entrent dans les formules, je n'ai pas indiqué la transformation qui convient le mieux. Cela a été fait par Poincaré et ensuite par M. Einstein et MINKOWSKI. Pour trouver les «transformations de relativité», comme je les appellerai maintenant".78

Boscovich wrote of length contraction, time dilatation, relative simultaneity, and the "Principle of Invariance" resulting from these, back in the 1700's.79 Stallo, Streintz, Everett and Lange, stressed the principle of relativity. The term "principle of relativity" was not original to the Einsteins. It was, in fact, a common term long before they entered the scene. It was found in German in: Lange, 80 Stallo, 81 Violle, 82 Poincaré, 83 and the German translation, with notes by Felix Hausdorff,84 of Huyghens' Seventeenth Century seminal paper on relativity theory, "Über die Bewegung der Körper durch den Stoss / Über die Centrifugalkraft"; all before 1905. The term also appeared in many other languages, and was used by many other authors, prior to 1905. Poincaré frequently iterated his electrodynamics-based "principle of relativity" long before the Einsteins repeated the same principle. Rowland had expressed it by 1900.

Though it was an ancient notion, Galileo Galilei made the principle of relativity of mechanics famous,

"When you have observed all these things carefully (though there is no doubt that when the ship is standing still everything must happen in this way), have the ship proceed with any speed you like, so long as the motion is uniform and not fluctuating this way and that. You will discover not the least change in all the effects named, nor could you tell from any of them whether the ship was moving or standing still."85

Boscovich argued, in 1763, in the second supplement to his Natural Philosophy,

"§ II

Of Space & Time, as we know them

18. We have spoken, in the preceding Supplement, of Space & Time, as they are in themselves; it remains for us to say a few words on matters that pertain to them, in so far as they come within our knowledge. We can in no direct way obtain a knowledge through the senses of those real

modes of existence, nor can we discern one of them from another. We do indeed perceive, by a difference of ideas excited in the mind by means of the senses, a determinate relation of distance & position, such as arises from any two local modes of existence; but the same idea may be produced by innumerable pairs of modes or real points of position; these induce the relations of equal distances & like positions, both amongst themselves & with regard to our organs, & to the rest of the circumjacent bodies. For, two points of matter, which anywhere have a given distance & position induced by some two modes of existence, may somewhere else on account of two other modes of existence have a relation of equal distance & like position, for instance if the distances exist parallel to one another. If those points, we, & all the circumjacent bodies change their real positions, & yet do so in such a manner that all the distances remain equal & parallel to what they were at the start, we shall get exactly the same ideas. Nay, we shall get the same ideas, if, while the magnitudes of the distances remain the same, all their directions are turned through any the same angle, & thus make the same angles with one another as before. Even if all these distances were diminished. while the angles remained constant, & the ratio of the distances to one another also remained constant, but the forces did not change owing to that change of distance; then if the scale of forces is correctly altered, that is to say, that curved line, whose ordinates express the forces; then there would be no change in our ideas.

19. Hence it follows that, if the whole Universe within our sight were moved by a parallel motion in

any direction, & at the same time rotated through any angle, we could never be aware of the motion or the rotation. Similarly, if the whole region containing the room in which we are, the plains & the hills, were simultaneously turned round by some approximately common motion of the Earth. we should not be aware of such a motion; for practically the same ideas would be excited in the mind. Moreover, it might be the case that the whole Universe within our sight should daily contract or expand, while the scale of forces contracted or expanded in the same ratio; if such a thing did happen, there would be no change of ideas in our mind, & so we should have no feeling that such a change was taking place.

20. When either objects external to us, or our organs change their modes of existence in such a way that that first equality or similitude does not remain constant, then indeed the ideas are altered, & there is a feeling of change; but the ideas are the same exactly, whether the external objects suffer the change, or our organs, or both of them unequally. In every case our ideas refer to the difference between the new state & the old, & not to the absolute change, which does not come within the scope of our senses. Thus, whether the stars move round the Earth, or the Earth & ourselves move in the opposite direction round them, the ideas are the same, & there is the same sensation. We can never perceive absolute changes; we can only perceive the difference from the former configuration that has arisen. Further, when there is nothing at hand to warn us as to the change of our organs, then indeed we shall count ourselves to have been unmoved, owing to a general prejudice

for counting as nothing those things that are nothing in our mind; for we cannot know of this change, & we attribute the whole of the change to objects situated outside of ourselves. In such manner any one would be mistaken in thinking, when on board ship, that he himself was motionless, while the shore, the hills & even the sea were in motion."

Newton stated, in the fifth corollary to his Principia,

"The motions of bodies included in a given space are the same among themselves, whether that space is at rest, or moves uniformly forwards in a right line without any circular motion.

For the differences of the motions tending towards the same parts, and the sums of those that tend towards contrary parts, are, at first (by supposition), in both cases the same; and it is from those sums and differences that the collisions and impulses do arise with which the bodies mutually impinge one upon another. Wherefore (by Law II), the effects of those collisions will be equal in both cases; and therefore the mutual motions of the bodies among themselves in the one case will remain equal to the mutual motions of the bodies among themselves in the other. A clear proof of which we have from the experiment of a ship; where all motions happen after the same manner. whether the ship is at rest, or is carried uniformly forwards in a right line."

J. D. Everett expressly stated the principle of

relativity at least as early as 1883, in anticipation of Lange.

"We cannot even assert that there is any such thing as absolute rest, or that there is any difference between absolute rest and uniform straight movement of translation. "66

and, in 1895, Everett asserted the principle of relativity as a negative assertion,

"[T]here is no test by which we can distinguish between absolute rest and uniform velocity of translation" 87

Poincaré stated, in 1895.

"Experience reveals an abundance of facts, which can be summed up in the following formula: it is impossible to make manifest the absolute motion of matter, or, more correctly, the relative motion of ponderable matter with reference to the æther; the only thing which can be observed is the motion of ponderable matter with reference to ponderable matter."

"L'expérience a révélé une foule de faits qui peuvent se résumer dans la formule suivante: il est impossible de rendre manifeste le mouvement absolu de la matière, ou mieux le mouvement relatif de la matière pondérable par rapport à l'éther; tout ce qu'on peut mettre en évidence, c'est le mouvement de la matière pondérable par rapport à la matière pondérable."88

Poincaré's 1904 principle of relativity states,

"The principle of relativity, according to which the laws of physical phenomena should be the same, whether for an observer fixed, or for an observer carried along in a uniform movement of translation: so that we have not and could not have any means of discerning whether or not we are carried along in such a motion."89

Henry August Rowland stated the two "postulates" on October 28th, 1899,

"And yet, however wonderful [the ether] may be, its laws are far more simple than those of matter. Every wave in it, whatever its length or intensity, proceeds onwards in it according to well known laws, all with the same speed, unaltered in direction, from its source in electrified matter to the confines of the Universe, unimpaired in energy unless it is disturbed by the presence of matter. However the waves may cross each other, each proceeds by itself without interference with the others. [***] To detect something dependent on the relative motion of the ether and matter has been and is the great desire of physicists. But we always find that, with one possible exception, there is always some compensating feature which renders our efforts useless. This one experiment is the aberration of light, but even here Stokes has shown that it may be explained in either of two ways: first, that the earth moves through the ether of space without disturbing it, and second, if it carries the ether with it by a kind of motion called irrotational. Even here, however, the amount of action probably depends

upon relative motion of the luminous source to the recipient telescope. So the principle of Doppler depends also on this relative motion and is independent of the ether. The result of the experiments of Foucault on the passage of light through moving water can no longer be interpreted as due to the partial movement of the ether with the moving water, an inference due to imperfect theory alone. The experiment of Lodge, who attempted to set the ether in motion by a rapidly rotating disc, showed no such result. The experiment of Michelson to detect the ethereal wind, although carried to the extreme of accuracy, also failed to detect any relative motion of the matter and the ether [Emphasis Added]."90

It was Lorentz, who properly phrased the corollary of relativity in 1904.

"It would be more satisfactory, if it were possible to show, by means of certain fundamental assumptions, and without neglecting terms of one order of magnitude or another, that many electromagnetic actions are entirely independent of the motion of the system."

The Einsteins wrote, in 1905, without reference to previous authors.

"Examples of a similar kind, as well as the failed attempts to find a motion of the earth relative to the 'light medium', lead to the supposition, that the concept of absolute rest corresponds to no characteristic properties of the phenomena not just in mechanics, but also in electrodynamics, on the

contrary, for all systems of coordinates, for which the equations of mechanics are valid, the same electrodynamic and optical laws are also valid, as has already been proven for the magnitudes of the first order."

and,

"The laws according to which the states of physical systems change do not depend upon to which of two systems of coordinates, in uniform translatory motion relative to each other, this change of state is referred.

The Einsteins asserted the "light postulate", in 1905, without reference to previous authors,

1. "[L]ight in empty space always propagates with a determinate velocity c irrespective of the state of motion of the emitting body."

"Every ray of light moves in the 'resting' system of coordinates with the determinate velocity c, irrespective of whether this ray of light is emitted from a resting or moving body. Such that

velocity = (path of light) / (interval of time),

where 'interval of time' is to be construed in the sense of the definition of § 1."

The references in Lorentz' and Poincaré's works to this velocity are too numerous to repeat. In the Einsteins' 1905 paper, this velocity is the absolute velocity of light in its medium, absolute space.

Max Abraham wrote in 1904.

"The electromagnetic theory addresses the absolute motion of light, which light issues forth in every direction with the same velocity (c)"

"Die elektromagnetische Theorie spricht von einer absoluten Bewegung des Lichtes, die nach jeder Richtung hin mit derselben Geschwindigkeit (c) erfolgt"91

The absolute velocity of light was stated numerous times in history, for example, as an observed empirical result, by Cassini and Roemer (ca. 1676) and Bradley (ca. 1729).

Maxwell created his theorem of the velocity of light as a dynamic process in its medium. W. Stanley Jevons wrote in the 1870's.

"In a first subclass we may place the velocity of light or heat undulations, the numbers expressing the relation between the lengths of undulations, and the rapidity of the undulations, these numbers depending only on the properties of the ethereal medium, and being probably the same in all parts of the universe."92

The Einsteins argued, in 1905, that the æther is "superfluous", without reference to prior authors,

"The introduction of a 'luminiferous ether' will prove to be superfluous inasmuch as the view here to be developed will not require an 'absolutely stationary space' provided with special properties".

Lorentz stated in 1895,

"It does not suit my purpose to examine more thoroughly such speculations, or to express presumptions about the nature of the æther. I merely wish, as far as possible, to free myself of all preconceived notions regarding this substance and not to ascribe to it, for example, any of the qualities of ordinary liquids and gasses. Should it be shown, that a description of the phenomena is best arrived at through the assumption of absolute permeability, then one must surely in the meantime adopt this sort of hypothesis, and leave it to further research, if possible, to open up a deeper understanding to us.

It stands to reason, that there can be no question of the absolute rest of the æther; the phrase would not even have made sense. When I concisely state, the æther rests, it is only meant that one part of this medium does not displace the other, and that all perceptible motions of the heavenly bodies are relative motions in reference to the æther."

"Es liegt nicht in meiner Absicht, auf derartige Speculationen näher einzugehen oder Vermuthungen über die Natur des Aethers auszusprechen. Ich wünsche nur, mich von vorgefassten Meinungen über diesen Stoff möglichst frei zu halten und demselben z. B. keine von den Eigenschaften der gewöhnlichen Flüssigkeiten und Gase zuzuschreiben. Sollte es sich ergeben, dass eine Darstellung der Erscheinungen am besten unter der Voraussetzung absoluter Durchdringlichkeit gelänge, dann müsste

man sich zu einer solchen Annahme einstweilen schon verstehen und es der weiteren Forschung überlassen, uns, womöglich, ein tieferes Verständniss zu erschliessen.

Dass von absoluter Ruhe des Aethers nicht die Rede sein kann, versteht sich wohl von selbst; der Ausdruck würde sogar nicht einmal Sinn haben. Wenn ich der Kürze wegen sage, der Aether ruhe, so ist damit nur gemeint, dass sich der eine Theil dieses Mediums nicht gegen den anderen verschiebe und dass alle wahrnehmbaren Bewegungen der Himmelskörper relative Bewegungen in Bezug auf den Aether seien."

Joseph Larmor wrote, in 1900,

"At the same time all that is known (or perhaps need be known) of the aether itself may be formulated as a scheme of differential equations defining the properties of a *continuum* in space, which it would be gratuitous to further explain by any complication of structure; though we can with great advantage employ our stock of ordinary dynamical concepts in describing the succession of different states thereby defined." ⁹⁴

In 1900, Paul Drude stated,

"The velocity of light in space [***] independent of what is understood by a light vector. [***] The conception of an ether absolutely at rest is the most simple and the most natural,—at least if the ether is conceived to be not a substance but merely space endowed with certain physical properties." 95

Poincaré asserted, in 1900,

"Does our ether actually exist? We know the origin of our belief in the ether. If light takes several years to reach us from a distant star, it is no longer on the star, nor is it on the earth. It must be somewhere, and supported, so to speak, by some material agency.

The same idea may be expressed in a more mathematical and more abstract form."96

Poincaré also asserted, in 1889, that,

"Whether the ether exists or not matters little-let us leave that to the metaphysicians; what is essential for us is, that everything happens as if it existed, and that this hypothesis is found to be suitable for the explanation of phenomena. After all, have we any other reason for believing in the existence of material objects? That, too, is only a convenient hypothesis; only, it will never cease to be so, while some day, no doubt, the ether will be thrown aside as useless."97

In 1901, Cohn averred,

"Like Maxwell and Hertz we address a chemically and physically homogenous medium as an entity, which is also completely characterized at all points electromagnetically by the same value of some constants. This type of medium fills each element of our space; it is perhaps a certain ponderable substance, or it may also be the vacuum. In light of this, we will avoid continuing to speak of an 'æther'."

"Wie Maxwell und Hertz behandeln wir ein chemisch und physikalisch homogenes Medium als ein Gebilde, welches auch elektromagnetisch in allen Punkten durch die gleichen Werte einiger Constanten vollständig charakterisiert ist. Ein solches Medium erfüllt jedes Element unseres Raumes; es kann eine bestimmte ponderable Substanz oder auch das Vacuum sein. Daneben noch von einem "Aether" zu sprechen, werden wir vermeiden."98

Faraday argued, in April of 1846,

"The point intended to be set forth for consideration of the hearers was, whether it was not possible that the vibrations which in a certain theory are assumed to account for radiation and radiant phænomena may not occur in the lines of force which connect particles, and consequently masses of matter together; a notion which as far as it is admitted, will dispense with the æther, which, in another view, is supposed to be the medium in which these vibrations take place.

You are aware of the speculation2 which I some time since uttered respecting that view of the nature of matter which considers its ultimate atoms as centres of force, and not as so many little bodies surrounded by forces, the bodies being considered in the abstract as independent of the forces and capable of existing without them. In the latter view, these little particles have a definite form and a certain limited size; in the former view such is not the case, for that which represents size may be considered as extending to any distance to which the lines of force of the particle extend: the particle indeed is supposed to exist only by these forces, and where they are it is. The consideration of matter under this view gradually led me to look at the lines of force as being perhaps the seat of the vibrations of radiant phænomena.

The view which I am so bold as to put forth considers, therefore, radiation as a high species of vibration in the lines of force which are known to connect particles and also masses of matter together. It endeavours to dismiss the æther, but not the vibration. The kind of vibration which. I believe, can alone account for the wonderful, varied, and beautiful phænomena of polarization, is not the same as that which occurs on the surface of disturbed water, or the waves of sound in gases or liquids, for the vibrations in these cases are direct, or to and from the centre of action, whereas the former are lateral. It seems to me, that the resultant of two or more lines of force is in an apt condition for that action which may be considered as equivalent to a lateral vibration; whereas a uniform medium, like the æther, does not appear apt, or more apt than air or water.

The occurrence of a change at one end of a line of force easily suggests a consequent change at the other. The propagation of light, and therefore probably of all radiant action, occupies time; and, that a vibration of the line of force should account for the phænomena of radiation, it is necessary that such vibration should occupy time also. I am not aware whether there are any data by which it has been, or could be ascertained whether such a power

as gravitation acts without occupying time, or whether lines of force being already in existence. such a lateral disturbance of them at one end as I have suggested above, would require time, or must of necessity be felt instantly at the other end.

As to that condition of the lines of force which represents the assumed high elasticity of the æther, it cannot in this respect be deficient: the question here seems rather to be, whether the lines are sluggish enough in their action to render them equivalent to the æther in respect of the time known experimentally to be occupied in the transmission of radiant force.

The æther is assumed as pervading all bodies as well as space: in the view now set forth, it is the forces of the atomic centres which pervade (and make) all bodies, and also penetrate all space. As regards space, the difference is, that the æther presents successive parts or centres of action, and the present supposition only lines of action; as regards matter, the difference is, that the æther lies between the particles and so carries on the vibrations, whilst as respects the supposition, it is by the lines of force between the centres of the particles that the vibration is continued."99

Faraday's ideas were very influential. William Kingdon Clifford speculated in the year of his death and of Einstein's birth, 1879, that light may be naught but flickering "space",

"In order to explain the phenomena of light, it is not necessary to assume anything more than a periodical oscillation between two states at any given point of space."100

In 1934, Einstein repeated Clifford's idea without an attribution, which idea appeared before Lorentz' theory appeared,

"Then came H. A. Lorentz's great discovery. All the phenomena of electromagnetism then known could be explained on the basis of two assumptions: that the ether is firmly fixed in space—that is to say, unable to move at all, and that electricity is firmly lodged in the mobile elementary particles. Today his discoveries may be expressed as follows: physical space and the ether are only different terms for the same thing; fields are physical states of space."101

Ernst Brücke wrote, in 1857,

"Let us suppose a portion of the masses which gravitate towards each other to be destroyed; then certainly not only accelerating force, but also, according to circumstances, a portion of the tension or of the vis viva, or of both, would be destroyed: but this only confirms us in our way of viewing the subject. The law of the indestructibility of matter has been proved as universally valid as that of the conservation of force. That the destruction of the one should involve that of the other, only shows us that both stand in intimate connexion with each other, and proves that we are right in placing the cause of the notion of gravity in the masses themselves, and not in the space between them.

Thus in all that has been hitherto said, so far as my consciousness reaches, so far as I am capable of distinguishing true from false, and like from unlike, all known facts are brought into complete harmony

with our laws of thought when we suppose forces. as the causes of phænomena, to reside in the masses, the spaces between these masses being traversed by the forces. If the forces could be imagined as existing in space, it must also be conceivable that matter may be annihilated without changing the sum of forces, and this, at least by me, is not conceivable."102

Einstein stated, in 1916,

"If I let all things vanish from the Universe, then, according to Newton, Galileo's space of inertia lingers, but in my opinion, nothing remains."

"Wenn ich alle Dinge aus der Welt verschwinden lasse, so bleibt nach Newton der Galileische Trägheitsraum, nach meiner Auffassung aber nichts übrig."103

Clifford stated, in 1870, in his lecture, "On the Space Theory of Matter,"

"RIEMANN has shown that as there are different kinds of lines and surfaces, so there are different kinds of space of three dimensions; and that we can only find out by experience to which of these kinds the space in which we live belongs. In particular, the axioms of plane geometry are true within the limits of experiment on the surface of a sheet of paper, and yet we know that the sheet is really covered with a number of small ridges and furrows, upon which (the total curvature not being zero) these axioms are not true. Similarly, he says although the axioms of solid geometry are true

within the limits of experiment for finite portions of our space, vet we have no reason to conclude that they are true for very small portions; and if any help can be got thereby for the explanation of physical phenomena, we may have reason to conclude that they are not true for very small portions of space.

I wish here to indicate a manner in which these speculations may be applied to the investigation of physical phenomena. I hold in fact

- (1) That small portions of space are in fact of a nature analogous to little hills on a surface which is on the average fiat; namely, that the ordinary laws of geometry are not valid in them.
- (2) That this property of being curved or distorted is continually being passed on from one portion of space to another after the manner of a wave.
- (3) That this variation of the curvature of space is what really happens in that phenomenon which we call the motion of matter, whether ponderable or ethereal.
- (4) That in the physical world nothing else takes place but this variation, subject (possibly) to the law of continuity.

I am endeavouring in a general way to explain the laws of double refraction on this hypothesis, but have not yet arrived at any results sufficiently decisive to be communicated."104

Einstein again parroted Faraday, Clifford and Brücke, Einstein changed direction from his materialistic Boscovichian misinterpretation of Mach's theory of inertial space. Einstein adopted, without an attribution, Clifford's complete reification of abstract geometry, and stated, in 1930,

"We may summarize in symbolical language. Space, brought to light by the corporeal object, made a physical reality by NEWTON, has in the last few decades swallowed ether and time and seems about to swallow also the field and the corpuscles, so that it remains as the sole medium of reality."105

and.

"The strange conclusion to which we have come is this—that now it appears that space will have to be regarded as a primary thing and that matter is derived from it, so to speak, as a secondary result. Space is now turning around and eating up matter. We have always regarded matter as a primary thing and space as a secondary result. Space is now having its revenge, so to speak, and is eating up matter. But that is still a pious wish."106

Clifford had already stated, in a work published posthumously in 1885, some six years after his death,

"§ 19. On the Bending of Space

The peculiar topic of this chapter has been position, position namely of a point P relative to a point A. This relative position led naturally to a consideration of the geometry of steps. I proceeded on the hypothesis that all position is relative, and therefore to be determined only by a stepping process. The relativity of position was a postulate deduced from the customary methods of determining position, such methods in fact always

curvature of our space; whether, in fact, some or all of those causes which we term physical may not be due to the geometrical construction of our space. There are three kinds of variation in the curvature of our space which we ought to consider as within the range of possibility.

(i) Our space is perhaps really possessed of a curvature varying from point to point, which we fail to appreciate because we are acquainted with only a small portion of space, or because we disguise its small variations under changes in our physical condition which we do not connect with our change of position. The mind that could recognize this varying curvature might be assumed to know the absolute position of a point. For such a mind the postulate of the relativity of position would cease to have a meaning. It does not seem so hard to conceive such a state of mind as the late Professor Clerk-Maxwell would have had us believe. It would be one capable of distinguishing those so-called

(ii) Our space may be really same (of equal curvature), but its degree of curvature may change as a whole with the time. In this way our geometry based on the sameness of space would still hold good for all parts of space, but the change of curvature might produce in space a succession of apparent physical changes.

physical changes which are really geometrical or

due to a change of position in space.

(iii) We may conceive our space to have everywhere a nearly uniform curvature, but that slight variations of the curvature may occur from point to point, and themselves vary with the time. These variations of the curvature with the time may produce effects which we not unnaturally

giving relative position. Relativity of position is thus a postulate derived from experience. The late Professor Clerk-Maxwell fully expressed the weight of this postulate in the following words:-

All our knowledge, both of time and place, is essentially relative. When a man has acquired the habit of putting words together, without troubling himself to form the thoughts which ought to correspond to them, it is easy for him to frame an antithesis between this relative knowledge and a so-called absolute knowledge, and to point out our ignorance of the absolute position of a point as an instance of the limitation of our faculties. Any one, however, who will try to imagine the state of a mind conscious of knowing the absolute position of a point will ever after be content with our relative knowledge. 107

It is of such great value to ascertain how far we can be certain of the truth of our postulates in the exact sciences that I shall ask the reader to return to our conception of position albeit from a somewhat different standpoint. I shall even ask him to attempt an examination of that state of mind which Professor Clerk-Maxwell hinted at in his last sentence.

[非非非]

But we may press our analogy a step further, and ask, since our hypothetical worm and fish might very readily attribute the effects of changes in the bending of their spaces to changes in their own physical condition, whether we may not in like fashion be treating merely as physical variations effects which are really due to changes in the attribute to physical causes independent of the geometry of our space. We might even go so far as to assign to this variation of the curvature of space 'what really happens in that phenomenon which we term the motion of matter.'

We have introduced these considerations as to the nature of our space to bring home to the reader the character of the postulates we make in the exact sciences. These postulates are not, as too often assumed, necessary and universal truths; they are merely axioms based on our experience of a certain limited region. Just as in any branch of physical inquiry we start by making experiments, and basing on our experiments a set of axioms which form the foundation of an exact science, so in geometry our axioms are really, although less obviously, the result of experience. On this ground geometry has been properly termed at the commencement of Chapter II a physical science. The danger of asserting dogmatically that an axiom based on the experience of a limited region holds universally will now be to some extent apparent to the reader. It may lead us to entirely overlook, or when suggested at once reject, a possible explanation of phenomena. The hypotheses that space is not homaloidal, and again, that its geometrical character may change with the time, may or may not be destined to play a great part in the physics of the future; yet we cannot refuse to consider them as possible explanations of physical phenomena, because they may be opposed to the popular dogmatic belief in the universality of certain geometrical axioms-a belief which has I arisen from centuries of indiscriminating worship of the genius of Euclid."108

In 1905, the Einsteins asserted, without reference to prior authors.

"A rigid body which, measured in a state of rest, has the form of a sphere, therefore has in a state of motion-viewed from the stationary system-the form of an ellipsoid of revolution with the axes

Thus, whereas the Y and Z dimensions of the sphere (and therefore of every rigid body of no matter what form) do not appear modified by the motion, the X dimension appears shortened in the ratio

i.e. the greater the value of v, the greater the shortening. For v = c all moving objects—viewed from the 'stationary' system—shrivel up into plane figures. [That is, a body possessing spherical form when examined at rest.] For velocities greater than that of light our deliberations become meaningless; we shall, however, find in what follows, that the velocity of light in our theory plays the part, physically, of an infinitely great velocity."109

Poincaré stated, in 1904,

"From all these results, if they are confirmed, would arise an entirely new mechanics, which would be, above all, characterised by this fact, that no velocity could surpass that of light, any more than any temperature could fall below the zero absolute, because bodies would oppose an increasing inertia to the causes, which would tend

to accelerate their motion; and this inertia would become infinite when one approached the velocity of light."110

Boscovich argued, in 1763, in the second supplement to his Natural Philosophy,

"21. Again, it is to be observed first of all that from this principle of the [invariance] of those things, of which we cannot perceive the change through our senses, there comes forth the method that we use for comparing the magnitudes of intervals with one another; here, that, which is taken as a measure, is assumed to be [invariant]. Also we make use of the axiom, things that are equal to the same thing are equal to one another; & from this is deduced another one pertaining to the same thing, namely, things that are equal multiples, or submultiples, of each, are also equal to one another; & also this, things that coincide are equal. We take a wooden or iron ten-foot rod; & if we find that this is congruent with one given interval when applied to it either once or a hundred times, & also congruent to another interval when applied to it either once or a hundred times, then we say that these intervals are equal. Further, we consider the wooden or iron ten-foot rod to be the same standard of comparison after translation. Now, if it consisted of perfectly continuous & solid matter, we might hold it to be exactly the same standard of comparison; but in my theory of points at a distance from one another, all the points of the ten-foot rod, while they are being transferred, really change the distance continually. For the distance is constituted by those real modes of

existence, & these are continually changing. But if they are changed in such a manner that the modes which follow establish real relations of equal distances, the standard of comparison will not be identically the same; & yet it will still be an equal one, & the equality of the measured intervals will be correctly determined. We can no more transfer the length of the ten-foot rod, constituted in its first position by the first real modes, to the place of the length constituted in its second position by the second real modes, than we are able to do so for intervals themselves, which we compare by measurement. But, because we perceive none of this change during the translation, such as may demonstrate to us a relation of length, therefore we take that length to be the same. But really in this translation it will always suffer some slight change. It might happen that it underwent even some very great change, common to it & our senses, so that we should not perceive the change; & that, when restored to its former position, it would return to a state equal & similar to that which it had at first. However, there always is some slight change, owing to the fact that the forces which connect the points of matter, will be changed to some slight extent, if its position is altered with respect to all the rest of the Universe. Indeed, the same is the case in the ordinary theory. For no body is quite without little spaces interspersed within it, altogether incapable of being compressed or dilated; & this dilatation & compression undoubtedly occurs in every case of translation, at least to a slight extent. We, however, consider the measure to be the same so long as we do not perceive any alteration, as I have already remarked.

22. The consequence of all this is that we are quite unable to obtain a direct knowledge of absolute distances; & we cannot compare them with one another by a common standard. We have to estimate magnitudes by the ideas through which we recognize them; & to take as common standards those measures which ordinary people think suffer no change. But philosophers should recognize that there is a change; but, since they know of no case in which the equality is destroyed by a perceptible change, they consider that the change is made equally.

23. Further, although the distance is really changed when, as in the case of the translation of the ten-foot rod, the position of the points of matter is altered, those real modes which constitute the distance being altered; nevertheless if the change takes place in such a way that the second distance is exactly equal to the first, we shall call it the same, & say that it is altered in no way, so that the equal distances between the same ends will be said to be the same distance & the magnitude will be said to be the same; & this is defined by means of these equal distances, just as also two parallel directions will be also included under the name of the same direction. In what follows we shall say that the distance is not changed, or the direction, unless the magnitude of the distance, or the parallelism, is altered."

FitzGerald wrote, in 1889,

"I HAVE read with much interest Messrs. Michelson and Morley's wonderfully delicate experiment attempting to decide the important question as to how far the ether is carried along by the earth. Their result seems opposed to other experiments showing that the ether in the air can be carried along only to an inappreciable extent. I would suggest that almost the only hypothesis that can reconcile this opposition is that the length of material bodies changes, according as they are moving through the ether or across it, by an amount depending on the square of the ratio of their velocity to that of light. We know that electric forces are affected by the motion of the electrified bodies relative to the ether, and it seems a not improbable supposition that the molecular forces are affected by the motion, and that the size of a body alters consequently. It would be very important if secular experiments on electrical attractions between permanently electrified bodies, such as in a very delicate quadrant electrometer, were instituted in some of the equatorial parts of the earth to observe whether there is any diurnal and annual variation of attraction, -diurnal due to the rotation of the earth being added and subtracted from its orbital velocity; and annual similarly for its orbital velocity and the motion of the solar system."111

Lorentz had averred the same in 1892, and stated, in 1895,

"The displacement would naturally bring about this disposition of the molecules of its own accord, and thus effect a shortening in the direction of motion in the proportion of in accordance with the formulæ given in the abovementioned paragraph."112

In 1904, Lorentz affirmed that,

"§ 8. Thus far we have only used the fundamental equations without any new assumptions. I shall now suppose that the electrons, which I take to be spheres of radius R in the state of rest, have their dimensions changed by the effect of a translation, the dimensions in the direction of motion becoming kl times and those in perpendicular directions l times smaller.

In this deformation, which may be represented by (1/kl, 1/l, 1/l) each element of volume is understood to preserve its charge."

Boscovich argued, in 1763, in the second supplement to his Natural Philosophy,

"24. What has been said with regard to the measurement of space, without difficulty can be applied to time; in this also we have no definite & constant measurement. We obtain all that is possible from motion; but we cannot get a motion that is perfectly uniform. We have remarked on many things that belong to this subject, & bear upon the nature & succession of these ideas, in our notes. I will but add here, that, in the measurement of time, not even ordinary people think that the same standard measure of time can be translated from one time to another time. They see that it is another, consider that it is an equal, on account of some assumed uniform motion. Just as with the measurement of time, so in my theory with the

measurement of space it is impossible to transfer a fixed length from its place to some other, just as it is impossible to transfer a fixed interval of time, so that it can be used for the purpose of comparing two of them by means of a third. In both cases, a second length, or a second duration is substituted. which is supposed to be equal to the first; that is to say, fresh real positions of the points of the same ten-foot rod which constitute a new distance, such as a new circuit made by the same rod, or a fresh temporal distance between two beginnings & two ends. In my Theory, there is in each case exactly the same analogy between space & time. Ordinary people think that it is only for measurement of space that the standard of measurement is the same; almost all other philosophers except myself hold that it can at least be considered to be the same from the idea that the measure is perfectly solid & continuous, but that in time there is only equality. But I, for my part, only admit in either case the equality, & never the identity."

Larmor agreed and set the scale for time dilatation, which Lorentz and the Einsteins later adopted. Poincaré asserted that Lorentz' (Voigt's) "position time" was "time" and that simultaneity is relative, in 1898.

"XII

But let us pass to examples less artificial; to understand the definition implicitly supposed by the savants, let us watch them at work and look for the rules by which they investigate simultaneity.

I will take two simple examples, the measurement of the velocity of light and the

determination of longitude.

When an astronomer tells me that some stellar phenomenon, which his telescope reveals to him at this moment, happened nevertheless fifty years ago, I seek his meaning, and to that end I shall ask him first how he knows it, that is, how he has measured the velocity of light.

He has begun by *supposing* that light has a constant velocity, and in particular that its velocity is the same in all directions. That is a postulate without which no measurement of this velocity could be attempted. This postulate could never be verified directly by experiment; it might be contradicted by it if the results of different measurements were not concordant. We should think ourselves fortunate that this contradiction has not happened and that the slight discordances which may happen can be readily explained.

The postulate, at all events, resembling the principle of sufficient reason, has been accepted by everybody; what I wish to emphasize is that it furnishes us with a new rule for the investigation of simultaneity, entirely different from that which we have enunciated above.

This postulate assumed, let us see how the velocity of light has been measured. You know that Roemer used eclipses of the satellites of Jupiter, and sought how much the event fell behind its prediction. But how is this prediction made? It is by the aid of astronomic laws, for instance Newton's law.

Could not the observed facts be just as well explained if we attributed to the velocity of light a little different value from that adopted, and supposed Newton's law only approximate? Only this would lead to replacing Newton's law by another more complicated. So for the velocity of light a value is adopted, such that the astronomic laws compatible with this value may be as simple as possible. When navigators or geographers determine a longitude, they have to solve just the problem we are discussing; they must, without being at Paris, calculate Paris time. How do they accomplish it? They carry a chronometer set for Paris. The qualitative problem of simultaneity is made to depend upon the quantitative problem of the measurement of time. I need not take up the difficulties relative to this latter problem, since above I have emphasized them at length.

Or else they observe an astronomic phenomenon, such as an eclipse of the moon, and they suppose that this phenomenon is perceived simultaneously from all points of the earth. That is not altogether true, since the propagation of light is not instantaneous; if absolute exactitude were desired, there would be a correction to make according to a complicated rule.

Or else finally they use the telegraph. It is clear first that the reception of the signal at Berlin, for instance, is after the sending of this same signal from Paris. This is the rule of cause and effect analyzed above. But how much after? In general, the duration of the transmission is neglected and the two events are regarded as simultaneous. But, to be rigorous, a little correction would still have to be made by a complicated calculation; in practise it is not made, because it would be well within the errors of observation; its theoretic necessity is none the less from our point of view, which is that of a rigorous definition. From this discussion, I wish to

emphasize two things: (1) The rules applied are exceedingly various. (2) It is difficult to separate the qualitative problem of simultaneity from the quantitative problem of the measurement of time; no matter whether a chronometer is used, or whether account must be taken of a velocity of transmission, as that of light, because such a velocity could not be measured without measuring a time

XIII

To conclude: We have not a direct intuition of simultaneity, nor of the equality of two durations. If we think we have this intuition, this is an illusion. We replace it by the aid of certain rules which we apply almost always without taking count of them."113

Circa 1899, Poincaré clarified the fact that he saw no distinction between "time" and "local time".

"Allow me a couple of remarks regarding the new variable t': it is what Lorentz calls the local time. At a given point t and t' will not defer but by a constant, t' will, therefore, always represent the time, but the origin of the times being different for the different points serves as justification for his designation."

"Disons deux mots sur la nouvelle variable t': c'est ce que Lorentz appelle le temps locale. En un point donné t et t' ne différeront que par une constante, t' représentera donc toujours le temps mais l'origine des temps étant différente aux différents points: cela justifie sa dénomination."114

In 1900, Poincaré stated,

"In order for the compensation to occur, the phenomena must correspond, not to the true time t, but to some determined local time t' defined in the following way.

I suppose that observers located at different points synchronize their watches with the aid of light signals; which they attempt to adjust to the time of the transmission of these signals, but these observers are unaware of their movement of translation and they consequently believe that the signals travel at the same speed in both directions, they restrict themselves to crossing the observations, sending a signal from A to B, then another from B to A. The local time t' is the time determined by watches synchronized in this manner.

If in such a case

$$V = 1 / K_0^{1/2}$$

is the speed of light, and v the translation of the Earth, that I imagine to be parallel to the positive x axis, one will have:

$$t' = t - \frac{vx}{V^2}.$$

"Pour que la compensation se fasse, il faut rapporter les phénomènes, non pas au temps vrai t, mais à un certain temps local t' défini de la façon suivante.

Je suppose que des observateurs placés en différents points, règlent leurs montres à l'aide de signaux lumineux; qu'ils cherchent à corriger ces signaux du temps de la transmission, mais qu'ignorant le mouvement de translation dont ils sont animès et croyant par conséquent que les signaux se transmettent également vite dans les deux sens, ils se bornent à croiser les observations, en envoyant un signal de A en B, puis un autre de B en A. Le temps local t'est le temps marqué par les montres ainsi réglées.

Si alors

$$V = 1 / K_0^{1/2}$$

est la vitesse de la lumière, et v la translation de la Terre que je suppose parallèle à l'axe des x positifs, on aura:

$$t' = t - \frac{vx}{V^2}.$$

We know that Einstein had read this paper. 116

In 1902, Poincaré asserted, and we know, from Solovine's accounts, 117 that Einstein had read this work of Poincaré's,

"There is no absolute time. When we say that two periods are equal, the statement has no meaning, and can only acquire a meaning by convention. Not only have we no direct intuition of the equality of two periods, but we have not even direct intuition of the simultaneity of two events occurring in two different places. I have explained this in an article entitled "Mesure du Temps." 118

In Lisbeth and Ferdinand Lindemann's German

translation; Wissenschaft und Hypothese, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1904), pp. 286-289; of Poincarés 1902 work, La Science et l'Hypothèse; the Lindemanns included the following notation:

"43) S. 92. In der citierten Abhandlung ["la Mesure du temps", Revue de Métaphysique et de Morale, t. VI, p. 1-13 (janvier 1898).] kommt Poincaré zu folgenden Schlüssen:

"Wir haben keine direkte Anschauung von der Gleichzeitigkeit zweier Zeitdauern, ebensowenig von der Gleichheit.- Wir behelfen uns mit gewissen Regeln, die wir beständig anwenden, ohne uns davon Rechenschaft zu geben. - Es handelt sich dabei um eine Menge kleiner Regeln, die jedem einzelnen Falle angepaßt sind, nicht um eine allgemeine und strenge Regel.- Man könnte dieselben auch durch andere ersetzen, aber man würde dadurch das Aussprechen der Gesetze in der Physik, Mechanik und Astronomie außerordentlich umständlich machen. - Wir wählen also diese Regeln nicht, weil sie wahr, sondern weil sie bequem sind, und wir können sie in folgendem Satze zusammenfassen: Die Gleichzeitigkeit zweier Ereignisse oder die Ordnung ihrer Aufeinanderfolge und die Gleichheit zweier Zeitdauern müssen so definiert werden, daß der Ausspruch der Naturgesetze möglichst einfach wird; mit anderen Worten: Alle diese Regeln und Definitionen sind nur die Frucht eines unbewußten Opportunismus."

Newton (dessen Anschauung man z. B. bei Mach reproduziert findet: Die Mechanik in ihrer Entwicklung, 2. Anfl., Leipzig 1889, S. 207) setzte die Existenz einer "absoluten Zeit" voraus; d'Alembert, Locke u. a. hoben den relativen Charakter aller Zeitmaße hervor; vgl. die historischen Angaben bei A. Voß in dem Artikel über die Prinzipien der rationellen Mechanik (Enzyklopädie der math. Wissenschaften, IV, 1). Nach de Tillys Angabe (Sur divers points de la philosophie des sciences mathématiques; Classe des sciences de l'Académie R. de Belgique, 1901) definiert z. B. Lobatschewsky die Zeit als eine "Bewegung, welche geeignet ist, die anderen Bewegungen zu messen". Auch eine solche Definition setzt voraus, daß es eine Bewegung gibt, die zum Messen der (also aller) anderen Bewegungen geeignet ist; und wann ist eine Bewegung "geeignet", als Maß anderer zu dienen? Vielleicht kann die folgende analytische Erörterung hier zur Klärung beitragen.

Wir betrachten z. B. das Fallgesetz eines schweren Punktes auf der Erdoberfläche; dasselbe ist bekanntlich durch die Differentialgleichung:

(1)

$$\frac{d^2z}{dt^2} = -g$$

vollständig dargestellt, wenn z eine vertikal nach oben gemessene Koordinate, t die Zeit, g die Beschleunigung der Schwere bedeutet. Führen wir nun ein anderes Zeitmaß τ ein, so wird τ eine Funktion von t sein:

$$\tau = \varphi(t), \ t = \Phi(\tau),$$

und die Gleichung (1) nimmt, wenn wir t einführen, folgende Gestalt an:

(2)

$$\left[\frac{1}{\Phi'(\tau)}\right]^2 \left(\frac{d^2z}{d\tau^2} - \frac{dz}{d\tau} \Phi''(\tau)\right) = -g,$$

wo Φ' und Φ" den ersten und zweiten Differential quotienten der Funktion $\Phi(\tau)$ nach τ bezeichnen. Die einfache Form der Gleichung (1) beruht also wesentlich auf der Wahl eines für die Gesetze des Falles "geeigneten" Zeitmaßes; jede andere Art der Zeitmessung würde zu wesentlich komplizierterem Ansatze führen; dadurch ist die Zeit t vor der Zeit τ ausgezeichnet. Dieses Zeitmaß wird praktisch durch eine Uhr, etwa eine Pendeluhr, gegeben; die Bewegung des Pendels wird selbst wieder durch die Fallgesetze bedingt; wir messen also in (1) eine Fallerscheinung durch eine andere Fallerscheinung, und deshalb ist die Einfachheit desResultates nicht auffällig. Anders ist es, wenn wir eine durch eine Feder getriebene Uhr anwenden: hier ist es eine nicht selbstverständliche Tatsache, daß das Zeitmaß für das Ablaufen der Feder zur Beobachtung des freien Falles geeignet ist; immerhin wird der richtige und gleichmäßige Gang der Federuhr nur durch Vergleichung mit einer Pendeluhr reguliert, und dadurch wird dieses Zeitmaß auf das vorhergehende reduziert. Auf die gewählte Zeiteinheit, die der Rotation der Erde um ihre Achse entlehnt ist, kommt es hierbei nicht an; wir

bestimmen allerdings die Länge des Sekundenpendels nach dieser Einheit, könnten aber auch mit gleichem Erfolge umgekehrt eine beliebig gewählte Pendellänge zur Definition der Einheit verwenden. Anders ist es, wenn man zu kosmischen Problemen übergeht. Die Bewegung eines Planeten (x, y) um die im Anfangspunkte stehende Sonne mit der Masse m' wird durch die Gleichungen

(3)

$$\frac{d^2x}{dt^2} = -\frac{m'x}{r^3}, \quad \frac{d^2y}{dt^2} = -\frac{m'y}{r^3}$$

definiert, welche des Newtonische Gravitationsgesetz darstellen

$$(r = \sqrt{x^2 + y^2}).$$

Erfahrungsmäßig genügt such hier dasselbe Zeitmaß, das beim freien Falle eingeführt wurde; denn alle aus den Gleichungen (3) zu ziehenden Folgerungen stimmen (auch wenn man die Störungen der anderen Planeten berücksichtigt) hinreichend mit den Beobachtungen überein, so daß man keine Veranlassung hat, eine andere Zeit t einzuführen und die obige Transformation anzuwenden. Analog verhält es sich mit allen bekannten Erscheinungen; es genügt immer, die Komponenten der Beschleunigung durch die

Ausdrücke

$$\frac{d^2x}{dt^2}, \ \frac{d^2y}{dt^2}, \ \frac{d^2z}{dt^2}$$

zu messen, und es ist überflüssig, die allgemeineren Ausdrücke

$$\left(\frac{d^2x}{d\tau^2} - \frac{dx}{d\tau} \Phi''(\tau)\right) \frac{1}{\Phi'(\tau)^2}, \text{ etc.}$$

statt dessen einzuführen. In diesem Sinne kann man erfahrungsmäßig von einer absoluten Zeit sprechen, d. h. einer Zeit, die zur Beschreibung aller bisher beobachteten Erscheinungen gleichmäßig bequem ist, allerdings mit dem Vorbehalte, diese Vorstellung der absoluten Zeit sofort aufzugeben, wenn nun Tatsachen oder feinere Beobachtung alter Tatsachen dazu führen sollten, für irgendeine Erscheinung durch eine Funktion $\Phi(\tau)$ ein neues Zeitmaß τ einzuführen, so daß für diese Erscheinung die Beschleunigung durch

$$\frac{d^2s}{d\tau^2}$$
 statt durch $\frac{d^2s}{dt^2}$

dargestellt wird (d. h. das Produkt aus Masse und

Beschleunigungskomponente

$$\frac{d^2x}{dt^2}$$

sich als Funktion des Ortes des bewegten Punktes und anderer fester oder bewegter Punkte darstellen läßt). Aber auch dann würde man wohl versuchen, die entstehende Schwierigkeit durch Modifikation der anderen Annahmen, eventuell durch Hinzufügung weiterer fingierter Punkte und Kräfte (vgl. weiterhin die analogen Erörterungen auf S. 95 ff. beim Trägheitsgesetz) zu beseitigen, ehe man sich entschließt, bei verschiedenen Erscheinungen verschiedene Zeitmaße anzuwenden. Durch diese Überlegung kommt man zu wesentlich derselben Auffassung, welche Poincaré a. a. O. mit dem Worte Opportunismus charakterisiert."

Again, in 1904, Poincaré asserted that simultaneity is relative, and elaborated on the light synchronization method the Einsteins copied, in 1905, without citation to Poincaré. Poincaré stated in 1904,

"We come to the principle of relativity: this not only is confirmed by daily experience, not only is it a necessary consequence of the hypothesis of central forces, but it is imposed in an irresistible way upon our good sense, and yet it also is battered.

Consider two electrified bodies; though they seem to us at rest, they are both carried along by the motion of the earth; an electric charge in motion, Rowland has taught us, is equivalent to a current; these two charged bodies are, therefore, equivalent to two parallel currents of the same sense and these two currents should attract each other. In measuring this attraction, we measure the velocity of the earth; not its velocity in relation to the sun or the fixed stars, but its absolute velocity.

I well know what one will say, it is not its absolute velocity that is measured, it is its velocity in relation to the ether. How unsatisfactory that is! Is it not evident that from the principle so understood we could no longer get anything? It could no longer tell us anything just because it would no longer fear any contradiction.

If we succeed in measuring anything, we would always be free to say that this is not the absolute velocity in relation to the ether, it might always be the velocity in relation to some new unknown fluid with which we might fill space.

Indeed, experience has taken on itself to ruin this interpretation of the principle of relativity; all attempts to measure the velocity of the earth in relation to the ether have led to negative results. This time experimental physics has been more faithful to the principle than mathematical physics; the theorists, to put in accord their other general views, would not have spared it; but experiment has been stubborn in confirming it.

The means have been varied in a thousand ways and finally Michelson has pushed precision to its last limits; nothing has come of it. It is precisely to explain this obstinacy that the mathematicians are forced today to employ all their ingenuity.

Their task was not easy, and if Lorentz has gotten through it, it is only by accumulating hypotheses. The most ingenious idea has been that of local time.

Imagine two observers who wish to adjust their watches by optical signals; they exchange signals, but as they know that the transmission of light is not instantaneous, they take care to cross them.

When the station B perceives the signal from the station A, its clock should not mark the same hour as that of the station A at the moment of sending the signal, but this hour augmented by a constant representing the duration of the transmission. Suppose, for example, that the station A sends its signal when its clock marks the hour o, and that the station B perceives it when its clock marks the hour t. The clocks are adjusted if the slowness equal to t represents the duration of the transmission, and to verify it, the station B sends in its turn a signal when its clock marks o: then the station A should perceive it when its clock marks t. The timepieces are then adjusted. And in fact, they mark the same hour at the same physical instant, but on one condition, which is that the two stations are fixed. In the contrary case the duration of the transmission will not be the same in the two senses, since the station A, for example, moves forward to meet the optical perturbation emanating from B, while the station B flies away before the perturbation emanating from A. The watches adjusted in that manner do not mark, therefore, the true time, they mark what one may call the local time, so that one of them goes slow on the other. It matters little since we have no means of perceiving it. All the phenomena which happen at A, for example, will be late, but all will be equally so, and the observer who ascertains them will not perceive it since his watch is slow; so as the principle of

relativity would have it, he will have no means of knowing whether he is at rest or in absolute motion."119

The Einsteins parroted Poincaré's synchronization procedures, without acknowledging that Poincaré had stated them first. From the Einsteins' 1905 paper.

"I. KINEMATICAL PART § 1. Definition of Simultaneity

[Consider a system of coordinates, in which the Newtonian mechanical equations are valid. In order to put the contradistinction from the [moving] systems of coordinates to be introduced later into words, and for the exact definition of the conceptualization, we call this system of coordinates the 'resting system'.]

If a material point is at rest relatively to this system of co-ordinates, its position can be defined relatively thereto by the employment of rigid standards of measurement and the methods of Euclidean geometry, and can be expressed in Cartesian co-ordinates.

If we wish to describe the motion of a material point, we give the values of its co-ordinates as functions of the time. Now we must bear carefully in mind that a mathematical description of this kind has no physical meaning unless we are quite clear as to what we understand by 'time.' We have to take into account that all our judgments in which time plays a part are always judgments of simultaneous events. If, for instance, I say, 'That train arrives here at 7 o'clock,' I mean something like this: The pointing of the small hand of my

watch to 7 and the arrival of the train are simultaneous events.'

It might appear possible to overcome all the difficulties attending the definition of 'time' by substituting 'the position of the small hand of my watch' for 'time.' And in fact such a definition is satisfactory when we are concerned with defining a time exclusively for the place where the watch is located; but it is no longer satisfactory when we have to connect in time series of events occurring at different places, or-what comes to the same thing-to evaluate the times of events occurring at places remote from the watch.

We might, of course, content ourselves with time values determined by an observer stationed together with the watch at the origin of the co-ordinates, and co-ordinating the corresponding positions of the hands with light signals, given out by every event to be timed, and reaching him through empty space. But this co-ordination has the disadvantage that it is not independent of the standpoint of the observer with the watch or clock, as we know from experience. We arrive at a much more practical determination along the following line of thought.

If at the point A of space there is a clock, an observer at A can determine the time values of events in the immediate proximity of A by finding the positions of the hands which are simultaneous with these events. If there is at the point B of space another clock in all respects resembling the one at A, it is possible for an observer at B to determine the time values of events in the immediate neighbourhood of B. But it is not possible without further assumption to compare, in respect of time.

an event at A with an event at B. We have so far defined only an 'A time' and a 'B time.' We have not defined a common 'time' for A and B, for the latter cannot be defined at all unless we establish by definition that the 'time' required by light to travel from A to B equals the 'time' it requires to travel from B to A. Let a ray of light start at the 'A time' from A towards B, let it at the 'B time' be reflected at B in the direction of A, and arrive again at A at the 'A time'.

In accordance with definition the two clocks synchronize if

$$t_{\mathrm{B}} - t_{\mathrm{A}} = t'_{\mathrm{A}} - t_{\mathrm{B}}.$$

We assume that this definition of synchronism is free from contradictions, and possible for any number of points; and that the following relations are universally valid:-

- 1. If the clock at B synchronizes with the clock at A, the clock at A synchronizes with the clock at B.
- 2. If the clock at A synchronizes with the clock at B and also with the clock at C, the clocks at B and C also synchronize with each other.

Thus with the help of certain imaginary physical experiments we have settled what is to be understood by synchronous resting clocks located at different places, and have evidently obtained a definition of 'simultaneous,' or 'synchronous,' and of 'time.' The 'time' of an event is that which is given simultaneously with the event by a resting clock located at the place of the event, this clock being synchronous, and indeed synchronous for all time determinations, with a specified stationary clock.

[We set forth, according to present experience, that the magnitude

$$(2AB)/(t'_A - t_A) = c$$

is a universal constant (the velocity of light in empty space).

It is essential to have time defined by means of resting clocks in the resting system, and the time now defined being appropriate to the resting system we call it 'the time of the resting system."120

In the mid-1880's, Ludwig Lange argued for the principle of relativity based on the empirical dynamics of inertial motion, as opposed to the ontological kinematic definitions based on absolute space and absolute time of Galileo, Newton and Neumann, 121 which absolutist notions lingered in the Einsteins' absolutist theory. In 1887, Voigt gave the principle a new mathematical form based on a new concept of time—the mathematical form of the special theory of relativity. Larmor (1894-1900) and FitzGerald (1889) changed scale factors from Voigt's transformation. producing the "Lorentz Transformation", before Lorentz. In 1898, Poincaré argued that simultaneity is relative, based on his light synchronization procedure. which presumes that light speed is invariant in Lange's "inertial systems".

Given the facts that: Galileo popularized the concept of the principle of relativity, Lange took from it absolute space and absolute time, Voigt introduced the relativistic transformation, and Poincaré first demonstrated relative simultaneity; why is the concept popularly referred to as "Einstein's special theory of relativity"? Einstein contributed nothing to the special

principle of relativity. Are the popular misconceptions of Einstein, and his supposed discoveries; which misconceptions are fed by the scientific community and the media; and the factual historic record, itself, at odds? Is exposing the truth counter-productive, if it means the downfall of a hero and the death of a religion?

Einstein, himself, admitted,

"This rigid four-dimensional space of the special theory of relativity is to some extent a fourdimensional analogue of H. A. Lorentz's rigid threedimensional æther."122

and,

"I think, that the ether of the general theory of relativity is the outcome of the Lorentzian ether, through relativation."123

2. Space-Time, or is it "Time-Space"?

"As I've already said, it is not possible to conceive of more than three dimensions. However, a brilliant wit with whom I am acquainted considers duration a fourth dimension, and that the product of time multiplied by solidity would, in some sense, be a product of four dimensions."—D'ALEMBERT

"This rigid four-dimensional space of the special theory of relativity is to some extent a four-dimensional analogue of H. A. Lorentz's rigid three-dimensional æther."—Albert Einstein

"I think, that the ether of the general theory of relativity is the outcome of the Lorentzian ether, through relativation."—Albert Einstein

Poincaré provided the "four-dimensional analogue" to Lorentz' æther in 1905 and relativized the "Lorentzian ether" in 1895, long before Minkowski or Einstein manipulated credit for his work. The Einsteins' 1905 paper contains no four-dimensional analogue, and is, therefore, a theory of the "unrelativized Lorentzian æther", per se. Though Einstein credited Minkowski with the quadri-dimensional analogue,

"And now let me say just a few words about the highly interesting mathematical elaboration that the theory has undergone, thanks, mainly, to the sadly so prematurely deceased mathematician Minkowski," 125

in fact, Minkowski was well aware of Poincaré's earlier work, before Minkowski recited it in 1907, as if it were his own. 126 Roberto Marcolongo, 127 also, in 1906, developed a four-dimensional analysis of the Poincaré-Lorentz theory of relativity, before Minkowski. Einstein's brief evaluation exclusively cites work which was accomplished by Poincaré two years before Minkowski copied it, but Einstein nowhere mentions Poincaré or Marcolongo. Mehmke's work is significant. 128 Hargreaves 129 and Bateman 130 also deserve mention, for their development of the special and the general theories of relativity. In this same lecture, followed by a discussion which is on record, 131 Einstein shamelessly parroted Poincaré's enquiries into the nature of simultaneity132 and his clock synchronization procedures, without citing Poincaré: and Einstein failed to correct those who credited Einstein with the ideas he repeated, which were not his own.

Consider the psychological import of the attitude of some later writers toward those who actually originated the ideas compared to their attitude toward the heroes "Einstein" and "Minkowski", who merely parroted what others had pioneered.

"All the main ideas, of course, are due to Einstein and Minkowski. [***] It may be mentioned that the historical order of appearance of the ideas of our subject, as so often happens, has been quite different from the order which seems natural and in which we have presented them. First the formulas of transformation involving space coordinates and time were introduced by Lorentz without, however, giving to them the meaning they now have. In Lorentz's theory there exists one universal time t, and other times t' play only an auxiliary part. The credit for taking the decisive step recognizing the fact that all these variables are on the same footing is due to Einstein (1905). The four-dimensional point of view, after some preliminary work had been done by Poincaré and Marcolongo, was introduced most emphatically by Minkowski in 1908,"133

One must wonder how Minkowski "introduced", in 1908, that which was already extant in Poincaré's work of 1905, and in Marcolongo's work of 1906. It was Poincaré who first attacked Lorentz' and Larmor's distinction between local time and time, beginning in 1898, and eliminated said artificial distinction long before 1905—which distinction was not even present in Voigt's formulation of 1887.

There was no novelty in asserting time as a fourth dimension in 1908. In 1906, Cassius J. Keyser wrote,

"Herewith is immediately suggested the generic concept of dimensionality: if an assemblage of elements of any given kind whatsoever, geometric or analytic or neither, as points, lines, circles, triangles, numbers, notions, sentiments, hues, tones, be such that, in order to distinguish every element of the assemblage from all the others, it is necessary and sufficient to know exactly n independent facts about the element, then the assemblage is said to be n-dimensional in the elements of the given kind. It appears, therefore, that the notion of dimensionality is by no means exclusively associated with that of space but on the contrary may often be attached to the far more generic concept of assemblage, aggregate or manifold. For

example, duration, the total aggregate of timepoints, or instants, is a simple or one-fold assemblage. [Emphasis found in the original.]"134

Neither Minkowski, nor the Einsteins, nor Poincaré, hold priority on the concept of fourdimensional space-time. H. G. Wells, in 1894, expressly stated it in a popular novel, The Time Machine, long before Minkowski claimed priority,

"Can a cube that does not last for any time at all, have a real existence?' Filby became pensive. 'Clearly,' the Time Traveller proceeded, 'any real body must have extension in four directions: it must have Length, Breadth, Thickness, and-Duration. But through a natural infirmity of the flesh, which I will explain to you in a moment, we incline to overlook this fact. There are really four dimensions, three which we call the three planes of Space, and a fourth, Time. There is, however, a tendency to draw an unreal distinction between the former three dimensions and the latter, because it happens that our consciousness moves intermittently in one direction along the latter from the beginning to the end of our lives."

An article by "S." had appeared in Nature, Volume 31, Number 804, (March 26, 1885), p. 481, titled, "Four-Dimensional Space", which presented the concepts of "time-space", "four-dimensional solid" ("sursolid", after Des Cartes), "time area", and "time-line": which later became "space-time" ("Zeit-Raum" is a confusing pun in German with the word "Zeitraum"), "absolute world", and "world-line". Here is the work of 1885, which appeared some 23 years before

Minkowski's derivative lecture on the same subject:

"Four-Dimensional Space

Possibly the question, What is the fourth dimension? may admit of an indefinite number of answers. I prefer, therefore, in proposing to consider Time as a fourth dimension of our existence, to speak of it as a fourth dimension rather than the fourth dimension. Since this fourth dimension cannot be introduced into space, as commonly understood, we require a new kind of space for its existence, which we may call timespace. There is then no difficulty in conceiving the analogues in this new kind of space, of the things in ordinary space which are known as lines, areas, and solids. A straight line, by moving in any direction not in its own length, generates an area; if this area moves in any direction not in its own plane it generates a solid; but if this solid moves in any direction, it still generates a solid, and nothing more. The reason of this is that we have not supposed it to move in the fourth dimension. If the straight line moves in its own direction, it describes only a straight line; if the area moves in its own plane, it describes only an area; in each case, motion in the dimensions in which the thing exists, gives us only a thing of the same dimensions; and, in order to get a thing of higher dimensions, we must have motion in a new dimension. But, as the idea of motion is only applicable in space of three dimensions, we must replace it by another which is applicable in our fourth dimension of time. Such an idea is that of successive existence. We must, therefore, conceive that there is a new threedimensional space for each successive instant of

time; and, by picturing to ourselves the aggregate formed by the successive positions in time-space of a given solid during a given time, we shall get the idea of a four-dimensional solid, which may be called a sur-solid. It will assist us to get a clearer idea, if we consider a solid which is in a constant state of change, both of magnitude and position; and an example of a solid which satisfies this condition sufficiently well, is afforded by the body of each of us. Let any man picture to himself the aggregate of his own bodily forms from birth to the present time, and he will have a clear idea of a sursolid in time-space.

Let us now consider the sur-solid formed by the movement, or rather, the successive existence, of a cube in time-space. We are to conceive of the cube, and the whole of the three-dimensional space in which it is situated, as floating away in time-space for a given time; the cube will then have an initial and a final position, and these will be the end boundaries of the sur-solid. It will therefore have sixteen points, namely, the eight points belonging to the initial cube, and the eight belonging to the final cube. The successive positions (in time-space) of each of the eight points of the cube, will form what may be called a time-line; and adding to these the twenty-four edges of the initial and final cubes. we see that the sur-solid has thirty-two lines. The successive positions (in time-space) of each of the twelve edges of the cube, will form what may be called a time area; and, adding these to the twelve faces of the initial and final cubes, we see that the sur-solid has twenty-four areas. Lastly, the successive positions (in time-space) of each of the six faces of the cube, will form what may be called

a time-solid; and, adding these to the initial and final cubes, we see that the sur-solid is bounded by eight solids. These results agree with the statements in your article. But it is not permissible to speak of the sur-solid as resting in 'space,' we must rather say that the section of it by any time is a cube resting (or moving) in 'space.' S. March 16"135

This article, "Four-Dimensional Space", was probably a reaction to an earlier one, "Scientific Romances", Nature, Volume 31, Number 802, (March12, 1885), p. 431; which discusses Hinton's question, "What is the Fourth Dimension?" and Edwin A. Abbott's book Flatland: A Romance of Many Dimensions. 136

The author of "Four-Dimensional Space" is named as "S.", who may have been Simon Newcomb. Wells' The Time Machine includes the following passage,

"It is simply this. That Space, as our mathematicians have it, is spoken of as having three dimensions, which one may call Length, Breadth, and Thickness, and is always definable by reference to three planes, each at right angles to the others. But some philosophical people have been asking why three dimensions particularly-why not another direction at right angles to the other three?-and have even tried to construct a Four-Dimension geometry. Professor Simon Newcomb was expounding this to the New York Mathematical Society only a month or so ago. You know how on a flat surface, which has only two dimensions, we can represent a figure of a threedimensional solid, and similarly they think that by models of thee dimensions they could represent one of four-if they could master the perspective of the thing. See?""

A bibliography of Newcomb's works on the fourthdimension is to be found in the endnote.137 However, Newcomb does not seem to be a believer in time as a fourth dimension-so the mysterious "S." may well have been someone else, "S." Tolver Preston, perhaps?

Charles Howard Hinton queried as to what might be the fourth dimension in 1880, and argued that time constitutes a fourth dimension, resulting in an Eleatic universal state of being, without cause or effect,

"And in the first place, a being in four dimensions would have to us exactly the appearance of a being in space. A being in a plane would only know solid objects as two dimensional figures-the shapes namely in which they intersected his plane. So if there were four-dimensional objects, we should only know them as solids-the solids, namely, in which they intersect our space. Why, then, should not the four-dimensional beings be ourselves, and our successive states the passing of them through the three-dimensional space to which our consciousness is confined?

Let us consider the question in more detail. And for the sake of simplicity transfer the problem to the case of three and two dimensions instead of four and three.

Suppose a thread to be passed through a table cloth. It can be passed through in two ways. Either it can be pulled through, or it can be held at both ends, and moved downwards as a whole. Suppose a thread to be grasped at both ends, and the hands to be moved downwards perpendicularly to the tablecloth. If the thread happens to be perpendicular to the tablecloth it simply passes through it, but if the thread be held, stretched slanting wise to the tablecloth, and the hands are moved perpendicularly downwards, the thread will, if it be strong enough, make a slit in the tablecloth.

If now the tablecloth were to have the faculty of closing up behind the thread, what would appear in the cloth would be a moving hole.

Suppose that instead of a tablecloth and a thread, there were a straight line and a plane. If the straight line was placed slanting wise in reference to the plane and moved downwards, it would always cut the plane in a point, but that point of section would move on. If the plane were of such a nature as to close up behind the line, 'if it were of the nature of a fluid, what would be observed would be a moving point. If now there were a whole system of lines sloping in different directions, but all connected together, and held absolutely still by one framework, and if this framework with its system of lines were as a whole to pass slowly through the fluid plane at right angles to it, there would then be the appearance of a multitude of moving points in the plane, equal in number to the number of straight lines in the system. The lines in the framework will all be moving at the same rate-namely, at the rate of the framework in which they are fixed. But the points in the plane will have different velocities. They will move slower or faster according as the lines which give rise to them are more or less inclined to the plane. A straight line perpendicular to the plane will, on passing through, give rise to a stationary point. A straight line that slopes very

much inclined to the plane will give rise to a point moving with great swiftness. The motions and paths of the points, would b determined by the arrangement of the lines in the system. It is obvious that if two straight lines were placed lying across one another like the letter X, and if this figure were to be stood upright and passed through the plane, what would appear would be at first two points. These two points would approach one another. When the part where the two strokes of the X meet came into the plane, the two points would become one. As the upper part of the figure passed through, the two points would recede from one another.

If the lines be supposed to be affixed to all parts of the framework, and to loop over one another, and support one another, [figure deleted] it is obvious that they could assume all sorts of figures, and that the points on the plane would move in very complicated paths. The annexed figure represents a section of such a framework. Two lines X X and Y Y are shown, but there must be supposed to be a great number of others sloping backwards and forwards as well as sideways.

Let us now assume that instead of lines, very thin threads were attached to the framework: they on passing through the fluid plane would give rise to very small spots. Let us call the spots, atoms, and regard them as constituting a material system in the plane. There are four conditions which must he satisfied by these spots if they are to be admitted as forming a material system such as ours. For the ultimate properties of matter (if we eliminate attractive and repulsive forces, which may be caused by the motions of the smallest particles), are-1, Permanence; 2, Impenetrability; 3, Inertia; 4, Conservation of energy.

According to the first condition, or that of permanence, no one of these spots must suddenly cease to exist. That is, the thread which by sharing in the general motion of the system gives rise to the moving point, must not break off before the rest of them. If all the lines suddenly ended this would correspond to a ceasing of matter.

2. Impenetrability.—One spot must not pass through another. This condition is obviously satisfied. If the threads do not coincide at any point, the moving spots they give rise to cannot.

3. Inertia.-A spot must not cease to move or cease to remain at rest without coming into collision with another point. This condition gives the obvious condition with regard to the threads, that they, between the points where they come into contact with one another, must be straight. A thread which was curved would, passing through the plane, give rise to a point which altered in velocity spontaneously. This the particles of matter never do.

4. Conservation of energy.—The energy of a material system is never lost, it is only transferred from one form to another, however it may seem to cease. If we suppose each of the moving spots on the plane to be the unit of mass, the principle of the conservation of energy demands that when any two meet, the sum of the squares of their several velocities before meeting shall be the same as the sum of the squares of their velocities after meeting. Now we have seen that any statement about the velocities of the spots in the plane is really a statement about the inclinations of the threads to the plane. Thus the principle of the conservation of energy gives a condition which must be satisfied by the inclinations of the threads of the plane. Translating this statement, we get in mathematical language the assertion that the sum of the squares of the tangents of the angles the threads make with the normal to the plane remains constant.

Hence, all complexities and changes of a material system made up of similar atoms in a plane could result from the uniform motion as a whole of a system of threads.

We can imagine these threads as weaving together to form connected shapes, each, complete in itself, and these shapes as they pass through the fluid plane give rise to a series of moving points. Yet, inasmuch as the threads are supposed to form consistent shapes, the motion of the points would not be wholly random, but numbers of them would present the semblance of moving figures. Suppose, for instance, a number of threads to be so grouped as to form a cylinder for some distance, but after a while to be pulled apart by other threads with which they interlink. While the cylinder was passing through the plane we should have in the plane a number of points in a circle. When the part where the threads deviated came to the plane, the circle would break up by the points moving away. These moving figures in the plane are but the traces of the shapes of threads as those shapes pass on. These moving figures may be conceived to have a life and a consciousness of their own

Or if it be irrational to suppose them to have a consciousness when the shapes of which they are momentary traces have none, we may well suppose that the shapes of threads have consciousness, and

that the moving figures share this consciousness, only that in their case it is limited to those parts of the shapes that simultaneously pass through the plane. In the plane, then, we may conceive bodies with all the properties of a material system moving and changing, possessing consciousness. After a while it may well be that one of them becomes so disassociated that it appears no longer as a unit, and its consciousness as such may be lost. But the threads of existence of such a figure are not broken, nor is the shape which gave it origin altered in any way. It has simply passed on to a distance from the plane. Thus nothing which existed in the conscious life on the plane would cease. There would in such an existence be no cause and effect, but simply the gradual realisation in a superficies of an already existent whole. There would be no progress, unless we were to suppose the threads as they pass to interweave themselves in more complex shapes.

Can a representation such as the preceding be applied to the case of the existence in space with which we have to do? Is it possible to suppose that the movements and changes of material objects are the intersections with a three-dimensional space of four-dimensional existence? Can our consciousness be supposed to deal with a spatial profile of some higher actuality?

It is needless to say that all the considerations that have been brought forward in regard to the possibility of the production of a system satisfying the conditions of materiality by the passing of threads through a fluid plane, holds good with regard to a four-dimensional existence passing through a three-dimensional space. Each part of the ampler existence which passed through our

99

space would seem perfectly limited to us. We should have no indication of the permanence of its existence. Were such a thought adopted, we should have to imagine some stupendous whole, wherein all that has ever come into being or will come coexists, which, passing slowly on, leaves in this flickering consciousness of ours, limited to a narrow space and a single moment, a tumultuous record of changes and vicissitudes that are but to us. Change and movement seem as if they were all that existed. But the appearance of them would be due merely to the momentary passing through our consciousness of ever existing realities.

In thinking of these matters it is hard to divest ourselves of the habit of visual or tangible illustration. If we think of a man as existing in four dimensions, it is hard to prevent ourselves from conceiving him as prolonged in an already known dimension. The image we form resembles somewhat those solemn Egyptian statues which in front represent well enough some dignified sitting figure, but which are immersed to their ears in a smooth mass of stone which fits their contour exactly.

No material image will serve. Organised beings seem to us so complete that any addition to them would deface their beauty. Yet were we creatures confined to a plane, the outline of a Corinthian column would probably seem to be of a beauty unimprovable in its kind. We should be unable to conceive any addition to it, simply for the reason that any addition we could conceive would be of the nature of affixing an unsightly extension to some part of the contour. Yet, moving, as we do in space of three dimensions, we see that the beauty of the

stately column far surpasses that of any single outline. So all that we can do is to deny our faculty of judging of the ideal completeness of shapes in three dimensions.

Our conception of existence in four dimensions need not be confined to any particular supposition. There is no reason why a being existing in four dimensions should not be conceived to be as completely limited in all four directions as we are in three. All that we can say in regard to the possibility of such beings is, that we have no experience of motion in four directions. The powers of such beings and their experience would be ampler, but there would be no fundamental difference in the laws of force and motion.

Such a being would be able to make but a part of himself visible to us. He would suddenly appear as a complete and finite body, and as suddenly disappear, leaving no trace of himself, in space. There would be no barrier, no confinement of our devising that would not be perfectly open to him. He would come and go at pleasure; he would be able to perform feats of the most surprising kind. It would be possible by an infinite plane extending in all directions to divide our space into two portions absolutely separated from one another; but a four-dimensional being would slip round this plane with the greatest ease.

With regard to the possibility of the application of any test to discover whether a fourth dimension does exist or not, all that can be said is that no such test has succeeded. And, indeed, before searching for tests a theoretical point of the utmost importance has to be settled. In discussing the geometrical properties of straight lines and planes,

we suppose them to be respectively of one and two dimensions, and by so doing deny them any real existence. A plane and a line are mere abstractions. Every portion of matter is of three dimensions. If we consider beings on a plane not as mere idealities, we must suppose them to be of some thickness. If their experience is to be limited to a plane this thickness must be very small compared to their other dimensions. If, then, we suppose a fourth dimension to exist, either our consciousness itself must consist in a limitation of the knowledge of existence to three instead of four dimensions, or we must be very small in the fourth dimension as compared to others. In such a case it would probably be in the phenomena of the ultimate particles of matter, where the dimensions in all four directions would be comparable, that any indication of the new direction would have to be sought.

It is evident that these speculations present no point of direct contact with fact. But this is no reason why they should be abandoned. The course of knowledge is like the flow of some mighty river, which, passing through the rich lowlands, gathers into itself the contributions from every valley. Such a river may well be joined by a mountain stream. which, passing with difficulty along the barren highlands, flings itself into the greater river down some precipitous descent, exhibiting at the moment of its union the spectacle of the utmost beauty of which the river system is capable. And such a stream is no inapt symbol of a line of mathematical thought, which, passing through difficult and abstract regions, sacrifices for the sake of its crystalline clearness the richness that comes to the

more concrete studies. Such a course may end fruitlessly, for it may never join the main course of observation and experiment. But if it gains its way to the great stream of knowledge, it affords at the moment of its union the spectacle of the greatest intellectual beauty, and adds somewhat of force and mysterious capability to the onward current." 138

Hinton's and Abbott's works are highly derivative of another *Nature* article by G. F. Rodwell, "On Space of Four Dimensions", *Nature*, Volume 8, Number 183, (May 1, 1873), pp. 8-9. This same volume of *Nature* contains Clifford's translation of Riemann's, "On the Hypotheses which Lie at the Bases of Geometry". 139

Long before Hinton, Abbott, Rodwell, and even Riemann, was Stallo, who, in 1847, expressed the fundamental "space-time" concept,

"THE Spiritual, the absolute primitive movement within itself, can be real and substantial only in stating itself exteriorly; and we have repeatedly seen that this statement is absolute multiplicity. That the result of the statement, the Exterior, is BUT a statement, and the statement of an internal movement, implies its transience; the statement is from its very nature transient. This transience must exhibit itself, therefore, in the stated Exterior, wherever we take it; it must appear throughout, for the Exterior is inherently transient. Otherwise expressed: the Exterior is but a transience in position; a position in One of existence and non-existence,-or a position and a negation in one. The Exterior can therefore first be taken as such, and then it is SPACE, in which the transience,

dependency, shows itself as absolute relativity; secondly, as the bearer of its vivifying movement, and thus it is TIME. Or, the Exterior as an existence, as positive, fixed, is space; as a negation, nonexistence, it is time. Logically, the first two exteriorations of the Spiritual are therefore space and time. They are both abstractions, i.e. they are only, inasmuch as the understanding forcibly keeps them asunder, though their truth is their being in one, their inseparability in spite of their distinctness. [***] Time and space, whose first reality is their difference, will therefore further state their identity as real unity; and this statement is real MOTION. Real motion is the union of space and time. The motion under consideration here, namely, the primitive motion in the sphere of the Exterior, is not motion in any given, definite direction; it is motion IN ALL DIRECTIONS, to which we have no observable analogon. It is the pure movement of abstract statement and annulment. [***] The so-called dimensions of space present no difficulty in their deduction, and depend, like all deductions, upon the inherent references of space. Space, the absolute extension, as OPPOSED to the Spiritual, is spatial infinitude, unbounded (mathematical) solidity; as opposed TO THE SPIRITUAL, to the absolute intensity, it is a point, -in space, and yet spaceless; as the unity of the two, it is the line, -extended intensity or punctuality. If we seek for a spatial analogon of time, it must be the line, for it has been seen that time is the Extensive considered in its ideal bearing, the mediating unity therefore between extension and intensity. Now the absolutely Extensive, the Solid, is from its nature limited. —it

contains the limit; and this limit of solidity is the surface. Thus punctuality, solidity, surface, and linearity are inherent in the idea of space; we are logically compelled to see space under this fourfold aspect. The mathematical statement, that the motion of a point generates a line, that of a line a surface, and that of a surface a solid, is true only in the following sense:-Spatiality, extension as such, is the absolute reference to the without, beyond itself, absolute relativity. If, then, we ideally isolate a point, we are at the same moment compelled to refer it to ideal adjacent points, and thus the idea of the line starts up in the mind spontaneously. The same takes place with the line and with the surface. The ideas of point, line, surface, &c., from their nature, give birth to each other. The movement of a point, &c., however, as something real, to which the motion accedes, is a false assumption.

[Notation in the original: Already Hegel has pointed this out. See my exposition of his philosophy of nature.]"140

Boscovich stated, centuries ago,

"Hence, the number of other points of space is an infinity of the third order; & thus the probability is infinitely greater with an infinity of the third order, when we are concerned with any other particular instant of time." ¹⁴¹

Joseph Larmor, in 1900, raised space-time's significance to relativity theory and expressly called it a "continuum", long before Minkowski. Larmor is

perhaps guilty of pun, using "continuum" with both its mathematical and metaphysical meanings,

"At the same time all that is known (or perhaps need be known) of the aether itself may be formulated as a scheme of differential equations defining the properties of a *continuum* in space, which it would be gratuitous to further explain by any complication of structure; though we can with great advantage employ our stock of ordinary dynamical concepts in describing the succession of different states thereby defined." ¹⁴²

Note the absolutism implicit in the term "continuum", which Minkowski dubbed the "absolute world". The "continuum" is Newton's unchanging God—his myth that the human Self does not change during a lifetime, and, therefore, neither can God—absolute "spacetime".

Menyhért (Melchior) Palágyi, in 1901, published Neue Theorie des Raumes und der Zeit, in which he argued for an Eleatic quadri-dimensional space-time, and in which he justified the principle of relativity in four-dimensions. Poincaré established the Palágyistyle four-dimensional analysis of the "Lorentz Transformation", before Minkowski, or Einstein. Marcolongo 144 presented his four-dimensional view of the "Lorentz Transformation", before Minkowski. Before Palágyi was Henri Bergson, who wrote in 1888,

"in a word, we create for them a fourth dimension of space, which we call homogenous time, and which enables the movement of the pendulum, although taking place at one spot, to be continually set in juxtaposition to itself."¹⁴⁵ Prior to Bergson, Ernst Mach discussed quadridimensional position, in 1866,

"Now, I think that we can go still farther in the scale of presentations of space and thus attain to presentations whose totality I will call *physical space*.

It cannot be my intention here to criticize our conceptions of matter, whose insufficiency is, indeed, generally felt. I will merely make my thoughts clear. Let us imagine, then, a something behind (*unter*) matter in which different states can occur; say, for simplicity, a pressure in it, which can become greater or smaller.

Physics has long been busied in expressing the mutual action, the mutual attraction (opposite accelerations, opposite pressures) of two material particles as a function of their distance from each other—therefore of a spatial relation. Forces are functions of the distance. But now, the spatial relations of material particles can, indeed, only be recognized by the forces which they exert one on another.

Physics, then, does not strive, in the first place, after the discovery of the fundamental relations of the various pieces of matter, but after the derivation of relations from other, already given, ones. Now, it seems to me that the fundamental law of force in nature need not contain the spatial relations of the pieces of matter, but must only state a dependence between the states of the pieces of matter.

If the positions in space of the material parts of the whole universe and their forces as functions of these positions were once known, mechanics could give their motions completely, that is to say, it could make all the positions discoverable at any time, or put down all positions as functions of time.

But, what does time mean when we consider the universe? This or that "is a function of time" means that it depends on the position of the vibrating pendulum, on the position of the rotating earth, and so on. Thus, 'All positions are functions of time' means, for the universe, that all positions depend upon one another.

But since the positions in space of the material parts can be recognized only by their states, we can also say that all the states of the material parts depend upon one another.

The physical space which I have in mind—and which, at the same time, contains time in itself—is thus nothing other than dependence of phenomena on one another. A complete physics, which would know this fundamental dependence, would have no more need of special considerations of space and time, for these latter considerations would already be included in the former knowledge." ¹⁴⁶

I confine the discussion to quadri-dimensional hyperspace in which the fourth dimension signifies time or spiritual motion of some kind in a fourth dimension, whatever that should be interpreted to mean as ghosts retreating into a "fourth dimension" to undo tri-dimensional knots, leaving from one position in our world to return in another; but there was a tremendous body of work involving hyperspace beyond this restriction, with a long history pre-dating the special and the general theories of relativity.

For example, Stewart and Tait, in their widely read Unseen Universe, averred, in the then fairly recent tradition of the transcendental geometers,

"Just as points are the terminations of lines, lines the boundaries of surfaces, and surfaces the boundaries of portions of space of three dimensions:—so we may suppose our (essentially three-dimensional) matter to be the mere skin or boundary of an Unseen whose matter has *four* dimensions." ¹⁴⁷

This work will be discussed in detail in the volume of this series devoted to the general theory of relativity. The history of four-dimensional spaces is aptly recorded in Henry Parker Manning's Geometry of Four Dimensions, Macmillan, (1914), republished by Dover, (1956). Bibliographies appear in Manning's The Fourth Dimension Simply Explained, Dover, (1960), pp. 40-41; and in Duncan M'Laren Young Sommerville, Bibliography of Non-Euclidean Geometry, Harrison & Sons, London, (1911); reprinted Chelsea Pub. Co., New York, (1970); and William Stewart Halstead, "Bibliography of Hyper-Space and Non-Euclidean Geometry", American Journal of Mathematics, Volume 1, (1878), pp. 261ff. and 384ff.. The development of non-Euclidean geometry is outlined by Oswald Veblen, "The Foundations of Geometry", Popular Science Monthly, Volume 68, Number 1, (January, 1906), pp. 21-28.

Returning to the concept of time as the fourth dimension, Edgar Allen Poe believed, in 1848,

"A rational cause for the phænomenon, I maintain that Astronomy has palpably failed to assign: but the considerations through which, in this Essay, we have proceeded step by step, enable us clearly and immediately to perceive that Space and Duration are one."148

Poe was under the spell of Alexander von Humboldt (and opium). Humboldt stated "Mach's Principle" long before Mach, but long before Humboldt, Boscovich stated it. I shall return to Humboldt when I address the general theory of relativity. Humboldt's influence on Stallo. Poe and the general intellectual community toward relativism cannot be emphasized strongly enough!

D'Alembert let us in on a secret back in 1754.

"As I've already said, it is not possible to conceive of more than three dimensions. However, a brilliant wit with whom I am acquainted considers duration a fourth dimension, and that the product of time multiplied by solidity would, in some sense, be a product of four dimensions. This idea is perhaps contestable, but it appears to me to be of some merit, even if it is only that of novelty."149

Lagrange, worked out a new mechanics with time as the fourth dimension, ca. 1788,

"We will apply the theory of functions to mechanics. Here, the functions absolutely correspond to time, which we will always designate with t, and, since the position of a point in space depends upon the three rectilinear coordinates x, y, z, these coordinates, in the problems of mechanics, will be assumed to be functions of t. In this way, we can look upon mechanics as a geometry of four dimensions, and the analysis of mechanics like an extension of the analysis of geometry."

"Nous allons employer la théorie des fonctions dans la Mécanique. Ici les fonctions se rapportent essentiellement au temps, que nous désignerons toujours par t, et, comme la position d'un point dans l'espace dépend de trois coordonnées rectangulaires x, y, z, ces coordonnées, dans les problèmes de Mécanique, seront censées être des fonctions de t. Ainsi, on peut regarder la Mécanique comme une Géométrie à quatre dimensions et l'Analyse mécanique comme une extension de l'Analyse géométrique."150

John Locke asserted, ca. 1689,

"To conclude: expansion and duration do mutually embrace and comprehend each other; every part of space being in every part of duration, and every part of duration in every part of expansion. Such a combination of two distinct ideas is, I suppose, scarce to be found in all that great variety we do or can conceive, and may afford matter to further speculation."151

Henry More asserted, in 1671, that spirits inhabit four dimensions, 152 a belief pursued by astrophysicist Johann Karl Friedrich Zöllner, in the 1870's, 153 and Bernhard Riemann, 154 who used the spiritual concept to explain gravitation; which spiritualistic fourdimensional views were questioned by physicist Ernst Mach, 155 but embraced by physicist A. E. Dolbear 156 and by T. Proctor Hall,157 who was criticized by Edmund C. Sanford. 158 Hall noted, in 1892, that the fourth dimension is useful; in that,

"the theologian could use it for the world of spirits;

the physicist for forces [***] 'All are but parts of one stupendous whole, Whose body Nature is, and God the soul.' [Alexander Pope, Essay on Man] If fourfold space exists, it is evident that it must contain an infinite variety of three-fold spaces, of which we know only one. It must also be everywhere possible for a four-fold being to step out of our space at any point and re-enter it at any other point; for his relation to our space is nearly the same as our relation to a plane. If ghosts are four-fold beings, the erratic nature of their movements may become more comprehensible in the course of time. An ordinary knot could in four-fold space be readily untied by carrying one loop out of our space and bringing it back in a different place. In fact, a knot in our space would be simply a loop or coil in fourfold space. A flexible closed shell could be turned inside out as easily as a thin hoop can with us; and many other apparent impossibilities become mere child's play."

Hermann Schubert attacked Zöllner and the Spiritualists, and their fourth dimension,

"The high eminence on which the knowledge and civilization of humanity now stands was not reached by the thoughtless employment of fanciful ideas, nor by recourse to a four-dimensional world, but by hard, serious labor, and slow, unceasing research. Let all men of science, therefore, band themselves together and oppose a solid front to methods that explain everything that is now mysterious to us by the interference of independent spirits. For these methods, owing to the fact that they can explain everything, explain nothing, and

thus oppose dangerous obstacles to the progress of real research, to which we owe the beautiful temple of modern knowledge."159

In 1878, P. G. Tait published a polemic against Zöllner, and his fourth dimension, in the journal Nature, which evinces the emerging prejudice against Metaphysics, generated by Bacon, and later by the positivists.

"He is, as Helmholtz long ago said, a genuine Metaphysician, and (as such) is a curiosity really worthy of study:-not of course merely because he is a Metaphysician, but because in this nineteenth century he attempts to bring his metaphysics into pure physical science. [***] In conclusion, though I cannot make pretensions to any minute acquaintance with the German language, I think I may venture to suggest to Prof. Zöllner, for his next edition, a title which shall at least more accurately describe the contents of his work than does his present one. I cannot allow that the title 'Scientific Papers' is at all correctly descriptive. But I think that something like the following would suit his book well

Patriotische METAPHYSIK DER PHYSIK.

für moderne deutsche Verhältnisse.

Mit speciellem Bezug auf die vierte Dimension und den Socialdemokratismus bearbeitet.

With this little hint, which I hope will be taken, as it is meant, in good part, I heartily wish him and his work farewell. P. G. TAIT"160

It is ironic, that what was considered metaphysical

in the Nineteenth Century, with its belief in an observable reality; is today, with the scientific method turned on its head, considered scientific; i. e. unobservable and purely abstract "space-time" is today considered the absolute world, and questioning this internally contradictory ontological "nonsense", is today pejoratively and hypocritically referred to as "Metaphysics".

Just as quadri-dimensional speculation has a long and continuing history, so, too, does opposition to it. 161 Stallo wrote much against it, concluding,

"If Riemann's argument were fundamentally valid, it could be presented in very succinct and simple form. It would be nothing more than a suggestion that, because algebraic quantities of the first, second, and third degrees denote geometrical magnitudes of one, two, and three dimensions respectively, there must be geometrical magnitudes of four, five, six, etc., dimensions corresponding to algebraic quantities of the fourth, fifth, sixth, etc., degree. [Stallo notes: It is not unworthy of remark, here, that the practice of reading x^2 and x^3 as xsquare and x cube, instead of x of the second order or third power, is founded upon the silent or express assumption that an algebraic quantity has an inherent geometric import. The practice is, therefore, misleading, and ought to be disused. Principiis obsta!

It is hardly necessary to say, after all this, that the analytical argument in favor of the existence, or possibility, of transcendental space is another flagrant instance of the reification of concepts."162

Stallo's and Schubert's foreboding is profound.

given the absolutist ontology of the special theory of relativity, which soon followed their admonitions to us.

Edward H. Cutler stated in 1909,

"The fourth dimension has no real existence in the sense in which the external world that we know by means of our senses has real existence. It is a philosophical and metaphysical conception, whose actual existence cannot be demonstrated by observation or by logical reasoning."163

Manning and Whitrow cite Michael Stifel, in 1553, and John Wallis, in 1685, as stigmatizing the conjecture of a fourth or higher dimension, as being unnatural, an expression with religious implications in those times. 164

Aristotle, in contrast to Stewart and Tait, argued for a limitation of three, his favorite number, dimensions.

"The line has magnitude in one way, the plane in two ways, and the solid in three ways, and beyond these there is no other magnitude because three are all [***] There is no transfer from length to area and from area to a solid."165

And then there was Ptolemy,

"The admirable Ptolemy in his book On Distance well proved that there are not more than three distances, because of the necessity that distances should be taken along perpendicular lines, and because it is possible to take only three lines that are mutually perpendicular, two by which the plane is defined and a third measuring depth; so that if

as a quadri-dimensional statue, harkens back to the ancients, to Parmenides and the Eleatics.

there were any other distance after the third it would be entirely without measure and without definition. Thus Aristotle seemed to conclude from induction that there is no transfer into another magnitude, but Ptolemy proved it."166

"For what is different from being does not exist, so that it necessarily follows, according to the argument of Parmenides, that all things that are are one and this is being."168

Galileo questioned on what basis Aristotle drew his conclusion, but did not really dispute it.

> When Minkowski, in 1908, uttered the infamous words.

The relational image of time to space and motion is an ancient conception. Consider Anaximander's philosophy (ca. 611-546 B.C.), which speaks of the absolute world of "space-time", and hints at "Mach's principle",

"Henceforth space by itself, and time by itself, are doomed to fade away into mere shadows, and only a union of the two will preserve an independent reality,"169

"Anaximander, then, was the hearer of Thales. Anaximander was son of Praxiadas, and a native of Miletus. This man said that the originating principle of existing things is a certain constitution of the Infinite, out of which the heavens are generated, and the worlds therein; and that this principle is eternal and undecaying, and comprising all the worlds. And he speaks of time as something of limited generation, and subsistence, and destruction. This person declared the Infinite to be an originating principle and element of existing things, being the first to employ such a denomination of the originating principle. But, moreover, he asserted that there is an eternal motion, by the agency of which it happens that the heavens [Or, 'men.'] are generated; but that the earth is poised aloft, upheld by nothing, continuing (so) on account of its equal distance from all (the heavenly bodies)".167

his words were not only unoriginal, they were trite, and more archaic, than arcane.

Anton Reiser (Rudolf Kayser) proclaimed,

"The universe becomes a four-dimensional continuum in the time-space sense of Minkowski. Physical occurrences are now represented by three spatial coördinates as well as by one time coördinate, or in other words, there is no Becoming, only Being."170

One is left to wonder how the "universe Becomes a four-dimensional continuum", if there is "no Becoming, only being".

Hermann Wevl stated,

"The great advance in our knowledge described in this chapter consists in recognising that the scene of action of reality is not a three-dimensional

As Dean Turner noted, "space-time", as a concept,

"1. The main objections urged against the Principle of Relativity are [***] (iii) that time and space are such immediate objects of perception that the artificial view which it adopts of them cannot in any sense correspond to reality.

2. In respect of the last difficulty little can be said to meet the natural shrinking which the observer of natural phenomena feels from such a calculus as Minkowski's, in which we seem to lose sight of the most obvious distinction between time and space as essentially different modes of ordering events.

It must be remarked, however, that an essential part in the practice of the calculus is the final process of interpreting the analytical result in terms of the ordinary modes of thought. There is perhaps an analogy to be drawn between the analysis which lays out the whole history of phenomena as a single whole, and the things in themselves, the natural phenomena apart from the human intelligence, for which consciousness of time and space does not exist, the laws of which, when expressed for instance by means of a principle of least action, consist in a relation between the whole aggregate of configurations which their history contains; in which, so far as they are mechanically determinate, the past and the future are interchangeable. Such a view of the universe is inseparable from a mechanical determinism in which the future is unalterably determined by the past and in which the past can be uniquely inferred from the present state of the universe. It is the view of an intelligence which could comprehend at one glance the whole of time and space.

But the limitations of the human mind resolve

Euclidean space but rather a four-dimensional world, in which space and time are linked together indissolubly. However deep the chasm may be that separates the intuitive nature of space from that of time in our experience, nothing of this qualitative difference enters into the objective world which physics endeavours to crystallise out of direct experience. It is a four-dimensional continuum, which is neither 'time' nor 'space'. Only the consciousness that passes on in one portion of this world experiences the detached piece which comes to meet it and passes behind it, as history, that is, as a process that is going forward in time and takes place in space Emphasis found in the original]."171

"The objective world simply is, it does not happen. Only to the gaze of my consciousness, crawling upward along the lifeline of my body, does a section of the world come to life as a fleeting image in space which continuously changes in time."172

Ebenezer Cunningham wrote,

"With Minkowski space and time become particular aspects of a single four-dimensional concept; the distinction between them as separate modes of correlating and ordering phenomena is lost, and the motion of a point in time is represented as a stationary curve in four-dimensional space. The whole history of a physical system is laid out as a changeless whole."173

this changeless whole into its temporal and spatial aspects, and the past and future of the physical world is the past and future of the intelligence perceiving it. Only to a being outside the physical universe, free from participation in its phenomena, is time a meaningless term. The human consciousness and the physical universe are inseparably parts of a greater whole. They run parallel to one another, and the brain cannot do otherwise than order physical and external events relative to the internal sequences of its own consciousness.

It is by such a process of correlation that any analytical scheme of relations is constructed for the description of natural processes. When this has been carried out, it is claimed for it that it, at any rate approximately, contains within it the whole history of those processes for the mind to grasp as one whole. Thus the very act of formulating a set of equations which make the present state of the system to contain implicitly within it the whole history, past and to be, is one step, and that the largest, towards eliminating the peculiar characteristic of time as a product of the inner consciousness from its place in physical relations. It is but a small step further to the timeless universe of Minkowski.

It is in fact the sole aim of theoretical physics to distinguish between and disentangle one from the other those factors in perceived events which are dependent upon human consciousness and those which are completely independent of it. The achievements of the past in this direction are quite sufficient to warrant further and continuous effort. That the mind should be able to conceive such a

daring project and to progressively realize it, seems almost in itself sufficient to indicate that the resolution of its own workings into a chain of physically determinate processes is one incapable of complete realization."174

Milič Čapek opposed this mystical "myth of the frozen passage."175

It was a great injustice to attribute priority for this Eleatic stance to Minkowski. As was shown, Hinton justified the classical principle of relativity in fourdimensions, in 1880 (It is irrational to assert that the principle of relativity compels invariant light speed, on the same grounds that it is irrational to assert that the principle of relativity requires that if I rest in inertial system A, I also rest in inertial system B, which is in motion relative to inertial system A). Palágyi added the German nomenclature, and more precise mathematical formalism; and he also iterated the principle of relativity as a quadri-dimensional Eleatic ideal of a motionless, spaceless and timeless world, in 1901, stating, inter alia,

"However, it would also be, in reality, a spaceless conception of the world, since all points of this four-dimensional space would be given to us at the same time and it would not take up any length of time to grasp this four-dimensional world in all its parts. The four-dimensional conception of space would accordingly actually signify the complete removal of the spatiotemporalness of the world."

"Es wäre aber im Grunde genommen auch ein raumloses Auffassen der Welt, da alle Punkte dieses vierdimensionalen Raumes uns gleichzeitig

gegeben wären und es keine Zeitdauer in Anspruch nehmen dürfte, diese vierdimensionale Welt in allen ihren Teilen zu überblicken. Die vierdimensionale Raumvorstellung würde sonach eigentlich die völlige Aufhebung Raumzeitlichkeit der Welt bedeuten."176

This belief system is truly archaic. Quoting from Ueberweg, on the ancient Eleatics,

"§ 18. Xenophanes, of Colophon, in Asia Minor (born 569 B. C.), who removed later to Elea, in Lower Italy, combats in his poems the anthropomorphitic and anthropopathic representations of God presented by Homer and Hesiod, and enounces the doctrine of the one, allcontrolling God-head. God is all eye, all ear, all intellect; untroubled, he moves and directs all things by the power of his thought. [***] That the God of Xenophanes is the unity of the world is a supposition that was early current. We do not find this doctrine expressed in the fragments which have comedown to us, and it remains questionable whether Xenophanes pronounced himself positively in this sense, in speaking of the relation of God to the world, or whether such a conception was not rather thought to be implied in his teachings by other thinkers, who then expressed it in the phraseology given above. In the (Platonic?) dialogue, Sophistes (p. 242), the leading interlocutor, a visitor from Elea, says: 'The Eleatic race among us, from Xenophanes and even from still earlier times, assume in their philosophical discourses that what is usually called All, is One [***]. The 'still earlier' philosophers are probably

certain Orphists, who glorified Zeus as the allruling power, as beginning, middle, and end of all things. Aristotle says, Metaph., I. 5: 'Xenophanes, the first who professed the doctrine of unity-Parmenides is called his disciple-has not expressed himself clearly concerning the nature of the One, so that it is not plain whether he has in mind an ideal unity (like Parmenides, his successor) or a material one (like Melissus); he seems not to have been at all conscious of this distinction, but, with his regard fixed on the whole universe, he says only that God is the One.' [***]

§ 19. Parmenides of Elea, born about 515-510 B. C. (so that his youth falls in the time of the old age of Xenophanes), is the most important of the Eleatic philosophers. He founds the doctrine of unity on the conception of being. He teaches: Only being is, non-being is not; there is no becoming. That which truly is exists in the form of a single and eternal sphere, whose space it fills continuously. Plurality and change are an empty semblance. The existent alone is thinkable, and only the thinkable is real. Of the one true existence, convincing knowledge is attainable by thought; but the deceptions of the senses seduce men into mere opinion and into the deceitful, rhetorical display of discourse respecting the things, which are supposed to be manifold and changing.—In his (hypothetical) explanation of the world of appearance, Parmenides sets out from two opposed principles, which bear to each other, within the sphere of appearance, a relation similar to that which exists between being and non-being. These principles are light and night, with which the antithesis of fire and earth corresponds. [***] Truth consists in the knowledge

that being is, and non-being can not be; deception lies in the belief that non-being also is and must be. [***] The predicate being belongs to thought itself; that I think something and that this, which I think, is (in my thought), are identical assertions; nonbeing-that which is not-can not be thought, can, so to speak, not be reached, since every thing, when it is thought, exists as thought; no thought can be non-existent or without being, for there is nothing to which the predicate being does not belong, or which exists outside of the sphere of being.-In this argumentation Parmenides mistakes the distinction between the subjective being of thought and an objective realm of being to which thought is directed, by directing his attention only to the fact that both are subjects of the predicate being. [***] Not the senses, which picture to us plurality and change, conduct to truth, but only thought, which recognizes the being of that which is, as necessary, and the existence of that which is not, as impossible. [***] Much severer still than his condemnation of the naïve confidence of the mass of men in the illusory reports of the senses, is that with which Parmenides visits a philosophical doctrine which, as he assumes, makes of this very illusion (not, indeed, as illusion, in which sense Parmenides himself proposes a theory of the sensible, but as supposed truth) the basis of a theory that falsifies thought, in that it declares non-being identical with being. It is very probable that the Heraclitean doctrine is the one on which Parmenides thus animadverts, however indignantly Heraclitus might have resented this association of his doctrine with the prejudice of the masses, who do not rise above the false

appearances of the senses; [***] Parmenides (in a passage of some length, given by Simpl., Ad Phys., fol. 31 a b) ascribes to the truly existent all the predicates which are implied in the abstract conception of being, and then proceeds further to characterize it as a continuous sphere, extending uniformly from the center in all directions-a description which we are scarcely authorized in interpreting as merely symbolical, in the conscious intention of Parmenides. That which truly is, is without origin and indestructible, a unique whole, only-begotten, immovable, and eternal; it was not and will not be, but is, and forms a continuum. [***] For what origin should it have? How could it grow? It can neither have arisen from the nonexistent, since this has no existence, nor from the existent, since it is itself the existent. There is, therefore, no becoming, and no decay [***]. The truly existent is indivisible, everywhere like itself, and ever identical with itself. It exists independently, in and for itself [***], thinking, and comprehending in itself all thought; it exists in the form of a well-rounded sphere [***]. The Parmenidean doctrine of the apparent world is a cosmogony, suggesting, on the one hand, Anaximander's doctrine of the warm and the cold as the first-developed contraries and the Heraclitean doctrine of the transformations of fire, and, on the other, the Pythagorean opposition of 'limit' and 'the unlimited' [***], and the Pythagorean doctrine of contraries generally. It is founded on the hypothesis of a universal mixture of warm and cold, light and dark. The warm and light is ethereal fire, which, as the positive and efficient principle, represents within the sphere of

appearance the place of being; the cold and dark is air and its product, by condensation [***], earth. The combining or 'mixing' of the contraries is effected by the all-controlling Deity [***] at whose will Eros came into existence as first, in time, of the gods [***]. That which fills space and that which thinks, are the same; how a man shall think, depends on the 'mixture' of his bodily organs; a dead body perceives cold and silence [***]. If the verse in the long fragment,[***], could be amended (as is done by Gladisch, who seeks in it an analogue to the Maja of the Hindus) so as to read: [***]. Parmenides would appear as having explained the plurality and change attested by the senses, as a dream of the one true existence. But this conjecture is arbitrary; and the words cited in the Soph., p. 242: [***], as also the doctrine of the Megarians concerning the many names of the One, which alone really exists, confirm the reading [***] of the MSS. The sense of the passage is therefore: 'All the manifold and changing world, which mortals suppose to be real, and which they call the sum of things, is in reality only the One, which alone truly is.' In the philosophy of Parmenides no distinction is reached between appearance, or semblance, and phenomenon. The terms being and appearance remain with him philosophically unreconciled; the existence of a realm of mere appearance is incompatible with the fundamental principle of Parmenides.

§ 20. Zeno of Elea (born about 490—485 B. C.) defended the doctrine of Parmenides by an indirect demonstration, in which he sought to show that the supposition of the real existence of things manifold and changing, leads to contradictions. In particular,

he opposed to the reality of motion four arguments: 1. Motion can not begin, because a body in motion can not arrive at another place until it has passed through an unlimited number of intermediate places. 2. Achilles can not overtake the tortoise. because as often as he reaches the place occupied by the tortoise at a previous moment, the latter has already left it. 3. The flying arrow is at rest; for it is at every moment only in one place. 4. The half of a division of time is equal to the whole; for the same point, moving with the same velocity, traverses an equal distance (i.e., when compared, in the one case, with a point at rest, in the other, with a point in motion) in the one case, in half of a given time, in the other, in the whole of that time. [***] In the (Platonic?) dialogue Parmenides, a prose writing [***] of Zeno is mentioned, which was distributed into several series of argumentations [***], in each of which a number of hypotheses [***] were laid down with a view to their reductio in absurdum. and so to the indirect demonstration of the truth of the doctrine that Being is One. It is probably on account of this (indirect) method of demonstration from hypotheses, that Aristotle [***] called Zeno the inventor of dialectic [***]. If the manifold exists, argues Zeno [***], it must be at the same time infinitely small and infinitely great; the former, because its last divisions are without magnitude, the latter, on account of the infinite number of these divisions. (In this argument Zeno leaves out of consideration the inverse ratio constantly maintained between magnitude and number of parts, as the division advances, whereby the same product is constantly maintained, and he isolates the notions of smallness and number, opposing the

one to the other.) In a similar manner Zeno shows that the manifold, if it exists must be at the same time numerically limited and unlimited. Zeno argues, further [***], against the reality of space. If all that exists were in a given space, this space must be in another space, and so on in infinitum. Against the veracity of sensuous perception, Zeno directed [***] the following argument: If a measure of millet-grains in falling produce a sound, each single grain and each smallest fraction of a grain must also produce a sound; but if the latter is not the case, then the whole measure of grains, whose effect is but the sum of the effects of its parts, can also produce no sound. (The method of argumentation here employed is similar to that in the first argument against plurality.) The arguments of Zeno against the reality of motion [***] have had no insignificant influence on the development of metaphysics in earlier and later times. Aristotle answers the two first [***] with the observation [***] that the divisions of time and space are the same and equal [***] for both time and space are continuous [***]; that a distance divisible in infinitum can therefore certainly be traversed in a finite time, since the latter is also in like manner divisible in infinitum, and the divisions of time correspond with the divisions of space; the infinite in division [***] is to be distinguished from the infinite in extent [***]; his reply to the third argument [***] is, that time does not consist of single indivisible points (conceived as discontinuous) or of 'nows' [***]. In the fourth argument he points out what Zeno, as it seems, had but poorly concealed, viz., the change of the standard of comparison [***]. It can be questioned whether the Aristotelian answers are fully satisfactory for the first three arguments (for in the fourth the paralogism is obvious). Bayle has attacked [***]. Hegel [***] defends Aristotle against Bayle. Yet Hegel himself also sees in motion a contradiction; nevertheless, he regards motion as a real fact. Herbart denies the reality of motion on account of the contradiction which, in his opinion, it involves. [***]

§ 21. Melissus of Samos attempts by a direct demonstration to establish the truth of the fundamental thought of the Eleatic philosophy, that only the One is. By unity, however, he understands rather the continuity of substance than the notional identity of being. That which is, the truly existent, is eternal, infinite, one, in all points the same or 'like itself,' unmoved and passionless. [***] If nothing were, argues Melissus, how were it then even possible to speak of it, as of something being? But if any thing is, then it has either become or is eternal. In the former case, it must have arisen either from being or from nonbeing. But nothing can come from non-being; and being can not have arisen from being, for then there must have been being, before being came to be (became). Hence being did not become; hence it is eternal. It will also not perish; for being can not become non-being, and if being change to being, it has not perished. Therefore it always was and always will be. As without genesis, and indestructible, being has no beginning and no end; it is, therefore, infinite. (It is easy to perceive here the leap in argumentation from temporal infinity to the infinity of space, which very likely contributed essentially to draw on Melissus Aristotle's reproach

of feebleness of thought.) As infinite, being is One; for if it were dual or plural, its members would mutually limit each other, and so would not be infinite. As one, being is unchangeable; for change would pluralize it. More particularly, it is unmoved; for there exists no empty space in which it can move, since such a space, if it existed, would be an existing nothing; and being can not move within itself for then the One would become a divisum, hence manifold. Notwithstanding the infinite extension which Melissus attributes to being, he will not have it called material, since whatever is material has parts, and so can not be a unity."177

Einstein, together with Jakob Laub, denounced Minkowski's recitation of Poincaré's four-dimensional interpretation of the Lorentzian æther, in 1908, in a paper fraught with mistakes. 178 It wasn't until it was made clear to Einstein that Poincaré's quadridimensional interpretation of Lorentz' quasi-rigid æther could be exploited to arrive at Paul Gerber's179 1898 formulation of gravitation, that Einstein ended his attack on it, and instead copied it in the general theory of relativity of 1916-though, predictably, Einstein failed to cite either Poincaré or Gerber.

Einstein had read Mach, who paraphrased Gerber's work.

"Paul Gerber alone ("Ueber die räumliche u. zeitliche Ausbreitung der Gravitation," Zeitschrift f. Math. U. Phys., 1898, II), from the perihelial motion of Mercury, forty-one seconds in a century. finds the velocity of propagation of gravitation to be the same as that of light. This would speak in favor of the ether as the medium of gravitation.

(Compare W. Wien, "Ueber die Möglichkeit einer elektromagnetischen Begründung der Mechanik." Archives Néerlandaises, The Hague, 1900, V, p. 96.)"180

"Nur Paul Gerber ("Ueber die räumliche u. zeitliche Ausbreitung der Gravitation," Zeitschrift f. Math. U. Phys., 1898, II) findet aus der Perihelbewegung des Mercur, 41 Secunden in einem Jahrhundert. Ausbreitungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation gleich der Lichtgeschwindigkeit. Dies spräche für den Aether als Medium der Schwefre. Vgl. W. Wien, Ueber die Möglichkeit einer elektromagnetischen Begründung der Mechanik, (Archives Néerlandaises, La Haze 1900, V. S. 96.)"181

Einstein's admission that the æther of relativity theory is analogous to Lorentz' æther is an admission that Lorentz holds priority on the formalism of the theory, and, further, that Einstein felt forced to switch camps from that of Lorentz to that of Poincaré, in 1916, much after the 1905 paper appeared, to a theory which Einstein, himself, together with Laub, had denounced in 1908, only to admit, in 1920, that this "absolute world" of Minkowski "space-time" resulted again in Lorentz' æther. As Einstein stated,

"According to the general theory of relativity space without ether is unthinkable; for in such space there not only would be no propagation of light, but also no possibility of existence for standards of space and time (measuring-rods and clocks), nor therefore any space-time intervals in the physical

sense"

Relativists would counter this citation by pointing out that Einstein's æther differs from that of Lorentz. in that it is ultimately vague, a word without meaning, and no supposition is made as to its fundamental properties, such as the assertion that the æther may be an ideal fluid of particles immersed in a void of empty space. 182 Einstein denied it the property of "motion", an assertion made many decades earlier by Philipp Spiller in a much read work. 183 However, this argument over semantics is one made against a straw man, for Lorentz stated as early as 1895,

"It does not suit my purpose to examine more thoroughly such speculations, or to express presumptions about the nature of the æther. I merely wish, as far as possible, to free myself of all preconceived notions regarding this substance and not to ascribe to it, for example, any of the qualities of ordinary liquids and gasses. Should it be shown, that a description of the phenomena is best arrived at through the assumption of absolute permeability, then one must surely in the meantime adopt this sort of hypothesis, and leave it to further research, if possible, to open up a deeper understanding to us."

"Es liegt nicht in meiner Absicht, auf derartige Speculationen näher einzugehen oder Vermuthungen über die Natur des Aethers auszusprechen. Ich wünsche nur, mich von vorgefassten Meinungen über diesen Stoff möglichst frei zu halten und demselben z. B. keine von den Eigenschaften der gewöhnlichen

Flüssigkeiten und Gase zuzuschreiben. Sollte es sich ergeben, dass eine Darstellung der Erscheinungen am besten unter der Voraussetzung absoluter Durchdringlichkeit gelänge, dann müsste man sich zu einer solchen Annahme einstweilen schon verstehen und es der weiteren Forschung überlassen, uns, womöglich, ein tieferes Verständniss zu erschliessen "184

Compare this with Schubert's views,

"In mathematics, in fact, the extension of any notion is admissible, provided such extension does not lead to contradictions with itself or with results which are well established. Whether such extensions are necessary, justifiable, or important for the advancement of science is a different question. It must be admitted, therefore, that the mathematician is justified in the extension of the notion of space as a point-aggregate of three dimensions, and in the introduction of space or point-aggregates of more than three dimensions, and in the employment of them as means of research. Other sciences also operate with things which they do not know exist, and which, though they are sufficiently defined, cannot be perceived by our senses. For example, the physicist employs the ether as a means of investigation, though he can have no sensory knowledge of it. The ether is nothing more than a means which enables us to comprehend mechanically the effects known as action at a distance and to bring them within the range of a common point of view. Without the assumption of a material which penetrates everything, and by means of whose undulations

impulses are transmitted to the remotest parts of space, the phenomena of light, of heat, of gravitation, and of electricity would be a jumble of isolated and unconnected mysteries. The assumption of an ether, however, comprises in a systematic scheme all these isolated events, facilitates our mental control of the phenomena of nature, and enables us to produce these phenomena at will. But it must not be forgotten in such reflexions that the ether itself is even a greater problem for man, and that the ether-hypothesis does not solve the difficulties of phenomena, but only puts them in a unitary conceptual shape. Notwithstanding all this, physicists have never had the least hesitation in employing the ether as a means of investigation. And as little do reasons exist why the mathematicians should hesitate to investigate the properties of a four-dimensioned point-aggregate, with the view of acquiring thus a convenient means of research."185

Though Schubert allowed for mathematical speculation—useful fictions, he opposed pretending that such four-dimensional fantasies be taken to signify a reflection of physical reality,

"The high eminence on which the knowledge and civilization of humanity now stands was not reached by the thoughtless employment of fanciful ideas, nor by recourse to a four-dimensional world. but by hard, serious labor, and slow, unceasing research. Let all men of science, therefore, band themselves together and oppose a solid front to methods that explain everything that is now mysterious to us by the interference of independent spirits. For these methods, owing to the fact that they can explain everything, explain nothing, and thus oppose dangerous obstacles to the progress of real research, to which we owe the beautiful temple of modern knowledge."186

Both Lorentz and Albert Einstein maintained a tridimensional privileged frame of "physical space" or "æther", which is the same physical hypothesis given two names; and the appellation æther, which more clearly maintains the concept of a physical entity, is the more fitting title. It was Poincaré, Marcolongo and Minkowski, who incorporated Stallo's quadridimensional æther into the theory of relativity. Stallo stated, in 1847, in the explicit context of fourdimensional "space-time",

"The abstract totality of extension in itself is devoid of all internal difference and distinction. It is, from its ideal origin and nature, absolutely moving; but this motion is yet perfectly the same as absolute repose. For there are no distinct particles as yet successively occupying distinct spaces; in every respect there is thorough homogenousness. We have absolute multiplicity, but a multiplicity intimately and completely blended in extensive continuous unity. It is indifferent to me whether this primitive matter be called ether, or any other name be given it; the only thing important is, to keep this absence of further material differentiation in view."

3. "Theory of Relativity" or "Pseudorelativism"?

"Einstein's theory of relativity is a misnomer, it should be called a theory of absolutivity."—WALLACE KANTOR

In one sense, the so-called relativists'—they aren't truly "relativists", as Minkowski noted,

"This hypothesis [length contraction resulting in light speed invariance] sounds extremely fantastical, for the contraction is not to be looked upon as a consequence of resistances [sic] in the ether, or anything of that kind, but simply as a gift from above [***] [T]he word relativity-postulate for the requirement of an invariance with the group G_c seems to me very feeble. [***] I prefer to call it the postulate of the absolute world. [***] Thus the essence of this postulate may be clothed mathematically in a very pregnant manner in the mystic formula $3 \cdot 10^5 = (-1)^{1/2}$ secs." 187

Samuel Alexander held that,

"[I]t is clear that Space-Time takes for us the place of what is called the Absolute in idealistic systems. It is an experiential absolute." 188

Max Planck stated,

"Einstein's recognition of the fact that our Newtonian-Kantian conception of space and time possesses in a certain sense only a relative value because of the arbitrary choice of the system of correlation and methods of measuring, affects the very root of our physical thought. But if space and time have been deprived of their absolute qualities, the absolute has not been disposed of finally, but has only been moved back a step to the measurement of four-dimensional multiplicity which results from the fact that space and time have been fused into one coherent continuum by means of the speed of light. This system of measurement represents something totally independent of any kind of arbitrariness and hence something absolute."189

and

" For everything that is relative presupposes the existence of something that is absolute, and is meaningful only when juxtaposed to something absolute. The often heard phrase, "Everything is relative," is both misleading and thoughtless. The Theory of Relativity, too, is based on something absolute, namely, the determination of the matrix of the space-time continuum; and it is an especially stimulating undertaking to discover the absolute which alone makes meaningful something given as relative. [***] Our task is to find in all these factors and data, the absolute, the universally valid, the invariant, that is hidden in them, [sic] This applies to the Theory of Relativity, too. I was attracted by the problem of deducing from its fundamental propositions that which served as their absolute immutable foundation. [***] [T]he Theory of Relativity confers an absolute meaning on a magnitude which in classical theory has only a

relative significance: the velocity of light. The velocity of light is to the Theory of Relativity [***] its absolute core. The absolute showed itself to be even more deeply rooted in the order of natural laws than had been assumed for a long time."190

Bertrand Russell wrote in "The ABC of Relativity",

"In fact, though few physicists in modern times have believed in absolute motion, the [special theory of relativity| still embodied Newton's belief in [absolute motion], and a revolution in method was required to obtain a technique free from this assumption. This revolution was accomplished in Einstein's general theory of relativity [1916]. [-redacted, emphasis added]"191

Ebenezer Cunningham averred,

"[I]t will be seen, the old philosophical difficulty as to absolute direction or angular velocity remains. [***] Thus we do not appear to be brought any nearer to the removal of the old-time difficulty that the physical laws which seem best to describe the phenomena of motion postulate an absolute standard of direction though not of position, while apart from the physical phenomena there is no independent means of identifying such a direction."192

Charles Nordmann recognized that,

"Up to this point the theory of Relativity well deserves its name. But now, in spite of it and its very name, there arises something which seems to have an independent and determined existence in the external world, an objectivity, an absolute reality. This is the "Interval" of events, which remains constant and invariable through all the fluctuations of things, however infinitely varied may be the points of view and standards of reference. From this datum, which, speaking philosophically, strangely shares the intrinsic qualities with which the older absolute time and absolute space were so much reproached, the whole constructive part of Relativity, the part which leads to the splendid verifications we described, is derived. Thus the theory of Relativity seems to deny its origin, even its very name, in all that makes it a useful monument of science, a constructive tool, an instrument of discovery. It is a theory of a new absolute: the interval represented by the geodetics of the quadri-dimensional universe. It is a new absolute theory."193

Melchior Palágyi, from whom Minkowski took much, stated.

"The term introduced by Einstein: 'theory of relativity' is, of course, a most unfortunate choice; we retain it, however, like any arbitrary standard designation, which you can't get rid of, because people have grown accustomed to using it. We restrict the meaning of the theory of relativity to: the new system of the world that arises from the monotheism of space and time and from the unification of mechanics and electrodynamics."

"Die durch Einstein eingeführte Benennung: 'Relativitätstheorie' ist zwar höchst unglücklich

gewählt; wir behalten sie aber bei wie irgendeinen beliebigen Eigennamen, den man nicht abändern mag, weil man sich an ihn gewöhnt hat. Relativitätstheorie bedeutet uns immer nur so viel als: das neue Weltsystem, das aus der Einheitslehre von Raum und Zeit und das der Vereinheitlichung von Mechanik und Elektrodynamik entspringt."194

Einstein professed, after the general theory was established, that,

"There is no absolute (independent of the space of reference) relation in space, and no absolute relation in time between two events, but there is an absolute (independent of the space of reference) relation in space and time"195

and.

"The four-dimensional space of the special theory of relativity is just as rigid and absolute as Newton's space."196

and.

"The space-time phenomenon of the special theory of relativity was something absolute in itself, inasmuch as it was independent of the particular state of motions considered in that theory."

Wallace Kantor noted,

"Einstein's absolutivity postulate requires that c' =c = C' for any real values of v and V. In a very real

principle itself: the laws of physics are absolute."201

sense Einstein's theory of relativity is a misnomer, it should be called a theory of absolutivity."197

The Encyclopedia of Philosophy discloses,

"The physical theories of Einstein, and the variants developed by others, which have each been called the "theory of relativity" are so named because they have relativized some of the attributes and relations (spatial distance, time interval, mass) which the Newtonian theory had asserted to be invariant (absolute). But the theory of relativity has not relativized all of the Newtonian invariants: indeed, it has 'absolutized' the counterparts of some of the attributes and relations which its Newtonian precursor had affirmed to be relative."198

Claude Kacser affirmed.

"What is absolute is stated in Einstein's first relativity postulate: The basic laws of physics are identical for two observers who have a constant relative velocity with respect to each other."199

Joshua N. Goldberg informs us that,

"Minkowski space is an absolute space-time." 200

Robert Resnick concluded that.

"The theory of relativity could have been called the theory of absolutism with some justification. [***] there are absolute lengths and times in relativity. [***] Where relativity theory is clearly "more absolute" than classical physics is in the relativity

It is some strange "relativity theory", which is more absolutist than classical absolutism! . . . In one sense the pseudorelativists' caution with respect to the æther is commendable. In another, it is unscientific to refuse to speculate based on the pseudorelativists' pretentious grounds that measurement and mathematical abstraction are the only tools of the scientist, and that their pseudorelativistic subjective comparisons and arguments by analogy are somehow "objective".

By comparing abstract space with bodily extension, and quantifying it, the "relativists" have reified that which they qualify as "void"-they have reified concepts. By insisting upon the physically contradicted notion that inertial motion, rigid rods, clocks, and light waves, each map congruent spaces; they deny the dynamic and relational physical world and substitute in its place absolutist definitions of space and time, and a "space-time", in which these conceptions have a supposed reality beyond the observed relations of which they are physically composed. Boscovich argued against such absolutist beliefs centuries ago.202

The list of true relativists is long. To name but a few: Des Cartes, Huyghens, Locke, Leibnitz, Berkeley, Hume, Comte, Spencer, Stallo, Hamilton, Mach, Anderssohn, Avenarius, Petzoldt, etc.. A real relativist, like Stallo, would never have embraced the absolutist "special theory of relativity", with its codified absolute space and time, and absolutist "space-time" and the ontological "universal constant" speed of light and absolute laws of Nature. Stallo wrote,

"There is nothing absolute or unconditioned in the world of objective reality. As there is no absolute

standard of quality, so there is no absolute measure of duration, nor is there an absolute system of coördinates in space to which the positions of bodies and their changes can be referred. A physical ens per se and a physical constant are alike impossible, for all physical existence resolves itself into action and reaction, and action imports change."203

Mach proclaimed, in his Science of Mechanics,

"The expression 'absolute motion of translation' Streintz correctly pronounces as devoid of meaning and consequently declares certain analytical deductions, to which he refers, superfluous. On the other hand, with respect; to rotation, Streintz accepts Newton's position, that absolute rotation can be distinguished from relative rotation. In this point of view, therefore, one can select every body not affected with absolute rotation as a body of reference for the expression of the law of inertia.

I cannot share this view. For me, only relative motions exist (Erhaltung der Arbeit, p. 48; Science of Mechanics, p. 229) and I can see, in this regard, no distinction between rotation and translation. When a body moves relatively to the fixed stars. centrifugal forces are produced; when it moves relatively to some different body, and not relatively to the fixed stars, no centrifugal forces are produced. I have no objection to calling the first rotation "absolute" rotation, if it be remembered that nothing is meant by such a designation except relative rotation with respect to the fixed stars. Can we fix Newton's bucket of water, rotate the fixed stars, and then prove the absence of centrifugal forces?

The experiment is impossible, the idea is meaningless, for the two cases are not, in senseperception, distinguishable from each other. I accordingly regard these two cases as the same case and Newton's distinction as an illusion (Science of Mechanics, page 232)."

Spencer declared.

"THE RELATIVITY OF ALL KNOWLEDGE. [***] The conviction, so reached, that human intelligence is incapable of absolute knowledge, is one that has slowly been gaining ground as civilization has advanced. Each new ontological theory, from time to time propounded in lieu of previous ones shown to be untenable, has been followed by a new criticism leading to a new skepticism."204

Comte avowed,

"Everything is relative, that's the only thing absolute"

Leibnitz argued against the Newtonian absolutism of the reification of ontological space and time,

"As for my Own Opinion, I have said more than once, that I hold Space to be something merely relative, as Time is; that I hold it to be of an Order of Coexistences, as Time is an Order of Successions. For Space denotes, in Terms of Possibility, an Order of Things which exist at the same time, considered as existing together; without enquiring into their Manner of Existing. And when many Things are seen together, one perceives That Order

of Things among themselves."205

Berkelev, also, argued against Newtonian absolutism. From Berkeley's Principles of Human Knowledge of 1710,

"97. Beside the external existence of the objects of perception, another great source of errors and difficulties with regard to ideal knowledge is the doctrine of abstract ideas, such as it hath been set forth in the Introduction. The plainest things in the world, those we are most intimately acquainted with and perfectly know, when they are considered in an abstract way, appear strangely difficult and incomprehensible. Time, place, and motion, taken in particular or concrete, are what everybody knows, but, having passed through the hands of a metaphysician, they become too abstract and fine to be apprehended by men of ordinary sense. Bid your servant meet you at such a time in such a place, and he shall never stay to deliberate on the meaning of those words; in conceiving that particular time and place, or the motion by which he is to get thither, he finds not the least difficulty. But if time be taken exclusive of all those particular actions and ideas that diversify the day, merely for the continuation of existence or duration in abstract, then it will perhaps gravel even a philosopher to comprehend it.

98. For my own part, whenever I attempt to frame a simple idea of time, abstracted from the succession of ideas in my mind, which flows uniformly and is participated by all beings, I am lost and embrangled in inextricable difficulties. I have no notion of it at all, only I hear others say it

is infinitely divisible, and speak of it in such a manner as leads me to entertain odd thoughts of my existence; since that doctrine lays one under an absolute necessity of thinking, either that he passes away innumerable ages without a thought, or else that he is annihilated every moment of his life, both which seem equally absurd. Time therefore being nothing, abstracted from the sucession of ideas in our minds, it follows that the duration of any finite spirit must be estimated by the number of ideas or actions succeeding each other in that same spirit or mind. Hence, it is a plain consequence that the soul always thinks; and in truth whoever shall go about to divide in his thoughts, or abstract the existence of a spirit from its cogitation, will, I believe, find it no easy task.

99. So likewise when we attempt to abstract extension and motion from all other qualities, and consider them by themselves, we presently lose sight of them, and run into great extravagances. All which depend on a twofold abstraction; first, it is supposed that extension, for example, may be abstracted from all other sensible qualities; and secondly, that the entity of extension may be abstracted from its being perceived. But, whoever shall reflect, and take care to understand what he says, will, if I mistake not, acknowledge that all sensible qualities are alike sensations and alike real; that where the extension is, there is the colour, too, i.e., in his mind, and that their archetypes can exist only in some other mind; and that the objects of sense are nothing but those sensations combined, blended, or (if one may so speak) concreted together; none of all which can be supposed to exist unperceived.

110. The best key for the aforesaid analogy or natural Science will be easily acknowledged to be a certain celebrated Treatise of Mechanics. In the entrance of which justly admired treatise, Time, Space, and Motion are distinguished into absolute and relative, true and apparent, mathematical and vulgar; which distinction, as it is at large explained by the author, does suppose these quantities to have an existence without the mind; and that they are ordinarily conceived with relation to sensible things, to which nevertheless in their own nature they bear no relation at all.

111. As for Time, as it is there taken in an absolute or abstracted sense, for the duration or perseverance of the existence of things, I have nothing more to add concerning it after what has been already said on that subject. [Sect. 97 and 98] For the rest, this celebrated author holds there is an absolute Space, which, being unperceivable to sense, remains in itself similar and immovable; and relative space to be the measure thereof, which, being movable and defined by its situation in respect of sensible bodies, is vulgarly taken for immovable space. Place he defines to be that part of space which is occupied by any body; and according as the space is absolute or relative so also is the place. Absolute Motion is said to be the translation of a body from absolute place to absolute place, as relative motion is from one relative place to another. And, because the parts of absolute space do not fall under our senses, instead of them we are obliged to use their sensible measures, and so define both place and motion with respect to bodies which we regard as immovable. But, it is said in

philosophical matters we must abstract from our senses, since it may be that none of those bodies which seem to be quiescent are truly so, and the same thing which is moved relatively may be really at rest; as likewise one and the same body may be in relative rest and motion, or even moved with contrary relative motions at the same time. according as its place is variously defined. All which ambiguity is to be found in the apparent motions, but not at all in the true or absolute, which should therefore be alone regarded in philosophy. And the true as we are told are distinguished from apparent or relative motions by the following properties.—First, in true or absolute motion all parts which preserve the same position with respect of the whole, partake of the motions of the whole. Secondly, the place being moved, that which is placed therein is also moved; so that a body moving in a place which is in motion doth participate the motion of its place. Thirdly, true motion is never generated or changed otherwise than by force impressed on the body itself. Fourthly, true motion is always changed by force impressed on the body moved. Fifthly, in circular motion barely relative there is no centrifugal force, which, nevertheless, in that which is true or absolute, is proportional to the quantity of motion.

112. But, notwithstanding what has been said, I must confess it does not appear to me that there can be any motion other than relative; so that to conceive motion there must be at least conceived two bodies, whereof the distance or position in regard to each other is varied. Hence, if there was one only body in being it could not possibly be moved. This seems evident, in that the idea I have of motion doth necessarily include relation.

113. But, though in every motion it be necessary to conceive more bodies than one, yet it may be that one only is moved, namely, that on which the force causing the change in the distance or situation of the bodies, is impressed. For, however some may define relative motion, so as to term that body moved which changes its distance from some other body, whether the force or action causing that change were impressed on it or no, yet as relative motion is that which is perceived by sense, and regarded in the ordinary affairs of life, it should seem that every man of common sense knows what it is as well as the best philosopher. Now, I ask any one whether, in his sense of motion as he walks along the streets, the stones he passes over may be said to move, because they change distance with his feet? To me it appears that though motion includes a relation of one thing to another, yet it is not necessary that each term of the relation be denominated from it. As a man may think of somewhat which does not think, so a body may be moved to or from another body which is not therefore itself in motion.

114. As the place happens to be variously defined, the motion which is related to it varies. A man in a ship may be said to be quiescent with relation to the sides of the vessel, and yet move with relation to the land. Or he may move eastward in respect of the one, and westward in respect of the other. In the common affairs of life men never go beyond the earth to define the place of any body; and what is quiescent in respect of that is accounted absolutely to be so. But philosophers, who have a greater extent of thought, and juster

notions of the system of things, discover even the earth itself to be moved. In order therefore to fix their notions they seem to conceive the corporeal world as finite, and the utmost unmoved walls or shell thereof to be the place whereby they estimate true motions. If we sound our own conceptions, I believe we may find all the absolute motion we can frame an idea of to be at bottom no other than relative motion thus defined. For, as hath been already observed, absolute motion, exclusive of all external relation, is incomprehensible; and to this kind of relative motion all the above-mentioned properties, causes, and effects ascribed to absolute motion will, if I mistake not, be found to agree. As to what is said of the centrifugal force, that it does not at all belong to circular relative motion, I do not see how this follows from the experiment which is brought to prove it. See Philosophiae Naturalis Principia Mathematica, in Schol. Def. VIII. For the water in the vessel at that time wherein it is said to have the greatest relative circular motion, hath, I think, no motion at all; as is plain from the foregoing section.

115. For, to denominate a body *moved* it is requisite, first, that it change its distance or situation with regard to some other body; and secondly, that the force occasioning that change be applied to it. If either of these be wanting, I do not think that, agreeably to the sense of mankind, or the propriety of language, a body can be said to be in motion. I grant indeed that it is possible for us to think a body which we see change its distance from some other to be moved, though it have no force applied to it (in which sense there may be apparent motion), but then it is because the force causing the

change of distance is imagined by us to be applied or impressed on that body thought to move; which indeed shews we are capable of mistaking a thing to be in motion which is not, and that is all.

116. From what has been said it follows that the philosophic consideration of motion does not imply the being of an absolute Space, distinct from that which is perceived by sense and related bodies; which that it cannot exist without the mind is clear upon the same principles that demonstrate the like of all other objects of sense. And perhaps, if we inquire narrowly, we shall find we cannot even frame an idea of pure Space exclusive of all body. This I must confess seems impossible, as being a most abstract idea. When I excite a motion in some part of my body, if it be free or without resistance, I say there is Space; but if I find a resistance, then I say there is Body; and in proportion as the resistance to motion is lesser or greater, I say the space is more or less pure. So that when I speak of pure or empty space, it is not to be supposed that the word "space" stands for an idea distinct from or conceivable without body and motion-though indeed we are apt to think every noun substantive stands for a distinct idea that may be separated from all others; which has occasioned infinite mistakes. When, therefore, supposing all the world to be annihilated besides my own body, I say there still remains pure Space, thereby nothing else is meant but only that I conceive it possible for the limbs of my body to be moved on all sides without the least resistance, but if that, too, were annihilated then there could be no motion, and consequently no Space. Some, perhaps, may think the sense of seeing doth furnish them with the idea

of pure space; but it is plain from what we have elsewhere shewn, that the ideas of space and distance are not obtained by that sense. See the Essay concerning Vision."

It is wrong to attribute to Einstein the assertions that time, space and motion are relative, for two reasons: One, Einstein was an absolutist, who could not comprehend relativism; Two, others argued that time, space and motion are purely relative long before Einstein was born.

Galileo, Newton and Einstein were absolutists. Though Galileo is popularly credited as the father of the "principle or relativity"; the "principle of relativity" of Galileo, Newton and the Einsteins, is an absolutist corollary to the metaphysical and ontological notions of the absolute laws of Nature, absolute space, absolute time, absolute rectilinear inertial uniform translations of absolute space, and, in Einstein's case, the æthereal absolute speed of light, which, for Einstein, defines the absolute character of space, time and motion.

Speculations not yet physically contradicted can often be tested and should not be frowned upon. In insisting that any definition of the æther beyond "physical space" is taboo, the pseudorelativists are taking the hypocritical and political stance that the refusal to think is preferable to employing one's imagination, where conditions do yet allow us direct observation of those things we wish to see, but cannot; while they claim the privilege of a priori ontological principles and purely abstract dimensions, which have already been physically contradicted-there are no "inertial frames" in "uniform motion" such as would define a congruent time dimension. There is no observable "rectilinear uniform motion" in Nature, other than by abstract and arbitrary absolutist definition, and no arbitrarily selected "rectilinear uniform motion" maps spaces congruent to any other "rectilinear uniform motion" we have yet to observe; such that flat "space-time" is a known absolutist fallacy.

Speculations can and should be criticized, and their value is often best weighed in hindsight. Wrong ideas often inspire right ones, which insights would not likely arise other than as opposition to myth, which is to say that no subjects ought to be taboo in science, for no one can say where they might lead, and it is not wise to close out wonder from science and substitute dogma in its place, which dogma says nothing substantial, on the false premise that it is wisdom to assert nothing and foolishness to propose ideas which have a physical basis. In sum, it is healthy that one dogmatic view of that which constitutes the "æther" was subjected to criticism, but it is most unhealthy that said criticisms were employed to close the subject and substitute meaningless words for otherwise scientific images.

Definitions of the æther ofttimes are somewhat archaic. Thinkers resort to false analogies based on outmoded beliefs, largely because the subject of the æther has so long been taboo, that one feels compelled to resort to those assertions made long ago. The atomists of the Nineteenth Century asserted that the elements are composed of immutable lifeless particles. This left in doubt the nature of force, and the conservation of motion. As Fechner stated.

"All that is given is what can be seen and felt. movement and the laws of movement. How then

can we speak of force here? For physics, force is nothing but an auxiliary expression for presenting the laws of equilibrium and of motion; and every clear interpretation of physical force brings us back to this. We speak of laws of force; but when we look at the matter more closely, we find that they are merely laws of equilibrium and movement which hold for matter in the presence of matter. To say that the sun and the earth exercise an attraction upon one another, simply means that the sun and earth behave in relation to one another in accordance with definite laws. To the physicist, force is but a law, and in no other way does he know how to describe it. . . All that the physicist deduces from his forces is merely an inference from laws, through the instrumentality of the auxiliary word 'force', "206

Leibnitz accused Newton of religiously supposing that the universe is a watch, which God winds. As many have noted, Newton, who was far more pantheistic than even Leibnitz suspected, did not conceive of the universe as a watch, for that implied a largely self-sustaining mechanism which only required intermittent divine intervention. Newton saw God as directly active in every action and reaction of bodies. However, many, among them the Newtonians, asserted that God set these bodies in motion and then imparted motion to them as the need arose-in order to keep the watch work universe of Newton all wound up.207 They further asserted that bodies act upon each other "at a distance", as in the case of gravity or magnetism, by God's will, whether they admitted this mystical exposition, or not. This group believed that motion compelled an absolute empty space in which

things could move, and in which motion would have an absolute meaning, and, hence, force, too, would be an absolute quantity.

As a reaction to this belief system, others accepted the misbegotten notion that "atoms" are immutable structures, but concluded that force arose from a pressure in the æther. What, then, is the æther, and what, then, pressurized it? A false analogy was often then made to the false understanding of fluids prevalent at the time, that they are supposedly composed of identical and immutable particles. It is a good thing that these highly speculative and somewhat religious notions are today taken as dubious by many. Everything, which we have yet observed, changes. Perhaps, the æther, too, is change. In order to argue for an unchanging and fundamental æther by analogy, analogy should probably be had to something tangible, and to the best of your author's knowledge and belief, no such analogy is yet to be had, other than in our sense of what our own existence, as a religious belief, means to us, as we change!

That "empty space" is not "vacuum", is obvious. That it is not made of unchanging particles, seems an equally rational conclusion, unless I have missed some known phenomenon, which remains immutable. Perhaps, we have no means to perceive that which does not change. Perhaps, everything changes. Our ears cannot taste, and our tongues cannot see, and if change compels relations, it is rational to expect that the unchanging cannot affect the changing, and, therefore, cannot be perceived; but it seems more probable that we don't yet have the ability to sense the qualities of ephemeral space, directly, than that space is a permanent entity, which exists outside of our consciousness.

4. Hero Worship

"[Einstein's] paper 'Zur Elektrodynamik bewegter Körper' in Annalen der Physik [***] contains not a single reference to previous literature. It gives you the impression of quite a new venture. But that is, of course, [***] not true."—Max Born

Webster's New World Dictionary defines "relativity" as, inter alia,

"4. Physics the fact, principle, or theory of the relative [***] as developed and mathematically formulated by Albert Einstein and H. A. Lorentz in the special (or restricted) theory of relativity". 208

Grolier's Encyclopedia International, states, under "Relativity, Theory of", as follows,

"To explain this paradoxical result, G. F. FitzGerald and, independently, H. A. Lorentz suggested that the effect of the ether flow on the speed of light was masked by a contraction of the measuring apparatus caused by its motion through the ether. But J. H. Poincaré and Einstein independently realized that, since all efforts to detect the earth's absolute motion had failed, the principle of relativity must somehow be valid after all, despite the ether."

Subsequent to learning of FitzGerald's prior work, Lorentz never failed to acknowledge that FitzGerald had anticipated him, unlike Albert Einstein, who failed to cite Poincaré's work, which we know Einstein had read before 1905, in the Einsteins'1905 paper, or in any of the expositions on the subject, which Einstein later published in 1907, 1910, 1911, 1912 or 1916. Poincaré published his conclusions in 1895, ten years before Einstein, and repeated them often in widely read books and journals.

We know, from Solovine's accounts, 210 that Einstein had read Poincaré. Poincaré stated the principle of relativity ten years before Mileva and Albert parroted it in almost identical form, and certainly not "independently".

Why is Albert Einstein's name associated with the "principle of relativity", and not Poincaré's? Poincaré stated it first, ten years before the Einsteins, and the Einsteins copied it from him.

Who is to blame for this injustice? What could possibly motivate them, other than self-doubt and/or hero worship? The facts are clear to all willing to look. Albert Einstein did not originate the special theory of relativity. That is clear.

Grolier's Encyclopedia International, states, under "Poincaré, Jules Henri",

"In 1905 Poincaré showed that Maxwell's equations suggested a theory different from classical Newtonian mechanics. He thus anticipated an aspect of the theory of relativity derived independently by Einstein in the same year."211

Poincaré, Lorentz, Larmor, Langevin, FitzGerald, Lange and Voigt anticipated Einstein on all important aspects of the theory.

Grolier's Encyclopedia International, states, under

"Lorentz, Hendrik Antoon".

"By extending Maxwell's electromagnetic theory of light, [Lorentz] incorporated many phenomena that it so far had failed to explain-in particular, the optical and electrical phenomena associated with moving bodies. His name is most widely known for the Lorentz contraction (or the Lorentz-Fitzgerald contraction), which says that a body moving with a velocity near that of light contracts in the direction of its motion. This forms an important part of the special theory of relativity."212

The facts stated together record that, as Whittaker stated.

"Einstein published a paper which set forth the relativity theory of Poincaré and Lorentz with some amplifications, and which attracted much attention. He asserted as a fundamental principle the constancy of the velocity of light, i.e. that the velocity of light in vacuo is the same in all systems of reference which are moving relatively to each other: an assertion which at the time was widely accepted, but has been severally criticized by later writers."

Instead of proving that Einstein was a pioneer, the facts indicate that, as Max Born stated,

"[Einstein's] paper 'Zur Elektrodynamik bewegter Körper' in Annalen der Physik [***] contains not a single reference to previous literature. It gives you the impression of quite a new venture. But that is, of course, [***] not true."

Since Poincaré and Lorentz developed the theory, why aren't their names not only linked to the theory. but universally linked together? What makes the image of "Einstein" so sacrosanct, that it is today virtually a crime to tell the truth about the history of the special theory of relativity? Why, in the majority of the histories of the special theory of relativity, isn't Einstein, with his minor contribution of the relativistic equations for aberration and the Doppler-Fizeau effect (together with his many blunders), the curious footnote of a persistent copycat, and not the central theme? Certainly, it is more convenient to briefly credit Einstein with everything, but, since the ideas are considered so significant, one would think the originators deserve their due credit.

Many people knew that Einstein did not hold priority for much of what he wrote. He, himself, was keenly aware of it. It is not uncommon for grandiose myths to accrue to overly idealized popular figures, such as Albert Einstein. Theoretical Physics, as a field, was small, and not well known in the period from 1905-1919. Theoretical physicists were not well known, and, since those in the field knew that Einstein was a plagiarist, they largely ignored him.

In 1919, (on dubious grounds²¹³) Dyson, Davidson and Eddington, made Einstein famous by affirming that experiment had confirmed, without an attribution to Soldner, Soldner's 1801 hypothesis, that the gravitational field of the sun should curve the path of light from the stars.214 Shortly after that, Einstein won the Nobel Prize, though it is unclear why he won it, other than as a reward for his new-found fame for reiterating Soldner's ideas, and for his pacificist stance during World War I.

Einstein did not invent the atomic bomb. In fact, he

was ignorant of the concept of the bomb. However, with the help of Alexander Sachs, Einstein was chosen to write a letter to President Roosevelt urging him to instigate what would eventually become the "Manhattan Project", the effort to develop an atomic bomb before the Nazis. Due to his ignorance, Leo Szilard and Eugene Wigner had to explain the concept of the atomic bomb to Einstein, before he could write the letter.215

Given Einstein's rôle as a spokesperson for those who knew of the concept of the bomb, one may wonder. did Einstein frequently become the political toy of others? Consider Joffe's description of the man.

"Einstein's thoughts were far away from political problems and this is why many of Einstein's speeches in this field were poorly thought out. For example: Once in the late twenties, a group of German scientists published an anti-Soviet appeal at the end of which I found Einstein's signature. When I showed this to him, and asked why he did it, he answered that he did not think about it, but he signed it because Planck telephoned him. I asked Einstein if he is on the side of Prussian capitalism in this fight for the new socialistic state against the old. And he replied, 'Of course not, I would not have signed it if I knew about the consequences. In the future, I will not participate in any political movements without consulting you.' And also, in my opinion, Einstein's support of Zionism was ill-conceived. His wife even convinced him to participate in a concert, which Zionists had organized in a synagogue. And one more example is Einstein's fascination with the American idea of a "single state", which idea in essence was created in

5. $E = mc^2$

order to discredit each nation's movement toward independence, and to make it easier for big and rich countries to take over and exploit small ones. And Einstein, in the beginning, would only look at the facade of things and not look deeper into their true meaning."216

Einstein, according to Joffe, was political "play dough".

Why was Einstein, who had not known of, or understood, the concept of an atomic bomb, chosen to write to the President of the United States in an effort to persuade him to pursue research to make one? Was the popular image of the man more potent than his mind?

When said program to develop an atomic bomb began, Einstein was not asked to participate, but rather was excluded from the research team. Why was Einstein, supposedly the most brilliant human being of all time, not a member of the team, which developed the bomb, and upon whose work the fate of all of humanity might rest? Did Oppenheimer know that Einstein lacked the abilities needed to contribute to the research? It was apparently enough that Einstein's celebrity was exploited to draw attention to the need for research. That was Einstein's only rôle in the development of the atomic bomb. His ideas were not welcomed.

"The relation $E = m_{\rm w}c^2$ was not derived by Einstein."—HERBERT IVES

Contrary to popular myth, Einstein did not usher in the atomic age, in fact, he found the idea of atomic energy to be silly,217 nor was Einstein the first to state the mass-energy equivalence, or $E = mc^{2.218}$ Myths such as Einstein's supposed discoveries are not uncommon. Newton did not discover gravity, nor did he offer a viable explanation for it, nor did he believe that matter attracted other matter. Consider that few in his time knew that President Roosevelt was severely handicapped, being limited to a wheel chair, and the press cooperated in keeping Roosevelt's disability a secret. Is it difficult to believe that this same press presented Albert Einstein as a super-hero of science, when he was, in fact, less than that, perhaps much less? It was a good story for them to sell. Einstein rarely gave filmed interviews, but when he did, he came across as something considerably less than a "genius".

It appears that the physics community and the media invented a comic book figure, "Einstein", with " $E = mc^2$ " stenciled across his chest. The media and educational institutions portray this surreal and farcical image as a benevolent god to watch over us. Some modern portraits depict the man with a godly glow and all the other visual cues inspiring reverence, which paintings of Jesus have long exploited. Physics, as an institution, fostered the myth, and countless people in all walks of life have since molded

themselves in the comic book image of "Einstein", replete with the Flammarion hairdo and the Twainesque mustachio. "More Einsteinisch than he," they pretend to the great "Einstein's" supposed supernatural powers, and imitate his comic book persona.

To question "Einstein", the god, either "his" theories, or the priority of the thoughts he repeated, has become the sin of heresy. "His" writings are synonymous with truth, the undecipherable truth of a god hung on the wall as a symbol of ultimate truth, which truth is elusive to mortal man—no one is to understand or to question the arcana of "Einstein", but must let the shepherd lead his flock, without objection. Do not bother the believers with the facts!

Consider briefly the mass-energy equivalence. Huyghens and Leibnitz presented the quantity of motion, $vis\ viva$, energy, $E=mv^2$, as opposed to the Aristotelian-Cartesian-Newtonian quantity of motion, momentum, $\rho=mv$. This mathematical identity between energy and mass, $E=mv^2$, is the mass-energy equivalence, stated as a circle function, and "celeritas", "c", is simply one state of relative velocity—a particular case of "velocity", "v".

Isaac Newton asked if mass is convertible into light, and wondered if light might be subject to gravity. J. Soldner²¹⁹ answered Newton's queries in the affirmative in 1801, asserting that the gravitational mass of light from a distant star curves its trajectory when it passes near the sun, anticipating Einstein by more than a century.²²⁰

From Newton's Opticks,

"QUERY 1. Do not bodies act upon light at a distance, and by their action bend its rays; and is

not this action (cæteris paribus) strongest at the least distance?"

and,

"QUERY 30. Are not gross bodies and light convertible into one another, and may not bodies receive much of their activity from the particles of light which enter their composition? [***] The changing of bodies into light, and light into bodies, is very conformable to the course of Nature, which seems delighted with transmutations. [***] why may not Nature change bodies into light, and light into bodies?"

S. Tolver Preston also answered Newton's queries with a loud, "Yes!" In anticipation of Thomson, De Pretto and the Einsteins, S. Tolver Preston formulated atomic energy, the atomic bomb and superconductivity back in the 1870's, based on the formula $E=mc^2$, where celeritas, "c", signifies the speed of light. Pursuing Le Sage's theory, Preston believed that mass could be attenuated into æther, thereby releasing a tremendous store of energy; since æther particles move at light speed—a limiting velocity, the energy store is equal to mass times the square of the speed of light. Albert Einstein never even came close to such insights. Le Sage, in the 1700's, proposed that gravity propagates at light speed, in anticipation of the general theory of relativity,

"How much less therefore would they be perceived if we assume for the [gravitational] corpuscles the velocity of light, which is nine hundred thousand times as great as that of sound."²²¹ Of course, the energy of these corpuscles is $E = mc^2$.

As but one example of Preston's amazing anticipation of 20th Century technology, and the powerful heuristic value of the æther-matter-energy hypothesis,

"165. To give an idea, first, of the enormous intensity of the store of energy attainable by means of that extensive state of subdivision of matter which renders a high normal speed practicable, it may be computed that a quantity of matter representing a total mass of only one grain, and possessing the normal velocity of the ether particles (that of a wave of light), encloses a store of energy represented by upwards of one thousand millions of foot-tons, or the mass of one single grain contains an energy not less than that possessed by a mass of forty thousand tons, moving at the speed of a cannon ball (1200 feet per second); or other wise, a quantity of matter representing a mass of one grain endued with the velocity of the ether particles. encloses an amount of energy which, if entirely utilized, would be competent to project a weight of one hundred thousand tons to a height of nearly two miles (1.9 miles)." 222

Albert and Mileva also agreed with Newton's hypothesis, but without realizing its implications,

"When a body emits the energy L in the form of radiation, it thereby reduces its mass by L/c^2 ."

"Gibt ein Körper die Energie L in Form von Strahlung ab, so verkleinert sich seine Masse um L/V^2 ."²²³

Maxwell's equations implicitly contain the formula $E=mc^2$. Simon Newcomb pioneered the concept of relativistic energy in 1889. Preston, J. J. Thomson, Poincaré, Poincaré, Olinto De Pretto, Pritz Hasenöhrl, Poincaré, etc. etc.] each effectively (Albert Einstein, himself, did not expressly state it in 1905), or directly, presented the formula $E=mc^2$, before 1905, and Max Planck refined the concept in 1906-1908, including Newton's, Bessel's and Eötvös' implications that inertial mass and gravitational mass are equivalent—before Albert Einstein.

With respect to Planck's equation from 1906,²³³ G. N. Lewis gave us relativistic mass in 1908,²³⁴ and in 1909,

"drew attention to the formula for the kinetic energy

$$\frac{m_0 c^2}{(1 - v^2 / c^2)^{1/2}} - m_0 c^2$$

and suggested that the last term should be interpreted as the energy of the particle at rest."235

Louis Rougier's *Philosophy and the New Physics*²³⁶ contains much useful information on this subject. Max Jammer's *Concepts of Mass*²³⁷ is yet more detailed, and Whittaker's *History* is phenomenal.

Poincaré, merely reiterating a common conception at the time, stated in 1904,

"The calculations of Abraham and the experiments of Kaufmann have then shown that the mechanical mass, properly so called, is null, and that the mass of the electrons, or, at least, of the negative electrons, is of exclusively electro-dynamic origin. This forces us to change the definition of mass; we cannot any longer distinguish mechanical mass and electrodynamic mass, since then the first would vanish; there is no mass other than electrodynamic inertia. But, in this case the mass can no longer be constant, it augments with the velocity, and it even depends on the direction, and a body animated by a notable velocity will not oppose the same inertia to the forces which tend to deflect it from its route, as to those which tend to accelerate or to retard its progress."²³⁸

Alexander Bain expressly stated in 1870 that,

"matter, force, and inertia, are three names for substantially the same fact"

and,

"force and matter are not two things, but one thing" and.

"force, inertia, momentum, matter, are all but one fact". 239

For Oliver Heaviside, in 1889, this fact was electromagnetism, the, "electric force of inertia." Frederick Soddy stated in 1904,

"The work of Kaufmann may be taken as an experimental proof of the increase of apparent mass of the electron when its speed approaches that of light. Since during disintegration electrons are

expelled at speeds very near that of light, which, after expulsion, experience resistance and suffer diminution of velocity, the total mass must be less after disintegration than before. On this view atomic mass must be regarded as a function of the internal energy, and the dissipation of the latter in radio-activity occurs at the expense, to some extent at least, of the mass of the system".²⁴¹

Thomson defined the inertia of his vortex atom based on its energy content. A. E. Dolbear wrote in this context that,

"Hence, inertia, too, must be looked upon as probably due to motion",

and,

"It is not simply an amount of material, but the energy the material has, which gives it its characteristic properties." 242

Boscovich claimed that inertia is a relative quantity, and is not absolute.²⁴³ These same concepts are to be found in Heraclitus and in Aristotle, for example,

"Wherefore, it is evident, that substance and form are each of them a certain energy. And therefore, according to this reasoning, it is evident that in substance energy is prior to potentiality. And, as we have stated, one energy invariably is antecedent to another in time, up to that which is primarily and eternally the moving cause."

In 1952, Herbert Ives demonstrated by formal proof

that,

"The relation $E = m_{\rm M}c^2$ was not derived by Einstein."²⁴⁵

How has the history become so corrupted as to ignore these facts? Why do we feel the need to perpetuate the comic book legend of "Einstein", as the great discoverer of all physical truths?

6. Einstein's Modus Operandi

"Die Relativitätstheorie ist aus einigen mißverstandenen Anregungen des philosophischen Physikers MACH und aus Gedanken des mathematischen Physikers LORENTZ enstanden, die ins Groteske weitergesponnen wurden."—Ernst Gehrcke²⁴⁶

"I don't find Einstein's Relativity agrees with me. It is the most unnatural and difficult to understand way of representing facts that could be thought of. [***] And I really think that Einstein is a practical joker, pulling the legs of his enthusiastic followers, more Einsteinisch than he."—OLIVER HEAVISIDE

"Einstein simply postulates what we have deduced, with some difficulty and not altogether satisfactorily, from the fundamental equations of the electromagnetic field. [***] I have not availed myself of his substitutions, only because the formulae are rather complicated and look somewhat artificial".—Hendrik Antoon Lorentz²⁴⁷

Albert Einstein liked to appear wise. One of his ploys was to repeat the principle of logical economy, as if it were his own. Here are but a few examples of many to be found in his writings, and the accounts of others:

"The aim of science is, on the one hand, a comprehension, as complete as possible, of the connection between the sense experiences in their totality, and, on the other hand, the accomplishment of this aim by the use of a

minimum of primary concepts and relations. (Seeking, as far as possible, logical unity in the world picture, i.e., paucity in logical elements)."248

and.

"The grand aim of all science is to cover the greatest number of empirical facts by logical deduction from the smallest number of hypotheses or axioms."249

and.

"A theory is the more impressive the greater the simplicity of its premises, the more different kinds of things it relates, and the more extended its area of applicability."250

Karl Pearson wrote, long before Einstein, and Einstein had read him.

"The laws of science are, as we have seen, products of the creative imagination. They are the mental interpretations-the formulæ under which we resume wide ranges of phenomena, the results of observation on the part of ourselves or of our fellow men."251

As Joffe noted, Albert Einstein held no priority for the principle of logical economy, could not comprehend it, and certainly did not fulfill it,

"As regards Einstein's philosophical views, in my judgement, they were as inconsistent as his political positions. Obviously [Einstein] was raised

in the period of Mach and so [Einstein] accepted [Mach's] concept of physics, but on the other hand, ideas on the economy of thought such as the justification of theoretical physics, were foreign to [Einstein]. The reality of the outside world and understanding the outside world were the real truths, which called for this need of a single picture of the outside world [Unified Theory of an absolute universel. It seemed to me that when we touched upon these questions, and that was very rarely and without any interest from Einstein's side, in Einstein one found both a materialist and an admirer of Mach, whose system seemed nicely built to Einstein."252

Though Einstein cited Mach as a source of ideas, 253 Mach rejected Einstein's relativity theory and asked not to be associated with the "dogmatic" and "paradoxical" "nonsense", in spite of the fact that Joseph Petzoldt sought to give Mach his due credit for major elements of the theory of relativity. 254 Einstein initially adored Mach, and asked for his guidance and help. 255 When it became known, after Mach's death, that Mach rejected Einstein and his views, Einstein ridiculed Mach. 256

Following Hume, 257 Mach argued from the 1860's on that.

"There is no cause nor effect in nature; nature has but an individual existence; nature simply is."

Mach, who was not a materialist, a point Einstein missed, wrote,

"Nature is composed of sensations as its elements.

[***] In nature there is no law of refraction, only different cases of refraction. [***] We must admit, therefore, that there is no result of science which in point of principle could not have been arrived at wholly without methods. But, as a matter of fact, within the short span of a human life and with man's limited powers of memory, any stock of knowledge worthy of the name is unattainable except by the greatest mental economy. Science itself, therefore, may be regarded as a minimal problem, consisting of the completest possible presentment of facts with the least possible expenditure of thought."258

Sir William Hamilton, in 1853, called this the "law of parsimony", and phrased it, as follows,

"Neither more, nor more onerous, causes are to be assumed, than are necessary to account for the phenomena."259

Newton wrote in his Principia, encapsulating Aristotle's beliefs, Rules of Reasoning in Philosophy, 260

RULE I.

We are to admit no more causes of natural things. than such as are both true and sufficient to explain their appearances.

To this purpose the philosophers say, that Nature do's nothing in vain, and more is in vain, when less will serve; For Nature is pleas'd with simplicity, and affects not the pomp of superfluous causes.

RULE II.

Therefore to the same natural effects we must, as far as possible, assign the same causes.

As to respiration in a man, and in a beast; the descent of stones in Europe and in America; the light of our culinary fire and of the Sun; the reflection of light in the Earth, and in the Planets.

RULE III.

The qualities of bodies, which admit neither intension nor remission of degrees, and which are found to belong to all bodies within the reach of our experiments, are to be esteemed the universal qualities of all bodies whatsoever.

For since the qualities of bodies are only known to us by experiments, we are to hold for universal, all such as universally agree with experiments; and such as are not liable to diminution, can never be quite taken away. We are certainly not to relinquish the evidence of experiments for the sake of dreams and vain fictions of our own devising; nor are we to recede from the analogy of Nature, which uses to be simple, and always consonant to itself. We no other ways know the extension of bodies. than by our senses, nor do these reach it in all bodies; but because we perceive extension in all that are sensible, therefore we ascribe it universally to all others also. That abundance of bodies are hard we learn by experience; and because the hardness of the whole arises from the hardness of the parts, we therefore justly infer the

hardness of the undivided particles not only of the bodies we feel but of all others. That all bodies are impenetrable, we gather not from reason, but from sensation. The bodies which we handle we find impenetrable, and thence conclude impenetrability to be an universal property of all bodies whatsoever. That all bodies are moveable, and endow'd with certain powers (which we call the vires inertiæ) of persevering in their motion or in their rest we only infer from the like properties observ'd in the bodies which we have seen. The extension, hardness, impenetrability, mobility, and vis inertiæ of the whole, result from the extension, hardness, impenetrability, mobility, and vires inertiæ of the parts: and thence we conclude the least particles of all bodies to be also all extended, and hard, and impenetrable, and moveable, and endow'd with their proper vires inertiæ. And this is the foundation of all philosophy. Moreover, that the divided but contiguous particles of bodies may be separated from one another, is matter of observation; and, in the particles that remain undivided, our minds are able to distinguish yet lesser parts, as is mathematically demonstrated. But whether the parts so distinguish'd, and not yet divided, may, by the powers of nature, be actually divided and separated from one another, we cannot certainly determine. Yet had we the proof of but one experiment, that any undivided particle, in breaking a hard and solid body, suffer'd a division. we might by virtue of this rule, conclude, that the undivided as well as the divided particles, may be divided and actually separated to infinity.

Lastly, If it universally appears, by experiments and astronomical observations, that all bodies

about the Earth, gravitate towards the Earth; and that in proportion to the quantity of matter which they severally contain; that the Moon likewise, according to the quantity of its matter, gravitates towards the Earth; that on the other hand our Sea gravitates towards the Moon; and all the Planets mutually one towards another; and the Comets in like manner towards the Sun; we must, in consequence of this rule, universally allow, that all bodies whatsoever are endow'd with a principle of mutual gravitation. For the argument from the appearances concludes with more force for the universal gravitation of all bodies, than for their impenetrability; of which among those in the celestial regions, we have no experiments, nor any manner of observation. Not that I affirm gravity to be essential to bodies. By their vis insita I mean nothing but their vis inertiæ. This is immutable. Their gravity is diminished as they recede from the Earth.

RULE IV.

In experimental philosophy we are to look upon propositions collected by general induction from phænomena as accurately or very nearly true, notwithstanding any contrary hypotheses that may be imagined, till such time as other phænomena occur, by which they may either be made more accurate, or liable to exceptions.

This rule we must follow that the argument of induction may not be evaded by hypotheses."

Newton wrote, in his Opticks,

"As in Mathematicks, so in Natural Philosophy, the Investigation of difficult Things by the Method of Analysis, ought ever to precede the Method of Composition. This Analysis consists in making Experiments and Observations, and in drawing general Conclusions from them by Induction, and admitting of no Objections against the Conclusions, but such as are taken from Experiments, or other certain Truths. For Hypotheses are not to be regarded in experimental Philosophy. And although the arguing from Experiments and Observations by Induction be no Demonstration of general Conclusions; yet it is the best way of arguing which the Nature of Things admits of, and may be looked upon as so much the stronger, by how much the Induction is more general."

William of Occam (ca. 1285-1348) iterated "Occam's Razor",

"Entia multiplicanda non sunt praeter necessitatem."

"Pluralitas non est ponenda sine neccesitate."

"Frustra fit per plura quod potest fieri per pauciora."

And from the Scholasticism of the medieval period. we have.

"Principia non sunt cumulanda."

"Natura horret superfluum."

Today, we simply say, "Keep it simple, stupid!"

Einstein was fond of copying Clifford and Poincaré, when Einstein wished to play the rôle of savant. Poincaré averred.

"This principle of physical relativity can serve to define space; it provides us, so to speak, with a new measuring instrument. [***] Moreover, the new convention not only defines space, it also defines time. It teaches us what two simultaneous instants are, what two equal intervals of time are or what double an interval of time is of another. [***] Only then does the principle present itself as a convention, and this removes it from the attacks of experience. [The principle of physical relativity] is a convention which is suggested to us by experience, but which we freely adopt."261

Clifford, who died in 1879, held that,

"§ 19. On the Bending of Space

The peculiar topic of this chapter has been position, position namely of a point P relative to a point A. This relative position led naturally to a consideration of the geometry of steps. I proceeded on the hypothesis that all position is relative, and therefore to be determined only by a stepping process. The relativity of position was a postulate deduced from the customary methods of determining position, such methods in fact always giving relative position. Relativity of position is thus a postulate derived from experience. The late Professor Clerk-Maxwell fully expressed the weight of this postulate in the following words:-

All our knowledge, both of time and place, is essentially relative. When a man has acquired the habit of putting words together, without troubling himself to form the thoughts which ought to correspond to them, it is easy for him to frame an antithesis between this relative knowledge and a so-called absolute knowledge, and to point out our ignorance of the absolute position of a point as an instance of the limitation of our faculties. Any one, however, who will try to imagine the state of a mind conscious of knowing the absolute position of a point will ever after be content with our relative knowledge.262

It is of such great value to ascertain how far we can be certain of the truth of our postulates in the exact sciences that I shall ask the reader to return to our conception of position albeit from a somewhat different standpoint. I shall even ask him to attempt an examination of that state of mind which Professor Clerk-Maxwell hinted at in his last sentence."263

In typical fashion, Einstein would later repeat these ideas, without citation to Clifford or Poincaré.

"In the previous paragraphs we have attempted to describe how the concepts of space, time and event can be put psychologically into relation with experiences. Considered logically, they are free creations of the human intelligence".264

"The most satisfactory situation is evidently to be found in cases where the new fundamental hypotheses are suggested by the world of experience itself."265

and Einstein stated, with Infeld,

"Physical concepts are free creations of the human mind, and are not, however it may seem, uniquely determined by the external world."266

Einstein's arguments were almost always fallacies of Petitio Principii. In order to hide his piracy, he would irrationally state the experimental results others had obtained before him-the phenomena, per se, as his "first principles" or "postulates". He would then conduct an analysis of the problem, as if he were proposing a synthesis of the solution-he knowingly confused induction with deduction, and analysis with synthesis. Then he would slip in the hypotheses of others in the middle of his theories, as "derivations", or "natural consequences", of the phenomena, which he had also proposed as "postulates", in order to deduce the same "postulates/phenomena" as conclusions, in an Argumentum in Circulo.

Einstein wanted it to appear that he was following Newton's fourth rule, but Einstein was really simply disguising his piracy of the hypotheses of others, through illogical fallacies. In so doing, Einstein would claim the priority that he had "derived", what his predecessors were forced to "hypothesize". Einstein turned the synthetic scientific theories of his predecessors on their heads, rendering them bizarre metaphysical delusions, in order to steal credit for them. Einstein avowed that all scientists should abandon induction, state phenomena as premises, and use his method of divine inspiration, instead of induction-but even here, he plagiarized another's thoughts.

Einstein disclosed his modus operandi

manipulating credit for the synthetic theories of others, when he stated in 1936,

"There is no inductive method which could lead to the fundamental concepts of physics. Failure to understand this fact constituted the basic philosophical error of so many investigators of the nineteenth century. [***] Logical thinking is necessarily deductive; it is based upon hypothetical concepts and axioms. How can we expect to choose the latter so that we might hope for a confirmation of the consequences derived from them? The most satisfactory situation is evidently to be found in cases where the new fundamental hypotheses are suggested by the world of experience itself."267

Einstein wanted people to believe that it is irrelevant that his predecessors induced the theories he later copied, because Einstein just invented them, sua sponte, irrationally, after he had read them, and therefore deserved credit for them.

"Invention is not the product of logical thought, even though the final product is tied to a logical structure."268

Jevons, in the Nineteenth Century, in response to Mill's admiration for induction, provided us with a more lucid and prior statement regarding the deductive aspect of induction, and keep in mind that he was busying himself with the invention of the computer, a machine without creative reasoning powers.

"In a certain sense all knowledge is inductive. We

can only learn the laws and relations of things in nature by observing those things. But the knowledge gained from the senses is knowledge only of particular facts, and we require some process of reasoning by which we may collect out of the facts the laws obeyed by them. Experience gives us the materials of knowledge: induction digests those materials, and yields us general knowledge. When we possess such knowledge, in the form of general propositions and natural laws, we can usefully apply the reverse process of deduction to ascertain the exact information required at any moment. In its ultimate foundation, then, all knowledge is inductive-in the sense that it is derived by a certain inductive reasoning from the facts of experience. It is nevertheless true,-and this is a point to which insufficient attention has been paid, that all reasoning is founded on the principles of deduction. I call in question the existence of any method of reasoning which can be carried on without a knowledge of deductive processes. I shall endeavor to show that induction is really the inverse process of deduction. There is no mode of ascertaining the laws which are obeyed in certain phenomena, unless we have the power of determining what results would follow from a given law. Just as the process of division necessitates a prior knowledge of multiplication, or the integral calculus rests upon the observation and remembrance of the results of the differential calculus, so induction requires a prior knowledge of deduction. An inverse process is the undoing of the direct process. A person who enters a maze must either trust to chance to lead him out again, or he must carefully notice the road by which he entered.

The facts furnished to us by experience are a maze of particular results; we might by chance observe in them the fulfilment of a law, but this is scarcely possible, unless we thoroughly learn the effects which would attach to any particular law. Accordingly, the importance of deductive reasoning is doubly supreme. Even when we gain the results of induction they would be of no use unless we could deductively apply them. But before we can gain them at all we must understand deduction, since it is the inversion of deduction which constitutes induction. Our first task in this work. then, must be to trace out fully the nature of identity in all its forms of occurrence. Having given any series of propositions we must be prepared to develop deductively the whole meaning embodied in them, and the whole of the consequences which flow from them."269

Jevons asserts that, "An inverse process is the undoing of the direct process. [***] The facts furnished to us by experience are a maze of particular results; we might by chance observe in them the fulfilment of a law, but this is scarcely possible, unless we thoroughly learn the effects which would attach to any particular law."

The particular results cited in the 1905 paper on the "principle of relativity" are the failure of experiments to detect the æther wind on Earth, viz. the Michelson experiments, and the symmetry of phenomena in alleged violation of Maxwell's equations. In other words, the alleged particular results are the phenomena of invariant light speed, and the phenomena of the identity of inertial systems.

These phenomena are automatically taken to be

general in science, because,

"from a series of similar events we may infer the recurrence of like events under identical conditions [***] all science implies generalization."²⁷⁰

In the tradition of Plato's call for a search for the one among the many, the identities of Nature, Jevons asserted,

"The general principle of inference, that what we know of one case must be true of similar cases, so far as they are similar, prevents our asserting anything which we cannot apply time after time under the same circumstances."

271

It is irrational to assert the phenomena as causes of the same phenomena. There is no inverse process in "postulating" that light speed is invariant, and that under like conditions like results ensue; in order to "deduce" that light speed is invariant and that under like conditions like results ensue, for such is a redundancy, not a deduction. In a truly scientific approach to the problem, one must induce the postulates which then deduce the phenomenon of invariant light speed and deduce the like conditions and like results, from these same postulates of length contraction, time dilatation, relative simultaneity, inertial motion, etc.. Jevons is not telling us to abandon induction, but to realize that it has an eye toward deduction, i. e. that it must be rational, and that our minds draw from experience. In Einstein's case, the experience of reading the writings of his predecessors, and then restating them in irrational terms, without citation to the prior works.

Jevons.

"It cannot be said that the Inductive process is of greater importance than the Deductive process already considered, because the latter process is absolutely essential to the existence of the former. Each is the compliment and counterpart of the other. The principles of thought and existence which underlie them are at bottom the same, just as subtraction of numbers necessarily rests upon the same principles as addition [both deduction and induction must be rational]. Induction is, in fact, the inverse operation of deduction Jevons contradicts himself again with his wavering analogies. Both induction and deduction rely upon the same principles of rationality. They are really convertible. Induction is not, in practice, the inverse process undoing prior direct deduction. Induction is a method in science of discovering more general truths from particular ones, which, if the more general truths were already known, it would not be necessary to induce them. Of course, when presenting a theory after it has been created, it is not necessary to demonstrate the induction, but simply the deduction to phenomena from first principles.], and cannot be conceived to exist without the corresponding operation, so that the question of relative importance cannot arise [Jevons' conclusion is a non sequitur. Induction is of greater importance, because it delves into the unknown, developing rational inferences, a posteriori. Deduction truly is the inverse process undoing prior direct induction, and should not proceed a priori, without prior induction. However, should deduction predict as vet unobserved, but

observable, phenomena, it then becomes quite significant, though yet relying on the induction which preceded it.]. Who thinks of asking whether addition or subtraction is the more important process in arithmetic? But at the same time much difference in difficulty may exist between a direct and inverse operation; the integral calculus, for instance, is infinitely more difficult than the differential calculus of which it is the inverse. Similarly, it must be allowed that inductive investigations are of a far higher degree of difficulty and complexity than any questions of deduction". 272

Einstein lacked the insight and reasoning skills needed to induce hypotheses, so he condemned the practice. He was forced, due to his inability to cope with the "higher degree of difficulty and complexity" needed to induce hypotheses, to copy hypotheses from others, but sought to disguise the fact. Einstein insisted that empirical results be argued as first principles, in order to deduce the same phenomena as results, which are argued as first principles, in a fallacy of Petitio Principii. This is the method he used in his "theories" in order to assume credit for the induced hypotheses of others, which he then slipped into the theories somewhere in the middle, without rational justification, calling them "derivations".

It was necessary for Einstein to discourage scientists from using proper method, lest they discover the irrationality of his unoriginal works. In so doing, he converted the scientific method into a method of redundancy, whereby an empirical fact is deduced from itself. The Michelson experimental result of invariant light speed was irrationally taken as a postulate to "derive" (in fact, induce) the Lorentz Transformation

hypotheses, which general a priori hypotheses then deduce all velocity comparisons, not just invariant light speed. The Einsteins irrationally argued that invariant light speed deduces invariant light speed, in order to disguise the Lorentz Transformation hypotheses as "derivations", which general hypotheses are, in truth, induced a posteriori, not deduced a priori, from the specific speed of invariant light speed.

Herbert Ives published a paper in 1952, which argued that Einstein employed the same irrational method of Petitio Principii in "deriving" the massenergy equivalence. This evinces a repeated pattern of Einstein's irrationality, on top of his pattern of unoriginality, each signifying one goal-plagiarism.

"In 1905 Einstein published a paper with the interrogatory title "Does the Inertia of a Body Depend upon its Energy Content?", [A. Einstein, Ann. Physik 18, 639 (1905).] a question already answered in the affirmative by Hasenöhrl. This paper, which has been widely cited as being the first proof of the "inertia of energy as such." describes an emission process by two sets of observations, in different units, the resulting equations being then subtracted from each other. It should be obvious a priori that the only proper result of such a procedure is to give 0 = 0, that is, no information about the process can be so obtained. However the fallacy of Einstein's argument not having been heretofore explicitly pointed out, the following analysis is presented: [***] What Einstein did by setting down these equations (as "clear") was to introduce the relation

 $L/(m-m')c^2=1$.

Now this is the very relation the derivation was

supposed to yield. It emerges from Einstein's manipulation of observations by two observers because it has been slipped in by the assumption which Planck questioned. The relation $E = m_{\nu}c^2$ was not derived by Einstein."273

Again, in the "general theory of relativity", we have Einstein claiming priority based on his quasipositivistic, and irrational, metaphysical analysis of others' earlier synthetic scientific theories, while acknowledging that others had enunciated the scientific theories before him. Here again, as with the special theory, all the relevant theories make the same scientific predictions, and differ only ontologically. Ironically, though not coincidentally, the ontology of the general theory returns to the æther the special theory had allegedly dismissed.

Einstein avowed, with respect to the equivalence of inertial and gravitational mass, which Newton and Planck had defined, and which Bessel and Eötvös had demonstrated before him,274

"I was in the highest degree amazed at its existence and guessed that in it must lie the key to a deeper understanding of inertia and gravitation. I had no serious doubts about its strict validity even without knowing the results of the admirable experiments of Eötvös, which-if my memory is right-I only came to know later."275

Einstein irrationally argued known empirical results as first principles to "prove" phenomena by themselves, slipping in the "derivations" (induced hypotheses) in the middle, Petitio Principii.

Paul Gerber established the scientific theory which

predicted the perihelion of Mercury, in 1898,276 David Hilbert published the field equations of general relativity, before Einstein.277 When Ernst Gehrcke confronted Einstein with the fact that Gerber had published the scientific theory, first, Einstein again sought priority, based on his absurd Metaphysics, not on the science, in a frantic and arrogant hand-waving attack.

". . . Gerber, who has given the correct formula for the perihelion motion of Mercury before I did. The experts are not only in agreement that Gerber's derivation is wrong through and through, but the formula cannot be obtained as a consequence of the main assumption made by Gerber. Mr. Gerber's work is therefore completely useless, an unsuccessful and erroneous theoretical attempt. I maintain that the theory of general relativity has provided the first real explanation of the perihelion motion of mercury. I have not mentioned the work by Gerber originally, because I did not know it when I wrote my work on the perihelion motion of Mercury; even if I had been aware of it, I would not have had any reason to mention it."278

The theory of relativity is internally inconsistent in its ontology,

"With Lorentz [the ether] was rigid and it embodied the 'resting' coordinate system, a preferred state of motion in the world. According to the special theory of relativity there was no longer any preferred state of motion; this meant denial of the ether in the sense of the previous theories. For if an ether existed, it would have to have at every space-time

point a definite state of motion, which would have to play a role in optics. But such a preferred state of motion does not exist, as shown by the special theory of relativity and therefore there also does not exist any ether in the old sense. The general theory of relativity, as well, knows of no preferred state of motion of a point, which one could possibly interpret as the velocity of an ether. But while according to the special theory of relativity, a portion of space without matter and without an electromagnetic field appears as simply empty, i.e., characterized by no physical quantities whatever, according to the general theory of relativity space that is empty in this sense also has physical qualities, which are characterized mathematically by the components of the gravitational potential, which determine the metric behavior of this portion of space, as well as its gravitational field. One can very well conceive this state of affairs by speaking of an ether, whose state varies continuously from point to point But one must be on one's guard not to attribute to this 'ether' matter-like properties (e.g., a definite velocity at every place)."279

The special theory of relativity requires that masses in inertial motion relative to each other map, by their mutual motion, Galileo's equal spaces in equal times-spaces and times congruent to distance and times mapped by rigid rods and clocks. According to the general theory of relativity, this is a condition which cannot be met.

The theory of relativity is self-contradictory in many other ways, as well. The theory of relativity depends upon "resting clocks". A clock must move in order to be a clock, and, therefore, cannot be a "resting clock". The theory of relativity depends upon "resting rigid rods". A "rod" is a mental abstraction of moving particles. No rod is rigid or resting. The theory of relativity pretends to be "kinematic", but requires that "inertial systems" be those in which Newton's laws attain their simplest form. Newton's laws are dynamic. not kinematic. In order to define an "inertial motion", masses must be dynamically set into motion—there is no kinematics in the theory of relativity, lest it be Newtonian absolutism with absolute space and absolute time as a substratum and uniform translations of absolute space as a kinematic absolutist definition. While the general theory compels an æther, the special theory is incompatible with the concept. The theory requires that light signal clock synchronization procedures be performed, which cannot be performed. The theory irrationally requires that dynamic measurement procedures, which do not, and cannot, take place, cause rigid rods, which do not exist, to "kinematically" contract, and relatively resting clocks, which cannot relatively rest, to "kinematically" desynchronize and dilate. In order for light speed to be a measured unit, length and time must first be measured, because light speed is a derived unit; but, in the theory, length and time cannot be measured until light speed is known-totally unworkable method, which precludes measurement.

Just as the pseudorelativists pretend that the dynamics of moving and accelerated masses signifies "relativistic kinematics", they confound unilateral dynamic effects, with pretend "reciprocal" "kinematic" effects. There is yet to be an experiment which tests, let alone establishes, reciprocal or kinematic length contraction, reciprocal or kinematic time dilatation, or reciprocal or kinematic relative simultaneity.

7. History

Historians all too often look to the conclusions of previous historians, rather than to the complete historic record, itself.280 Historians record their impressions and not history itself. They are politically motivated. Later historians all too often record the works of earlier historians, and the truth is lost in the process.

Bias is a double-edged sword, which cuts both ways. Many who are aware that Einstein was not an original thinker wrongfully attribute the special theory of relativity to Hendrik Antoon Lorentz, often believing that Minkowski first set in cement the notion of the uniform translation of space and the concept of fourdimensional being. Many worship Hendrik Antoon as a hero, just as many worship Einstein as a hero. However, Lorentz and Minkowski deserve little more credit than does Albert Einstein.

The real "credit" for the relativistic notions of space and time substantially belongs to Boscovich, Lange, Voigt, FitzGerald, Hertz, Larmor, Poincaré, Cohn²⁸¹ and Laub, who are, with the possible exceptions of FitzGerald and Poincaré, almost never cited in the popular literature as contributors to the theory.

The so-called "Lorentz Transformation" is by no means proprietary to Lorentz. The much touted modern "Principle of Relativity"-the belief that absolute space is, in principle, undetectable-was nothing more than one very common interpretation of the negative result of Michelson's experiment, though not the conclusion Michelson, himself, reached. He believed his experiment discredited the then standard explanation of aberration via a resting æther. Michelson turned to Stokes' theory of aberration282 and

a "dragged æther" to explain the negative result of his experiments. 283 Michelson was disciplined enough to realize that c' = c amongst the two pencils of light passing through his interferometer on Earth was a particular case of velocity comparison in a unique system, not an inductively arrived at, synthetic general principle.

We observe a phenomenon and try to come up with rational possibilities as to how it occurs. This is an analysis of the problem which induces our first principles, which are better the more general and fundamental they are. This methodical process is not a theory, but is an inductive analysis. The synthesis comes in forming the theory and arguing from the principles, which were arrived at through induction, deductively to the known phenomenon, such as the supposed phenomenon of the supposed observation that light speed is invariant. If the 1905 paper, as it is popularly interpreted to be a deduction of the Lorentz Transformation, truly were a synthetic theory, we would have to assume that it was the Lorentz Transformation which was observed, and not invariant light speed. We would have to assume that observed Lorentz Transformations led us through analysis to the unobserved, but induced, "principle of the invariance of light speed." That is not what occurred. We supposedly observed invariant light speed, and given that science assumes Nature is predictable and universal, and since no experiment was taken to contradict the supposed observation of invariant light speed, this observed phenomenon was analyzed; and the analysis induced, as one approach, the Lorentz Transformation, the elements of which are the true postulates of the synthetic Poincaré-Lorentz theory of relativity. The Einsteins simply disguised Lorentz'

synthetic theory as a positivistic analysis, using Poincaré's dynamics and nomenclature.

The events which led to Einstein's rise to fame are a fascinating story of hero worship and historic revisionism. The ongoing disclosure of documents related to Einstein's life raise many new questions. Was the man we are led to envision, with the Mark Twain persona and charisma, in fact a stumbling sadistic brute, who wrested his fame from his wife Mileva's misery?²⁸⁴

8. Mileva Einstein-Marity

"We have recently completed a very important work, which will make my husband world-famous."—MILEVA EINSTEIN-MARITY

"The author of these articles—an unknown person at that time, was a bureaucrat at the Patent Office in Bern, Einstein-Marity (Marity—the maiden name of his wife, which by Swiss custom is added to the husband's family name)."—ABRAM JOFFE

"How happy and proud I will be, when we two together have victoriously led our work on relative motion to an end!"—Albert Einstein

In 1905, several articles bearing the name of Albert Einstein appeared in a German physics journal, Annalen der Physik. The most fateful among these, was a paper entitled Zur Elektrodynamik bewegter Körper; von A. Einstein, Einstein's supposedly breakthrough paper on the "principle of relativity". Though it was perhaps submitted as coauthored by Mileva Einstein-Marity and Albert Einstein, or solely by Mileva Einstein-Marity, Albert's name appeared in the journal as the exclusive author of their work. 285

Abram Fedorovich Joffe (Ioffe) recounts that the paper was signed "Einstein-Marity". "Marity" is a variant of the Serbian "Marić", Mileva's maiden name. Joffe, who had seen the original 1905 manuscript, is on record as stating,

"For Physics, and especially for the Physics of my generation—that of Einstein's contemporaries, Einstein's entrance into the arena of science is unforgettable. In 1905, three articles appeared in the 'Annalen der Physik', which began three very important branches of 20th Century Physics. Those were the theory of Brownian movement, the theory of the photoelectric effect and the theory of relativity. The author of these articles-an unknown person at that time, was a bureaucrat at the Patent Office in Bern, Einstein-Marity (Marity-the maiden name of his wife, which by Swiss custom is added to the husband's family name)."

"Для физиков же, и в особенности для физиков моего поколения — современников Эйнштейна, незабываемо появление Эйнштейна на арене науки. В 1905 г. в «Анналах физики» появилось три статьи, положившие начало трём наиболее актуальным направлениям физики XX века. Это были: теория броуновского движения, фотонная теория света и теория относительности. Автор их неизвестный до тех пор чиновник патентного бюро в Берне Эйнштейн-Марити (Марити фамилия его жены, которая по швейцарскому обычаю прибавляется к фамилии мужа)."286

Again, in 1962, we find Daniil Semenovich Danin stating,

"The unsuccessful teacher, who, in search of a reasonable income, had become a third class engineering expert in the Swiss Patent Office, this yet completely unknown theoretician in 1905 published three articles in the same volume of the famous 'Annalen der Physik' signed 'EinsteinMarity' (or Marić-which was his first wife's family name)."

"Невезучий школьный учитель, в поисках сносного заработка ставший инженеромэкспертом третьего класса в Швейцарском бюро патентов, еще никому не ведомый теоретик опубликовал в 1905 году в одном и том же томе знаменитых «Анналов физики» три статьи за подписью Эйнштейн-Марити (или Марич-это была фамилия его первой жены)."287

If "Einstein-Marity" refers to a sole person, that person is Mileva Einstein-Marić, not Albert Einstein.

Desanka Trbuhović-Gjurić's interpretation of the facts are found in her book, Im Schatten Albert Einsteins, Das tragische Leben der Mileva Einstein-Marić, (In the Shadow of Albert Einstein, The Tragic Life of Mileva Einstein-Marić), in which she discusses Mileva's rôle in the development of the special theory of relativity, and states, inter alia,

"The distinguished Russian physicist [***] Abraham F. Joffe (1880-1960), pointed out in his In Remembrance of Albert Einstein', that Einstein's three epochal articles in Volume 17 of 'Annalen der Physik' of 1905 were originally signed 'Einstein-Marić'. Joffe had seen the originals as assistant to Röntgen, who belonged to the Board of the 'Annalen', which had examined submitted contributions for editorial purposes. Röntgen showed his summa cum laude student this work. and Joffe thereby came face to face with the manuscripts, which are no longer available today."

"Der hervorragende russische Physiker [***] Abraham F. Joffe (1880-1960), machte in seinen «Erinnerung an Albert Einstein» darauf aufmerksam, dass die drei epochemachenden Artikel Einsteins im Band XVII der «Annalen der Physik» von 1905 im Original mit «Einstein-Marić» gezeichnet waren. Joffe hatte die Originale als Assistent von Röntgen gesehen, der dem Kuratorium der «Annalen» angehörte, das die bei der Redaktion eingereichten Beiträge begutachten hatte. Zu dieser Arbeit zog Röntgen seinen summa cum laude-Schüler Joffe bei, der auf diese Weise die heute nicht mehr greifbaren Manuskripte zu Gesicht bekam."288

Joffe was no bumbling fool. He knew that his statement would be noticed. Though Joffe's statement superficially indicates that it was Albert who went by the name of "Einstein-Marity", such a claim, and the parenthetical explanation it compelled, were extraordinary! Joffe was probably, as imperceptibly as his conscience would allow, disclosing to the world that Albert was not the author, or, at least, not the sole author, of the works in question. Joffe's statements appeared fifty years after he had read the 1905 papers. It stuck with him all those many years that the papers were indelibly signed "Einstein-Marity". How could Joffe have known that Mileva Marić went by the name of Einstein-Marity, if the name had not appeared on the 1905 papers? Joffe could not have known that Albert went by the name of "Einstein-Marity", because Albert Einstein never did.

Perhaps, Mileva even introduced herself to Joffe as the Einstein-Marity who wrote the papers. Joffe recorded his attempts to discuss the 1905 papers with their author,

"I did not come to know Albert Einstein, until I met him in Berlin. [***] I wanted very much to talk to Einstein [***] and visited him in Zurich together with my friend Wagner. But we did not find him home, so we did not have a chance to talk, and his wife told us that, according to his own words, he is only a civil servant in the patent office, and he has no serious thoughts about science, much less about experiments."289

Joffe states that he wanted to visit Albert in Zurich, but met with Mileva and gave up on meeting Albert; but did he, in fact, travel to Zurich to meet Mileva? Why would not Joffe have sought Albert out? After all, Joffe and Wagner, supposedly went out of their way to visit him in Zurich. Why not make any further effort? Why would Joffe, upon meeting with Mileva, simply have abandoned his quest to meet Albert? Would it have been so difficult to find Albert at the patent office, or the local bar? Joffe does not state that Albert was "out of town", but was merely "not home".

Why weren't they shocked by Mileva's comments? Did Mileva have all the answers to their questions? Why, after having read the original papers of 1905, and likely other published articles, would Joffe have accepted Mileva's account that Albert was a nothing? Was Mileva really something? Would not the natural reaction to Mileva's statements have been, "Then, who wrote the papers?" Or, did Joffe already know? Perhaps, if the story is true, Joffe wanted to confront both Mileva and Albert with the fact that their papers were unoriginal. Perhaps, Albert was hiding from them. The only thing certain is that Joffe's story, as he

told it, makes no sense, other than as odd images, which stuck with Joffe for many, many years and were fundamental to his vision of "Einstein".

There is no Swiss custom by which the husband automatically adds his wife's maiden name to his, and even if there were, neither Albert nor Mileva were Swiss. Albert Einstein never signed his name "Einstein-Marity". Swiss law permits the male, the female, or both, to use a double last name, but this must be declared before the marriage, and it was Mileva, not Albert, who opted for the last name "Einstein-Marity". A married person may use the hyphenated "Allianzname" in everyday use, but it was Mileva who went by "Einstein-Marity", not Albert. Albert signed his marriage records simply "Einstein". Mileva's death notice reads "Einstein-Marity".

Joffe, who had handled the original manuscripts, recounts that.

"The author of these articles [***] was [***] Einstein-Marity".

It was perhaps subtly amusing to Joffe to point out that it was unknown that Albert's wife had written, or coauthored, the Annalen papers. There is apparently no other plausible reason for Joffe to have made this allusion. Even if Joffe had encountered Mileva's name "Einstein-Marity" elsewhere, perhaps when first they met, there is no grounds for his associating it with the work of 1905, other than the name's having appeared on the work.

Did Mileva loose her nerve in the end and ask not to be named as the author of the unoriginal works? Did Mileva have moral objections to the plagiarism? Were the works submitted as coauthored works, but the couple was persuaded that it would be better to have a male name in print? Was there a printing error? Why, after fifty years, would Joffe come out with the disclosure that the papers were submitted by "Einstein-Marity"? Why did that fact nag him for fifty years, and why did he feel compelled to publicly express it, after Albert Einstein had died?

Einstein confessed to Abraham Pais,

"I am not a mathematician."290

Einstein also stated.

"Since the mathematicians have attacked the relativity theory, I myself no longer understand it anymore."291

Anton Reiser (Rudolf Kayser) records that, while Einstein was studying.

"He showed very little love for [the] study [of mathematics], which seemed to him rather limitless in relation to other sciences. No one could stir him to visit the mathematical seminars."292

While still a child, Albert's parents and teachers suspected that he was mentally retarded.293

We have direct evidence from Albert's own pen that the work on relativity theory was a collaboration between Mileva and him.

"How happy and proud I will be, when we two together have victoriously led our work on relative motion to an end!"

"Wie glücklich und stolz werde ich sein, wenn wir beide zusammen unsere Arbeit über die Relativbewegung siegreich zu Ende geführt haben!"294

and.

"As my dear wife, we will want to engage in a quite diligent scientific collaboration, so that we don't become old Philistines, isn't it so?"

"Bis Du mein liebe Weiberl bist, wollen wir recht eifrig zusammen wissenschaftlich arbeiten, daß wir keine alten Philistersleut werden, gellst."295

John Stachel, who claims that a "true collaboration" never developed between Albert and Mileva, quotes the following translations of the above, as follows,

"I'll be so happy and proud when we are together and can bring our work on relative motion to a successful conclusion!"296

and.

"When you're my dear little wife, we'll diligently work on science together so we don't become old philistines, right?"297

Evan Harris Walker, who argued that Mileva was co-author, or sole author, of the 1905 papers, quoted some of Albert's words, as found in the The Collected Papers of Albert Einstein, and bear in mind that the vast majority of Mileva's letters to Albert were destroyed, with there being no more likely reasons for their destruction, than to hide her contribution and the fact that the works were unoriginal.

"I find statements in 13 of [Albert's] 43 letters to [Mileva] that refer to her research or to an ongoing collaborative effort-for example, in document 74, 'another method which has similarities with yours.'

In document 75, Albert writes: 'I am also looking forward very much to our new work. You must now continue with your investigation.' In document 79, he says, 'we will send it to Wiedermann's Annalen.' In document 96, he refers to 'our investigations'; in document 101, to 'our theory of molecular forces.' In document 107, he tells her: 'Prof. Weber is very nice to me. . . . I gave him our paper."298

Though some have suggested that Albert was condescending to Mileva, by referring to the works as "theirs"; it is far more likely, from a sociological point of view, that the opposite occurred, and Albert was Mileva's lackey, fetching notes for her. In order to spare Albert's male ego, and in order to further Albert's career, Mileva perhaps referred to the work as "theirs"—just as female nurses have been observed to instruct male doctors on the diagnosis and viable treatment, only to have the male doctor then pretend that the ideas were his, and lecture the female nurse with her own words. It does not seem plausible, most especially in that era, that Albert would call the work joint, if it were not-and it was absolutely against Albert's nature to award due credit to others, unless forced to do so. Albert professed,

"Man usually avoids attributing cleverness to somebody else-unless it is an enemy."

Albert may have lacked the mathematical skills and intellectual abilities needed to have written the 1905 paper alone. On the other hand, Mileva was exceptionally bright, and all indications are that those who knew her throughout her life found her the more intelligent one of the pair. She probably had the needed intellectual prowess to have written the 1905 paper on the principle of relativity. Given the many blunders in the paper, it is safe to assume that neither one of them was a superlative mathematician, or logician. It also appears that publication of the paper may have been rushed-perhaps the couple had corresponded with Poincaré, and he had informed them of his results, and when he would publish them.

Mileva and Albert had coauthored papers before 299 and Albert had assumed credit for that which Mileva had accomplished.300 Senta Troemel-Ploetz presented a thorough account of Albert's shameless appropriation of Mileva's work and of Mileva's acquiescence.301 Troemel-Ploetz' insights into the cultural barriers Marić faced, and the reasons for Marić's lack of success at the ETH, form a persuasive argument that Mileva was discriminated against, and faced other enormous challenges, which must be taken into account when comparing Mileva's accomplishments with those of her fellow students.

Albert would often simply agree with whomever he had last spoken,302 and it is within the realm of possibilities that he was in some sense a mere parrot. Upon meeting with colleagues, he would often grill them for information on their theories, seemingly soaking it all in, perhaps to repeat it later as his own.

Certain anecdotal accounts paint Einstein in a bad light. Upon refusing to brush his teeth, Einstein allegedly proclaimed that, "pigs' bristles can drill

through diamond, so how should my teeth stand up to them?"303 Explaining why he didn't wear a hat in the rain, he asserted that hair dries faster than hats, and irritably asserted that such was obvious. It apparently eluded him that the objective was, in the first place, to keep the hair dry. Explaining why he didn't wear socks, Einstein commented. "When I was young I found out that the big toe always ends up by making a hole in the sock. So I stopped wearing socks"304 and "What use are socks? They only produce holes."305 He also wasn't too handy around the house, and seemingly had a difficult time conceptualizing geometric problems.306 Einstein insisted that two holes be bored through his front door, one larger than the other, so that both the large cat, and the small cat, could pass through the door.

After meeting Einstein, Max von Laue found it difficult to believe that Einstein had written the 1905 paper,

"[T]he young man who met me made such an unexpected impression on me, that I did not believe him to be capable of being the father of the theory of relativity."

"[D]er junge Mann, der mir entgegen kam, machte mir einen so unerwarteten Eindruck, daß ich nicht glaubte, er könne der Vater der Relativitätstheorie sein."307

Minkowski, who had been Einstein's professor, found it difficult to believe that "lazy" Einstein had written the 1905 paper. Minkowski didn't think Einstein capable of it. 308 As both Heaviside and Born record, Minkowski anticipated Einstein.

Charles Nordmann, who chauffeured the Nobel Prize holding Einstein around France, sarcastically described him as a vacant-eyed simian clod.309 Nordmann sarcastically ranked him with Newton, Des Cartes or Henri Poincaré-from whom Einstein had copied the principle of relativity.310 Like Rabelais and Voltaire before him, Nordmann lavished sarcastic praise on the new hero and derided him in ways which would elude the unsophisticated, but which were clear to those knowledgeable of the facts. Nordmann was careful not to be too blunt, for he wished to advocate the theory of relativity, and it was politically expedient for him to ride on Einstein's coat tails, but Nordmann never failed to get his digs in.

In Germany, scientists rallied against relativity theory and published Hundert Autoren gegen Einstein ("A Hundred Authors against Einstein").311

Einstein once asked.

"Do I have something of a charlatan or a hypnotist about me that draws people like a circus clown?"312

Paul Weyland 313 and Ernst Gehrcke 314 asserted that Einstein's rise to fame was a "mass suggestion" fed by the insecurities of some of the authorities, and by the press, who would frequently misrepresent the facts, and misrepresented the views of many leading authorities, who were in reality mostly opposed to relativity theory. Gehrcke addressed Einstein to his face, in the Berlin Philharmonic, on August 24th, 1920, and stated, inter alia,

"Die EINSTEINsche Relativitätstheorie nimmt ihren Ursprung aus einer Theorie des holländischen Physikers LORENTZ.

übereinstimmung mit der LORENTZschen Theorie geht so weit, daß die mathematische Form der EINSTEINschen Theorie vom Jahre 1905 wesentlich dieselbe ist, wie die von LORENTZ, die Gleichungen dieser EINSTEINschen Theorie sind die Gleichungen von LORENTZ. Neuartig erschien die Deutung der Theorie, die Interpretation der Grundbegriffe Zeit und Raum, EINSTEIN hat mit dieser Interpretation etwas getan, von dem seine Bewunderer gesagt haben, es stelle alles bisher Dagewesene in den Schatten. Die Interpretation EINSTEINs war aber gleichfalls weit weniger neu, als es den Anschein hatte. Schon im jahre 1901 hat der ungarische Philosoph MELCHIOR PALAGYI in ENGELMANNs Verlag in Leipzig eine Schrift in deutscher Sprache erscheinen lassen, die wesentliche Gedanken EINSTEINs und MINKOWSKIs, des begeisterten, mathematischen Anhängers EINSTEINs, vorwegnahm: so besonders die Idee der "Union zwischen Zeit und Raum", die Auffassung der "Welt" in 4 Koordinaten, von denen die eine, die Zeit, mit der imagären Einheit √-1 multiplizert auftritt usw. Den Physikern waren diese Vorgänge - zum Teil heute noch-unbekannt, sie nahmen die Relativitätslehre EINSTEINs teils kopfschüttenld, teils abwartend auf. Als aber anerkannte Autoritäten sich begeistert für die Relativitätstheorie einsetzten, trat auch im Publikum Begeisterung auf, und nun nahm die Entwicklung ihren unaufhaltsamen Gang. Bei der Verknüfpfung mathematischer, physikalischer und philosophischer Gedanken in der Relativitätstheorie war es den Fachleuten in unserer Zeit des hochgesteigerten, wissenschaftlichen Spezialistentums sehr schwer

gemacht, zu einem selbständigen Urteil über die Theorie zu gelangen, zumal EINSTEIN sein Werk mit Geschichlichkeit zu verteidigen wußte und den Physikern ihre Bedenken mit mathematischen und philosophischen, den Mathematikern ihre Bedenken mit physikalischen und philosophischen, den Philosophen ihre Bedenken mit mathematischen und physikalischen Gegengründen zerstreute: jeder Fachmann beugte sich vor der Autorität des Kollegen im andern Fach, jeder glaubte das, was er nach andern Fachautoritäten als für bewiesen halten zu sollen vermeinte. Niemand wollte sich dem Vorwurf aussetzen, er verstände nichts von der Sache! Und so wurde eine Lage geschaffen, ähnlich der von ANDERSEN geschilderten in seinem Märchen "Des Kaisers neue Kleider": hier sieht ein Kaiser mit seinen Ministern und Untertanen dem Weben eines Gewandes zu, das die Eigenart hat, von denjenigen Menschen nicht gesehen zu werden, die dazu nicht klug genug sind, und schließlich stehen alle staunend vor den leeren Webstühlen, weil niemand sich getraut zu bekennen, daß er nichts sieht. So hat auch die Relativitätstheorie die Geister gefesselt, sie ist zur Massensuggestion geworden. Aber eine Massensuggestion ist an sich nichts Verwerfliches, die Ausschaltung des klaren Verstandes braucht durchaus kein Beweis dafür zu sein, daß das Streben der Masse ein törichtes ist. Alles hing bei der Relativitätstheorie davon ab, ob sie in ein erkenntnistheoretisch annehmbares Fahrwasser geleitet werden konnte.

EINSTEIN hat die Schwächen seiner Theorie öfters zu verbessern und den Einwänden auszuweichen gesucht, er hat z. B. das

Relativitätsprinzip hin und hergeworfen (s. oben S. 57 ff.), er hat schließlich geglaubt, den sicheren Hafen erreicht zu haben und im jahre 1915 erklärt. daß endlich die Relativitätstheorie als logisches Gebäude abgeschlossen sei. Ein Punkt bei all diesen Wandlungen ist noch besonders wichtig. hervorgehoben zu werden: so wenig neuartig die mathematische Form der ersten Relativitätstheorie EINSTEINs ist, die mit der älteren LORENTZschen Theorie übereinstimmt, so wenig ist auch die im weiteren Verlauf der Entwicklung durch EINSTEIN vollzogene Veränderung des mathematischen Gewandes der Theorie besonders neuartig gewesen: daß die Relativitätstheorie in die Formeln der nichteuklidischen Geometrie hineinführt, zeigte zuerst der Mathematiker VARICAK; daß die mathematische Komplikation der nichteuklidischen Kontinua von den Mathematikern formal bereits seit langem gelöst war, erkennt sogar EINSTEIN an. Inwieweit EINSTEIN die neueste von WEYL u. a. eingeschlagene, relativitätstheoretische Richtung überhaupt noch mitmacht, ist nicht recht klar. Jedenfalls verbreiten Anhänger von EINSTEIN Nachrichten, die für die WEYLschen Arbeiten ungünstig lauten.

Wenn es also feststeht, daß EINSTEIN in seiner Relativitätstheorie keine mathematisch ungewöhnlichen Formen entdeckt hat, wenn die philosophisch-erkenntnistheoretische Grundlage des ganzen Gebäudes unbefriedigend ist, wenn endlich die Experimente der Physiker und Astronomen die Theorie night beweisen können, so wird man fragen, was denn überhaupt noch übrig bleibt, um in der Relativitätstheorie ein Werk zu

erblicken, das über die Taten von KOPERNIKUS, KEPLER und NEWTON hinausgeht. Diese Frage werden die heutigen Anhänger und Gegner der Theorie, je nach ihrem persönlichen Gefühl, verschieden beantworten. Eine Antwort, die alle befriedigt, wird sich erst erzielen lassen, wenn die Suggestion der Reklame und der Druckerschwärze, mit welcher die .. revolutionäre Relativitätstheorie" arbeitet, von allen als solche erkannt ist. Zu dieser Aufklärung beitragen zu helfen mögen die obigen Zeilen dienen."

Gehrcke effectively accused Einstein of plagiarizing the mathematical formalisms of Lorentz, the spacetime concepts of Palágyi,315 and the non-Euclidean Geometry of Varičak316 (Marić would have been able to have read all of Varičak's works); and of masking his plagiarism and the weaknesses of the theory with irrational Metaphysics. Gehrcke stood up and declared that, "the Emperor has no clothes!"

Einstein's only response came days later,317 in a frantic, inappropriately emotional, and irrational "hand-waving" ad hominem attack against Lenard, Weyland and Gehrcke, in which Einstein simply appealed to authority-his hangers-on, and those from whom he had plagiarized. It is obvious that Einstein could not defend himself, or his position, other than to change the subject to a personal attack against his opponents. He pouted and whined like a spoiled brat, in order to avoid the bulk of accusations made against him and the theory of relativity. Einstein wanted, instead, to wait for others to speak in defense of the theory. He apparently could not.

Gehrcke seemingly decided to fight propaganda with thoroughly documented fact, but came up on the losing side. Einstein's persona, as depicted in the press, was perhaps too endearing to be successfully countered by the facts.

Is there any evidence that Einstein wrote unoriginal works as a pattern?

By 1905, before the appearance of his first paper on "special relativity", Albert Einstein had already demonstrated a knack for repeating the work of others, though he had somehow thought of it independently, later, and nevertheless deserved credit for his supposedly independent inspiration. 318 His early papers were thoroughly unoriginal, and it is within the realm of possibilities that he may have derived them from the works of Gibbs and Boltzmann (the relevant works will be addressed in another volume of this series), without giving them their due credit. Einstein's writings would often repeat, virtually verbatim, the writings of others, but Einstein's papers were often virtually devoid of footnotes. The 1905 paper on relativity wanted for a single reference.

Is it possible that Einstein could have simply copied the then famous papers of scientists? Could Einstein have acted like a teenager, who opens an encyclopedia article, changes a few words and copies the rest, then submits the finished forgery as his own term paper?

Perhaps, the question is moot. The priorities, however, are clear. The repeated occurrences of the repetition evince a pattern, though, perhaps, some might argue, a coincidental pattern. In any event, the credit belongs to those who published first, and Einstein was rarely, if ever, amongst them.

Was it Albert who was fitting the formulæ others had published before him into a new dress to call his own, or was it his brilliant wife, Mileva? In my opinion, and this is certainly a debatable question, and my

opinion is not a fact, Albert's supposed genius seems to have diminished after his divorce from Mileva in 1919. Why would that be so? He died in 1955, and produced nothing extraordinarily significant after his divorce, in my opinion, and other authorities would almost certainly contest this opinion, though many who were closest to Albert have agreed. This is a subjective question.

After winning the Nobel Prize (expressly not for relativity theory, by the way, but allegedly for an unoriginal paper of relatively minor importance, and for being an all-round divinely inspired fellow) in 1922, Albert paid his former wife the money which he had won in the prize, but why?

Why pay Mileva the winnings? Was Albert overly generous in the support of his family? Many accounts indicate that he was not.

Why did the Nobel committee not award Einstein the Nobel Prize for his work on relativity theory? Could it have been that all who were familiar with the facts, knew that Einstein did not originate the major concepts behind relativity theory? It is supposedly unclear, but many parts of the puzzle present an image of political motivation, and not merit, being the impetus behind Einstein's award.

Some ten years prior, Wilhelm Wien had recommended that the Nobel Prize be given to both Lorentz and Albert Einstein in 1912, on the grounds that.

"While Lorentz must be considered as the first to have found the mathematical content of the relativity principle, Einstein succeeded in reducing it to a simple principle. One should therefore assess the merits of both investigators as being comparable".319

However, Einstein's half of the pie by all rights belonged to Poincaré, who died in 1912, and it would have been in exceedingly bad taste to have exploited his death in order to award the Nobel Prize to Einstein; and Voigt, FitzGerald and Larmor had rights to Lorentz' share. Wien knew Poincaré's work well. and, thus, knew that Einstein had done little but parrot Poincaré. 320

Ernst Gehrcke³²¹ demonstrated that Paul Gerber³²² had anticipated the general theory of relativity, making a Nobel Prize for that theory impossible. Wien, in recommending Lorentz and Einstein for the special theory, effectively disclosed that Einstein held no priority for it, as everyone knew that Poincaré stated the principle of relativity long before Einstein. It is clear that the Nobel committee simply manufactured an excuse to award the then celebrity, Albert Einstein, and in some minds traitor to the German cause in World War I, a prize, merely mentioning the photoelectric effect, for which Einstein held no priority, as a possible excuse, which "white lie" apparently offended few.

Could the Nobel Prize monies Albert paid Mileva have been "hush money"? Though the payment was made pursuant to a divorce agreement, would not a divorce agreement typically stipulate that the male was indebted to the female and must pay her, regardless of the means by which the money was obtained? Mileva had children to feed, Albert's children. When the divorce agreement was reached, it was far from certain that Albert would ever win the Nobel Prize. Why would Mileva roll the dice with the future of her children?

Why would they reach an agreement, which stipulated that the monies be paid if and only if Albert might someday win the Nobel Prize? It was far from certain that Albert would ever win the Nobel Prize. Could the agreement have related not to the responsibilities of marriage, but to potential monetary gain derived from Mileva's efforts? Is it possible that if it were Mileva's work, and that work paid off, Albert would pay her off, and then only to keep her silent? It seems an extraordinary proposition. Could it have been Mileva's way of saying, "Hey, if you ever get any serious money out of my work, I deserve the money, because it was my work!"

Mileva once hinted to Albert that she was contemplating publishing her memoirs. Albert told her to keep her mouth shut, and may have intimated that he, an innocent idiot, would suffer less than she, the incorrigible plagiarist. That is but one of many plausible interpretations of Albert's words, which were nebulous in the sense that threats often are. 323 Albert believed.

"If A equals success, then the formula is A equals X plus Y plus Z. X is work. Y is play. Z is keep your mouth shut."324

Why didn't Mileva come forward with the fact that she was the one who had written the work, if in fact she had? Did Albert buy Mileva's silence? Even if he had, was there more to hold Mileva back from exposing Albert, than the desperate need for monies?

Hypothetically speaking, would Albert have been able to prove to the world that the theory was not completely original when Annalen der Physik first published the 1905 paper, if Mileva herself had merely

condensed the works of Lange, Voigt, Hertz, FitzGerald, Larmor, Cohn, Langevin, Lorentz and Poincaré? If so, what would Mileva have stood to gain by revealing that Albert had taken credit for her work, when she herself had merely repeated what others had already published?

Would it then have been the case that neither of the Einsteins, not Albert, not Mileva, "thought God thought's", as popular myth now holds? Might they have read scientists' papers and books, rewrote them. and attached Albert's name to what was not his? Is such a thing possible? Did Albert demonstrably repeat. again and again, what others had published before him, mirroring their words in virtually identical form?

Did it ever happen to Albert, that someone would repeat what he had earlier published, and then claimed priority for thoughts which Albert had first published? Would Albert have tolerated such misbehavior? He was aggressive in response to challenges to his priority. Albert stated that it is wrong not to give credit where credit is due,

"That, alas, is vanity. You find it in so many scientists. You know, it has always hurt me to think that Galileo did not acknowledge the work of Kepler."325

If one thief steals a stolen purse from another thief, then offers to split the purse, what option does either thief have, but to keep silent and spend the money? What might have happened, if, hypothetically speaking, Mileva knew that she had written the work for which Albert took credit? What if, hypothetically speaking. Albert knew that Mileva had copied the ideas, examples, explanations, equations and phrases,

from Lange, Voigt, Hertz, FitzGerald, Larmor, Cohn, Langevin, Lorentz and Poincaré? In such a hypothetical scenario, what could Mileva have done? What would have been in her self-interest?

Did Mileva begin hoping that Albert would rise to fame and she would lead a charmed life with her famous husband? Her words might indicate that she did.

"We have recently completed a very important work, which will make my husband world-famous."

"Vor kurzem haben wir ein sehr bedeutendes Werk vollendet, das meinen Mann weltberühmt machen wird. "326

Serbian women had little chance at fame in those days, other than as ornaments attached to their husbands' arms. Tesla, a Serb born in Croatia, was unfairly treated in the West. What chance did Mileva stand?

Albert was cruel to Mileva. Her self-confidence may have been destroyed. Albert once demanded in writing that Mileva obey his cruel and degrading orders, in a letter which can only be described as shocking and revolting.327 If Mileva had hoped that Albert would someday acknowledge her, she was mistaken. Albert, a misogynist, degraded her in a letter to Michele Besso.

"We men are deplorable, dependent creatures. But compared with these women, every one of us is king, for he stands more or less on his own two feet, not constantly waiting for something outside of himself to cling to. They, however, always wait for someone to come along who will use them as he

sees fit. If this does not happen, they simply fall to pieces."328

It is a myth that Albert was a gentle and kind person. Brutality was nothing new to Albert. He physically abused his sister, and attacked his violin instructor.

"Albert resisted, throwing a chair and a tantrum-which sent his teacher scurrying for the nearest exit. [***] Albert was still liable to express his discontent with the nearest weapon at hand [***] Maja escaped serious and frequent injury [***] because she would run for cover. [***] Once she barely missed getting a concussion from a bowling ball Albert aimed at her head.[***] He closed in for the attack and smashed Maja over the head with a garden hoe."329

Is it possible that Marić may have believed that her only hope for fame and fortune was to build up Albert and use him for her ends? Did Albert have strong morals? Under such hypothetical conditions, would Albert have been fit for the rôle as cohort to plagiarism, if plagiarism were ever to occur? By many accounts, he may have been incontinent, perhaps even an incestuous adulterer. 330 According to some accounts, Einstein was perhaps even a foul-mouthed³³¹ syphilitic whore monger. 332

Did Albert have no choice but to copy what others had published before him, if indeed he ever actually did? Was he of sub-average intelligence?333 Given that this issue is controversial, I'll give Albert the benefit of the doubt and regard the 1905 paper as a coauthored work. However, that which was new in the paper, the

"relativistic" equations for aberration and the Doppler-Fizeau Effect, were likely accomplished by Mileva, the superior mathematician of the two. If the Einsteins had properly referenced their work, and claimed priority only for that which was new in the paper, one wonders if Mileva, who evidently had far more character than Albert—she cared for their children, while he largely abandoned them—would have insisted that her rôle be acknowledged.

9. Politics and Anecdotes

"Einstein's thoughts were far away from political problems and this is why many of Einstein's speeches in this field were poorly thought out. [***] And Einstein, in the beginning, would only look at the façade of things and not look deeper into their true meaning."—ABRAM JOFFE

From whence came Einstein's idealistic politics? If his claims to priority in physics were phoney, were his politics then as phoney as his claims to priority in physics? One can only speculate. He repeated much of what H. G. Wells had accomplished, both in physics and politics. Wells holds priority on the concept of four-dimensional space-time, the atomic bomb, and many other innovations of thought. Poincaré and Minkowski also addressed some of these topics, but somehow, they are today associated almost exclusively with "Einstein", even though he had nothing to do with creating them.

I do not mean to belittle much of what Einstein said in terms of politics, but find it within the realm of possibilities that he may have merely parroted, and been a spokesperson for, the thoughts of others, some of which were quite noble aspirations. Of course, it may have been purely coincidental that he restated the words of others, usually the same others in the same context.

Even some of Einstein's quaint scientific anecdotes have their prior cousins. He told a story of his supposed fantasy of traveling at light speed, 334 the so-called "Aarau Question". This story is used as an

example of Einstein's supposed independence from Lorentz. Albert Einstein,

"After ten years of reflection such a principle resulted from a paradox upon which I had already hit at the age of sixteen: If I pursue a beam of light with the velocity c (velocity of light in a vacuum), I should observe such a beam of light as a spatially oscillatory electromagnetic field at rest. [***] One sees that in this paradox the germ of the special theory of relativity is already contained."335

However, this fantasy was the subject of a novel popular among physicists of Einstein's day written by a famous astronomer, Lumen, by Camille Flammarion. The story of Lumen, filled with the positivistic dogma Einstein would later parrot throughout his career, was first published many decades before Einstein claimed credit for the story, before Einstein was even born, and discusses not only travel at luminal and superluminal velocities, but the complete relativity of simultaneity, time and space, and the use of light speed as a measurement of relative distance, time and simultaneity!

As a small example from Lumen,

"{The magnifying power of time.—Notes in "{}" are margin notes found in the original.) It is this: If you set out from the Earth at the moment that a flash of lightning bursts forth, and if you travelled for an hour or more with the light, you would see lightning as long as you continued to look at it. This fact is established by the foregoing principles. But if, instead of travelling exactly with the velocity of light, you were to travel with a little less velocity;

note the observation that you might make. I will suppose that this voyage away from the Earth, during which you look at the lightning, lasts a minute. I will suppose also, that the lightning lasts a thousandth part of a second. You will continue to see the lightning during 60,000 times its duration. In our first supposition this voyage is identical with that of light. Light has occupied 60,000 tenths of seconds to go from the Earth to the point in space where you are. Your voyage and that of light have co-existed. Now if instead of flying with just the same velocity as light, you had flown a little less quickly, and if you had employed a thousandth part of a second more to arrive at the same point, instead of always seeing the same moment of the lightning, you would have seen, successively, the different moments which consulted the total duration of the lightning, equal to 1000 parts of a second. In this whole minute you would have had time to see first the beginning of the flash of lightning, and could analyse the development of it, the successive phases of it, to the very end. You may imagine what strange discoveries one could make in the secret nature of lightning, increased 60,000 times in the order of its duration, what frightful battles you would have time to discover in the flames! what pandemonium! what unlucky atoms! what a world hidden by its volatile nature from the imperfect eyes of mortals!

(Vision of the analysing eye.)

If you could see by your imagination sufficiently, to separate and count the atoms which constitute the body of a man, that body would disappear before you, for it consists of thousands of millions of atoms in motion, and to the analysing eye it would

be a nebula animated by the forces of gravitation. Did not Swedenborg imagine that the universe by which he was surrounded, seen as a whole, was in the form of an immense man? That was anthropomorphism. But there are analogies everywhere. What we know most certainly is, that things are not what they appear to be, either in space or in time. But let us return to the delayed flash of lightning.

When you travel with the velocity of light, you see constantly the scene which was in existence at the moment of your departure. If you were carried away for a year, at the same rate, you would have before your eyes the same event for that time. But if, in order to see more distinctly an event which would have taken only a few seconds, such as the fall of a mountain, an avalanche, or an earthquake, you were to delay, to see the commencement of the catastrophe (in slackening a little, your steps on those of light), you would see the progress of the catastrophe, its first moment, its second, and so on successively, in thus nearly following the light, you would only see the end after an hour of observation. The event would last for you an hour instead of a few seconds. You would see the rocks, or the stones suspended in the air, and could thus ascertain the mode of production of the phenomenon, and its incidental delays. Already your terrestrial scientific knowledge enables you to take instantaneous photographs of the successive aspects of rapid phenomena, such as lightning, a meteor, the waves of the sea, a volcanic eruption, the fall of a building, and to make them pass before you graduated in accordance with their effect on the retina. Similarly you can, on the contrary, photograph the pollen of

a flower, through each stage of expansion to its completion in the fruit, or the development of a child from its birth to maturity, and project these phases upon a screen, depicting in a few seconds the life of a man, or a tree."336

The concept of relative simultaneity appears repeatedly in the Nineteenth Century as a French conception, inspired by Fizeau and Flammarion. furthered by Bergson in his Time and Free Will, an Essay on the Immediate Data of Consciousness, and brought to fruition in Poincaré's The Measurement of Time, and, Science and Hypothesis, and his 1904 St. Louis lecture, The Principles of Mathematical Physics. However, it was the Croatian Jesuit Boscovich who had the profoundest, and prior, insight regarding relative simultaneity.337

The equating of light speed to length and time was placed in the consciousness of physicists by Roemer, whose calculations of light's finite speed underpin the definition of simultaneity in modern physics. Fizeau defined space as isotropic with regards to light speed and assumed that:

$$c = (2AB) \div (t'_A - t_A),$$

where c = celeritas, the wave speed of light, AB is the length of the path of light from point A to point B, and $(t'_A - t_A)$ is the time interval of the round trip path of reflected light from A to B and back to A.

Fizeau thereby presented a new circular definition of time. Poincaré demonstrated that, since c was supposedly a universal constant between systems in relative motion to each other, this new circular definition of time rendered simultaneity relative and that the presumption of an isotropic light speed was the presumption of a measurement of time. Time was

previously defined by the circular definition of uniform motion supplied by Galileo, where equal spaces are defined to be traversed in equal times.

In Einstein's famous lecture of 1922 in Japan, 338 he recounts that he derived inspiration from "Michelson's experiment". Then, years later, Einstein denied having known of the experiment before the 1905 paper appeared. 339 He may have had grounds to lie. Einstein rarely cited papers, which appeared before the 1905 paper, and which presented the image of "relativity", as did Michelson's papers, The relative motion of the Earth and the Luminiferous ether, and, On the Relative Motion of the Earth and the Luminiferous Ether. Einstein pretended that he invented the concept of relative motion, and by this, I mean c' = c. But that, on its own, is a trivial matter. Significantly, admitting to a knowledge of Michelson's work, was an admission that Mileva and Albert based their supposedly deductive theory, which tacitly and incorrectly takes c' = c as a general principle, on a particular case, the Michelson result, thereby admitting that their theory was in truth an inductive argument for Lorentz' deductive synthesis of 1904, and that c' = c was a particular case of a given velocity comparison in a given static system, not a general principle; the actually held general principles being the hypotheses of the Lorentz Transformation, which deductively result in the particular case of Michelson's c' = c, whether there is relative motion in Michelson's experiments, or not. Furthermore, there is a tenuous connection between Michelson's experiments and the special theory of relativity, for pointing to said experiments as evidence in support of the theory admits of absolute space, for without absolute space, and given the supposedly superfluous nature of the

æther, there is no relative motion in the Michelson experiments. Where is the "resting system" in the experiment? Where is the "moving system" in the experiment?

The Michelson-Morley experiment only signifies relative motion in Lorentz' theory, despite the fact that it has long been cited as supporting the Einsteins' theory.340 Of course, Albert's expressed policy was, "If the facts don't fit the theory, change the facts."

After more than one hundred years, noted experts in the field are still in a quandary to establish any relative motion in the Michelson experiments, such as would place the same events in two systems in relative motion to each other in the same experiment, in order to justify Poincaré's notion of relative simultaneity. Others take a different approach. The book Spacetime Physics,341 by Edwin F. Taylor and John Archibald Wheeler, which is perhaps the most respected introductory text to the field, argues for at least two separate experiments, but such is not a test of the special theory of relativity, per se, but is, in fact, more likely to detect or disprove any relative motion between the æther and the Earth.

From Spacetime Physics:

"The Michelson-Morley experiment and its modern improvements tell us that in every inertial frame the round-trip speed of light is the same in every direction—the speed of light is isotropic in both laboratory and rocket frames as predicted by the principle of relativity."

How can such a limited set of experiments, which can be explained in so many other ways with greater logical economy, tell us what happens at all times in

all places in the universe? This is clearly "too hasty a generalization". Where is the "laboratory frame" and the "rocket frame" in the Michelson-Morley experiment? Unless one supposes a resting æther, as did Lorentz; or an absolute space, as did Mileva and Albert; there is only the effectively static frame of the laboratory.

From Spacetime Physics:

"(1) The round-trip speed of light measured on earth is the same in every direction—the speed of light is isotropic. (2) The speed of light is isotropic not only when Earth moves in one direction around Sun in, say, January (call Earth with this motion the 'laboratory frame'), but also when Earth moves in the opposite direction around Sun six months later, in July (call Earth with this motion the 'rocket frame')."

Are we to assume that we have the "resting system" in one experiment, and the "moving frame" in an entirely different experiment? Where is the "resting frame" and where is the "moving frame" in any given experiment, such that there is a transformation of coordinates, which would compel or give evidence of the Lorentz Transformation and relative simultaneity? Where are the observers positioning events, the clocks, and the relatively moving rods?

From Spacetime Physics:

"(3) The generalization of this result to any pair of inertial frames in relative motion. . ."

How are the lab and rocket frames, which are not inertial frames if they rest on the Earth, in relative

motion, when they are the same laboratory at two distinct periods of time? The "frame" is composed of the laboratory equipment, not translations of absolute space, through absolute time. Not only is their argument a fallacy of "too hasty a generalization": the premises, themselves, are false. There is no "pair of inertial frames in relative motion" in the experiment. from a relativistic perspective, which perspective denies the æther. A train leaving Chicago is not moving relative to the same train arriving in Denver.

From Spacetime Physics:

". . . in relative motion is contained in the statement, The round-trip speed of light is isotropic both in the laboratory frame and in the rocket frame."

Which are the same laboratory with two names at two different times.

From Spacetime Physics:

"An experiment to test the assumption of the equality of the round-trip speed of light in two inertial frames in relative motion was conducted in 1932 by Roy J. Kennedy and Edward M. Thordike."

This experiment, likewise, contains no "resting system" and no "moving system" without the assumption of an absolute space, or a "resting" æther.

Einstein claimed that he arose from bed once and wondered if events were absolutely simultaneous.342 Was Einstein reading Poincaré, who had already expressly written that events are not absolutely simultaneous, in bed, before Einstein fell asleep? Einstein had read Poincaré's work on relative simultaneity. Einstein also told an Eureka-like story of his enlightenment of the special theory of relativity-a story which is suspiciously similar to Archimedes' story.343 He was compelled to invent these childish fairy tales of his divine inspiration, as if they accounted for his "research", for there is no record of his having developed the theory, while there is a substantial record of others having published it before him.

Einstein may have been a phoney. He may not have been a phoney. The question of priority is one which can be settled based on the historic record. The question of inspiration is perhaps more obscure. To some, the answers may appear obvious.

When his fame increased, Albert divorced Mileva, and entered into an incestuous marriage with his cousin (with whom he was a blood relative through both his mother and his father 344), though Albert may have felt that he had the option to choose between a marriage with his cousin, or one of her young daughters. He once referred to his wife-cousin and her two daughters, as his "small harem". 345

Do the facts present Einstein as a perverse being. sadistically cruel to his family? If they were to, should it be considered the benefit of his genius, and a sacrifice he made for the good of mankind? Would it be an indication that the popular image of the man is a myth? Might there be other myths, or truths which have been covered up?

Einstein told the general public that only twelve men in the world were capable of understanding the theory of relativity.346 After that proclamation, any person who dared contest Einstein's priority was susceptible to being labeled as outside the 12 and incapable of understanding the theory. This ad hominem retort to challenges to the theory continues today, when pseudorelativists avoid addressing the substance of arguments against the theory and avoid addressing the facts, but instead attempt an ad hominem argument against those who question their beliefs, in an effort to discredit the critic, instead of addressing his or her complaints. There are many fatal flaws in the special theory of relativity. When pressed for a substantial response, the response is too often, "What you say is true, but so what?"

When it was realized that Einstein repeated what others had written far earlier, some regarded it as an amazing coincidence that someone had already written what Einstein and others would later publish. For instance.

"[Boscovich's] theory also suggests curious—almost uncanny-intimations of general relativity and quantum mechanics." 347

The lack of footnotes in Einstein's writings was not seen as an attempt at plagiarism, but as evidence that Einstein conceived the whole soup from scratch, even though the factual record proves that the principle of relativity via the "Lorentz Transformation" was a traditional, well-known recipe. The absurdity of assuming that a lack of references indicates the absence of a knowledge of an other's works degenerates into mysticism, and we are asked to accept that Einstein did not read what was famously in print in his pet field, but was inspired,

"if not [by] God, [then by] some otherworldly source" 348

Is it not clear that Einstein's silly and childish "Eureka!" stories are fabrications meant to establish a record of priority, where no record in fact exists? For the first originators (a redundancy compelled by the subject matter) of relativity theory, the development was slow, progressive and well documented. It was an evolution, not a holy revelation.

Of course, the indoctrinated habit of scientists is to research the scientific literature before developing a theory. Why wouldn't Einstein have done so? The history of science was, after all, Einstein's passion.

Could Einstein have researched the literature on the electrodynamics of moving bodies, the relative motion of bodies and the failure to detect the motion of the Earth relative to the æther and missed the relevant works of Michelson, Larmor, Cohn, Langevin, Poincaré and Lorentz? Did God really tap Einstein on the shoulder and whisper these men's thoughts to Einstein, but didn't let Einstein in on the poorly kept secret that these men had already published "God's thoughts"?

Einstein is known to have read Poincaré, 349 and was aware of Lorentz' work, but denied knowledge of the so-called "Lorentz Transformation". Is it plausible to believe that Einstein, a supposed genius and master scientist, was completely unaware of Poincaré's, Lorentz' and Larmor's works containing the so-called "Lorentz Transformation", and the principle of relativity, which were the talk of the physics community, 350 and the then current literature on the subject of Poincaré's "principle of relativity", and that it is coincidental that Einstein repeated much of what they wrote? Is it a coincidence that Einstein repeated the same formulæ, in the same context, based on the same explanations, and experiments? Is it a coincidence that the relativity well largely ran dry after Poincaré's untimely death?

Why did Albert's supposed genius appear only after his marriage to Mileva, and why did he not accomplish major breakthroughs, on the level of the special and general theories of relativity, after he divorced her?

David Hilbert, on whom Einstein went calling for help, published the general theory of relativity before Einstein.351 Why, after many years of failure, did Einstein suddenly realize, within a few days after David Hilbert's work was public, the equations which Hilbert published before him, and then submit his. Einstein's, identical formulations?

Should we believe that Einstein came up with the same equations independently of Hilbert, after Einstein's long and tortuous, fruitless years of struggling in vain, after asking Hilbert for help, within days of Hilbert's public release? Who was the better mathematician of the two? Who presented the theory first? Who had the better understanding of the principle of least action?352 Who went calling on whom for help, after years of failure?

Which one of the two had evinced a pattern of repeating the work of others, supposedly independently, later, again and again and again? What was Poincaré's contribution to the general theory of relativity, was it not in large part his conception?353 And what of the non-Euclidean geometry of al-Khayyāmī (Omar Khayyam),354 al-Tūsī (Naṣīr al-Dīn),355 Saccheri, 356 Gauss, 357 Bolvai, 358 Lobatschewsky, 359 Seguin, 360 Riemann, 361 Helmholtz, 362 Beltrami, 363 Lie, 364 etc.? And what of the contributions toward the general theory of relativity of Locke, 365 Berkeley,³⁶⁶ Hume,³⁶⁷ Kant,³⁶⁸ Boscovich,³⁶⁹ Soldner,³⁷⁰ Laplace,³⁷¹ Reich,³⁷² Bessel,³⁷³ Herbart,³⁷⁴ Fechner,³⁷⁵ Hundhausen,376 Bentham377 and Vaihinger,378 Humboldt, 379 Mayer, 380 Boucheporn, 381 Poe, 382 Le Verrier, 383 Hall, 384 Bruns, 385 Tisserand, 386 Souchon, 387 Erdmann,388 Christoffel,389 Waterston,390 Chapin,391 Salmon, 392 Fiedler, 393 Lehmann, 394 Holzmüller, 395 Neumann, 396 Green, 397 Bertrand, 398 Scheibner, 399 Zöllner, 400 Clausius, 401 Love, 402 Stallo, 403 MacGregor, 404 Clifford, 405 Servus, 406 Liman, 407 Lévy, 408 Epstein, 409 Richard Beez, 410 Cayley, 411 de Tilly, 412 Lindemann, 413 Schering,414 Cox,415 Klein,416 Heath,417 Buchheim,418 Killing, 419 de Francesco 420 Le Sage, 421 Herapath, 422 Pasley, 423 Saigey, 424 Leray, 425 Boisbaudran, 426 Guthrie, 427 Preston, 428 Guyot, 429 Faraday, 430 Zalewski, 431 Du Bois-Reymond, 432 Secchi, 433 Chase, 434 Lamé, 435 Brücke, 436 Challis, 437 Glennie, 438 Croll, 439 Crookes, 440 Isenkrahe,441 Schramm,442 Fritsch,443 Anderssohn,444 Rysának,445 Stroh,446 Spiller,447 Avenarius,448 Robert Stawell Ball,449 Oppolzer,450 Streintz,451 Mach,452 Dühring, 453 Cohn, 454 Bauschinger, 455 Newcomb, 456 Lehmann-Filhés, 457 Hepperger, 458 Harkness, 459 W. W. Rouse Ball, 460 Budde, 461 Günther, 462 argumentation between Vicaire and Mansion, 463 Schütz, 464 König, 465 Couturat and Delboeuf,466 Frege,467 Wundt,468 Pearson, 469 Schott, 470 Petzoldt, 471 Most, 472 Mossotti, 473 Wilhelm Weber, 474 Seegers, 475 Weber, 476 Härdtl, 477 Johannesson, 478 Jewell, 479 Engelmeyer, 480 Backlund, 481 Harzer, 482 Eötvös, 483 Benedict and Immanuel Friedlaender, 484 Bucherer, 485 Hasenöhrl, 486 Drude, 487 Schulhof, 488 Kleinpeter, 489 Höfler, 490 Wulf, 491 Larmor, 492 Volkmann, 493 Schwarzschild, 494 Voss, 495 Föppl, 496 Wiechert, 497 Mie, 498 FitzGerald, 499 Seeliger, 500 Schuster, 501 Gerber, 502 Pringsheim, 503 Julius, 504 Ricci, Levi-Civita,505 Oppenheim,506 Kottler507 (father of the "Relativitätstheorie" in 1903), Brown, 508 Anding, 509 Liebmann, 510 Zenneck, 511 Wilkens, 512 Planck, 513

Mosengeil, 514 Noether, 515 Ignatowsky, 516 Varičak, 517 Gans, 518 Wacker, 519 Hecker, 520 Charlier, 521 Ritz, 522 Hofmann, 523 Gehrcke, 524 Ehrenfest, 525 de Sitter, 526 Hargreaves, 527 Bateman, 528 Silberstein, 529 Cunningham, 530 Minkowski, 531 Hayford and Bowie, 532 Helmert, 533 Reissner, 534 Frank, 535 de Tunzelmann, 536 Schweydar, 537 Lorentz, 538 Le Bon, 539 Wilson, Tolman and Lewis,540 Hupka,541 Herglotz,542 Lamla,543 Burton,544 Nordström,545 Behacker,546 Bottlinger,547 Abraham,548 Pavanini,549 Caldonazzo,550 Kretschmann, 551 Jaumann, 552 Evershed, 553 James, 554 Freundlich, 555 Gyllenberg, 556 Grossmann, 557 Huntington, 558 Brillouin, 559 Conway, 560 Lense 561, Brill, 562 Ishiwara, 563 St. John, 564 Droste, 565 [Copernicus, Kepler, Galileo, Des Cartes, Huyghens, Newton, Leibnitz, Lagrange, Lipschitz, Poisson, Hamilton, Jacobi, etc.]?

For histories on, discussions of, and references for, the general theory of relativity, see: Pauli, Encyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften, 5, 2, 19, pp. 539-775, English translation by G. Field, Theory of Relativity, Pergamon Press, (1958); Oppenheim and Kottler, Encyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften, 6, 2, 22 and 22a, pp. 81-237; Whittaker's History, Volume 2; and Roseveare's Mercury's Perihelion, from Le Verrier to

Einstein, Oxford University Press, (1982).

One may rightly ask, what, exactly, did Einstein contribute to the theory? Where, in the historic record, do we find Einstein's contribution with established priority? Is the priority Einstein's, merely because he claimed it, in spite of the dates of publication? Given the above list of names, which, while long, is by no means complete, why did Einstein pretend that he created the general theory of relativity? Why didn't Einstein provide references to at least a handful of the

above authors and their works? Your author intends to publish a properly referenced version of the Einsteins' major papers on the theory of relativity. There is very little that is novel in their efforts—certainly nothing revolutionary.

Why did Einstein submit a nonsensical paper after the divorce, which confused renowned scientists? Was he not a great, independent thinker? Is it possible, hypothetically speaking, that Einstein wasn't a genius and became so full of himself that he attempted to go it alone, and failed miserably?

Of course, the "great man", as he once called himself,566 was never short of material to steal, should he ever choose to plagiarize. People from around the world wrote to him with their ideas.567 If he were a plagiarist, then the thief would have held the keys to the vault!

Einstein evinced a career long pattern of publishing "novel" theories and formulæ after others had already published similar words, then claimed priority for himself. He did it with $E = mc^2$. He did it with the socalled special theory of relativity and he did it with the general theory of relativity. Did Einstein simply change the names for terms, and claim that he had created a new theory, as if Einstein had called red, "blue", and claimed to have discovered a new color? Did Einstein build a career out of hype and plagiarism? Is there a test to determine when a pattern evolves which defies the laws of probability? Without objective proof, the possibilities perhaps remain subjective and unprovable. It would depend, in large part, on the standard of proof which is employed in coming to judgement. However, the priorities remain clear.

Was Einstein an honest man? Did he state that he had never known of the Michelson-Morley report? Was he aware of it, before 1905? Did Einstein state that he had never read Poincaré's paper on the dynamics of the electron? Had he read it? Was his memory faulty? Was he easily confused? Was he a liar?

Did Einstein become a hero to many and in their minds a demi-god, seemingly the Holy Ghost incarnate, communicating God's thoughts to man? Did the scientific community and the media promote Einstein as the genius who figured it all out? Do we need such heroes? Einstein is seemingly awarded credit for every scientific advancement and theory from the time of Newton up until Einstein's death. Does Einstein deserve that credit?

Notes:

 See: Sir Edmund Whittaker, A History of the Theories of Aether and Electricity, Volume II, Philosophical Library Inc., New York, (1954), especially pp. 27-77; and "Albert Einstein", Biographical Memoirs of Fellows of the Royal Society, Volume 1, (1955), pp. 37-67.

See also, H. Ives, D. Turner, J. J. Callahan, R. Hazelett, The Einstein Myth and the Ives Papers, Devin-Adair Co., Old Greenwich, Connecticut, (1979).

See also, W. Kantor, Relativistic Propagation of Light, Coronado Press, Lawrence, Kansas, (1976).

See also, J. Mackaye, The Dynamic Universe, Charles Scribner's Sons, New York, (1931).

See also, G. B. Brown, "What is Wrong with Relativity?", Bulletin of the Institute of Physics and the Physical Society, Volume 18, Number 3, (March, 1967), pp. 71-77.

See also, G. H. Keswani, "Origin and Concept of Relativity, Parts I, II & III", The British Journal for the Philosophy of Science, Volume 15, Number 60, (February, 1965), pp. 286-306; Volume 16, Number 61, (May, 1965), pp.19-32; Volume 16, Number 64, (February, 1966), pp. 273-294; and Volume 17, Number 2, (August, 1966), pp. 149-152; Volume 17, Number 3, (November, 1966), pp. 234-236.

See also, Enrico Gianetto, "The Rise of Special Relativity: Henri Poincaré's Works before Einstein", ATTI DEL XVIII CONGRESSO DI STORIA DELLA FISICA E DELL'ASTRONOMICA, pp. 172-207; URL:

http://www.brera.unimi.it/Atti-Como-98/Giannetto.pdf

See also, as noted by Enrico Gianetto, H. Thirring, "Elektrodynamik bewegter Körper und spezielle Relativitätstheorie", Handbuch der Physik, Volume 12 ("Theorien der Elektrizität Elektrostatik"), Springer, Berlin, (1927), pp. 245-348, especially 264, 270, 275, 283.

See also, H. A. Lorentz, "Deux memoirs de Henri Poincaré", Acta Mathematica, Volume 38, (1921) p. 293; reprinted in Œuvres de Henri Poincaré, Volume XI, Gautier-Villars, (1956), pp. 247-261.

See also, W. Pauli, "Relativitätstheorie", Encyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Volume 5, Part 2, Chapter 19, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1921), pp. 539-775; English translation by G. Field, Theory of Relativity, Pergamon Press, London, Edinburgh, New York, Toronto, Sydney, Paris, Braunschweig, (1958).

See also, P. Langevin, "Le Physicien", Revue de Métaphysique et de Morale, Volume 20, Number 5, (September, 1913), pp. 675-718.

For counter-argument, see:

R. Dugas, A History of Mechanics, Dover, New York, (1988), pp. 463-501.

See also, S. Goldberg, Understanding Relativity, Birkhäuser, Boston, Basel, Stuttgart, (1984).

See also, A. Pais, Subtle is the Lord, Oxford University Press, Oxford, New York, Toronto, Melbourne, (1982).

See also, A. I. Miller, "A Study of Poincaré's 'Sur la Dynamique de l'Électron'", Archive for History of Exact Sciences, Volume 10, (1972), pp. 207-328; American Journal of Physics, Volume 45, Number 11, (November, 1977), pp. 1040-1048; and Albert Einstein's Special Theory of Relativity, Emergence (1905) and Early Interpretation (1905-1911), Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, Inc., (1981).

See also, W. Rindler, American Journal of Physics, Volume 38, (1970), pp. 1111-1115.

See also, G. Holton, "On the Origins of the Special Theory of Relativity", Thematic Origins of Scientific Thought, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, London, (1973 revised 1988), pp. 191-236; and "On the Origins of the Special Theory of Relativity", *American Journal of Physics*, Volume 28, Number 7, (October, 1960), pp. 627-636, *especially* 633-636; Volume 30, Number 6, (June, 1962), 462-469; and *Special Relativity Theory: Selected Papers*, American Institute of Physics, New York, (1963), pp. 1-8.

- 2. Lange introduced the term "Inertialsystem" and defined the concept:
- L. Lange, "Über die wissenschaftliche Fassung der Galilei'schen Beharrungsgesetzes", Philosophische Studien, Volume 2, (1885), pp. 266-297, 539-545;
- L. Lange, "Ueber das Beharrungsgesetz", Berichte über die Verhandlungen der Königlich Sächsischen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaftenzu Leipzig, mathematisch-physische Classe, Volume 37, (1885), pp. 333-351.
- L. Lange, Die geschichtliche Entwickelung des Bewegungsbegriffes und ihr voraussichtliches Endergebniss. Ein Beitrag zur historischen Kritik der mechanischen Principien von Ludwig Lange, Wilhelm Engelmann, Leipzig, (1886).

and "Die geschichtliche Entwicklung des Bewegungsbegriffes und ihr voraussichtliches Endergebniss", *Philosophische Studien*, Volume 3, (1886), pp. 337-419, 643-691;

and "Das Inertialsystem vor dem Forum der Naturforschung: Kritisches und Antikritisches", *Philosophische Studien*, Volume 20, (1902), pp. 1-71.

- L. Lange, Das Inertialsystem vor dem Forum der Naturforschung, Wilhelm Engelmann, Leipzig, (1902).
- L. Lange, "Mein Verhältnis zu Einstein's Weltbild" ("My Relationship to Einstein's Conception of the World"), Psychiatrisch-neurologische Wochenschrift, Volume 24, (1922), pp.

116, 154-156, 168-172, 179-182, 188-190, 201-207.

For references to Lange, and analysis of his work, see:

B. Thüring, "Fundamental-System und Inertial-System", Methodos; rivista trimestrale di metodologia e di logica simbolica, Volume 2, (1950), pp. 263-283; and Die Gravitation und die philosophischen Grundlagen der Physik, Duncker & Humblot, Berlin, (1967), pp. 75-77, 234-240;

M. v. Laue, "Dr. Ludwig Lange", Die Naturwissenschaften, Volume 35, Number 7, (1948), pp. 193-196.

E. Mach, The Science of Mechanics, Open Court, (1960), pp. 291-297.

E. Gehrcke, Kritik der Relativitätstheorie, Hermann Meusser, Berlin, (1924), pp. 17, 30-34.

E. Gehrcke, "Über den Sinn der Absoluten Bewegung von Körpern", Sitzungsberichten der Königlichen Bayerischen Akademie der Wissenschaften, Volume 12, (1912), pp. 209-222.

E. Gehrcke, "Über die Koordinatensystem der Mechanik", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 15, (1913), pp. 260-266.

H. Seeliger, "Kritisches Referat über Lange's Arbeiten", Vierteljahrsschrift der Astronomischen Gesellschaft, Volume 22, (1886), pp. 252-259.

For Lange's immediate predecessors, see:

William Thomson and P. G. Tait, *Treatise on Natural Philosophy*, Volume 1, Part 1, §§§ 245, 249, 267, CUP, (1879),

James Thomson, "On the Law of Inertia; the Principle of Chronometry; and the Principle of Absolute Clinural Rest, and of Absolute Rotation", Proceedings of the Royal Society of Edinburgh,

Volume 12, (November 1883-July 1884), pp. 568-578;

P. G. Tait, "Note on Reference Frames", Proceedings of the Royal Society of Edinburgh, Volume 12, (November 1883-July 1884), pp. 743-745.

3. W. Voigt, "Ueber das Doppler' sche Princip", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften und der Georg-Augusts-Universität zu Göttingen, (1887), pp. 41-51; reprinted Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 16, Number 20, (October15, 1915), pp. 381-386; English translation, as well as very useful commentary, are found in A. Ernst and Jong-Ping Hsu (W. Kern is credited with assisting in the translation), "First Proposal of the Universal Speed of Light by Voigt in 1887", Chinese Journal of Physics (The Physical Society of the Republic of China), Volume 39, Number 3, (June, 2001), pp. 211-230; URL's:

http://psroc.phys.ntu.edu.tw/cjp/v39/211/211.htm

http://psroc.phys.ntu.edu.tw/cjp/v39/211.pdf

Lorentz acknowledged Voigt's priority, and suggested that the "Lorentz Transformation" be called the "Transformations of Relativity":

See: H. A. Lorentz, Theory of Electrons, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1909), p. 198 footnote; and H. A. Lorentz, "Deux memoirs de Henri Poincaré", Acta Mathematica, Volume 38, (1921), p. 295; reprinted in Œuvres de Henri Poincaré, Volume XI, Gautier-Villars, (1956), pp. 247-261.

Minkowski also acknowledged Voigt's priority:

See: The Principle of Relativity, Dover, New York, (1952), p. 81; and Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 9, Number 22, (November 1, 1908), p. 762.

For further discussion of Voigt's relativistic transformation, see:

R. Dugas, A History of Mechanics, Dover, New York, (1988), pp. 468, 484, 494;

A. Pais, Subtle is the Lord, Oxford University Press, Oxford, New York, Toronto, Melbourne, (1982), pp. 121-122.

 G. F. FitzGerald, "On Electromagnetic Effects Due to the Motion of the Earth", The Scientific Transactions of the Royal Dublin Society, Series 2, Volume 1, (Read May 5th, 1882, published 1883), pp. 319-324;

and "The Ether and Earth's Atmosphere (Letter to the Editor)", Science, Volume 13, Number 328, (1889), p. 390

and "Boltzmann on Maxwell", Nature, Volume 49, (1894), pp. 381-382.

See also: O. Lodge, "Aberration Problems", Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London A, Volume 184, (1893), p. 184.

5. J. Larmor, "A Dynamical Theory of the Electric and Luminiferous Medium", *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London A*, Volume 185, (1894), pp. 719-822; Volume 186, (1895), pp. 695-743; Volume 188, (1897), pp. 205-300;

and Aether and Matter, CUP, (1900);

and "On the Influence of Convection on Optical Rotary Polarization", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 6, Volume 4, (September, 1902), pp. 367-370;

and "On the Intensity of the Natural Radiation from Moving Bodies and its Mechanical Reaction", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 6, Volume 7, (May, 1904), pp. 578-586;

and "On the Ascertained Absence of Effects of Motion through the Æther, in Relation to the Constitution of Matter, and the FitzGerald-Lorentz Hypothesis", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 6, Volume 7,

(June, 1904), pp. 621-625.

6. H. A. Lorentz, "De l'Influence du Mouvement de la Terre sur les Phénomènes Lumineux", Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen, Afdeeling Natuurkunde, Verslagen en Mededeelingen (Amsterdam), Volume 2, (1886), pp. 297-372; and Archives Néerlandaises des Sciences Exactes et Naturelles, First Series, Volume 21, (1887), pp. 103-176; reprinted Collected Papers, Volume 4, M. Nijhoff, The Hague, (1935-1939), pp. 153-214.

and "Over de terugkaatsing van licht door lichamen die zich bewegen", Verslagen der Zittingen de Wis- en Natuurkundige Afdeeling der Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen (Amsterdam), Volume 1, (1892), pp. 28-31; reprinted in English "On the Reflection of Light by Moving Bodies", Collected Papers, Volume 4, pp. 215-218;

and "De relatieve beweging van de aarde en den aether", Verslagen der Zittingen de Wis- en Natuurkundige Afdeeling der Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen (Amsterdam), Volume 1, (1892), pp. 74-79; translated in English, "The Relative Motion of the Earth and the Ether", Collected Papers, Volume 4, pp. 219-223;

and "La Théorie Électromagnétique de Maxwell et son Application aux Corps Mouvants", Archives Néerlandaises des Sciences Exactes et Naturelles, First Series, Volume 25, (1892), pp. 363-552; reprinted Collected Papers, Volume 2, pp. 164-343;

and Versuch einer Theorie der electrischen und optischen Erscheinungen in bewegten Körpern, E. J. Brill, Leiden, (1895); unaltered reprint by B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1906); reprinted Collected Papers, Volume 5, pp. 1-137;

and "Concerning the Problem of the Dragging Along of the Ether by the Earth", Verslagen der Zittingen de Wis- en Natuurkundige Afdeeling der Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen (Amsterdam), Volume 6, (1897), p. 266; reprinted Collected Papers, Volume 4, pp. 237-244; and "Optical Phenomena Connected with the Charge and Mass of the Ions", Verslagen der Zittingen de Wis- en Natuurkundige Afdeeling der Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen (Amsterdam), Volume 6, (1898), p. 506, 555; reprinted Collected Papers, Volume 3, pp. 17-39;

and "Théorie Simplifiée des Phénomènes Électriques et Optiques dans des Corps en Mouvement", Verslagen der Zittingen de Wis- en Natuurkundige Afdeeling der Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen (Amsterdam), Volume 7, (1899), p. 507; reprinted Collected Papers, Volume 5, pp. 139-155;

and "La Théorie de l'Aberration de Stokes dans l'Hypothèse d'un Éther n'Ayant pas Partout la Même Densité", Verslagen der Zittingen de Wis- en Natuurkundige Afdeeling der Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen (Amsterdam), Volume 7, (1899), p. 523; Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Amsterdam (Noninklijke Nederlandse Akademie van Wetenschappen te Amsterdam), Volume 1, (1899), p. 425 et seq.; reprinted Collected Papers, Volume 4, pp. 245-251;

and "Considérations sur la Pesantuer", Verslagen der Zittingen de Wis- en Natuurkundige Afdeeling der Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen (Amsterdam), Volume 8, (1900), p. 603; Archives Néerlandaises des Sciences Exactes et Naturelles, Series 2, Volume 7, (1902), pp. 325-342; reprinted Collected Papers, Volume 5, pp. 198-215;

and "Über die scheinbare Masse der Ionen", *Physikalische Zeitschrift*, Volume 2, Number 5, (November, 1900), pp. 78-80; reprinted *Collected Papers*, Volume 3, pp. 113-116;

and "De Electronen-Theorie", Nederlandsch Natuur en Geneeskundig Congres, Verhandelingen, Volume 8, (April 12, 1901), p. 35; reprinted in Collected Papers, Volume 9, pp. 102-111;

and "Sur la Méthode du Mirior Tourant pour la Détermination de la Vitesse de la Lumière", Archives Néerlandaises des Sciences Exactes et Naturelles, Series 2, Volume 6, (1901), pp. 303-318;

reprinted in Collected Papers, Volume 4, 104-118;

and Encyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Volume 5, Part 2, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1904), "Maxwells elektromagnetische Theorie" (submitted June, 1903), Chapter 13, pp. 63-144, and "Weiterbildung der Maxwellschen Theorie, Elektronentheorie" (submitted December, 1903), Chapter 14, pp. 145-280;

and "Electromagnetische Verschijnselen in een Stelsel dat Sich met Willekeurige Snelheid, Kleiner dan die van Het Licht, Beweegt", Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen te Amsterdam, Wis en Natuurkundige Afdeeling, Verslagen van de Gewone Vergaderingen, Volume 12, (1904), pp. 986-1009; translated into English, "Electromagnetic Phenomena in a System Moving with any Velocity Smaller than that of Light", Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Amsterdam (Noninklijke Nederlandse Akademie van Wetenschappen te Amsterdam), 6, (May 27, 1904), pp. 809-831; reprinted Collected Papers, Volume 5, pp. 172-197; a redacted and shortened version appears in The Principle of Relativity, Dover, New York, (1952), pp. 11-34; a German translation from the English. "Elektromagnetische Erscheinung in einem System, das sich mit beliebiger, die des Lichtes nicht erreichender Geschwindigkeit bewegt," appears in Das Relativitätsprinzip: eine Sammlung von Abhandlungen, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1913), pp. 6-26.

and Ergebnisse und Probleme der Elektronentheorie, Julius Springer, Berlin, (published 1905, received on 20 December 1904; second revised edition published 1906); reprinted Collected Papers, Volume 8, pp. 79-124.

 J. H. Poincaré, "Sur les Hypothèses Fondamentales de la Géométrie", Bulletin de la Société Mathématique de France, Volume 15, (1887), pp. 203-216;

and Théorie Mathématique de la Lumière, Naud, Paris, (1889);

and "Les Géométries Non-Euclidiennes", Revue Générale des Sciences Pures et Appliquées, Volume 2, (1891), pp. 769-774;

and "A Propos de la Théorie de M. Larmor", L'Éclairage électrique, Volume 3, (April 6, May 18, 1895), pp. 5-13, 289-295; Volume 5, (October 5, November 8, 1895) pp. 5-14, 385-392; reprinted Œuvres de Henri Poincaré, Volume IX, Gautier-Villars, (1954), pp. 369-426;

and "La Mesure du Temps", Revue de Métaphysique et de Morale, Volume 6, (January, 1898) pp. 1-13; English translation by G. B. Halsted, The Value of Science, The Science Press, New York, (1907), pp. 26-36; the The Value of Science, itself, appears in The Foundations of Science; Science and Hypothesis, The Value of Science, Science and Method, The Science Press, Garrison, New York, (1913/1946), University Press of America, Washington D. C., (ca. 1982);

and "La Théorie de Lorentz at le Principe de Réaction", Archives Néerlandaises des Sciences Exactes et Naturelles, Series 2, Volume 5, (1900), pp. 252-278; reprinted Œuvres, Volume IX, pp. 464-488;

and "RELATIONS ENTRE LA PHYSIQUE EXPÉRIMENTALE ET LA PHYSIQUE MATHÉMATIQUE", RAPPORTS PRÉSENTÉS AU CONGRÈS INTERNATIONAL DE PHYSIQUE DE 1900, Volume I, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, (1900), pp. 1-29; translated into German "Über die Beziehungen zwischen der experimentellen und mathematischen Physik", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 2, (1900-1901), pp. 166-171, 182-186, 196-201;

and Electrité et Optique, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, (1901), especially Chapter 6, pp. 516-536;

and La Science et l'Hypothèse, E. Flammarion, Paris, (1902); translated into English Science and Hypothesis, Dover, New York, (1952), which appears in The Foundations of Science; translated into German with substantial notations by Ferdinand and Lisbeth Lindemann Wissenschaft und Hypothese, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1904);

and Poincaré's St. Louis lecture from September of 1904, La Revue des Idées, 80, (November 15, 1905); "L'État Actuel et l'Avenir de

la Physique Mathématique", Bulletin des Sciences Mathématique, Series 2, Volume 28, (1904), p. 302-324; English translation, "The Principles of Mathematical Physics", The Monist, Volume 15, Number 1, (January, 1905), pp. 1-24;

and "Sur la Dynamique de l'Électron", Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, Volume 140, (1905), pp. 1504-1508; reprinted Œuvres, Volume IX, pp. 489-493;

and "Sur la Dynamique de l'Électron", Rendiconti del Circolo matimatico di Palermo, Volume 21, (1906, submitted July 23rd, 1905), pp. 129-176; reprinted Œuvres, Volume IX, pp. 494-550; English trans. by H. M. Schwartz, American Journal of Physics, 39, (November, 1971), 1287-1294; 40, (June, 1972), 1282-1287; 40, (September, 1972), 1282-1287.

- 8. P. Drude, Lehrbuch der Optik, S. Hirzel, Leipzig, (1900); translated into English The Theory of Optics, Longmans, Green and Co., London, New York, Toronto, (1902), see especially pp. 457-482; and "Zur Elektronentheorie der Metalle. I & II", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 1, (1900), pp. 566-613; Volume 3, (1900), pp. 369-402; and "Optische Eigenschaften und Elektronentheorie, I & II", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 14, (1904), pp. 677-725, 936-961; and "Die Natur des Lichtes" in A. Winkelmann, Handbuch der Optik, Volume 6, Second Edition, J. A. Barth, Leipzig, (1906), pp. 1120-1387; and P. Drude, Physik des Aethers auf elektromagnetischer Grundlage, F. Enke, Stuttgart, (1894), Posthumous Second Revised Edition, W. König, (1912).
- P. Langevin, "Sur l'impossibilité physique de mettre en évidence le mouvement de translation de la Terre", Comptes Rendus Hebdomadaires des Séances de l'Académie des Sciences, Volume 140, (1905), pp. 1171-1173;

and "Magnétisme et Théorie des Électrons", Annales de Chimie et de Physique, Volume 5, (1905), pp. 70-127;

and "Sur la Théorie du Mouvement Brownien", Comptes Rendus

Hebdomadaires des Séances de l'Académie des Sciences, Volume 146, (1908) pp. 530-533;

and "L'Évolution de l'Espace et du Temps", Scientia, Volume 10, (1911), pp. 31-54;

and La Théorie Rayonnement et les Quanta. Rapports et Discussions de la Réunion Tenue à Bruxelles, du 30 Octobre au 3 Novembre 1911, sous les Auspices de M. E. Solvay. Publiés par MM. P. Langevin et M. de Broglie, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, (1912), 393-406;

and "L'Inertie de l'Énergie et ses Conséquences", Journal de Physique, Volume 3, (1913), pp. 553-591;

and "Le Physicien", Revue de Métaphysique et de Morale, Volume 20, Number 5, (September, 1913), pp. 675-718;

and Die Theorie der Strahlung und der Quanten: Verhandlungen auf einer von E. Solvay einberufenen Zusammenkunst, 30. Oktober bis 3. November 1911: mit einem Anhange über die Entwicklung der Quantentheorie vom Herbst 1911 bis zum Sommer 1913 / in deutscher Sprache herausgegeben von A. Eucken, Verlag Chemie, Berlin, (1914), pp. 318-329.

10. Aberration: J. Bradley, "An Account of a New Discovered Motion of the Fixed Stars", *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, Volume 35, Number 406, (1729), p. 637; F. Fresnel, *Annales de Chimie et de Physique*, Series 2, Volume 9, (1818), pp. 57-66.

Doppler-Fizeau Effect: C. Doppler, Neuere Abhandlungen der Königlichen Böhmischen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften, (1842), p. 462, Volume 5, (1845), p. 419; H. Fizeau, Annales de Chimie et de Physique, Volume 19, (1870), p. 211.

M. Einstein-Marity and A. Einstein, "Zur Elektrodynamik bewegter Körper", Annalen der Physik, Volume 17, (1905), pp. 910-912. 11. M. Planck, "Das Prinzip der Relativität und die Grundgleichungen der Mechanik", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 8, (1906), pp. 136-141.

W. Kaufmann, "Über die Konstitution des Elektrons", Annalen der Physik, Volume 19, (1906), pp. 530-531.

 M. Einstein-Marity and A. Einstein, "Zur Elektrodynamik bewegter Körper", Annalen der Physik, Volume 17, (1905), pp. 891-921.

13. See: D. Trbuhović-Gjurić, Im Schatten Albert Einsteins, Das tragische Leben der Mileva Einstein-Marić, 5th Ed., Verlag Paul Haupt, Bern-Stuttgart-Wien, (1993).

T. Pappas, Mathematical Scandals, Wide World Publishing/Tetra, San Carlos, California, (1997), pp. 121-129.

M. Maurer, "Weil nicht sein kann, was nicht sein darf. . 'DIE ELTERN' ODER 'DER VATER' DER RELATIVITÄTSTHEORIE? Zum Streit über den Anteil von Mileva Marić an der Entstehung der Relativitätstheorie", PCnews, Number 48 (Nummer 48), Volume 11 (Jahrgang 11), Part 3 (Heft 3), Vienna, (June, 1996), pp. 20-27; reprinted from Dokumentation des 18. Bundesweiten Kongresses von Frauen in Naturwissenschaft und Technik vom 28.-31, Birgit Kanngießer, Bremen, (May, 1992), not dated, pp. 276-295; an earlier version appeared, co-authored by P. Seibert, Wechselwirkung, Volume 14, Number 54, Aachen, (April, 1992), pp. 50-52 (Part 1); Volume 14, Number 55, (June, 1992), pp. 51-53 (Part 2).

URL: http://rli.at/Seiten/kooperat/maric1.htm

See also: E. H. Walker, "Did Einstein Espouse his Spouses Ideas?", Physics Today, Volume 42, Number 2, (February, 1989), pp. 9, 11; and "Mileva Marié's Relativistic Role", Physics Today, Volume 44, Number 2, (February, 1991), pp. 122-124.

See also: S. Troemel-Ploetz, "Mileva Einstein-Marić: The Woman

Who did Einstein's Mathematics", Women's Studies International Forum, Volume 13, Number 5, (1990), pp. 415-432.

See also: A. Pais, Subtle is the Lord, Oxford University Press, New York, (1982), p. 47.

For counter-argument, see: J. Stachel, "Albert Einstein and Mileva Marić: A Collaboration that Failed to Develop", found in Creative Couples in the Sciences, Rutgers University Press, New Brunswick, New Jersey, (1996), pp. 207-219; and Stachel's reply to Walker, Physics Today, Volume 42, Number 2, (February, 1989), pp. 11, 13.

See also: A. Fölsing, "Keine 'Mutter der Relativitätstheorie'", Die Zeit, Number 47, (November 16, 1990), p. 94.

See also: A. Pais, Einstein Lived Here, Oxford University Press, New York, (1994), pp. 14-16.

- M. Planck, "Das Prinzip der Relativität und die Grundgleichungen der Mechanik", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 8, (1906), pp. 136-141.
- 15. W. Kaufmann, "Über die Konstitution des Elektrons", Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1905), pp. 949-956, especially p. 954; and "Über die Konstitution des Elektrons", Annalen der Physik, Volume 19, (1906), pp. 487-553; "Nachtrag zu der Abhandlung: "Über die Konstitution des Elektrons", Annalen der Physik, Volume 20, (1906), pp. 639-640.
- 16. P. Ehrenfest, "Die Translation deformierbarer Elektronen und der Flächensatz", Annalen der Physik, 23, (1907), pp. 204-205.
- 17. J. Laub, "Zur Optik der bewegten Körper", Annalen der Physik, 23, (1907), pp. 738-744.
- M. v. Laue, "Die Mitführung des Lichtes durch bewegte Körper nach dem Relativitätsprinzip", Annalen der Physik, 23, (1907), pp. 989-990.

- 19. A. Einstein, "Über das Relativitätsprinzip und die aus demselben gezogenen Folgerung", Jahrbuch der Radioaktivität und Elektronik, 4, (1907), pp. 411-462.
- 20. A. H. Bucherer, "Messungen an Becquerelstrahlen. Die experimentelle Bestätigung der Lorentz-Einstein Theorie", *Physikalische Zeitschrift*, Volume 9, Number 22, (November 1, 1908), pp. 755-762.
- 21. Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 9, Number 22, (November 1, 1908), p. 762.
- 22. The Principle of Relativity: Original Papers by A. Einstein and H. Minkowski Translated into English by M. N. Saha and S. N. Bose, University of Calcutta, (1920), H. Minkowski, "Principle of Relativity", translated by Dr. Meghnad N. Saha, p. 2.
- 23. H. Minkowski, Annalen der Physik, 47, (1915), p. 928.
- 24. M. Planck, Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 8, (1906), p. 136.
- 25. H. Poincaré, *Dernières Pensées*, Flammarion, Paris, (1913); English translation *Mathematics and Science: Last Essays*, Dover, New York, (1963), pp. 15, 23, 75, 99.

Poincaré makes clear his attribution of the formulation, which he completed and corrected, stems from Lorentz in "Sur la Dynamique de l'Électron", Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, Volume 140, (1905), pp. 1504-1508; reprinted Œuvres de Henri Poincaré, Volume IX, Gautier-Villars, (1954), pp. 489-493;

and "Sur la Dynamique de l'Électron", Rendiconti del Circolo matimatico di Palermo, Volume 21, (1906, submitted July 23rd, 1905), pp. 129-176; reprinted Œuvres, Volume IX, pp. 494-550; English trans. by H. M. Schwartz, American Journal of Physics, 39, (November, 1971), 1287-1294; 40, (June, 1972), 1282-1287; 40, (September, 1972), 1282-1287; reprinted Œuvres, Volume IX, pp. 494-550;

and "La Dynamique de l'Électron", Revue Générale des Sciences Pures et Appliquées, Volume 19, (1908), pp. 386-402; reprinted Œuvres, Volume IX, pp. 551-586;

Note that in the latter two papers, Poincaré address relativistic gravitation, the propagation of gravitation at *celeritas*, and the perihelion of Mercury, long before Einstein published his version of the general theory of relativity in 1916. In this context *see also*:

- H. A. Lorentz, "Alte und neue Fragen der Physik", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 11, Number 26, (December 15, 1910), pp. 1234-1257; reprinted in part in H. A. Lorentz, A. Einstein, and H. Minkowski, Das Relativitätsprinzip: eine Sammlung von Abhandlungen, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig & Berlin, (1913), pp. 74-89, though not in later editions; see also: Das Relativitätsprinzip, Drei Vorlesungen gehalten in Teylers Stiftung zu Haarlem, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, Berlin, (1914/1920), pp. 19-20.
- 26. P. Frank, "Die Stellung des Relativitätsprinzips im System der Mechanik und der Elektrodynamik", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Classe der Kaiserlichen Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 118, (1909), pp. 373-446, at 376, 420.
- 27. M. v. Laue, Die Relativitätsprinzip der Lorentztransformation, Friedr. Vieweg & Sohn, Braunschweig, (1921), pp. 12, 48.
- 28. H. A. Lorentz, "Deux memoirs de Henri Poincaré", Acta Mathematica, Volume 38, (1921) p. 293; reprinted in Œuvres de Henri Poincaré, Volume XI, Gautier-Villars, (1956), pp. 247-261; taken from H. E. Ives' translation, "Revisions of the Lorentz Transformation", Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society, Volume 95, Number 2, (April, 1951), p. 125; reprinted R. Hazelett and D. Turner Editors, The Einstein Myth and the Ives Papers, a Counter-Revolution in Physics, Devin-Adair Company, Old Greenwich, Connecticut, (1979), p. 125.

Contrast Lorentz' statement of Poincaré's priority, with the fact that Lorentz participated in the production of: H. A. Lorentz, A. Einstein, and H. Minkowski, Das Relativitätsprinzip: eine Sammlung von Abhandlungen, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig & Berlin, (1913), which did not include any work by Poincaré, and Lorentz' statement published in 1913,

"The principle of relativity, for which we have Einstein to thank, . ."

"Das Relativitätsprinzip, welches wir Einstein verdanken, . . ."

H. A. Lorentz, Das Relativitätsprinzip; drei Vorlesungen gehalten in Teylers Stiftung zu Haarlem, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig-Berlin, (1920). p. 1;

"Het relativiteitsbeginsel, dat wij aan Einstein te danken hebben, .

H. A. Lorentz, Het Relativiteitsbeginsel; drie Voordrachten Gehouden in Teyler's Stiftung, Erven Loosjes, Haarlem, (1913), p. 1,

and it appears that Lorentz succumbed to some pressure, real or perceived, to award Einstein undeserved credit, while on other occasions, he told the truth.

- 29. H. A. Lorentz, *The Einstein Theory of Relativity*, Brentano's, New York, (1920), p. 11-12.
- 30. A. Einstein, quoted in *The Expanded Quotable Einstein*, Princeton University Press, Princeton, Oxford, (2000), p. 91.
- 31. A. Einstein, quoted in *The Expanded Quotable Einstein*, Princeton University Press, Princeton, Oxford, (2000), p. 91.
- 32. R. Shankland, Einstein, a Centenary Volume, Harvard University Press, (1979), p. 39.
- 33. V. Volterra, "Henri Poincaré", a lecture delivered at the inauguration of The Rice Institute, The Book of the Opening of the

Rice Institute, Volume 3, Houston, Texas, (1912), pp. 919-920; reprinted in: The Rice Institute Pamphlets Volume 1, Number 2, (May, 1915), pp. 153-154; reprinted in: Saggi scientifici, N. Zanichelli, Bologna, (1920), pp. 119-157.

- 34. A. G. Webster, "Henri Poincaré as a Mathematical Physicist", Science, Volume 38, Issue 991, (December 26, 1913), p. 907.
- 35. E. Gehrcke, "Die gegen die Relativitätstheorie erhobenen Einwände", *Die Naturwissenschaften*, Volume 1, Number 3, (January 17, 1913), pp. 62-66; reprinted in *Kritik der Relativitätstheorie*, Hermann Meusser, Berlin, (1924), p. 20.
- 36. A. A. Robb, A Theory of Time and Space, CUP, (1914), p. 1.
- 37. L. Silberstein, "General Relativity without the Equivalence Hypothesis", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 6, Volume 36, (July, 1918), pp. 94-128.
- 38. F. Kottler, "Über die Raumzeitlinien der Minkowski'schen Welt", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 121, (1912), pp. 1659-1759;

and "Relativitätsprinzip und beschleunigte Bewegung", Annalen der Physik, Volume 44, (1914), pp. 701-748;

and "Fallende Bezugssysteme vom Standpunkt des Relativitätsprinzip", Annalen der Physik, Volume 45, (1914), pp. 481-516;

and "Beschleunigungsrelative Bewegungen und die konforme Gruppe der Minkowski'schen Welt", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 125, (1916), pp. 899-919;

and "Über Einsteins Äquivalenzhypothese und die Gravitation", Annalen der Physik, Volume 50, (1916), pp. 955-972; and "Über die physikalischen Grundlagen der Einsteinschen Gravitationstheorie", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 56, (1918), pp. 401-462;

and F. Kottler, Encyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften, 6, 2, 22a, pp. 159-237;

and "Newton'sches Gesetz und Metrik", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 131, (1922), p. 1-14;

and "Maxwell'schen Gleichungen und Metrik", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 131, (1922), pp. 119-146.

39. H. Bateman, "On General Relativity", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 6, Volume 37, (1919), pp. 219-223, at 219;

See: H. Bateman, "The Conformal Transformations of a Space of Four Dimensions and their Applications to Geometrical Optics", Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society, Series 2, Volume 7, (1909), pp. 70-89;

and Philosophical Magazine, Volume 18, (1909), p. 890;

and "The Transformation of the Electrodynamical Equations", Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society, Series 2, Volume 8, (1910), pp. 223-264, 375, 469;

and "The Physical Aspects of Time", Memoirs and Proceedings of the Manchester Literary and Philosophical Society, Volume 54, (1910), pp. 1-13;

and American Journal of Mathematics, Volume 34, (1912), p. 325;

and The Mathematical Analysis of Electrical and Optical Wave-Motion on the Basis of Maxwell's Equations, CUP, (1915); and The Physical Review, Volume 12, (1918), p. 459;

and Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society, Series 2, Volume 21, (1920), p. 256.

Confer: E. Whittaker, Biographical Memoirs of Fellows of the Royal Society, Volume 1, (1955), pp. 44-45; and History, Volume 2, pp. 8, 64, 76, 94, 154-156, 195;

W. Pauli, *Theory of Relativity*, Pergamon Press, New York, (1958), pp. 81, 96, 199.

E. Besselhagen, Mathematische Annalen, Volume 84, (1921), p. 258;

F. D. Murnaghan, The Physical Review, Volume 17, (1921), p. 73;

G. Kowalewski, Journal für reine und angewandte Mathematik, 157, (1927), p. 193.

- C. Nordmann, Einstein et l'universe, (1921), translated by Joseph McCabe as Einstein and the Universe, Henry Holt & Co., New York, (1922), pp. 10-11, 16.
- 41. W. Pauli, Encyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Volume 5, Part 2, Section 19, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1921), pp. 539-775, at 543-545.
- 42. W. Pauli, *Theory of Relativity*, Pergamon Press, London, Edinburgh, New York, Toronto, Sydney, Paris, Braunschweig, (1958), p. 3.
- 43. W. Pauli, *Theory of Relativity*, Pergamon Press, London, Edinburgh, New York, Toronto, Sydney, Paris, Braunschweig, (1958), p. 3.
- 44. L. Lange, "Mein Verhältnis zu Einstein's Weltbild", Psychiatrisch-neurologische Wochenschrift, Volume 24, Number 29/30, (1922), pp. 188-189.

45. S. Oppenheim and F. Kottler, Kritik des Newton'schen Gravitationsgesetzes; mit einem Beitrag: Gravitation und Relativitätstheorie von F. Kottler, Deutsche Staatsrealschule in Karolinenthal, Prag, (1903).

46. Encyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften, 6, 2, 22a, p. 171, note (13).

47. H. Poincaré, "La Théorie de Lorentz at le Principe de Réaction", Archives Néerlandaises des Sciences Exactes et Naturelles, Series 2, Volume 5, Recueil de travaux offerts par les auteurs à H. A. Lorentz, professeur de physique à l'université de Leiden, à l'occasion du 25^{me} anniversaire de son doctorate le 11 décembre 1900, Nijhoff, The Hague, (1900), p. 272:

"In order for the compensation to occur, the phenomena must correspond, not to the true time t, but to some determined local time t' defined in the following way.

I suppose that observers located at different points synchronize their watches with the aid of light signals; which they attempt to adjust to the time of the transmission of these signals, but these observers are unaware of their movement of translation and they consequently believe that the signals travel at the same speed in both directions, they restrict themselves to crossing the observations, sending a signal from A to B, then another from B to A. The local time t' is the time determined by watches synchronized in this manner.

If in such a case

1/K.12

is the speed of light, and v the translation of the Earth, that I imagine to be parallel to the positive x axis, one will have:

$$t' = t - vx/V^2$$

"Pour que la compensation se fasse, il faut rapporter les phénomènes, non pas au temps vrai t, mais à un certain temps local

t' défini de la façon suivante.

Je suppose que des observateurs placés en différents points, règlent leurs montres à l'aide de signaux lumineux; qu'ils cherchent à corriger ces signaux du temps de la transmission, mais qu'ignorant le mouvement de translation dont ils sont animès et croyant par conséquent que les signaux se transmettent également vite dans les deux sens, ils se bornent à croiser les observations, en envoyant un signal de A en B, puis un autre de B en A. Le temps local t'est le temps marqué par les montres ainsi réglées.

Si alors

1 / Ko12

est la vitesse de la lumière, et v la translation de la Terre que je suppose parallèle à l'axe des x positifs, on aura:

$$t' = t - vx / V^{2n}$$

and Electrité et Optique, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, (1901), p. 530:

"Allow me a couple of remarks regarding the new variable t': it is what Lorentz calls the local time. At a given point t and t' will not defer but by a constant, t' will, therefore, always represent the time, but the origin of the times being different for the different points serves as justification for his designation."

"Disons deux mots sur la nouvelle variable t': c'est ce que Lorentz appelle le temps locale. En un point donné t et t' ne différeront que par une constante, t' représentera donc toujours le temps mais l'origine des temps étant différente aux différents points: cela justifie sa dénomination."

and from 1902, Science and Hypothesis, Dover, New York, (1952), p. 90:

"There is no absolute time. When we say that two periods are equal, the statement has no meaning, and can only acquire a meaning by convention. Not only have we no direct intuition of the equality of two periods, but we have not even direct intuition of the simultaneity of two events occurring in two different places. I have explained this in an article entitled "Mesure du Temps."

- 48. H. Thirring, "Elektrodynamik bewegter Körper und spezielle Relativitätstheorie", *Handbuch der Physik*, Volume 12, "Theorien der Elektrizität Elektrostatik", Springer, Berlin, (1927), p. 270, *footnote*.
- 49. Dictionary of Scientific Biography, Volume 8, Charles Scribner's Sons, New York, (1981), p. 498.
- A. Eddington, The Philosophy of Physical Science, Ann Arbor Paperbacks, The University of Michigan Press, Second Printing, (1967), p. 16.
- 51. J. Mackaye, *The Dynamic Universe*, Charles Scribner's Sons, New York, (1931), pp. 42-43, 100-101.
- 52. H. A. Lorentz, Das Relativitätsprinzip; drei Vorlesungen gehalten in Teylers Stiftung zu Haarlem, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig-Berlin, (1920). p. 23.
- A. Einstein, *Ideas and Opinions*, Crown Publishers, Inc., (1954),
 p. 281.
- 54. H. A. Lorentz, *Theory of Electrons*, , B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1909), p. 11; reprinted Dover, New York, (1952). *See also:* pp. 30-31.
- H. Dingle, Science at the Crossroads, Martin Brian & O'Keeffe, London, (1972), pp. 165-166.
- 56. H. Vaihinger, *Philosophy of the 'As if'*, Barnes & Noble, Inc., New York, (1966), p. 232. Vaihinger also pointed out that many scientists considered the hypothesis of the æther nothing more than a useful fiction, at page 40; and, at page 41, "In all modern science there is a tendency to depose hypotheses hitherto regarded as firmly established and to degrade them to the position of useful fictions."

- 57. A. Einstein, Sidelights on Relativity, translated by: G. B. Jeffery and W. Perret, Methuen & Co., London, (1922); republished, unabridged and unaltered: Dover, New York, (1983), pp. 16, 23.
- 58. Taken from a letter from Oliver Heaviside to Vilhelm Frimann Køren Bjerknes dated "8/3/20". Reprinted courtesy of Mike Gibson, with his full permission. Thank you, Mr. Gibson!
- A. Einstein and I. Infeld, *The Evolution of Physics*, Simon & Schuster, New York, London, Toronto, Sydney, Tokyo, Singapore, (1966), p. 153.
- H. Spencer, First Principles of a New System of Philosophy, Second American Edition, D. Appelton and Company, New York, (1874), pp. 96-97.
- 61. Sir Edmund Whittaker, A History of the Theories of Aether and Electricity, Volume II, Philosophical Library Inc., New York, (1954), p. 40.
- Biographical Memoirs of Fellows of the Royal Society, Volume
 The Royal Society, Headley Brothers LTD., (1955), pp. 37-67, at
 42.
- 63. W. Voigt, "Ueber das Doppler'sche Princip", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften und der Georg-Augusts-Universität zu Göttingen, (1887), p. 41-51; reprinted Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 16, Number 20, (October 15, 1915), pp. 381-386.
- M. Born, Einstein's Theory of Relativity, Methuen & Co. Ltd., London, (1924), p. 188.
- 65. M. Born, Einstein's Theory of Relativity, Dover, New York, (1962), p. 224.
- M. Born, Physics in my Generation, 2nd rev. ed., Springer-Verlag, New York, (1969), pp. 101-103, "Physics and Relativity"

- 67. P. G. Bergmann, The Riddle of Gravitation, Scribner, New York, (1968), p. 29.
- 68. G. H. Keswani, "Origin and Concept of Relativity, Part I", *The British Journal for the Philosophy of Science*, Volume 15, Number 60, (February, 1965), pp.286-306, at 293-295.
- 69. This quote was brought to my attention in an anonymous email—thank you, whoever you are!
- 70. M. v. Laue, Das Relativitätsprinzip der Lorentztransformation, Friedr. Vieweg & Sohn, Braunschweig, (1921), p. 48.
- A. Einstein, Relativity, The Special and the General Theory, Crown Publishers, Inc., New York, (1961), p. 33.
- J. H. Poincaré, "Sur la Dynamique de l'Électron", Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, 140, pp.1504-1508.
- 72. W. Voigt, "Ueber das Doppler'sche Princip", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften und der Georg-Augusts-Universität zu Göttingen, (1887), pp. 41-51; reprinted Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 16, Number 20, (October 15, 1915), pp. 381-386. Voigt demonstrated the invariance of the Group celeritas twenty years before Minkowski.
- 73.A. Henderson, A. W. Hobbs, J. W. Lasley, Jr., The Theory of Relativity, The University of North Caroline Press, Chapel Hill, North Carolina, Oxford University Press, (1924), p. 16, footnote.
- 74. Brockhaus Enzyklopädie, F. A. Brockhaus, Wiesbaden, Volume 19, (1974), p 697.
- 75. Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 9, Number 22, (November 1, 1908), p. 762. While some believe that Voigt was expressing his modesty, it might also be that he was pointedly asserting the primacy of the elastic theory of light.

- 77. H. A. Lorentz, *Theory of Electrons*, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1909), p. 198 footnote; reprinted Dover, New York, (1952).
- 78. H. A. Lorentz, "Deux memoirs de Henri Poincaré", Acta Mathematica, Volume 38, (1921) p. 293; reprinted in Œuvres de Henri Poincaré, Volume XI, Gautier-Villars, (1956), pp. 247-261; "for certain of the physical magnitudes which enter in the formulas I have not indicated the transformation which suits best. This has been done by Poincaré, and later by Einstein and Minkowski," taken from H. E. Ives' translation, "Revisions of the Lorentz Transformation", Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society, Volume 95, Number 2, (April, 1951), p. 125; reprinted R. Hazelett and D. Turner Editors, The Einstein Myth and the Ives Papers, a Counter-Revolution in Physics, Devin-Adair Company, Old Greenwich, Connecticut, (1979), p. 125.
- R. J. Boscovich, A Theory of Natural Philosophy, M.I.T. Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, London, (1966), pp. 197-205;
- Cf. H. V. Gill, Roger Boscovich, S. J. (1711-1787) Forerunner of Modern Physical Theories, M. H. Gill and Son, LTD., Dublin, (1941).
- 80. L. Lange, "Das Inertialsystem vor dem Forum der Naturforschung: Kritisches und Antikritisches", *Philosophische Studien*, Volume 20, (1902), p. 18.

- 81. J. B. Stallo, Die Begriffe und Theorieen der modernen Physik, Johann Ambrosius Barth, Leipzig, (1901), pp. 205, 331.
- 82. J. Violle, Lehrbuch der Physik, Julius Springer, Berlin, (1892), p. 90; cited in J. Stachel, Ed., The Collected Papers of Albert Einstein, Volume 2, Princeton University Press, (1989), p. 255, Note 13.
- 83. H. Poincaré, Wissenschaft und Hypothese, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1904), pp. 113-114, 119, especially 243, 340.
- 84. F. Hausdorff, translator, annotator, Über die Bewegung der Körper durch den Stoss / Über die Centrifugalkraft, Ostwald's Klassiker der exakten Wissenschaften, Nr. 138, Wilhelm Engelmann, Leipzig, (1903), pp. 64, 73.
- 85. Galileo Galilei, translated by S. Drake, Dialogue Concerning the Two Chief World Systems—Ptolemaic & Copernican, University of California Press, Berkeley, Los Angeles, London, (1967), p. 187.
- 86. J. D. Everett, Elementary Treatise on Natural Philosophy by A. Privat Deschanel, 6th Ed., D. Appelton and Company, New York, (1883), p. 43.
- See also: H. Streintz, Die physikalischen Grundlagen der Mechanik, B.G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1883).
- 87. J. D. Everett, "On Absolute and Relative Motion", Report of the Sixty-Fifth Meeting of the British Association for the Advancement of Science, Volume 65, (1895), p. 620.
- 88. H. Poincaré, Œuvres de Henri Poincaré, Volume IX, Gautier-Villars, (1954), p. 412; reprinted from: "A Propos de la Théorie de M. Larmor", L'Éclairage électrique, Volume 5, (October 5th, 1895) pp. 5-14.
- 89. H. Poincaré's St. Louis lecture from September of 1904, La Revue des Idées, 80, (November 15, 1905); "L'État Actuel et l'Avenir de la Physique Mathématique", Bulletin des Sciences Mathématique, Series 2, Volume 28, (1904), p. 302-324; English

- H. A. Rowland, The Physical Papers of Henry August Rowland, The Johns Hopkins Press, Baltimore, Maryland, (1902), pp. 673-674.
- 91. M. Abraham, "Zur Theorie der Strahlung und des Strahlungsdruckes", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 14, (1904), p. 238.
- 92. W. S. Jevons, *The Principles of Science*, 2nd Ed., Macmillan, London, (1877), p. 331.
- 93. H. A. Lorentz, Collected Papers, Volume 5, Martinus Nijhoff, (1937), pp. 3-4; reprint of Versuch einer Theorie der Electrischen und optischen Erscheinungen in bewegten Körpern, E. J. Brill, Leiden, (1895); unaltered reprint by B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1906).
- 94. J. Larmor, Aether and Matter, CUP, (1900), p. 78.
- 95. P. Drude, *The Theory of Optics*, Longmans, Green and Co., London-New York-Toronto, (1902), pp. 261, 457.
- 96. H. Poincaré, Science and Hypothesis, Dover, New York, (1952).
 p. 169; quoting, "RELATIONS ENTRE LA PHYSIQUE EXPÉRIMENTALE ET LA PHYSIQUE MATHÉMATIQUE", RAPPORTS PRÉSENTÉS AU CONGRÈS INTERNATIONAL DE PHYSIQUE DE 1900, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, (1900), Volume I, p. 21.
- H. Poincaré, Sceince and Hypothesis, Dover, New York, (1952).
 pp. 211-212.
- 98. Emil Cohn, Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen. Mathematisch-physikalische Klasse, (1901), p. 74; Annalen der Physik, 7, (1902), p. 30.
- 99. M. Faraday, "Thoughts on Ray-vibrations", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 3, Volume 28, Number 188, (May, 1846), pp. 345-350; reprinted in *Experimental Researches in Electricity*, Three

Volumes Bound as Two, Volume 3, Dover, New York, (1965), pp. 447-452.

- 100. W. K. Clifford, Lectures and Essays, Volume I, Macmillan, London, (1879), p. 85; See also: The Common Sense of the Exact Sciences, Edited by K. Pearson, D. Appleton, New York, Macmillan, London, (1885), especially Chapter 4, "Position", Section 1, "All Position is Relative", pp. 134-135; and Section 19, "On the Bending of Space", p. 201, Note 1.
- 101. A. Einstein, Ideas and Opinions, Crown Publishers, Inc., (1954), p. 281.
- 102. E. Brücke, "On Gravitation and the Conservation of Force", Philosophical Magazine, Series 4, Volume 15, Number 98, (February, 1858), p. 81-90, at 87-88; English translation of Brücke's 1857 article for the Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Classe der Kaiserlichen Akademie der Wissenschaften (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), which was a reaction to Faraday's lecture of February 27th, 1857.
- 103. A. Einstein to K. Schwarzschild, J. Stachel and M. Klein, Editors, *The Collected Papers of Albert Einstein*, Volume 8a, Document 181, Princeton University Press, (1989), p. 241.
- 104. W. K. Clifford, "On the Space Theory of Matter", Transactions of the Cambridge Philosophical Society, (1866/1876), Volume 2, 157-158; reprinted in The World of Mathematics, Volume 1, Simon & Schuster, New York, (1956), pp. 568-569; reprinted in Clifford's Mathematical Papers, Macmillan, London, (1882), pp. 21-22.
- See also: W. K. Clifford, "The Postulates of the Science of Space", The Philosophy of the Pure Sciences, In Four Parts: Part I, "Statement of the Question"; Part II, "Knowledge and Feeling"; Part III, "The Postulates of the Science of Space", The Contemporary Review, Volume 25, (1874), pp. 360-376—reprinted in Lectures and Essays, Volume 1, pp.295-323—reprinted in The World of Mathematics, Volume 1, Simon & Schuster, New York, (1956), pp. 552-567; Part IV, "The Universal Statements of Arithmetic"; all

- four Parts reprinted in *The Humboldt Library*, Number 86, (December, 1886), pp. 12-49 [208-245].
- See also: The Common Sense of the Exact Sciences, Edited by K. Pearson, D. Appleton, New York, Macmillan, London, (1885), especially Chapter 4, "Position", Section 1, "All Position is Relative", pp. 134-135; and Section 19, "On the Bending of Space".
- 105. A. Einstein, "Raum, Äther und Feld in der Physik", English translation by E. S. Brightman appearing in the same volume, "Space, Ether and the Field in Physics", Forum Philosophicum, Volume 1, Number 2, (December, 1930), pp. 173-184, at 184,
- 106. A. Einstein, "Professor Einstein's Address at the University of Nottingham", Science, New Series, Volume 71, Number 1850, (June 13, 1930) pp. 608-610, at 610.
- 107. J. C. Maxwell, *Matter and Motion*, Society for Promoting Christian Knowledge, London, (1876), p. 20.
- 108. W. K. Clifford, The Common Sense of the Exact Sciences, Dover, New York, (1955), pp. 193-194, 201-204.
- 109. The Principle of Relativity, Dover, (1952), p. 48.
- 110. H. Poincaré's St. Louis lecture from September of 1904, La Revue des Idées, 80, (November 15, 1905); "L'État Actuel et l'Avenir de la Physique Mathématique", Bulletin des Sciences Mathématique, Series 2, Volume 28, (1904), p. 302-324; English translation, "The Principles of Mathematical Physics", The Monist, Volume 15, Number 1, (January, 1905), pp. 1-24.
- 111. G. F. FitzGerald, "The Ether and Earth's Atmosphere (Letter to the Editor)", *Science*, Volume 13, Number 328, (1889), p. 390.
- 112. The Principle of Relativity, Dover, (1952), p. 7.
- 113. H. Poincaré, "La Mesure du Temps", Revue de Métaphysique et de Morale, Volume 6, (January, 1898) pp. 1-13; The Value of Science, The Science Press, New York, (1907), pp. 26-36.

- 114. H. Poincaré, Electrité et Optique, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, (1901), p. 530.
- 115. H. Poincaré, "La Théorie de Lorentz et le Principe de la Réaction", Archives Néerlandaises des Sciences Exactes et Naturelles, Series 2, Volume 5, (1900), pp. 252-278, at 272-273.
- 116. A. Einstein, "Das Prinzip von der Erhaltung der Schwerpunktsbewegung und die Trägheit der Energie", Annalen der Physik, Volume 20, (1906), pp. 627-633, at 627.
- 117. J. Stachel, Ed., The Collected Papers of Albert Einstein, Volume 2, Princeton University Press, (1989), pp. xxiv-xxv.
- 118. H. Poincaré, Science and Hypothesis, Dover, New York, (1952), p. 90; see also pp. 84-88 for a recapitulation of the "Measurement of Time" dissertation.
- 119. H. Poincaré's St. Louis lecture from September of 1904, La Revue des Idées, 80, (November 15, 1905); "L'État Actuel et l'Avenir de la Physique Mathématique", Bulletin des Sciences Mathématique, Series 2, Volume 28, (1904), p. 302-324; English translation, "The Principles of Mathematical Physics", The Monist, Volume 15, Number 1, (January, 1905), pp. 1-24.
- 120. The Principle of Relativity, Dover, New York, (1952), pp. 38-40. In order to maintain conformity with the original German text, necessary corrections have been made, as indicated by bracketed text. "Resting" has been substituted for "stationary", in conformity with the original German text.
- 121. C. Neumann, *Ueber die Principien der Galilei-Newton'schen Theorie*, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1870); "The Principles of the Galilean-Newtonian Theory", *Science in Context*, Volume 6, (1993), pp. 355-368.
- 122. A. Einstein, Relativity, The Special and the General Theory, Crown Publishers, Inc., New York, (1961), pp. 150-151.

- 123. A. Einstein, Sidelights on Relativity, translated by: G. B. Jeffery and W. Perret, Methuen & Co., London, (1922); republished, unabridged and unaltered: Dover, New York, (1983), p. 20.
- 124. J. H. Poincaré, "Sur la Dynamique de l'Électron", Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, 140, (1905), pp. 1504-1508.
- "Sur la Dynamique de l'Électron", Rendiconti del Circolo matimatico di Palermo, 21, (1906, submitted July 23rd, 1905), pp. 129-176. English trans. by H. M. Schwartz, American Journal of Physics, 39, (November, 1971), 1287-1294; 40, (June, 1972), 1282-1287; 40, (September, 1972), 1282-1287.
- E. Cunningham, The Principle of Relativity, CUP, (1914), p. 173.
- 125. A. Einstein, "Relativitäts-Theorie", Vierteljahrsschrift der Naturforschenden Gesellschaft in Zürich, Volume 56, (1911), pp. 1-14; quoted from the English translation by Anna Beck, The Collected Papers of Albert Einstein, Volume 3, Princeton University Press, (1993), p. 350.
- 126. H. Minkowski, Annalen der Physik, Volume 47, (1915), p. 938.
- 127. R. Marcolongo, "Sugli integrali delle equazione dell'elettro dinamica", Atti della Reale Accademia dei Lincei. Rendiconti. Classe di scienze fisiche, mathematiche e naturali, Series 5, Volume 15, (1 Semestre, April, 1906), pp. 344-349.
- 128. R. Mehmke, "Ueber die darstellende Geometrie der Räume von vier und mehr Dimensionen, mit Anwendungen auf die graphische Mechanik, die graphische Lösung von Systemen numerischer Gleichungen und auf Chemie", Mathematischnaturwissenschaftliche Mitteilungen (Stuttgart, Württemberg), Series 2, Volume 6, (1904), pp. 44-54.
- 129. R. Hargreaves, Transactions of the Cambridge Philosophical Society, Volume 21, (1908), p. 107.

130. H. Bateman, "The Conformal Transformations of a Space of Four Dimensions and their Applications to Geometrical Optics", Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society, Series 2, Volume 7, (1909), pp. 70-89;

and Philosophical Magazine, Volume 18, (1909), p. 890;

and "The Transformation of the Electrodynamical Equations", Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society, Series 2, Volume 8, (1910), pp. 223-264, 375, 469;

and "The Physical Aspects of Time", Memoirs and Proceedings of the Manchester Literary and Philosophical Society, Volume 54, (1910), pp. 1-13;

and American Journal of Mathematics, Volume 34, (1912), p. 325;

and The Mathematical Analysis of Electrical and Optical Wave-Motion on the Basis of Maxwell's Equations, CUP, (1915);

and The Physical Review, Volume 12, (1918), p. 459;

and "On General Relativity", Philosophical Magazine, Series 6, Volume 37, (1919), pp. 219-223;

and Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society, Series 2, Volume 21, (1920), p. 256.

Confer: E. Whittaker, Biographical Memoirs of Fellows of the Royal Society, Volume 1, (1955), pp. 44-45; and History, Volume 2, pp. 8, 64, 76, 94, 154-156, 195;

W. Pauli, Theory of Relativity, Pergamon Press, New York, (1958), pp. 81, 96, 199.

E. Besselhagen, Mathematische Annalen, Volume 84, (1921), p. 258;

F. D. Murnaghan, The Physical Review, Volume 17, (1921), p. 73;

- G. Kowalewski, Journal für reine und angewandte Mathematik, 157, (1927), p. 193.
- 131. A. Einstein, "Relativitäts-Theorie", Vierteljahrsschrift der Naturforschenden Gesellschaft in Zürich, Volume 56, (1911), pp. 1-14; "Diskussion", Sitzungsberichte, II-IX, (1911); English translation by Anna Beck, The Collected Papers of Albert Einstein, Volume 3, Princeton University Press, (1993), pp. 340-358.
- 132. H. Poincare, "La Mesure du Temps", Revue de Métaphysique et de Morale, Volume 6, (January, 1898) pp. 1-13; English translation by G. B. Halsted, The Value of Science, The Science Press, New York, (1907), pp. 26-36;
- See also, Poincaré's Nineteenth Century lectures in, Electrité et Optique, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, (1901), p. 530;
- See also, H. Poincaré, "La Théorie de Lorentz et le Principe de la Réaction", Archives Néerlandaises des Sciences Exactes et Naturelles, Series 2, Volume 5, (1900), pp. 252-278, at 272-273;
- See also, Poincaré's words of 1902, Science and Hypothesis, Dover, New York, (1952). pp. 84-88;
- See also, Poincaré's St. Louis lecture from September of 1904, La Revue des Idées, 80, (November 15, 1905); "L'État Actuel et l'Avenir de la Physique Mathématique", Bulletin des Sciences Mathématique, Series 2, Volume 28, (1904), p. 302-324; English translation, "The Principles of Mathematical Physics", The Monist, Volume 15, Number 1, (January, 1905), pp. 1-24;
- See also, Poincaré's lecture of April, 1909, "La Mécanique Nouvelle", Sechs Vorträge über ausgewählte Gegenstände aus der reinen Mathematik und mathematischen Physik, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, Berlin, (1910), pp. 49-58.
- 133. G. Y. Rainich, *Mathematics of Relativity*, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, Chapman & Hall, Limited, London, (1950), pp. v, 80.

- 134. C. J. Keyser, "Mathematical Emancipations: The Passing of the Point and the Number Three: Dimensionality and Hyperspace", *The Monist*, Volume 16, (1906), pp. 65-83, at 68-69.
- S., "Four-Dimensional Space", Nature, (March 26, 1885), p.
 481.
- 136. A. E. Abbott, Flatland: A Romance of Many Dimensions, Seeley, London, (1884).
- 137. S. Newcomb, "Elementary Theorems Relating to the Geometry of a Space of Three Dimensions and of Uniform Positive Curvature in the Fourth Dimension", *Journal für die reine und angewandte Mathematik (Crelle's Journal)*, Volume 83, (1877), pp. 293-299;
- and "Note on a Class of Transformations Which Surfaces May Undergo in Space of More than Three Dimensions", American Journal of Mathematics, Volume 1, (1878), pp. 1-4;
- and "On the Fundamental Concepts of Physics", Bulletin of the Washington Philosophical Society, Volume 11, (1888/1891), pp. 514-515;
- and "Modern Mathematical Thought", Bulletin of the New York Mathematical Society, Volume 3, Number 4, (January, 1894), pp. 95-107;
- and "The Philosophy of Hyperspace", Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society, Series 2, Volume 4, Number 5, (February, 1898), pp. 187-195;
- "Is the Airship Coming?", McClure's Magazine, Volume 17, (September, 1901), pp. 432-435;
- and "The Fairyland of Geometry", Harper's Magazine, Volume 104, Number 620, (January, 1902), pp. 249-252.
- 138. C. H. Hinton, "What is the Fourth Dimension?", Dublin University Magazine, Volume 96, Number 571, (1880), pp. 15-34,

at 27-34; reprinted in Cheltenham Ladies' College Magazine; reprinted as "What is the Fourth Dimension? Ghosts Explained", Swann Sonnenschein, London, (1884); reprinted in Scientific Romances: First Series, Swann Sonnenschein, London, (1886), pp. 1-32, which was itself reprinted by Arno Press, New York, (1976); reprinted in Speculations on the Fourth Dimension: Selected Writings of Charles H. Hinton, Edited by Rudolf v. B. Rucker, Dover, New York, (1980), pp. 1-22;

See also by Hinton: A New Era of Thought, Swann Sonnenschein, London, (1888);

and "The Recognition of the Fourth Dimension" (read before the Philosophical Society of Washington, November 9th, 1901), Bulletin of the Philosophical Society of Washington, Volume 14, (1902), pp. 179-203; reprinted in The Fourth Dimension, Swann Sonnenschein, London, J. Lane, New York, (1904);

and "The Fourth Dimension", Harper's Magazine, Volume 109, Number 601, (July, 1904), pp. 229-233.

- 139. B. Riemann, translated by W. K. Clifford, "On the Hypotheses which Lie at the Bases of Geometry", *Nature*, Volume 8, Number 183, (May 1, 1873), pp. 14-17; Volume 8, Number 184, (May 8, 1873), pp. 36-37.
- J. B. Stallo, General Principles of the Philosophy of Nature,
 WM. Crosby and H. P. Nichols, Boston, (1848), pp 52-55.
- 141. R. J. Boscovich, A Theory of Natural Philosophy, The M.I.T. Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, London, (1966), p. 200.
- 142. J. Larmor, Aether and Matter, CUP, (1900), p. 78.
- 143. Menyhért (Melchior) Palágyi, Neue Theorie des Raumes und der Zeit, Engelmanns, Leipzig, (1901); reprinted in Zur Weltmechanik, Beiträge zur Metaphysik der Physik von Melchior Palágyi, mit einem Geleitwort von Ernst Gehrcke, J. A. Barth, Leipzig, (1925).

- 144. R. Marcolongo, "Sugli integrali delle equazione dell'elettro dinamica", Atti della Reale Accademia dei Lincei. Rendiconti. Classe di scienze fisiche, mathematiche e naturali, Series 5, Volume 15, (1 Semestre, April, 1906), pp. 344-349.
- 145. H. Bergson, Time and Free Will: An Essay on the Immediate Data of Consciousness, G. Allen, New York, Macmillan, (1921).
- 146. "Ueber die Entwicklung der Raumvorstellungen", Zeitschrift für Philosophie und philosophische Kritik, (1866), translated by Phillip E. B. Jourdain in Mach's History and Root of the Principle of the Conservation of Energy, Open Court, Chicago, (1911), pp. 88-90.
- 147. B. Stewart and P. G. Tait, The Unseen Universe, Macmillan and Company, London and New York, (1886, 5th Ed. 1876), p. 221.
- 148. E. A. Poe, Eureka, (1848).
- 149. D'Alembert, "DIMENSION", ENCYCLOPÉDIE, OU DICTIONNAIRE RAISONNÉ DES SCIENCES, DES ARTS ET DES MÉTIERS, PAR UNE SOCIETÉ DE GENS DE LETTRES Volume 4, p. 1010;
- See: R. C. Archibald, "Time as a Fourth Dimension", Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society, Volume 20, Number 8, (May, 1914), pp. 409-412.
- 150. J. L. Lagrange (ca. 1797), "Application de Théorie des Fonctions a la Méchanique", Œuvres de Lagrange, Volume 9, Part 3, Chapter 1, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, (1881), pp. 337-344, at 337.
- See also: G. S. Klügel, "Abmessung", Mathematisches Wörterbuch, Volume 1, E. B. Schwickert, Leipzig, (1803).
- 151. J. Locke, Essay Concerning Human Understanding, Chapter 15, Section 12.
- 152. H. More, Enchiridion Metaphysicum, Part 1, E. Flesher, London, (1671), Chapter 28, p. 384; reproduced by Thommes Press,

Bristol, England, Dulles, Virginia, (1997).

- 153. J. K. F. Zöllner, Über die Natur der Cometen. Beiträge zur Geschichte und Theorie der Erkenntnis, W. Engelmann, Leipzig, (1872); and Die transcendentale Physik und die sogenannte Philosophie; eine deutsche Antwort auf eine "sogenannte wissenschaftliche Frage", L. Staackmann, Leipzig, (1879); and Transcendental Physics: An Account of Experimental Investigations from the Scientific Treatises of Johann Carl Friedrich Zollner, W. H. Harrison, London, (1880), and Colby & Rich, Boston, (1881); and Arno Press, New York, (1976); and Wissenschaftliche Abhandlungen, In Four Volumes, Staackmann, Leipzig, (1878-1881). For the history of this movement, see: C. Cranz, "Gemeinverständliches über die sogenannte vierte Dimension", Sammlung gemeinverständlicher wissenschaftlicher Vorträge, New Series, Volume 5, Number 112/113, (1890), pp. 567-636.
- 154. B. Riemann, "Neue mathematische Principien der Naturphilosophie", Bernhard Riemann's Gesammelte mathematische Werke und wissenschaftlicher Nachlass, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1892), pp. 528-532; reprinted by Dover, New York, (1953). For an analysis of this paper and additional relevant references, see: D. Laugwitz, Bernhard Riemann 1826-1866 Turning Points in the Conception of Mathematics, Birkhäuser, Boston, Basel, Berlin, (1999), pp. 281-287.
- 155. E. Mach, *The Science of Mechanics*, Open Court, La Salle, Illinois, (1960), footnote pp. 589-591.
- 156. A. E. Dolbear, *Matter, Ether and Motion*, Lee and Shepard Publishers, Boston, (1894).
- 157. T. P. Hall, "The Possibility of a Realization of Four-Fold Space", *Science*, Volume 19, Number 484, (May 13, 1892), pp. 272-274.
- 158. E. C. Sanford, "The Possibility of a Realization of Four-Fold Space", Science, Volume 19, Number 488, (June 10, 1892), p. 332.

- 159. H. Schubert, "The Fourth Dimension. Mathematical and Spiritual", *The Monist*, Volume 3, Number 3, (April, 1893), pp. 402-449, at 449; reprinted in *Mathematic Essays and Recreations*, Open Court, Chicago, (1898), pp. 64-111, at 111; English translation by T. J. McCormack of *Mathematische Mussestunden: Eine Sammlung von Geduldspielen, Kunststücken und Unterhaltungsaufgaben mathematischer Natur*, various editions/publishers.
- 160. P. G. Tait, "Zöllner's Scientific Papers", Nature, (March 28, 1878), pp. 420-422.
- 161. See: C.M. Ingleby, "Transcendent Space", Nature, Volume 1, (January 13, 1870), p. 289; (February 17, 1870), p. 407; and "Prof. Clifford on Curved Space", Nature, Volume 7, (February 13, 1873), pp. 282-283; C.M. Ingleby, "The Antinomies of Kant", Nature, Volume 7, (February 6, 1873), p. 262; and W. K. Clifford, "The Unreasonable", Nature, Volume 7, (February 13, 1873), p. 282; and C.M. Ingleby, "The Unreasonable", Nature, Volume 7, (February 20, 1873), pp. 302-303.
- See also: S. Roberts, "Remarks on Mathematical Terminology, and the Philosophic Bearing of Recent Mathematical Speculations concerning the Realities of Space", *Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society*, Volume 14, (November 9, 1882), pp. 5-15, at p. 9.
- See also: A. Cayley, Presidential Address Report of the British Association for the Advancement of Science, Southport Meeting, London, (1883), pp. 3-37; and The Collected Mathematical Papers of Arthur Cayley, Volume 11, CUP, (1889-1897), pp. 429-459, at p. 436.
- See also: E. C. Sanford, in response to T. P. Hall's "The Possibility of a Realization of Four-Fold Space", Science, Volume 19, Number 488, (June 10, 1892), p. 332.; Hall's paper: Science, Volume 19, Number 484, (May 13, 1892), pp. 272-274.
- 162. J. B. Stallo, "The Concepts and Theories of Modern Physics", The International Scientific Series, Volume XLII, Kegan Paul,

Trench & Co., (1882), p. 269.

- 163. E. H. Cutler, "Fourth Dimension Absurdities", with editorial notes by H. P. Manning, *The Fourth Dimension Simply Explained*, Dover, New York, (1960), pp. 60-69, at 60-61.
- 164. See: H. P. Manning, Geometry of Four Dimensions, Macmillan, New York, (1914); reprinted Dover, U.S.A., (1956), pp. 2-3; G. J. Whitrow, "Why Physical Space has Three Dimensions", The British Journal for the Philosophy of Science, Volume 6, Number 21, (May, 1955), pp. 13-31, at 18-19; J. Wallis, A Treatise of Algebra, Both Historical and Practical, Printed by John Playford for Richard Davis, London, (1685), p. 126; with regards to Michael Stifel, reference is made to his revision of Christoff Rudolff's Die Coss, Königsberg, (1553), reprinted Die Coss Christoffe Rudolff's mit schönen Exempeln der Coss durch Michael Stifel gebessert und sehr gemehrt, W. Janson, Amsterdam, (1615)—as described by David Eugene Smith, Rara Arithmetica, Ginn and Company, Boston, London, New York, (1908), p. 258.
- 165. H. P. Manning, Geometry of Four Dimensions, Macmillan, New York, (1914); reprinted Dover, U.S.A., (1956), p. 1.
- 166. H. P. Manning, Geometry of Four Dimensions, Macmillan, New York, (1914); reprinted Dover, U.S.A., (1956), p. 1.
- 167. Ante-Nicene Fathers, Volume 5, U.S.A., (1886), Hippolytus, "The Refutation of All Heresies", Book I, Chapter V, pp. 13-14.
- 168. Aristotle, translated by W. D. Ross, *Metaphysics*, Book 3, Chapter 4, 1001 a 32, from *Great Books of the Western World*, Volume 8 (Aristotle I), Encyclopædia Britannica, Inc., Chicago, London, Toronto, Geneva, (1952), p. 520.
- 169. The Principle of Relativity, Dover, New York, (1952), p. 75.
- 170. A. Reiser (Rudolf Kayser), Albert Einstein, a Biographical Portrait, Albert & Charles Boni, New York, (1930), pp. 105-106.
- 171. H. Weyl, Space Time Matter, Dover, New York, (1952), p. 217.

- 172. H Weyl, Philosophy of Mathematics and Natural Science, Princeton University Press, (1949), p. 264.
- 173. E. Cunningham, The Principle of Relativity, CUP, (1914), p. 191.
- 174. E. Cunningham, The Principle of Relativity, CUP, (1914), p. 213-214.
- 175. M. Čapek, Boston Studies in the Philosophy of Science, Volume 2, (1965), pp. 441-461; Philosophical Impact of Contemporary Physics, Chapters 3 and 12, Van Nordstrand, Princeton, New Jersey, (1961).
- 176. Menyhért (Melchior) Palágyi, Neue Theorie des Raumes und der Zeit, Engelmanns, Leipzig, (1901); reprinted in Zur Weltmechanik, Beiträge zur Metaphysik der Physik von Melchior Palágyi, mit einem Geleitwort von Ernst Gehrcke, J. A. Barth, Leipzig, (1925), p. 29.
- 177. F. Ueberweg, English translation by G. S. Morris, "with additions" by N. Porter, *History of Philosophy from Thales to the Present Time*, Scribner, Armstrong & Co, New York, (1876), pp. 51-60.
- 178. A. Einstein and J. Laub, "Über die elektromagnetischen Grundgleichungen für bewegte Körper", Annalen der Physik, 26, (1908), p. 532.
- 179. P. Gerber, "Die räumliche und zeitliche Ausbreitung der Gravitation", Zeitschrift für Mathematik und Physik, Leipzig, Volume 43, (1898), pp. 93-104; reprinted Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation, Programmabhandlung des städtischen Realgymnasiums zu Stargard in Pommerania, (1902); reprinted "Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 52, (1917), pp. 415-441;

Einstein stated, "...Gerber, who has given the correct formula for the perihelion motion of Mercury before I did [Albert Einstein's Theory

of General Relativity, Crown, New York, (1979), p. 98]."

Seeliger attacked Gehrcke and Gerber: H. v. Seeliger, "Bemerkung zu P. Gerbers Aufsatz 'Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation'", Annalen der Physik, Volume 53, (1917), pp. 31-32; "Weiters Bemerkungen zur 'Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation'", Annalen der Physik, Volume 54, (1917), pp. 38-40; and "Bemerkung zu dem Aufsatze des Herrn Gehrcke 'Über den Äther'", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 20, (1918), p. 262;

For counter-argument, see: E. Gehrcke, "Zur Kritik und Geschichte der neueren Gravitationstheorien", Annalen der Physik, Volume 51, (1916), pp. 119-124; and Annalen der Physik, Volume 52, (1917), p. 415; and "Über den Äther", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 20, (1918), pp. 165-169; and "Zur Diskussion über den Äther", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 21, (1919), pp. 67-68; Gehrcke's articles are reprinted in Kritik der Relativitätstheorie, Hermann Meusser, Berlin, (1924), pp. 40-48;

For further Discussion, see also: S. Oppenheim, "Zur Frage nach der Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation", Annalen der Physik, Volume 53, (1917), pp. 163-168;

and P. Weyland, Tägliche Rundschau, (August 6, 14, and 16, 1920);

and M. v. Laue, "Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation. Bemerkungen zur gleichnamigen Abhandlungen von P. Gerber", Annalen der Physik, Volume 53, (1917), pp. 214-216; and Tägliche Rundschau, (August 11, 1920); and "Historisch-Kritisches über die Perihelbewegung des Mercur", Die Naturwissenschaften, Volume 8, (1920), pp. 735-736;

and P. Lenard's analysis in, "Über die Ablenkung eines Lichtstrahls von seiner geradlinigen Bewegung durch die Attraktion eines Weltkörpers, an welchem er nahe vorbeigeht; von J. Soldner, 1801", Annalen der Physik, Volume 65, (1921), pp. 593-600, 602-604; and Über Äther und Uräther, Second Edition, S. Hirzel, Leipzig, (1922);

and, the later the edition, the better, Über Relativitätsprinzip, Äther, Gravitation, Third Enlarged Edition, S. Hirzel, Leipzig, (1921);

and A. Einstein, "Bemerkung zu E. Gehrckes Notiz 'Über den Äther'" Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, 20, (1918), p. 261; and "Meine Antwort", Berliner Tageblatt und Handels-Zeitung, (August 27, 1920); English translation in Albert Einstein's Theory of General Relativity, Crown, New York, (1979), pp. 97-99;

and N. T. Roseveare, Mercury's Perihelion from Le Verrier to Einstein, Oxford University Press, (1982), pp. 78, 115, 137-146.

180. E. Mach, The Science of Mechanics, Open Court, LaSalle, Illinois, (1960), p. 235.

181. E. Mach, *Die Mechanik in ihrer Entwicklung*, 5th (improved and enlarged) Ed., F. A. Brockhaus, (1904), p. 201.

182. See: W. Pauli, Encyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften, 5, 2, 19, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1921), pp. 539-775, at 548; L. Graetz, Der Äther und die Relativitätstheorie, J. Engelhorn[']s [successor], Stuttgart, (1923), p. 79; H. Thirring, "Elektrodynamik bewegter Körper und spezielle Relativitätstheorie", Handbuch der Physik, Volume 12 ("Theorien der Elektrizität Elektrostatik"), Springer, Berlin, (1927), p. 264, footnote 2.

 P. Spiller, Die Urkraft des Weltalls nach ihrem Wesen und Wirken auf allen Naturgebieten, Stuhr'schen Buchhandlung, Berlin, (1876), p. 132.

184. H. A. Lorentz, Collected Papers, Volume 5, Martinus Nijhoff, (1937), pp. 3-4; reprint of Versuch einer Theorie der Electrischen und optischen Erscheinungen in bewegten Körpern, E. J. Brill, Leiden, (1895); unaltered reprint by B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1906).

185. H. Schubert, "The Fourth Dimension. Mathematical and Spiritual", *The Monist*, Volume 3, Number 3, (April, 1893), pp. 402-449, at 413-414; reprinted in *Mathematic Essays and Recreations*, Open Court, Chicago, (1898), pp. 64-111, at 75-76; English

- translation by T. J. McCormack of Mathematische Mussestunden: Eine Sammlung von Geduldspielen, Kunststücken und Unterhaltungsaufgaben mathematischer Natur, various editions/publishers.
- 186. H. Schubert, "The Fourth Dimension. Mathematical and Spiritual", *The Monist*, Volume 3, Number 3, (April, 1893), pp. 402-449, at 449; reprinted in *Mathematic Essays and Recreations*, Open Court, Chicago, (1898), pp. 64-111, at 111; English translation by T. J. McCormack of *Mathematische Mussestunden: Eine Sammlung von Geduldspielen, Kunststücken und Unterhaltungsaufgaben mathematischer Natur*, various editions/publishers.
- 187. The Principle of Relativity, Dover, New York, (1952), pp. 81, 83, 88.
- 188. S. Alexander, Space, Time, and Deity, Volume I, Macmillan, London, (1920), p. 346.
- 189. M. Planck quoted in: A. Reiser (Rudolf Kayser), Albert Einstein, a Biographical Portrait, Albert & Charles Boni, New York, (1930), p. 104.
- M. Planck, Scientific Autobiography, and Other Papers, Philosophical Library, New York, (1949), pp. 46-48.
- 191. B. Russell, *The ABC of Relativity*, The New American Library, New York, (1959), pp. 62-63.
- 192. E. Cunningham, *The Principle of Relativity*, CUP, (1914), pp. 8, 90.
- 193. C. Nordmann, Einstein and the Universe, Henry Holt and Company, New York, (1922), pp.204-205.
- 194. M. Palágyi, Die Relativitätstheorie in der modernen Physik, reprinted in: Zur Weltmechanik, Johann Ambrosius Barth, Leipzig, (1925), p. 36.

- 195. A. Einstein, *The Meaning of Relativity*, Princeton Science Library Ed., (1988), pp. 30-31.
- 196. A. Einstein, *Ideas and Opinions*, Crown Publishers, Inc., (1954), p. 282.
- 197. W. Kantor, Relativistic Propagation of Light, Coronado Press, Lawrence, Kansas, (1976), p. 22.
- 198. The Encyclopedia of Philosophy, Volume 7, The Macmillan Company & The Free Press, New York, (1967), p. 133.
- 199. C. Kacser, "Relativity, Special Theory", Encyclopedia of Physics, 2nd Ed., VCH Publishers, Inc., New York-Weinheim-Cambridge-Basel, (1991), p. 1052.
- 200. J. N. Goldberg, "Space-Time", Encyclopedia of Physics, 2nd Ed., VCH Publishers, Inc., New York-Weinheim-Cambridge-Basel, (1991), p. 1159.
- 201. R. Resnick, Introduction to Special Relativity, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, London, Sidney, (1968), pp. 92-93.
- R. J. Boscovich, A Theory of Natural Philosophy, M.I.T. Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, London, (1966), pp. 203-205.
- 203. J. B. Stallo, "The Concepts and Theories of Modern Physics", The International Scientific Series, Volume XLII, Kegan Paul, Trench & Co., (1882), p. 206.
- 204. H. Spencer, First Principles of a New System of Philosophy, Second American Edition, D. Appelton and Company, New York, (1874), p. 68.
- 205. G. W. Leibnitz, A Collection of PAPERS, Which passed between the late Learned Mr. LEIBNITZ, AND Dr. CLARKE, In the Years 1715 and 1716. Relating to the PRINCIPLES OF Natural Philosophy and Religion. Mr. LEIBNITZ'S Third Paper., James Knapton, London, (1717), BEING An Answer to Dr. CLARKE'S Second Reply.

207. G. W. Leibnitz, S. Clarke, Collection of PAPERS, Which passed between the late Learned Mr. LEIBNITZ, and Dr. CLARKE, In the Years 1715 and 1716. Relating to the PRINCIPLES OF Natural Philosophy and Religion, James Knapton, London, (1717), pp. 5-7, 15, 365.

208. Webster's New World Dictionary of the American Language, Simon and Schuster, New York, (1984), p. 1199.

209. Encyclopedia International, Grolier Incorporated, New York, (1966), Volume 15, p. 358.

210. J. Stachel, Ed., The Collected Papers of Albert Einstein, Volume 2, Princeton University Press, (1989). pp. xxiv-xxv.

211. Encyclopedia International, Grolier Incorporated, New York, (1966), Volume 14, p. 446.

212. Encyclopedia International, Grolier Incorporated, New York, (1966), Volume 11, pp. 82-83.

213. See: The Observatory, Volume 43, Number 548, (1920), pp. 33-45.

214. F. W. Dyson, "On the opportunity afforded by the eclipse of 1919 May 29 of verifying Einstein's Theory of Gravitation", Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, Volume 77, (1917), p. 445;

and "Joint Eclipse Meeting of the Royal Society and the Royal Astronomical Society, 1919, November 6", *The Observatory*, Volume 42, Number 545, (1919), pp. 389-398;

and F. W. Dyson, C. A. Davidson, and A. S. Eddington, "Determination of the deflection of light by the Sun's gravitational field, from observations made at the total eclipse of May 29, 1919",

Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London A, Volume 220, (1920), pp. 291-333; Annual Report of the Board of Regents of the Smithsonian Institution Showing the Operations, Expenditures, and Conditions of the Institution for the Year Ending June 30, 1919, (U.S.) Government Printing Office, Washington, (1921), pp. 133-176.

215. D. Brian, Einstein, A Life, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, (1996), pp. 316-317.

 A. F. Joffe, Vstrechi s fizikami, moi vospominaniia o zarubezhnykh fizikah, Gosudarstvenoye Izdatelstvo Fiziko-Matematitsheskoi Literatury, Moscow, (1962), pp. 91-92.

А. Ф. Иоффа, Встречи с физиками, мои воспоминания о зарубежных физиках, Государственное Издательство Физико-Математической Литературы, Москва, (1962), стр. 91-92.

Thanks to my wife Kristina for her assistance in the translation.

217. Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, December 29th, 1934.

218. See: H. E. Ives, "Derivation of the Mass-Energy Relation", Journal of the Optical Society of America, Volume 42, Number 8, (August, 1952), pp. 540-543; reprinted R. Hazelett and D. Turner Editors, The Einstein Myth and the Ives Papers, a Counter-Revolution in Physics, Devin-Adair Company, Old Greenwich, Connecticut, (1979), pp. 182-185.

219. J. v. Soldner, [Berliner] Astronomisches Jarhbuch für das Jahr 1804, pp. 161-172; reprinted in P. Lenard's analysis in, "Über die Ablenkung eines Lichtstrahls von seiner geradlinigen Bewegung durch die Attraktion eines Weltkörpers, an welchem er nahe vorbeigeht; von J. Soldner, 1801", Annalen der Physik, Volume 65, (1921), Annalen der Physik, Volume 65, (1921), pp. 593-604, at 600-602. Soldner followed up Newton's query in the Opticks, "QUERY 1. Do not bodies act upon light at a distance, and by their action bend its rays; and is not this action (cæteris paribus) strongest at the least

distance?" Einstein initially parroted Soldner, then later fudged the equations.

- 220. Sir Edmund Whittaker, A History of the Theories of Aether and Electricity, Volume II, Philosophical Library Inc., New York, (1954), p. 180.
- 221. English translation by C. G. Abbot with an introduction by S. P. Langley appears in: "The Le Sage Theory of Gravitation", Annual Report of the Board of Regents of the Smithsonian Institution Showing the Operations, Expenditures, and Condition of the Institution for the Year Ending June 30, 1898, (U.S.) Government Printing Office, Washington, (1899), pp. 139-160, at 150.
- 222. S. Tolver Preston, *Physics of the Ether*, E. & F. N. Spon, London, (1875), p. 115; In addition to this book, see also his many works in *Nature* and in the *Philosophical Magazine*.
- 223. Mileva Einstein-Marity and Albert Einstein, "Ist die Trägheit eines Körpers von seinem Energieinhalt abhängig?", Annalen der Physik, Volume 18, (1905), p. 641.
- 224. S. Newcomb, "On the Definition of the Terms Energy and Work", *Philosophical Magazine*, 5, 27, (1889), pp. 115-117.
- See also: G. F. Helm, Die Energetik nach ihrer geschichtlichen Entwickelung, Veit, Leipzig, (1898), p. 362.
- 225. J. J. Thomson, "On the Electric and Magnetic Effects Produced by the Motion of Electrified Bodies", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 5, Volume 11, (1881), pp. 227-229;
- and A Treatise on the Motion of Vortex Rings, Macmillan, London, (1883);
- and Elements of the Mathematical Theory of Electricity and Magnetism, CUP, (1895);
- and The Elements of the Four Inner Planets and the Fundamental Constants of Astronomy, (Supplement to the American ephemeris

and nautical almanac for 1897), (U.S.) Government Printing Office, Washington, (1895);

and "Cathode Rays", Philosophical Magazine, Series 5, Volume 44, (1897), pp. 293-316;

and "On the Masses of the Ions in Gases at Low Pressures", Philosophical Magazine, Series 5, Volume 48, (1899), pp. 547-567;

and "Über die Masse der Träger der negativen Elektrisierung in Gasen von niederen Drucken", *Physikalische Zeitschrift*, Volume 1, (1899-1900), pp. 20-22;

and Electricity and Matter, Charles Scribner's Sons, New York, (1904); translated into German, Elektrizität und Materie, F. Vieweg und Sohn, Braunschweig, (1904); Ives notes, cf. E. Cunningham, The Principle of Relativity, CUP, (1914), p. 189.

- 226. H. Poincaré, "La Théorie de Lorentz at le Principe de Réaction", Archives Néerlandaises des Sciences Exactes et Naturelles, Series 2, Volume 5, Recueil de travaux offerts par les auteurs à H. A. Lorentz, professeur de physique à l'université de Leiden, à l'occasion du 25^{ne} anniversaire de son doctorate le 11 décembre 1900, Nijhoff, The Hague, (1900), pp. 252-278; reprinted Œuvres, Volume IX, p. 464-488.
- 227. O. De Pretto, "Ipostesi dell'etere nella vita dell'universo", Atti del Reale Istituto Veneto di Scienze, Lettere ed Arti, Volume 63, Part 2, (February, 1904), pp. 439-500.
- See: U. Bartocci, "Albert Einstein e Olinto De Pretto: la vera storia della formula più famosa del mondo / Umberto Bartocci; con una nota biografica a cura di Bianca Maria Bonicelli e il testo integrale dell'opera di Olinto De Pretto, 'Ipotesi dell'etere nella vita dell'universo'", Andromeda, Bologna, (1999).
- 228. F. Hasenöhrl, "Zur Theorie der Strahlung in bewegten Körpern", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Classe der Kaiserlichen Akademie der

Wissenschaften (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 113,(1904), pp. 1039-1055;

and "Zur Theorie der Strahlung in bewegten Körpern", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 15, (1904), pp. 344-370; corrected: Series 4, Volume 16, (1905), pp. 589-592;

and "Über die Umwandlung kinetischer Energie in Strahlung", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 10, (1909), pp. 829-830;

and "Bericht über die Trägheit der Energie", Jahrbuch der Radioaktivität und Elektronik, Volume 6, (1909), pp. 485-502;

and "Über die Widerstand, welchen die Bewegung kleiner Körperchen in einem mit Hohlraumstrahlung erfüllten Raume erleidet", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 119, (1910), pp. 1327-1349;

and ""Die Erhaltung der Energie und die Vermehrung der Entropie", in E. Warburg, Die Kultur der Gegenwart: Ihre Entwicklung und ihre Ziele, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1915), pp. 661-691.

229. M. Planck, "Das Prinzip der Relativität und die Grundgleichungen der Mechanik", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 8, (1906), pp. 136-141;

and "Zur Dynamik bewegter Systeme", Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, Sitzung der physikalisch-mathematischen Classe, Volume 13, (June, 1907), 542-570, especially 542 and 544; reprinted Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 26, (1908), pp. 1-34; reprinted Physikalische Abhandlungen und Voträge, Volume 2, F. Vieweg und Sohn, Braunschweig, (1958), pp. 176-209;

and "Bemerkungen zum Prinzip der Aktion und Reaktion in der allgemeinen Dynamik", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 10, (1908), pp. 728-731; and "Bemerkungen zum Prinzip der Aktion und Reaktion in der allgemeinen Dynamik (With a Discussion with Minkwoski)", *Physikalische Zeitschrift*, Volume 9, Number 23, (November 15, 1908), pp. 828-830.

See also, R. v. Eötvös, "A Föld Vonzása Különböző Anyagokra", Akadémiai Értesítő, Volume 2, (1890), pp. 108-110; German translation, "Über die Anziehung der Erde auf verschiedene Substanzen", Mathematische und naturwissenschaftliche Berichte aus Ungarn, Volume 8, (1890), pp. 65-68; response, W. Hess, Beiblätter zu den Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 15, (1891), p. 688-689;

and R. v. Eötvös, "Untersuchung über Gravitation und Erdmagnetismus", *Annalen der Physik*, Series 3, Volume 59, (1896), pp. 354-400;

and "Beszéd a kolozsvári Bolyai-emlékünnepen", Akadémiai Értesítő, (1903), p. 110;

and "Bericht über die Verhandlungen der fünfzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung abgehalten vom 20. bis 28. September 1906 in Budapest", Verhandlungen der vom 20. bis 28. September 1906 in Budapest abgehaltenen fünfzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, Part 1, G. Reimer, Berlin, (1908), pp. 55-108;

and Über geodetischen Arbeiten in Ungarn, besonders über Beobachtungen mit der Drehwaage, Hornyánszky, Budapest, (1909);

and "Bericht über Geodätische Arbeiten in Ungarn, besonders über Beobachtungen mit der Drehwage", Verhandlungen der vom 21. Bis 29. September 1909 in London und Cambridge abgehaltenen sechzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, Part 1, G. Reimer, Berlin, (1910), pp. 319-350;

and "Über Arbeiten mit der Drehwaage: Ausgführt im Auftrage der Königlichen Ungarischen Regierung in den Jahren 1908-1911", Verhandlungen der vom in Hamburg abgehaltenen siebzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, Part 1, G. Reimer, Berlin, (1912), pp. 427-438;

and Eötvös, Pekár, Fekete, Trans. XVI. Allgemeine Konferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, (1909); Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen (1909), geschäftliche Mitteilungen, p. 37;

and "Beiträge zur Gesetze der Proportionalität von Trägheit und Gravität", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 68, (1922), pp. 11-16;

and D. Pekár, Die Naturwissenschaften, Volume 7, (1919), p. 327.

cf. H. E. Ives, "Derivation of the Mass-Energy Relation", Journal of the Optical Society of America, Volume 42, Number 8, (August, 1952), pp. 540-543; reprinted R. Hazelett and D. Turner Editors, The Einstein Myth and the Ives Papers, a Counter-Revolution in Physics, Devin-Adair Company, Old Greenwich, Connecticut, (1979), pp. 182-185;

cf. E. Whittaker, A History of the Theories of Aether and Electricity, Volume II, Philosophical Library, New York, (1954), pp. 151-152;

cf. G. B. Brown, "What is Wrong with Relativity?", Bulletin of the Institute of Physics and the Physical Society, Volume 18, Number 3, (March, 1967), p. 71;

see also, A. Einstein, Jahrbuch der Radioaktivität und Elektronik, Volume 4, (1907), pp. 411-462; Annalen der Physik, Volume 35, (1911), pp. 898-908.

230. I. Newton, *Principia*, Definitions I, II and III, pp. 1-2; and *Principia*, Book III, Proposition 6, Theorem 6, pp. 411-414.

231. F. W. Bessel, "Untersuchungen des Teiles planetarischer Störungen, welche aus der Bewegung der Sonne entstehen", Abhandlungen der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1824); reprinted Abhandlungen von Friedrich Wilhelm Bessel, In Three Volumes, Volume 1, W. Engelmann, Leipzig, (1875-1876), p. 84;

and "Bestimmung der Masse des Jupiter", Astronomische Untersuchungen, In Two Volumes, Gebrüder Bornträger, Königsberg, Volume 2, (1841-1842); Abhandlungen von Friedrich Wilhelm Bessel, Volume 3, p. 348;

Jammer, Concepts of Mass, cites: "Studies on the Length of the Seconds Pendulum", Abhandlungen der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1824);

and "Experiments on the Force with which the Earth Attracts Different Kinds of Bodies", Abhandlungen der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1830);

and Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 25, (1832), pp. 1-14; and Volume 26, (1833), pp. 401-411;

and Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 10, (1833), pp. 97-108.

232. R. v. Eötvös, "A Föld Vonzása Különböző Anyagokra", Akadémiai Értesítő, Volume 2, (1890), pp. 108-110; German translation, "Über die Anziehung der Erde auf verschiedene Substanzen", Mathematische und naturwissenschaftliche Berichte aus Ungarn, Volume 8, (1890), pp. 65-68; response, W. Hess, Beiblätter zu den Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 15, (1891), p. 688-689;

and R. v. Eötvös, "Untersuchung über Gravitation und Erdmagnetismus", Annalen der Physik, Series 3, Volume 59, (1896), pp. 354-400;

and "Beszéd a kolozsvári Bolyai-emlékűnnepen", Akadémiai Értesítő, (1903), p. 110;

and "Bericht über die Verhandlungen der fünfzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung abgehalten vom 20. bis 28. September 1906 in Budapest", Verhandlungen der vom 20. bis 28. September 1906 in Budapest abgehaltenen fünfzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, Part 1, G. Reimer, Berlin, (1908), pp. 55-108;

and Über geodetischen Arbeiten in Ungarn, besonders über Beobachtungen mit der Drehwaage, Hornyánszky, Budapest, (1909);

and "Bericht über Geodätische Arbeiten in Ungarn, besonders über Beobachtungen mit der Drehwage", Verhandlungen der vom 21. Bis 29. September 1909 in London und Cambridge abgehaltenen sechzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, Part 1, G. Reimer, Berlin, (1910), pp. 319-350;

and "Über Arbeiten mit der Drehwaage: Ausgführt im Auftrage der Königlichen Ungarischen Regierung in den Jahren 1908-1911", Verhandlungen der vom in Hamburg abgehaltenen siebzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, Part 1, G. Reimer, Berlin, (1912), pp. 427-438;

and Eötvös, Pekár, Fekete, Trans. XVI. Allgemeine Konferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, (1909); Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen (1909), geschäftliche Mitteilungen, p. 37;

and "Beiträge zur Gesetze der Proportionalität von Trägheit und Gravität", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 68, (1922), pp. 11-16;

and D. Pekár, Die Naturwissenschaften, Volume 7, (1919), p. 327.

233. Confer: E. Whittaker, A History of the Theories of Aether and Electricity, Volume II, Philosophical Library, New York, (1954), pp. 52-53.

234. G. N. Lewis, "A Revision of the Fundamental Laws of Matter and Energy", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 6, Volume 16, (1908), pp. 707-717;

and G. N. Lewis and R. C. Tolman, "The Principle of Relativity and

Non-Newtonian Mechanics", Philosophical Magazine, Series 6, Volume 18, (1909), p. 510-523;

and G. N. Lewis, "A Revision of the Fundamental Laws of Matter and Energy", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 6, Volume 16, (1908), pp. 707-717;

and R. C. Tolman, "Non-Newtonian Mechanics, the Mass of a Moving Body", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 6, Volume 23, (1912), pp. 375-380;

and E. B. Wilson and G. N. Lewis, "The Space-Time Manifold of Relativity: The Non-Euclidean Geometry of Mechanics and Electrodynamics", *Proceedings of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences*, Volume 48, Number 11, (November, 1912), pp. 389-507.

235. G. B. Brown, "What is Wrong with Relativity?", Bulletin of the Institute of Physics and the Physical Society, Volume 18, Number 3, (March, 1967), p. 71; citing G. N. Lewis, Philosophical Magazine, Series 6, Volume 18, (1909), pp. 517-527.

236. L. A. P. Rougier, *Philosophy and the New Physics*, English translation by M. Masius, P. Blakiston's Son & Co., Philadelphia, (1921); *La Matérialisation de L'Énergie*, Gauthier-Villars, (1921).

237. M. Jammer, Concepts of Mass in Classical and Modern Physics, Dover, New York, (1961).

238. H. Poincaré, St. Louis lecture from September of 1904, La Revue des Idées, 80, (November 15, 1905); "L'État Actuel et l'Avenir de la Physique Mathématique", Bulletin des Sciences Mathématique, Series 2, Volume 28, (1904), p. 302-324; English translation, "The Principles of Mathematical Physics", The Monist, Volume 15, Number 1, (January, 1905), p. 15.

239. A. Bain, Logic, Volume II, Longmans Green and Co., London, (1870), pp. 225, 389.

- 240. O. Heaviside, "On the Electromagnetic Effects Due to the Motion of Electrification through a Dialectric", *Philosophical Magazine*, Volume 27, (1889), pp. 324-339, at 332.
- 241. F. Soddy, Radio-activity: An Elementary Treatise, from the Standpoint of the Disintegration Theory, "The Electrician" printing & publishing company, ltd., London, (1904), p. 180; excerpt substantially had from R. Hazelett and D. Turner Editors, The Einstein Myth and the Ives Papers, a Counter-Revolution in Physics, Devin-Adair Company, Old Greenwich, Connecticut, (1979), p. 186.
- 242. A. E. Dolbear, *Matter, Ether and Motion*, C. J. Peters & Son, Boston, Second Edition, (1894), p. 345.
- 243. R. J. Boscovich, A Theory of Natural Philosophy, M.I.T. Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, London, (1966), p. 21.
- 244. Aristotle, *The Metaphysics*, translated by J. H. McMahon, Prometheus Books, New York, (1991), p. 192, Book IX, Chapter 8, 1050b.
- 245. H. E. Ives, "Derivation of the Mass-Energy Relation", Journal of the Optical Society of America, Volume 42, Number 8, (August, 1952), pp. 540-543; reprinted R. Hazelett and D. Turner Editors, The Einstein Myth and the Ives Papers, a Counter-Revolution in Physics, Devin-Adair Company, Old Greenwich, Connecticut, (1979), pp. 182-185.
- 246. E. Gehrcke, Die Massensuggestion der Relativitätstheorie, Hermann Meusser, Berlin, (1924), p. 2.
- 247. H. A. Lorentz, The Theory of Electrons, Dover, New York, (1952), p. 230.
- 248. A. Einstein, *Ideas and Opinions*, Crown Publishers, Inc., (1954), p. 293.
- 249. A. Einstein, quoted in Contemporary Quotations, Compiled by J. B. Simpson, Thomas Y. Cromwell Company, New York, (1964), p. 189.

- A. Einstein, quoted in Contemporary Quotations, Compiled by J. B. Simpson, Thomas Y. Cromwell Company, New York, (1964), p. 262.
- K. Pearson, The Grammar of Science, Second Revised and Enlarged Edition, Adam and Charles Black, London, (1900).
- 252. A. F. Joffe, Vstrechi s fizikami, moi vospominaniia o zarubezhnykh fizikah, Gosudarstvenoye Izdatelstvo Fiziko-Matematitsheskoi Literatury, Moscow, (1962), p. 92.
- А. Ф. Иоффа, Встречи с физиками, мои воспоминания о зарубежных физиках, Государственное Издательство Физико-Математической Литературы, Москва, (1962), стр. 92.

Thanks to my wife Kristina for her assistance in the translation.

- 253. A. Einstein, "Zum Relativitäts-Problem", Scientia, Volume 15, (1914), pp. 337-348, at 344-346; and "Die formale Grundlage der allgemeinen Relativitätstheorie" Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1914), pp. 1030-1085, at 1031-1032; and "Die Grundlange der allgemeinen Relativitätstheorie", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 49, (1916), pp. 769-822, at 771-772; and "Albert Einstein: Philosopher-Scientist", Library of Living Philosophers, P. A. Schilpp, Evanston, Illinois, (1949), p. 18-21.
- 254. E. Mach, Die Principien der physikalischen Optik, (1921), pp. viii-ix; The Principles of Physical Optics, (1926), pp. vii-vii.
- E. Mach, *Die Mechanik in ihrer Entwicklung*, 8th ed. F. A. Brockhaus, Leipzig, (1921), Appendix: "Das Verhältnis der Mach'schen Gedankenwelt zur Relativitätstheorie" by Joseph Petzoldt, pp. 490-517.
- E. Mach, Die Mechanik in ihrer Entwicklung, 9th ed. F. A. Brockhaus, Leipzig, (1933), Forward by Dr. Ludwig Mach, pp. XVIII-XX.

See also: John Blackmore, Klaus Hentschel, Editors, Ernst Mach als Aussenseiter, Willhelm Braumüller, Wien, (1985), pp. 134-138.

255. A. Einstein, "Ernst Mach", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 17, Number 7, (April 1, 1916), pp. 101-104.

See also: The Collected Papers of Albert Einstein, Volume 5, Documents 448, 467, and 495.

See also: John Blackmore, Klaus Hentschel, Editors, Ernst Mach als Aussenseiter, Willhelm Braumüller, Wien, (1985).

256. "La Théorie de la Relativité. Discussion", Bulletin de la Société Française de Philosophie, Volume 22, (1922), pp. 91-113, at 112.

257. D. Hume, An Enquiry Concerning Human Understanding, Section VII, Parts I & II.

258. E. Mach, "The Economy of Science", The Science of Mechanics, Open Court, LaSalle, Illinois, (1960), pp. 577-595.

259. W. Hamilton, Discussions on Philosophy and Literature, Education and University Reform, Second Enlarged Edition, Longman, Brown, Green and Longman's, London, (1853), pp. 628-631; quoted in K. Pearson's Grammar of Science, Appendix, Note III.

260. I. Newton, Sir Isaac Newton's Mathematical Principles of Natural Philosophy and His System of the World, Volume 2, University of California Press, Berkeley, Los Angeles, London, (1964), Translated by Andrew Motte, as revised by Florian Cajori, p. 398.

261. H. Poincaré, Dernières Pensées, Flammarion, Paris, (1913); English translation Mathematics and Science: Last Essays, Dover, New York, (1963), pp. 22-23.

262. J. C. Maxwell, *Matter and Motion*, Society for Promoting Christian Knowledge, London, (1876), p. 20.

263. W. K. Clifford, The Common Sense of the Exact Sciences, Dover, New York, (1955), pp. 193-194.

264. A. Einstein, Relativity, the Special and the General Theory, Crown Publishers, Inc., New York, (1961), App. V, p. 140-141.

265. A. Einstein, *Ideas and Opinions*, Crown Publishers, Inc., New York, (1954), p. 307.

266. A. Einstein and I. Infeld, *The Evolution of Physics*, Simon & Schuster, New York, London, Toronto, Sydney, Tokyo, Singapore, (1966), p. 31.

267. A. Einstein, *Ideas and Opinions*, Crown Publishers, Inc., New York, (1954), p. 307.

268. A. Einstein, quoted in A. Pais, Subtle is the Lord, Oxford University Press, Oxford, New York, Toronto, Melbourne, (1982), p. 131.

269. W. S. Jevons, *The Principles of Science*, 2nd Ed., Macmillan, London, (1877), pp. 11-12.

270. W. S. Jevons, *The Principles of Science*, 2nd Ed., Macmillan, London, (1877), p. 595.

 W. S. Jevons, The Principles of Science, 2nd Ed., Macmillan, London, (1877), p. 621.

272. W. S. Jevons, *The Principles of Science*, 2nd Ed., Macmillan, London, (1877), p. 121.

273. H. E. Ives, "Derivation of the Mass-Energy Relation", Journal of the Optical Society of America, Volume 42, Number 8, (August, 1952), pp. 540-543; reprinted R. Hazelett and D. Turner Editors, The Einstein Myth and the Ives Papers, a Counter-Revolution in Physics, Devin-Adair Company, Old Greenwich, Connecticut, (1979), pp. 182-185.

274. M. Planck, "Das Prinzip der Relativität und die Grundgleichungen der Mechanik", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 8, (1906), pp. 136-141;

and "Zur Dynamik bewegter Systeme", Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, Sitzung der physikalisch-mathematischen Classe, Volume 13, (June, 1907), 542-570, especially 542 and 544; reprinted Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 26, (1908), pp. 1-34; reprinted Physikalische Abhandlungen und Voträge, Volume 2, F. Vieweg und Sohn, Braunschweig, (1958), pp. 176-209;

and "Bemerkungen zum Prinzip der Aktion und Reaktion in der allgemeinen Dynamik", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 10, (1908), pp. 728-731;

and "Bemerkungen zum Prinzip der Aktion und Reaktion in der allgemeinen Dynamik (With a Discussion with Minkwoski)", *Physikalische Zeitschrift*, Volume 9, Number 23, (November 15, 1908), pp. 828-830.

See also, R. v. Eötvös, "A Föld Vonzása Különböző Anyagokra", Akadémiai Értesítő, Volume 2, (1890), pp. 108-110; German translation, "Über die Anziehung der Erde auf verschiedene Substanzen", Mathematische und naturwissenschaftliche Berichte aus Ungarn, Volume 8, (1890), pp. 65-68; response, W. Hess, Beiblätter zu den Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 15, (1891), p. 688-689;

and R. v. Eötvös, "Untersuchung über Gravitation und Erdmagnetismus", *Annalen der Physik*, Series 3, Volume 59, (1896), pp. 354-400;

and "Beszéd a kolozsvári Bolyai-emlékűnnepen", Akadémiai Értesítő, (1903), p. 110;

and "Bericht über die Verhandlungen der fünfzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung abgehalten vom 20. bis 28. September 1906 in Budapest", Verhandlungen der vom 20. bis 28. September 1906 in Budapest abgehaltenen fünfzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, Part 1, G. Reimer, Berlin, (1908), pp. 55-108;

and Über geodetischen Arbeiten in Ungarn, besonders über Beobachtungen mit der Drehwaage, Hornyánszky, Budapest, (1909);

and "Bericht über Geodätische Arbeiten in Ungarn, besonders über Beobachtungen mit der Drehwage", Verhandlungen der vom 21. Bis 29. September 1909 in London und Cambridge abgehaltenen sechzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, Part 1, G. Reimer, Berlin, (1910), pp. 319-350;

and "Über Arbeiten mit der Drehwaage: Ausgführt im Auftrage der Königlichen Ungarischen Regierung in den Jahren 1908-1911", Verhandlungen der vom in Hamburg abgehaltenen siebzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, Part 1, G. Reimer, Berlin, (1912), pp. 427-438;

and Eötvös, Pekár, Fekete, Trans. XVI. Allgemeine Konferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, (1909); Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen (1909), geschäftliche Mitteilungen, p. 37;

and "Beiträge zur Gesetze der Proportionalität von Trägheit und Gravität", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 68, (1922), pp. 11-16;

and D. Pekár, Die Naturwissenschaften, Volume 7, (1919), p. 327.

cf. H. E. Ives, "Derivation of the Mass-Energy Relation", Journal of the Optical Society of America, Volume 42, Number 8, (August, 1952), pp. 540-543; reprinted R. Hazelett and D. Turner Editors, The Einstein Myth and the Ives Papers, a Counter-Revolution in Physics, Devin-Adair Company, Old Greenwich, Connecticut, (1979), pp. 182-185;

cf. E. Whittaker, A History of the Theories of Aether and Electricity, Volume II, Philosophical Library, New York, (1954), pp. 151-152;

cf. G. B. Brown, "What is Wrong with Relativity?", Bulletin of the Institute of Physics and the Physical Society, Volume 18, Number 3, (March, 1967), p. 71;

see also, A. Einstein, Jahrbuch der Radioaktivität und Elektronik, Volume 4, (1907), pp. 411-462; Annalen der Physik, Volume 35, (1911), pp. 898-908.

I. Newton, *Principia*, Definitions I, II and III, pp. 1-2; and *Principia*, Book I, Section 9; and *Principia*, Book III, Proposition 6, Theorem 6, pp. 411-414.

F. W. Bessel, "Untersuchungen des Teiles planetarischer Störungen, welche aus der Bewegung der Sonne entstehen", Abhandlungen der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1824); reprinted Abhandlungen von Friedrich Wilhelm Bessel, In Three Volumes, Volume 1, W. Engelmann, Leipzig, (1875-1876), p. 84;

and "Bestimmung der Masse des Jupiter", Astronomische Untersuchungen, In Two Volumes, Gebrüder Bornträger, Königsberg, Volume 2, (1841-1842); Abhandlungen von Friedrich Wilhelm Bessel, Volume 3, p. 348;

Jammer, Concepts of Mass, cites: "Studies on the Length of the Seconds Pendulum", Abhandlungen der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1824);

and "Experiments on the Force with which the Earth Attracts Different Kinds of Bodies", Abhandlungen der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1830);

and Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 25, (1832), pp. 1-14; and Volume 26, (1833), pp. 401-411;

and Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 10, (1833), cols. 97-108.

275. Albert Einstein's Theory of General Relativity, Crown, New York, (1979), p. 49.

276. P. Gerber, "Die räumliche und zeitliche Ausbreitung der Gravitation", Zeitschrift für Mathematik und Physik, Leipzig, Volume 43, (1898), pp. 93-104; reprinted Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation, Programmabhandlung des städtischen Realgymnasiums zu Stargard in Pommerania, (1902); reprinted "Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 52, (1917), pp. 415-441;

Einstein stated, "...Gerber, who has given the correct formula for the perihelion motion of Mercury before I did [Albert Einstein's Theory of General Relativity, Crown, New York, (1979), p. 98]."

Seeliger attacked Gehrcke and Gerber: H. v. Seeliger, "Bemerkung zu P. Gerbers Aufsatz 'Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation", Annalen der Physik, Volume 53, (1917), pp. 31-32; "Weiters Bemerkungen zur 'Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation", Annalen der Physik, Volume 54, (1917), pp. 38-40; and "Bemerkung zu dem Aufsatze des Herrn Gehrcke 'Über den Äther'", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 20, (1918), p. 262;

For counter-argument, see: E. Gehrcke, "Zur Kritik und Geschichte der neueren Gravitationstheorien", Annalen der Physik, Volume 51, (1916), pp. 119-124; and Annalen der Physik, Volume 52, (1917), p. 415; and "Über den Äther", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 20, (1918), pp. 165-169; and "Zur Diskussion über den Äther", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 21, (1919), pp. 67-68; Gehrcke's articles are reprinted in Kritik der Relativitätstheorie, Hermann Meusser, Berlin, (1924), pp. 40-48;

For further Discussion, see also: S. Oppenheim, "Zur Frage nach der Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation", Annalen der Physik, Volume 53, (1917), pp. 163-168;

and P. Weyland, Tägliche Rundschau, (August 6, 14, and 16, 1920);

and M. v. Laue, "Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der

Gravitation. Bemerkungen zur gleichnamigen Abhandlungen von P. Gerber", Annalen der Physik, Volume 53, (1917), pp. 214-216; and Tägliche Rundschau, (August 11, 1920); and "Historisch-Kritisches über die Perihelbewegung des Mercur", Die Naturwissenschaften, Volume 8, (1920), pp. 735-736;

and P. Lenard's analysis in, "Über die Ablenkung eines Lichtstrahls von seiner geradlinigen Bewegung durch die Attraktion eines Weltkörpers, an welchem er nahe vorbeigeht; von J. Soldner, 1801", Annalen der Physik, Volume 65, (1921), pp. 593-600, 602-604; and Über Äther und Uräther, Second Edition, S. Hirzel, Leipzig, (1922); and, the later the edition, the better, Über Relativitätsprinzip. Äther, Gravitation, Third Enlarged Edition, S. Hirzel, Leipzig, (1921);

and A. Einstein, "Bemerkung zu E. Gehrckes Notiz 'Über den Äther'" Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, 20, (1918), p. 261; and "Meine Antwort", Berliner Tageblatt und Handels-Zeitung, (August 27, 1920); English translation in Albert Einstein's Theory of General Relativity, Crown, New York, (1979), pp. 97-99;

and N. T. Roseveare, Mercury's Perihelion from Le Verrier to Einstein, Oxford University Press, (1982), pp. 78, 115, 137-146.

277. D. Hilbert, "Die Grundlagen der Physik, (Erste Mitteilung.) Vorgelegt in der Sitzung vom 20. November 1915.", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen. Mathematisch-physikalische Klasse, (1915), pp. 395-407.

278. A. Einstein, Albert Einstein's Theory of General Relativity, Crown, New York, (1979), p. 98.

279. A. Einstein, Albert Einstein's Theory of General Relativity, Crown, New York, (1979), p. 108.

280. See: D. H. Fischer, Historian's Fallacies, Toward a Logic of Historical Thought, Harper & Row, New York, Evanston, (1970).

281. Emil Cohn stated the principle of relativity and discussed its heuristic value, and addressed Fresnel's coefficient of drag, the relativistic Doppler Effect and aberration. Furthermore, he stated that the æther was superfluous, in agreement with Mill, Ostwald, Bucherer, Poincaré, and (much later) the Einsteins, etc. See: The Collected Papers of Albert Einstein, Vol II, Princeton University Press, (1989), pp. 260-261, and p. 307, note 6.

E. Cohn, "Zur Elektrodynamik bewegter Systeme", Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, Sitzung der physikalisch-mathematischen Classe, (November, 1904), pp. 1294-1303.

E. Cohn, "Zur Elektrodynamik bewegter Systeme. II", Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, Sitzung der physikalisch-mathematischen Classe, (December, 1904), pp. 1404-1416.

E. Cohn, "Ueber die Gleichungen des elektromagnetischen Feldes für bewegte Körper", Annalen der Physik, 7, (1902), pp. 29-56. "(Aus den Nachrichten d. Gesellsch. D. Wissensch. zu Göttingen, 1901, Heft 1; Sitzung vom 11. Mai 1901. Mit einer Aenderung p. 31.)"

E. Cohn, "Über die Gleichungen der Elektrodynamik für bewegte Körper", Archives Néerlandaises des Sciences Exactes et Naturelles, Series 2, Volume 5, (1900), pp. 516-523.

282. G. G. Stokes, "On the Aberration of Light", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 3, Volume 27, (1845), pp. 9-15; reprinted in *Mathematical and Physical Papers*, In Five Volumes, Volume 1, CUP, (1880-1905), p. 134; and "On Fresnel's Theory of the Aberration of Light", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 3, Volume 28, (1846), pp. 76-81.

See also: F. Fresnel, Annales de Chimie et de Physique, Series 2, Volume 9, (1818), pp. 57-66.

G. F. Barker, An Account of Progress in Physics and Chemistry in the Year 1881, from the Smithsonian Report for 1881, Government Printing Office, Washington, (1883), pp. 29-30.

A. A. Michelson and E. W. Morley, "On the Relative Motion of the Earth and the Luminiferous Ether", *American Journal of Science*, Volume 34, (1887), p. 333.

A. A. Michelson, Studies in Optics, University of Chicago Press, Chicago, (1928), pp. 156-166.

Michelson also asserted that there could be no theory of electrodynamics, sans an æther. See: S. Goldberg, Understanding Relativity, Birkhäuser, Boston, Basel, Stuttgart, (1984), p. 259.

284. M. Zackheim, Einstein's Daughter, The Search for Lieserl, Riverhead Books, New York, (1999). This work provides numerous insights into Mileva's and Albert's lives.

G. J. Whitrow, Einstein, the Man and His Achievement, Dover, New York, (1973), pp. 21-22.

285. T. Pappas, Mathematical Scandals, Wide World Publishing/Tetra, San Carlos, California, (1997), pp. 121-129.

D. Trbuhović-Gjurić, Im Schatten Albert Einsteins, Das tragische Leben der Mileva Einstein-Marić, 5th Ed., Verlag Paul Haupt, Bern-Stuttgart-Wien, (1993), p. 97.

A. Pais, Subtle is the Lord, Oxford University Press, New York, (1982), p. 47.

A. Pais, Einstein Lived Here, Oxford University Press, New York, (1994), pp. 14-16. J. Stachel, Ed., The Collected Papers of Albert Einstein, Volume 1, Princeton University Press, (1987), pp. 282 and 330, letters from Albert to Mileva,

"How happy and proud I will be, when we two together have victoriously led our work on relative motion to an end!"

"Wie glücklich und stolz werde ich sein, wenn wir beide zusammen unsere Arbeit über die Relativbewegung siegreich zu Ende geführt haben!"

"As my dear wife, we will want to engage in a quite diligent scientific collaboration, so that we don't become old Philistines, isn't it so?"

"Bis Du mein liebe Weiberl bist, wollen wir recht eifrig zusammen wissenschaftlich arbeiten, daß wir keine alten Philistersleut werden, gellst."

286. A. F. Joffe (also: Ioffe), "In Remembrance of Albert Einstein", Uspekhi fizicheskikh nauk, Volume 57, Number 2, (1955), p. 187.

А. Ф. Иоффе, Памяти Альберта Эйнштейна, Успехи физических наук, 57, 2, (1955), стр. 187.

Special thanks to my wife, Kristina, for her assistance in the translation. I initially found this reference in Pais' work of 1994, and he credited Robert Schulmann with it, but did not give a date. I later discovered that Evan Harris Walker had cited it in "Mileva Marić's Relativistic Role", *Physics Today*, Volume 44, Number 2, (1991), pp. 122-124, at 123.

287. D. S. Danin, Neizbezhnost strannogo mira, Molodaia Gvardiia, Moscow, (1962), p. 57.

Д. Данин, Неизбежность странного мира, Молодая Гвардия, Москва, (1962), стр. 57.

I became aware of this quotation through the work of Margarete Maurer. Her papers include: "Weil nicht sein kann, was nicht sein darf. . . 'DIE ELTERN' ODER 'DER VATER' DER RELATIVITÄTSTHEORIE? Zum Streit über den Anteil von Mileva Marié an der Entstehung der Relativitätstheorie", PCnews, Number 48 (Nummer 48), Volume 11 (Jahrgang 11), Part 3 (Heft 3), Vienna, (June, 1996), pp. 20-27; reprinted from Dokumentation des 18. Bundesweiten Kongresses von Frauen in Naturwissenschaft und Technik vom 28.-31, Birgit Kanngießer, Bremen, (May, 1992), pp. 276-295; an earlier version appeared, co-authored by P. Seibert, Wechselwirkung, Volume 14, Number 54, Aachen, (April, 1992), pp. 50-52 (Part 1); Volume 14, Number 55, (June, 1992), pp. 51-53 (Part 2).

URL: http://rli.at/Seiten/kooperat/maric1.htm

- 288. D. Trbuhović-Gjurić, Im Schatten Albert Einsteins, Das tragische Leben der Mileva Einstein-Marić, Paul Haupt, Bern & Stuttgart, (1983), p. 79.
- 289. A. F. Joffe, Vstrechi s fizikami, moi vospominaniia o zarubezhnykh fizikah, Gosudarstvenoye Izdatelstvo Fiziko-Matematitsheskoi Literatury, Moscow, (1962), pp. 86-87.
- А. Ф. Иоффа, Встречи с физиками, мои воспоминания о зарубежных физиках, Государственное Издательство Физико-Математической Литературы, Москва, (1962), стр. 86-87.

Thanks to my wife Kristina for her assistance in the translation.

290. A. Pais, Einstein Lived Here, Oxford University Press, New York, (1994), p. 15.

See also: A. Fölsing, Albert Einstein, A Biography, Viking, New York, (1997), pp. 315, 375.

291. R. W. Clarck, Einstein, the Life and Times, World Publishing Company, USA, (1971), p. 122.

- 292. A. Reiser (Rudolf Kayser), Albert Einstein, a Biographical Portrait, Albert & Charles Boni, New York, (1930), p. 51.
- 293. D. Brian, Einstein, A Life, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, (1996), pp. 1, 3.
- 294. J. Stachel, Ed., The Collected Papers of Albert Einstein, Volume 1, Princeton University Press, (1987), p. 282, letter from Albert to Mileva.
- J. Stachel, Ed., The Collected Papers of Albert Einstein, Volume 1, Princeton University Press, (1987), p. 330, letter from Albert to Mileva.
- 296. J. Stachel, Creative Couples in the Sciences, Rutgers University Press, New Brunswick, New Jersey, (1996), p. 215; quoting from Albert Einstein and Mileva Marić, The Love Letters, translated by Shawn Smith, edited by Jürgen Renn and Robert Schulmann, Princeton University Press, (1992), p. 39.
- 297. J. Stachel, Creative Couples in the Sciences, Rutgers University Press, New Brunswick, New Jersey, (1996), p. 215; quoting from Albert Einstein and Mileva Marić, The Love Letters, translated by Shawn Smith, edited by Jürgen Renn and Robert Schulmann, Princeton University Press, (1992), pp. 72-73.
- 298. E. H. Walker, "Did Einstein Espouse his Spouses Ideas?", *Physics Today*, Volume 42, Number 2, (February, 1989), pp. 9, 11; and "Mileva Marić's Relativistic Role", *Physics Today*, Volume 44, Number 2, (February, 1991), pp. 122-124.
- D. Brian, Einstein, A Life, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, (1996), p. 33.

See also: The Collected Papers of Alber Einstein, Volume I, Princeton University Press, (1987), pp. 59, 220-221, 230, 235, 258, 267, 273, 292, 300, 318-320.

 T. Pappas, Mathematical Scandals, Wide World Publishing/Tetra, San Carlos, California, p. 127.

- 301. S. Troemel-Ploetz, "Mileva Einstein-Marić: The Woman Who did Einstein's Mathematics", Women's Studies International Forum, Volume 13, Number 5, (1990), pp. 415-432.
- 302. P. Michelmore, Einstein, Profile of the Man, Dodd, Mead, New York, (1962), p. 35.
- 303. A. Fölsing, Albert Einstein, A Biography, Viking, New York, (1997), p. 333.
- 304. P. Halsman, Einstein, A Centenary Volume, Harvard University Press, (1980), p. 27.
- 305. P. Michelmore, Einstein, Profile of the Man, p. 75.
- 306. M. Zackheim, Einstein's Daughter, The Search for Lieserl, Riverhead Books, (1999), p. 100.
- 307. Carl Seelig, Albert Einstein, Europa Verlag, Zürich, (1960), p. 130.
- 308. A. Fölsing, Albert Einstein, A Biography, Viking, New York, (1997), p. 243.
- 309. C. Nordmann, L'illustration, April 15th, 1922.
- 310. Berliner Lokal-Anzeiger, March 23td, 1921.
- E. Gehrcke, Die Massensuggestion der Relativitätstheorie, and Kritik der Relativitätstheorie, Hermann Meusser, Berlin, (1924), p. 74.
- 311. H. Israel, E. Ruckhaber, R. Weinmann, Hundert Autoren gegen Einstein, R. Voigtländer, Leipzig, (1931).
- 312. K. Sugimoto, Translated by B. Harshav, Albert Einstein, A photographic Biography, Schocken Books, New York, (1989), p. 74.
- 313. P. Weyland, "Einsteins Relativitätstheorie-eine wissenschaftliche Massensuggestion", Tägliche Rundschau, (August

- 6, 1920).
- 314. E. Gehrcke, Die Massensuggestion der Relativitätstheorie, and, Kritik der Relativitätstheorie, both from Hermann Meusser, Berlin, (1924).
- 315. Menyhért (Melchior) Palágyi, Neue Theorie des Raumes und der Zeit, Engelmanns, Leipzig, (1901); reprinted in Zur Weltmechanik, Beiträge zur Metaphysik der Physik von Melchior Palágyi, mit einem Geleitwort von Ernst Gehrcke, J. A. Barth, Leipzig, (1925).
- 316. V. Varičak, "Bemerkung zu einem Punkte in der Festrede L. Schlesingers über Johann Bolyai", Jahresbericht der Deutschen Mathematiker-Vereinigung, Volume 16, (1907), pp. 320-321;
- and "Beiträge zur nichteuklidischen Geometrie", Jahresbericht der Deutschen Mathematiker-Vereinigung", Volume 17, (1908), pp. 70-83;
- and Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 11, (1910), pp. 93-96, 287-294, 586-587;
- and "Zum Ehrenfestschen Paradoxon", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 12, (1911), pp. 169-170;
- and Glas, Srpska Kraljevska Akademija, Volume 88, (1911);
- and "Über die nichteuklidische Interpretation der Relativitätstheorie", Jahresbericht der Deutschen Mathematiker-Vereinigung, Volume 21, (1912), pp. 103-127;
- and Rad Jugoslavenska Akademija Znanosti i Umjetnosti, (1914), p. 46; (1915), pp. 86, 101; (1916), p. 79; (1918), p. 1; (1919), p. 100.
- 317. A. Einstein, "Meine Antwort", Berliner Tageblatt und Handels-Zeitung, (August 27, 1920); English translation in Albert Einstein's Theory of General Relativity, Crown, New York, (1979), pp. 97-99.

318. J. Stachel, Ed., The Collected Papers of Albert Einstein, Volume 2, Princeton University Press, (1989), p. 44.

A. Fölsing, Albert Einstein, A Biography, Viking, New York, (1997), p. 108-110.

319. Quoted from the following web site, "Who Invented Relativity?", Reflections on Relativity, 8.8,

URL: http://www.mathpages.com/rr/s8-08/8-08.htm

320. See: W. Wien, "Die Bedeutung Henri Poincaré's für die Physik", Acta Mathematica, Volume 38, (Article dated March 9th, 1915, published 1921!), pp. 289-291; the next article after this one is H. A. Lorentz, "Deux Mémoires de Henri Poincaré sur la Physique Mathématique", Acta Mathematica, Volume 38, (1921!), pp. 293-308; reprinted in Œuvres de Henri Poincaré, Volume XI, Gautier-Villars, (1956), pp. 247-261. Pauli also wrote in 1921. One can only wonder what implications these articles held for Einstein's Nobel Prize, and the fact that it was not awarded for "the theory of relativity".

321. E. Gehrcke, Annalen der Physik, 51, (1916), pp. 119-124.

E. Gehrcke, Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, 20, (1918), pp. 165-169.

E. Gehrcke, Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, 21, (1919), pp. 67-68.

E. Gehrcke, Zeitschrift für technische Physik, 1, (1920), p. 123.

E. Gehrcke, "Die Relativitätstheorie, eine wissenschaftliche Massensuggestion", Lecture Delivered in the Berlin Philharmonic on August 24th, 1920, published in E. Gehrcke, Kritik der Relativitätstheorie, Hermann Meusser, Berlin, (1924), pp. 54-68.

E. Gehrcke, From "Kosmos", Special Edition on the Theory of Relativity, (1921), pp. 296-298.

322. P. Gerber, "Die räumliche und zeitliche Ausbreitung der Gravitation", Zeitschrift für Mathematik und Physik, Leipzig, Volume 43, (1898), pp. 93-104; reprinted Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation, Programmabhandlung des städtischen Realgymnasiums zu Stargard in Pommerania, (1902); reprinted "Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 52, (1917), pp. 415-441;

Einstein stated, "...Gerber, who has given the correct formula for the perihelion motion of Mercury before I did [Albert Einstein's Theory of General Relativity, Crown, New York, (1979), p. 98]."

Seeliger attacked Gehrcke and Gerber: H. v. Seeliger, "Bemerkung zu P. Gerbers Aufsatz 'Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation'", Annalen der Physik, Volume 53, (1917), pp. 31-32; "Weiters Bemerkungen zur 'Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation'", Annalen der Physik, Volume 54, (1917), pp. 38-40; and "Bemerkung zu dem Aufsatze des Herrn Gehrcke 'Über den Äther'", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 20, (1918), p. 262;

For counter-argument, see: E. Gehrcke, "Zur Kritik und Geschichte der neueren Gravitationstheorien", Annalen der Physik, Volume 51, (1916), pp. 119-124; and Annalen der Physik, Volume 52, (1917), p. 415; and "Über den Äther", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 20, (1918), pp. 165-169; and "Zur Diskussion über den Äther", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 21, (1919), pp. 67-68; Gehrcke's articles are reprinted in Kritik der Relativitätstheorie, Hermann Meusser, Berlin, (1924), pp. 40-48;

For further Discussion, see also: S. Oppenheim, "Zur Frage nach der Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation", Annalen der Physik, Volume 53, (1917), pp. 163-168;

and P. Weyland, Tägliche Rundschau, (August 6, 14, and 16, 1920);

and M. v. Laue, "Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der

Gravitation. Bemerkungen zur gleichnamigen Abhandlungen von P. Gerber", Annalen der Physik, Volume 53, (1917), pp. 214-216; and Tägliche Rundschau, (August 11, 1920); and "Historisch-Kritisches über die Perihelbewegung des Mercur", Die Naturwissenschaften, Volume 8, (1920), pp. 735-736;

and P. Lenard's analysis in, "Über die Ablenkung eines Lichtstrahls von seiner geradlinigen Bewegung durch die Attraktion eines Weltkörpers, an welchem er nahe vorbeigeht; von J. Soldner, 1801", Annalen der Physik, Volume 65, (1921), pp. 593-600, 602-604; and Über Äther und Uräther, Second Edition, S. Hirzel, Leipzig, (1922); and, the later the edition, the better, Über Relativitätsprinzip, Äther, Gravitation, Third Enlarged Edition, S. Hirzel, Leipzig, (1921);

and A. Einstein, "Bemerkung zu E. Gehrckes Notiz 'Über den Äther'" Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, 20, (1918), p. 261; and "Meine Antwort", Berliner Tageblatt und Handels-Zeitung, (August 27, 1920); English translation in Albert Einstein's Theory of General Relativity, Crown, New York, (1979), pp. 97-99;

and N. T. Roseveare, Mercury's Perihelion from Le Verrier to Einstein, Oxford University Press, (1982), pp. 78, 115, 137-146.

323. M. Zackheim, Einstein's Daughter, The Search for Lieserl, Riverhead Books, New York, (1999), p. 170.

324. A. Einstein, quoted in *Contemporary Quotations*, Compiled by J. B. Simpson, Thomas Y. Cromwell Company, New York, (1964), p. 300.

325. I. B. Cohen, Einstein, A Centenary Volume, Harvard University Press, (1980), p. 41.

326. From: Desanka Trbuhović-Gjurić, Im Schatten Albert Einsteins, Das tragische Leben der Mileva Einstein-Marić, Paul Haupt, Bern & Stuttgart, (1983), p. 75. Mileva to her father.

327. Michele Zackheim, Einstein's Daughter, the Search for Lieserl, Riverhead Books, Penguin Putnam, New York, (1999), p. 69.

328. A. Einstein, quoted in *The Expanded Quotable Einstein*, collected and edited by A. Calaprice, Princeton University Press, (2000), pp. 306-307.

329. D. Brian, Einstein, A Life, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, (1996), pp. 1-3.

330. Michele Zackheim, Einstein's Daughter, the Search for Lieserl, Riverhead Books, Penguin Putnam, New York, (1999), pp. 78-79.

331. P. Michelmore, Einstein, Profile of the Man, Dodd, Mead, New York, (1962), p. 43.

332. Michele Zackheim, Einstein's Daughter, the Search for Lieserl, Riverhead Books, Penguin Putnam, New York, (1999), p. 244.

333. P. Michelmore, Einstein, Profile of the Man, Dodd, Mead, New York, (1962), p. 22.

334. A. Einstein, Autobiographical Notes, Open Court, La Salle and Chicago, (1979), pp. 48-51.

Abraham Pais, Subtle is the Lord, Oxford University Press, (1982), p. 131.

Stanley Goldberg, Understanding Relativity, (1984) pp. 107-108.

Compare to: Camille Flammarion, Lumen, Dodd, Mead, and Company, New York, (1897).

335. A. Einstein, "Autobiographical Notes", *Albert Einstein, Philosopher-Scientist*, Edited by P. A. Schilpp, The Library of Living Philosophers, Volume VII, The Library of Living Philosophers, Inc., Evanston, Illinois, (1949), p. 53.

336. C. Flammarion, Lumen, Dodd, Mead, and Company, New York, (1897); William Heinemann, London, (1897), pp. 218-220.

- 337. R. J. Boscovich, A Theory of Natural Philosophy, Supplement, Sec. I, Article 16 & Sec. II, Article 21.
- 338. Physics Today, Volume 35, Number 8, (August, 1982), p. 46.
- 339. R. S. Shankland, American Journal of Physics, 31, (1962), p. 47; 41, (1973), p. 895; 43, (1974), p. 464.
- 340. A. Henderson, A. W. Hobbs, J. W. Lasley, Jr., *The Theory of Relativity*, University of North Carolina Press, Oxford University Press, (1924), pp. 5-9.
- H. Reichenbach, *The Philosophy of Space and Time*, Dover, USA, (1958), pp. 195-202.
- 341. The first quote is from the first edition, E. F. Taylor and J. A. Wheeler, *Spacetime Physics*, W. H. Freeman and Company, San Francisco, London, (1966), p. 14; and those which follow after are from E. F. Taylor and J. A. Wheeler, *Spacetime Physics*, Second Edition, W. H. Freeman and Company, New York, (1992), p. 86.
- 342. D. Brian, Einstein, A Life, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, (1996), p. 59.
- 343. D. Brian, Einstein, A Life, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, (1996), pp. 60-61.
- 344. M. White and J. Gribbin, Einstein, A Life in Science, Plume, New York, (1995), p. 123.
- 345. A. Fölsing, Albert Einstein, A Biography, Viking, New York, (1997), p. 418.
- 346. E. E. Slossen, Easy Lessons in Einstein, Harcourt, Brace and Company, New York, (1921), p. vii; and H. A. Lorentz, The Einstein Theory of Relativity, Brentano's, New York, (1920), p. 5.
- 347. R. J. Boscovich, A Theory of Natural Philosophy, The M.I.T. Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, London, (1966), Back Cover.

- 348. D. Brian, Einstein, A Life, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, (1996), p. 61.
- 349. J. Stachel, Ed., The Collected Papers of Albert Einstein, Volume 2, Princeton University Press, (1989), p. 255, Ref. 13.
- 350. M. Born, Physics in my Generation, 2nd rev. ed., Springer-Verlag, New York, (1969), p. 101.
- 351. D. Hilbert, "Die Grundlagen der Physik, (Erste Mitteilung.) Vorgelegt in der Sitzung vom 20. November 1915.", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen. Mathematisch-physikalische Klasse, (1915), pp. 395-407.
- 352. Sir William Dampier, A History of Science and its Relations with Philosophy & Religion, Macmillan, CUP, 1936, p. 427.
- H. Poincaré, "Non-Euclidean Geometry", Nature, Volume 45,
 (February 25, 1892), pp. 404-407;
- and "La Mesure de la Gravité et la Géodésie", Bulletin Astronomique (Paris), Volume 18, (1901), pp. 5-39;
- and Figures d'Équilibre d'une Masse Fluide : Leçons Professées à la Sorbonne en 1900, C. Naud, Paris, (1902);
- and La Science et l'Hypothèse, E. Flammarion, Paris, (1902); translated into English Science and Hypothesis, Dover, New York, (1952), which appears in The Foundations of Science; translated into German with substantial notations by Ferdinand and Lisbeth Lindemann, Wissenschaft und Hypothese, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1904);
- and "Sur la Dynamique de l'Électron", Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, Volume 140, (1905), pp. 1504-1508; reprinted Œuvres, Volume IX, pp. 489-493;
- and "Sur la Dynamique de l'Électron", Rendiconti del Circolo

matimatico di Palermo, Volume 21, (1906, submitted July 23rd, 1905), pp. 129-176; reprinted Œuvres, Volume IX, pp. 494-550; English trans. by H. M. Schwartz, American Journal of Physics, 39, (November, 1971), 1287-1294; 40, (June, 1972), 1282-1287; 40, (September, 1972), 1282-1287;

and "La Dynamique de l'Électron", Revue Générale des Sciences Pures et Appliquées, Volume 19, (1908), pp. 386-402; reprinted Œuvres, Volume IX, pp. 551-586;

and "The Future of Mathematics", Annual Report of the Board of Regents of the Smithsonian Institution Showing the Operations, Expenditures, and Conditions of the Institution for the Year Ending June 30, 1909, (U.S.) Government Printing Office, Washington, (1910), pp. 123-140;

and Science et Méthode, E. Flammarion, Paris, (1908); translated in English as Science and Method, numerous editions; Science and Method is also reprinted in Foundations of Science;

and "La Mécanique Nouvelle", Comptes Rendus des Sessions de l'Association Française pour l'Avancement des Sciences, Conférence de Lille, Paris, (1909), pp. 38-48; La Revue Scientifique, Volume 47, (1909), pp. 170-177; "Die neue Mechanik", Himmel und Erde, Volume 23, (1911), pp. 97-116;

and "Sur la Théorie des Quanta", Journal de Physique, Volume 2, (1911), pp. 5-34;

and "Les Limites de la Loi de Newton", Bulletin Astronomique, Volume 17, (1953), pp. 121-269; from the notes taken by Henri Vergne of Poincaré's Sorbonne lectures (1906-1907);

and Dernières Pensées, E. Flammarion, Paris, (1913); translated in English as Mathematics and Science: Last Essays, Dover, New York, (1963).

354. See: A. P. Youschkevitch and B. A. Rosenfeld, Dictionary of Scientific Biography, "al-Khayyāmī".

355. See: S. H. Nasr, Dictionary of Scientific Biography, "al-Tūsī"; and E. S. Kennedy, The Exact Sciences in Iran Under the Seljuqs and Mongols, p. 664.

356. G. Saccheri, Euclides ab omni naevo vindicatus: Sive conatus geometricus quo stabiliuntur prima ipsa universae geometriae principia, Milan, (1733); English translation by G. B. Halsted, Girolamo Saccheri's Euclides vindicatus, ed. and tr. by George Bruce Halsted, Open Court, Chicago, (1920); Italian translation with notes by G. Boccardini L'Euclide emendato del p. Gerolamo Saccheri, U. Hoepli, Milano, (1904); German translation, of book I, by P. Stäckel and F. Engel, Die Theorie der Parallellinien von Euclid bis auf Gauss: Eine Urkundensammlung zur Vorgeschichte der nichteuklidischen Geometrie, B. G. Teubnet, Leipzig, (1895), pp. 31-136.

See also: D. J. Struik, Dictionary of Scientific Biography, "Saccheri".

357. C. F. Gauss, Theoria motus corporum coelestium in sectionibus conicis solem ambientium, F. Perthes I. H. Besser, Hamburg, (1809); reprinted in Carl Friedrich Gauss Werke, Volume 9, Book 1, First Section, B. G. Teubner, (1906), p. 14;

and "Über ein neues allgemeines Grundgesetz der Mechanik", Carl Friedrich Gauss Werke, Volume 5, B. G. Teubner, pp. 25-28, especially p. 28;

and Carl Friedrich Gauss Werke, Volume 5, B. G. Teubner, p. 629;

and Briefwechel zwischen C.F. Gauss und H.C. Schumacher, Volume 2, C.A.F. Peters, G. Esch, Altona, (1860-1865), pp. 268-271; reprinted in *Briefwechsel mit Schumacher*, G. Olms, Hildesheim, New York, (1975);

and W. Sartorius von Waltershausen, Gauss zum Gedächtnis, S. Hirzel, Leipzig, (1856), p. 17, 81;

and P. Stäckel and F. Engels, "Gauss, die beiden Bolyai und die

nichteuklidische Geometrie", Mathematische Annalen, Volume 49, (1897), pp. 149-206; and F. Engel and P. Stäckel, Die Theorie der Parallelinien von Euklid bis auf Gauß, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1895); and Urkunden zur Geschichte der nichteuklidischen Geometrie, Leipzig, (1899);

and Briefwechsel zwischen Carl Friedrich Gauss und Wolfgang Bolyai. Herausgegeben von Franz Schmidt und Paul Stackel, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1899).

358. J. Bolyai, "Appendix scientiam spatii absolute veram exhibens", János Appendix to his father's, Farkas (Wolfgang) Bolyai's, Tentamen juventutem studiosam in elementa matheseos purae, elementaris ac sublimioris, methodo intuitiva, evidentiaque huic propria, introducendi, cum appendice triplici, In Two Volumes, Marosvásáhely, (1832/1833); English translation by G. B. Halsted, Geometrical Researches on the Theory of Parallels, University of Texas, Austin, (1891), reprinted in R. Bonola, Non-Euclidean geometry; a critical and historical study of its developments. Authorized English translation with additional appendices by H. S. Carslaw. With an introd by Federigo Enriques. With a suppl. containing the George Bruce Halsted translations of The science of absolute space, by John Bolyai, The theory of parallels, by Nicholas Lobachevski, Dover, New York, (1955); Italian translation, Giornale di Matematiche, Volume 6, (1868)

See also: P. Stäckel and F. Engels, "Gauss, die beiden Bolyai und die nichteuklidische Geometrie", Mathematische Annalen, Volume 49, (1897), pp. 149-206;

and Magyar Királyi Ferenc József Tudományegyetem, Libellus post saeculum quam Ioannes Bolyai de Bolya anno MDCCCII A.D. XVIII kalendas ianuarias Claudiopoli natus est ad celebrandam memoriam eius immortalem. Ex consilio Ordinis mathematicorum et naturae scrutatorum Regiae litterarum universitatis hungaricae Francisco-Josephinae claudiopolitanae editus, Claudiopoli [typis Societatis franklinianae budapestinensis], 1902.

359. N. Lobatschewsky, "O nachalakh Geometrii", Kazanskii Viestnik, (July and August, 1829/1830), pp. 571-636;

and "О началахъ Геометріи", Казанскій вѣстникъ, (1829 и 1830 іюль и августъ), стр. 571-636;

and "Noviya nachala Geometrii", Uchenyia Zapiski Imperatorskago Kazanskago Universiteta, (1835), Volume 3; (1836), Volume 2 and 3; (1837), Volume 1.

and "Новыя начала Геометрін", Ученыя записки Казань, (1835), книжка. III; (1836), кн. II и III. (1837), кн. I;

and Lobatschewsky's article in Journal für die reine und angewandte Mathematik (Crelle's Journal), Volume 17, (1837);

and Pangéométrie, Kazan, (1855); German translation, Pangeometrie, W. Engelmann, Leipzig, (1902), Ostwald's Klassiker Nr. 130; Italian translation, Giornale di Matematiche, Volume 5, (1867);

and Geometrische Untersuchungen zur Theorie der Parallelinien (Геометрические исследования по теории параллельных линии), Berlin, (1840); reprinted Mayer & Müller, (1887); English translation by G. B. Halsted, Geometrical Researches on the Theory of Parallels, University of Texas, Austin, (1891), reprinted in R. Bonola, Non-Euclidean geometry; a critical and historical study of its developments. Authorized English translation with additional appendices by H. S. Carslaw. With an introd. by Federigo Enriques. With a suppl. containing the George Bruce Halsted translations of The science of absolute space, by John Bolyai, The theory of parallels, by Nicholas Lobachevski, Dover, New York, (1955);

and Nicolai Ivanovich Lobachevsky; address pronounced at the commemorative meeting of the Imperial University of Kasan, Oct. 22, 1893. Translated from the Russian, with a preface, by G.B. Halsted, Neomonic Series, Number 1, Austin, Texas, (1894).

360. Cf. The Correlation and Conservation of Forces, D. Appleton, New York, (1867), pp. 4, 76-82; W. B. Taylor, "Kinetic Theories of Gravitation", Annual Report of the Board of Regents of the Smithsonian Institution, U. S. Government Printing Office, Washington, (1877), pp. 237-240.

361. B. Riemann, Schwere, Elektricität und Magnetismus, nach den Vorlesungen von B. Riemann, C. Rumpler, Hannover, (1875), p. 326;

and Ueber die Hypothesen, welche der Geometrie zu Grunde liegen, Dieterichschen Buchhandlung, Göttingen, (1867); "Ueber die Hypothesen, welche der Geometrie zu Grunde liegen", Abhandlungen der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften in Göttingen, Volume 13, (1868), pp. 133-150; English translation by W. K. Clifford, "On the Hypotheses which Lie at the Bases of Geometry", Nature, Volume 8, Number 183, (May 1, 1873), pp. 14-17; Volume 8, Number 184, (May 8, 1873), pp. 36-37;

and "Ein Beitrag zur Elektrodynamik", Bernhard Riemann's gesammelte mathematische Werke und wissenschaftlicher Nachlass, (1867), p. 270; and Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 131, (1867), p. 237; Bernhard Riemann's Gesammelte mathematische Werke und wissenschaftlicher Nachlass, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1892), p. 288, see also p. 526; reprinted by Dover, New York, (1953); Philosophical Magazine, 34, (1867), p. 368;

and "Neue mathematische Principien der Naturphilosophie", Bernhard Riemann's Gesammelte mathematische Werke und wissenschaftlicher Nachlass, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1892), pp. 528-532; reprinted by Dover, New York, (1953). For an analysis of this paper and additional relevant references, see: D. Laugwitz, Bernhard Riemann 1826-1866 Turning Points in the Conception of Mathematics, Birkhäuser, Boston, Basel, Berlin, (1999), pp. 281-287.

362. H. L. F. v. Helmholtz, Über die Erhaltung der Kraft, G. Reimer, Berlin, (1847); English translation by J. Tyndall, Scientific Memoirs. Natural Philosophy, Volume 7, (1853), pp. 114-162; and "On the Interaction of Natural Forces", The Correlation and Conservation of

Forces, D. Appleton, New York, (1867), pp. 211-347;

and Journal für die reine und ungewandte Mathematik, Volume 75, (1873), p. 35; Philsophical Magazine, 44, (1872), p. 530;

and "Ueber die Thatsachen die der Geometrie zu liegen", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften und der Georg-Augusts-Universität zu Göttingen, Volume 9, (June 3, 1868), pp. 193-221;

and "Ueber die Bewegungsgleichungen der Elektricität für ruhende leitende Körper", Journal für die reine und angewandte Mathematik (Crelle's Journal), Volume 72, (1870), pp. 57-129;

and "Ueber die theorie der Elektrodynamik", Journal für die reine und angewandte Mathematik, Volume 72, pp. 57-129; English translation Philosophical Magazine, Volume 44, (1872), pp. 530-537;

and "On the Origin and Meaning of Geometrical Axioms", Mind, Volume 1, (1876), p. 306; "Über den Ursprung und die Bedeutung der geometrischen Axiome", Vorträge und Reden, Volume 2, F. Vieweg u. Sohn, Braunschweig, (1884), pp. 1-34.

363. E. Beltrami, "Teoria Fondamentali Degli Spazii di Curvatura Constante", *Annali di Matematica*, Series 2, Volume 2, (1868), pp. 232-255; reprinted in *Opere*, Volume 1, pp. 406-429;

and "Saggio di Interpretazione della Geometria non-Euclidea", Giornale di Matematiche, Volume 6, (1868), pp. 284-312; reprinted in Opere, Volume 1, pp. 374-405; French translation, Annales Scientifiques de l'École Normale Supérieure, Volume 6, (1869), pp. 251-288;

and "Un precursore italiano di Legendre e di Lobatschewsky", Atti della Reale Accademia dei Lincei. Rendiconti, Classe di Scienze Fisiche, Matematiche e Naturali, Series 4, Volume 5, Number 1, (1889), pp. 441-448; reprinted in Opere, Volume Volume 4, pp. 348-355;

and Opere Matematiche di Eugenio Beltrami, In Four Volumes, U. Hoepli, Milan, (1902-1920); especially: Volume 2, pp. 394-409; Volume 3, pp.383-407; Volume 4, pp. 356-361.

364. S. Lie, *Theorie der Transformationsgruppen*, Volume 3, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1893).

365. J. Locke, An Essay Concerning Human Understanding.

366. G. Berkeley, The Principles of Human Knowledge; and Three Dialogues between Hylas and Philonous.

367. D. Hume, An Enquiry Concerning Human Understanding; and A Treatise of Human Nature.

See also: P. F. Linke, D. Humes Lehre vom Wissen; ein Beitrag zur Relationstheorie im Anschluß an Locke und Hume, W. Engelmann, Leipzig, (1901).

See also: A. Einstein, "Ernst Mach", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 17, Number 7, (April 1, 1916), p. 102.

368. I. Kant, "Der Hauptfrage", Prolegomena zu einer jeden künftigen Metaphysik, die als Wissenschaft wird auftreten können, Part 2, Section 38, Johann Friedrich Hartknoch, Riga, (1783); English translation in Prolegomena to Any Future Metaphysics, Part 2, Section 38, Bobbs-Merrill, Indianapolis, New York, (1950), pp. 67-69; and "Regions in Space" and "Inaugural Dissertation", §§ 14, 15", Kant's Inaugural Dissertation and Early Writings on Space, Open Court, Chicago, (1929).

R. J. Boscovich, A Theory of Natural Philosophy, The M.I.T.
 Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, London, (1966);

and The Catholic Encyclopedia lists: The Sunspots (1736); The Transit of Mercury (1737); The Aurora Borealis (1738); The Application of the Telescope in Astronomical Studies (1739); The Figure of the Earth (1739); The Motion of the heavenly Bodies in an unresisting Medium (1740); The Various Effects of Gravity (1741); The Aberration of the Fixed Stars (1742).

A fine article, with bibliography, is found in Dictionary of Scientific Biography, "BOŠKOVIĆ, RUDJER J.", by Zeljko Marković.

370. J. v. Soldner, [Berliner] Astronomisches Jarhbuch für das Jahr 1804, p. 161-172; reprinted in P. Lenard's analysis in, "Über die Ablenkung eines Lichtstrahls von seiner geradlinigen Bewegung durch die Attraktion eines Weltkörpers, an welchem er nahe vorbeigeht; von J. Soldner, 1801", Annalen der Physik, Volume 65, (1921), Annalen der Physik, Volume 65, (1921), Annalen der Physik, Volume 65, (1921), pp. 593-604, at 600-602. Soldner followed up Newton's query in the Opticks, "QUERY 1. Do not bodies act upon light at a distance, and by their action bend its rays; and is not this action (cæteris paribus) strongest at the least distance?" Einstein parroted Soldner, then later fudged the equations.

371. P. S. Laplace, Mécanique Céleste (Traité de Mécanique Céleste).

372. F. Reich, "Fallversuch über die Umdrehung der Erde", Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 29, (1833), pp. 494-501.

373. F. W. Bessel, "Untersuchungen des Teiles planetarischer Störungen, welche aus der Bewegung der Sonne entstehen", Abhandlungen der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1824); reprinted Abhandlungen von Friedrich Wilhelm Bessel, In Three Volumes, Volume 1,W. Engelmann, Leipzig, (1875-1876), p. 84; "Bemerkungen über die Mögliche Unzulänglichkeit der die Anziehung allein berücksichtigenden Theorie der Kometen", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 13, (1840), col. 345; reprinted Abhandlungen von Friedrich Wilhelm Bessel, In Three Volumes, Volume 1,W. Engelmann, Leipzig, (1875-1876), p. 80;

and "Bestimmung der Achsen des elliptischen Rotationssphäroids, welches den vorhandenen Messungen von Meridianbögen der Erde am meisten entspricht", *Astronomische Nachrichten*, Volume 14, (1837), col. 333; Volume 19, (1841), col. 97.

Jammer, Concepts of Mass, cites: "Studies on the Length of the

Seconds Pendulum". Abhandlungen der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1824);

and "Experiments on the Force with which the Earth Attracts Different Kinds of Bodies", Abhandlungen der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1830);

and Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 25, (1832), pp. 1-14; and Volume 26, (1833), pp. 401-411;

and Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 10, (1833), cols. 97-108.

- 374. J. F. Herbart, Joh. Fr. Herbart's samtliche Werke in chronologischer Reihenfolge / hrsg. von Karl Kehrbach und Otto Flugel, In 19 Volumes, H. Beyer, Langensalza (1887-1912).
- 375. G. T. Fechner, Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 64, (185), p. 337; and Elemente der Psychophysik, Breitkopf und Hartel, Leipzig, (1860); and Revision der hauptpuncte der Psychophysik, Bretikopf und Hartel, Leipzig, (1882); and Ueber die physikalische und philosophische Atomenlehre, Second, Enlarged, Edition, H. Mendelssohn, Leipzig, (1864).
- 376. J. Hundhausen, Zum Begriff der Kraft. Vortrag, gehalten am 8. Februar 1887 im Wissenschaftlichen Verein zu Hamm von Dr. Johannes Hundhausen, Griebsch & Müller, Hamm, (1887).
- 377. See: C. K. Ogden, Bentham's Theory of Fictions, K. Paul, Trench, Trubner & Co. Ltd., (1932).
- 378. H. Vaihinger, Die Philosophie des Als Ob. System der theoretischen, praktischen und religiosen Fiktionen der Menschheit auf Grund eines idealistichen Positivismus. Mit einem Anhang über Kant und Nietzsche, Reuther & Reichard, Berlin, (1911); English translation by C. K. Ogden, The Philosophy of 'As If', Harcourt, Brace & Company, Inc., New York, (1925); reprinted Routledge & K. Paul, London, (1965).
- 379. F. W. H. A. v. Humboldt, Ansichten der Natur, mit wissenschaftlichen Erläuterungen, J. G. Cotta, Tübingen, (1808),

English translation by Mrs. Sabine, Aspects of nature, in different lands and different climates; with scientific elucidations, Longman, Brown, Green, and Longmans, London, (1849 reprinted manytimes);

and Kosmos: Entwurfeiner physischen Weltbeschreibung, Stuttgart, Tübingen, J. G. Cotta, (1845-1862), Philadelphia, Tübingen, (1844); English translation: Cosmos: a sketch of a physical description of the universe / by Alexander von Humboldt. Translated under the superintendence of Lieut.-Col. Edward Sabine, Four Volumes in Five, Longman, Brown, Green and Longmans, London, (1846 reprinted many times).

380 J. R. Mayer, Annalen der Chemie und Pharmacie, Volume 42, (1842), p. 233; English translation, "Remarks on the Forces of Inorganic Nature", Philosophical Magazine, Series 4, Volume 24, (1862), p. 371; and "Remarks on the Forces of Inorganic Nature", "On Celestial Dynamics", and "Remarks on the Mechanical Equivalent of Heat", The Correlation and Conservation of Forces, D. Appleton, New York, (1867), pp. 251-355; and Die Mechanik der Wärme in gesammelten Schriften, J. G. Cotta, Stuttgart, (1893); and Kleinere Schriften und Briefe von Robert Mayer, J. G. Cotta, Stuttgart, (1893); and "Die Mechanik der Wärme", Ostwald's Klassiker Nr. 180, W. Engelmann, Leipzig, (1911).

381. F. de Boucheporn, Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, Volume 29, (July 30, 1849), pp. 108-112; and Principe Générale de la Philosopie Naturelle, Paris, (1853).

382. E. A. Poe, Eureka, (1848).

383. U. J. J. Le Verrier, "Nouvelles Recherches sur les Mouvement des Planètes", Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, Volume 29, (1849), pp. 1-3;

and Annales de l'Observatoire Impérial de Paris, Volume 1, (1855), p. 189;

"Théorie du Mouvement de Mercure". Annales de

l'Observatoire Impérial de Paris, Volume 5, (1859), pp. 1-196;

and "Lettre de M. Le Verrier à M. Faye sur la Théorie de Mercure et sur le Mouvement du Périhélie de cette Planète, Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, Volume 59, (1859), pp. 379-383;

and "Théorie du Mouvement de Venus", Annales de l'Observatoire Impérial de Paris. Mémoires, Volume 6, (1860);

and Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, Volume 21, (1861), p. 193; and Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, Volume 75, (1872), p. 165;

and "Examen des Observations q'on à Diverse Époques comme Pouvent Appartenir aux Passages d'une Planète intra-Mercurielle devant le Disque du Soleil", Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, Volume 83, (1876), pp. 583-589, 621-624, 647-650, 719-723.

A bibliography of Le Verrier's works is found in Centenaire de la naissance de U. J. J. Le Verrier, Paris, (1911).

384. A. Hall, "A Suggestion in the Theory of Mercury", *The Astronomical Journal*, Volume 14, (1894), pp. 49-51; and "Note on the Masses of Mercury, Venus and Earth", *The Astronomical Journal*, Volume 24, (1905), p. 164.

385. H. Bruns, Die Figur der Erde. Ein Beitrag zur europäischen Gradmessung, P. Stankiewicz, Berlin, (1878); Veröffentlichung des Königlich preuszischen geodätischen Institutes.

386. F. Tisserand, "Sur le Mouvement des Planètes Autour du Soleil d'après la Loi Électrodynamique de Weber", Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, Volume 75, (1872), pp. 760-763;

and "Notice sur les Planètes intra-Mercurielles", Annuaire pour l'an / présente au Roi par le Bureau des Longitudes, (1882), pp. 729-772;

and "Résumé des Tentatives Faites Jusqu'ici pour Déterminer la Parallaxe du Soliel", Annales de l'Observatoire Nationale de Paris. Mémoires, Volume 16, (1882);

and "Sur le Mouvement des Planètes, en Supposant l'Attraction Représentée par l'une des Lois Électrodynamiques de Gauss ou de Weber", Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, Volume 110, (1890), pp. 313-315;

"Note sur l'État Actuel de la Théorie de la Lune", Bulletin Astronomique (Paris), Volume 8, (1891);

and Mécanique Céleste (Traité de Mécanique Céleste), Volume 4, Chapter 28, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, (1896);

and "Confrontation des Observations avec la Théorie de la Gravitation", Mécanique Céleste (Traité de Mécanique Céleste), Volume 4, Chapter 29, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, (1896), especially p. 529.

387. A. Souchon, Traité d'Astronomie Pratique, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, (1883); and Traité d'Astronomie Théorique Contenant l'Exposition du Calcul des Perturbations Planétaires et Lunaires et son Application à l'Explication et à la Formation des Tables Astronomiques avec une Introd. Historique et de Nombreu Exemples Numériques, G. Carré, Paris, (1891); S. Oppenheim notes: See especially the historic introduction.

388. B. Erdmann, Die Axiome der Geometrie, eine philosophische Untersuchung der Riemann-Helmholtz'schen Raumtheorie, L. Voss, Leipzig, (1877).

389. E. B. Christoffel, "Über die Transformation der homogenen Differentialausdrücke zweiten Grades", Journal für reine und angewandte Mathematik, Volume 70, (1869), pp. 46-70, 241-245.

390. J. J. Waterston, "On the Integral of Gravitation, and its Consequences with Reference to the Measure and Transfer, or Communication of Force", *Philosophical Magazine*, Volume 15,

(May, 1858), p. 329.

391. E. S. Chapin, The Correlation and Conservation of Gravitation and Heat, and Some Effects of these Forces on the Solar System, Lewis J. Powers & Brother, Springfield, Massachusetts, (1867).

392. G. Salmon, A Treatise on Conic Sections, Multiple Editions; and A Treatise on the Higher Plane Curves, Intended as a Sequel to A Treatise on Conic Sections.

393. W. Fiedler, Die Elemente der neueren Geometrie und der Algebra der binären Formen, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1862); and Vierteljahrsschrift der Naturforschenden Gesellschaft in Zürich, Volume 15, (1871), p. 2; and Analytische Geometrie der Kegelschnitte mit besonderer Berücksichtigung der neuren Methoden nach George Salmon, B.G. Teubner, Leipzig, 1888-98.

394. W. Lehmann, "Anfrage an die praktischen Astronomen wegen eines theoretischen Bedenkens die Beobachtungen Saturns gegen die Zeit seiner Quadrature betreffend", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 55, (1861), cols. 1, 65; and "Exakte Berechnung der Gauß'schen Konstanten k", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 56, (1862), col. 321.

395. G. Holzmüller, "Über die Anwendung der Jacobi-Hamilton'schen Princips und das Weber'sche Gesetz", Zeitschrift für Mathematik und Physik, Volume 15, (1870), pp. 69-91; and Elementare kosmische Betrachtungen über das Sonnensystem und Wiederlegung der von Kant und Laplace aufgestellten Hypothesen über dessen Entstehungsgeschichte, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1906).

396. C. Neumann, Das Dirichlet'sche Princip in seiner Anwendung auf die Riemann'schen Flächen, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1865);

and Principien der Elektrodynamik, Bonn University Festschrift, (1868);

and "Resultate einer Untersuchung über die Principien der Elektrodynamik", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften und der Georg-Augusts-Universität zu Göttingen (1868), pp. 223-235;

and Discussion with Clausius, Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 135, (1868);

and Ueber die Principien der Galilei-Newton'schen Theorie, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1870); "The Principles of the Galilean-Newtonian Theory", Science in Context, Volume 6, (1993), pp. 355-368;

and Abhandlungen der mathematisch-physische Classe der Königlich Sächsischen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Leipzig, Volume 26, (1874), p. 97;

and "Über die den Kräften elektrodynamischen Ursprungs zuzuschreibenden Elementargesetze", Abhandlungen der mathematisch-physische Classe der Königlich Sächsischen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Leipzig, Volume 10, (1874), pp. 417-524;

and Untersuchungen über das logarithmische und Newton'sche Potential, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1877);

and "Ausdehnung der Kepler'schen Gesetze auf den Fall, dass die Bewegung auf einer Kugelfläche stattfindet", Berichte über die Verhandlungen der Königlich Sächsischen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Leipzig, Volume 38, (1886), pp. 1-2;

and Allgemeine Untersuchungen über das Newton'sche Princip der Fernwirkungen mit besonderer Rücksicht auf die elektrischen Wirkungen, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1896), Pauli cites p. 1, in particular; Oppenheim cites Chapter 8.

Whittaker cites: Festschrift Ludwig Boltzmann gewidmet zum sechzigsten geburtstage 20. februar 1904. Mit einem Portrait, 101 Abbildungen im Text und 2 Tafeln, J. A. Barth, Leipzig, (1904), p. 252;

and Mach cites: Berichte über die Verhandlungen der Königlich

Sächsischen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Leipzig, 1910, III.

397. G. Green, "Mathematical Investigations Concerning the Laws of the Equilibrium of Fluids, Analogous to the Electric Fluid", Transactions of the Cambridge Philosophical Society, (1833); Mathematical Papers of the Late George Green, Macmillan, London, (1871), p. 123.

398. J. Bertrand, , Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, Volume 77, (1873), p. 846.

399. W. Scheibner, "Ueber die formale Bedeutung des Hamilton'schen Princips und das Weber'sche Gesetz", Berichte über die Verhandlungen der Königlich Sächsischen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Leipzig, Volume 49, (1897), pp. 578-607.

400. J. K. F. Zöllner, Die transcendentale Physik und die sogenannte Philosophie; eine deutsche Antwort auf eine "sogenannte wissenschaftliche Frage", L. Staackmann, Leipzig, (1879): Transcendental Physics: An Account of Experimental Investigations from the Scientific Treatises of Johann Carl Friedrich Zollner, W. H. Harrison, London, (1880), and Colby & Rich, Boston, (1881): and Arno Press, New York, (1976); and Über die Natur der Cometen. Beitrage zur Geschichte und Theorie der Erkenntnis, W. Engelmann, Leipzig, (1872); and Principien einer elektrodynamischen Theorie der Materie, Leipzig, (1876); and Wissenschaftliche Abhandlungen, L. Staackmann, Leipzig, (1878-1881); and Erklärung der universellen Gravitation aus den statischen Wirkungen der Elektricität und die allgemeine Bedeutung des Weber'schen Gesetzes, von Friedrich Zöllner... Mit Beiträgen von Wilhelm Weber nebst einem vollständigen Abdruck der Originalabhandlung: Sur les Forces qui Régissent la Constitution Intérieure des Corps Aperçu pour Servir à la Détermination de la Cause et des Lois de l'Action Moléculaire, par O.F. Mossotti. Mit dem Bildnisse Newton's in Stahlstich, L. Staackmann, Leipzig, (1882); and Kepler und die unsichtbare Welt: eine Hieroglyphe, L. Staackmann, Leipzig, (1882).

401. R. Clausius, "Ueber die mittlere Länge der Wege, welche bei der Molecularbewegung gasförmiger Körper von den einzelnen Molecülen zurückgelegt werden; nebst einigen anderen Bemerkungen über die mechanische Wärmetheorie", Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 15, (1858), pp. 239-258; and "Ueber die Concentration von Wärme- Lichstrahlen und die Gränzen ihrer Wirkung", Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 1, (1864), pp. 1-44; and "Über ein neues Grundgesetz der Elektrodynamik", Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 150, (1875), p. 657; and "Ableitung eines neuen elektrodynamisches Grundgesetzes", Journal für die reine und ungewandte Mathematik, Volume 82, (1877), pp. 85-130; Philosophical Magazine, Volume 10, (1880), p. 255; and Die mechanische Wärmetheorie, Multiple Editions.

402. A. E. H. Love, Nature, Volume 51, (1894), pp. 105, 153, 198; see also: p. 271.

403. J. B. Stallo, General Principles of the Philosophy of Nature, WM. Crosby and H. P. Nichols, Boston, (1848); "The Concepts and Theories of Modern Physics", Volume 38, International Scientific Series, D. A. Appleton and Company, New York, (1881); reprinted Volume 42, The International Scientific Series, Kegan Paul, Trench & Co., London, (1882); Edited by P. W. Bridgman, The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, (1960); Reden, Abhandlungen und Briefe, E. Steiger & Co., New York, (1893).

404. J. G. MacGregor, "On the Fundamental Hypotheses of Abstract Dynamics", Proceedings and Transactions of the Royal Society of Canada, Volume 10, (1892), p. 3; and "On the Hypotheses of Dynamics", Philosophical Magazine, Series 5, Volume 36, (1893), pp. 233-264; "On the Definition of Work Done", Proceedings and Transactions of the Nova Scotian Institute of Science, Series 2, Volume 1, pp. 460-464.

405. W. K. Clifford, "On the Aims and Instruments of Scientific Thought", Macmillan's Magazine, Volume 27, (October, 1872), pp. 499-512; reprinted in Lectures and Essays, Volume 1, pp. 124-157 and "The Unreasonable", Nature, Volume 7, (February 13, 1873), p. 282;

and B. Riemann, translated by W. K. Clifford, "On the Hypotheses which Lie at the Bases of Geometry", *Nature*, Volume 8, Number 183, (May 1, 1873), pp. 14-17; Volume 8, Number 184, (May 8, 1873), pp. 36-37;

and "Preliminary Sketch of Biquaternions", Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society, (1873), pp. 381-395; reprinted in Mathematical Papers, pp. 181-200;

and W. K. Clifford, The Philosophy of the Pure Sciences, In Four Parts: Part I, "Statement of the Question"; Part II, "Knowledge and Feeling"; Part III, "The Postulates of the Science of Space", The Contemporary Review, Volume 25, (1874), pp. 360-376—reprinted in Lectures and Essays, Volume 1, pp.295-323—reprinted in The World of Mathematics, Volume 1, Simon & Schuster, New York, (1956), pp. 552-567; Part IV, "The Universal Statements of Arithmetic"; all four Parts reprinted in The Humboldt Library, Number 86, (December, 1886), pp. 12-49 [208-245];

and "The Unseen Universe", Fortnightly Review, (January/June 1875), Volume 17, pp. 776-793; reprinted in The Humboldt Library, Number 86, (December, 1886), pp. 1-12 [197-208]; reprinted in Lectures and Essays, Volume 1, pp.228-253; which article is a review of B. Stewart and P. G. Tait's The Unseen Universe: Or, Physical Speculations on a Future State, Macmillan, New York, (1875).

W. K. Clifford, "On the Space Theory of Matter", Transactions of the Cambridge Philosophical Society, (1866/1876), Volume 2, 157-158; reprinted in The World of Mathematics, Volume 1, Simon & Schuster, New York, (1956), pp. 568-569; reprinted in Clifford's Mathematical Papers, pp. 21-22;

"Applications of Grassmann's Extensive Algebra", American Journal of Mathematics, Volume 1, (1878), pp. 350-358; reprinted

in Mathematical Papers, pp. 266-276;

and Elements of Dynamic; an Introduction to the Study of Motion and Rest in Solid and Fluid Bodies, Macmillan, London, (1878); Elements of Dynamic, Book IV and Appendix, Macmillan, London, (1878);

and "On the Classification of Loci", Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London A, Volume 169, (1878, part 2), pp. 663-681; reprinted in Mathematical Papers, pp. 305-331;

and "On the Nature of Things-in-Themselves", Mind, Volume 3, (1878), pp. 57-67; reprinted in Lectures and Essays, Volume 2, pp.71-88;

and Lectures and Essays, In Two Volumes, Macmillan, London, (1879);

and "Energy and Force", Nature, Volume 22, (June 10, 1880), pp. 122-124;

and Mathematical Papers, Macmillan, London, (1882);

and The Common Sense of the Exact Sciences, Edited by K. Pearson, D. Appleton, New York, Macmillan, London, (1885), especially Chapter 4, "Position", Section 1, "All Position is Relative"; and Section 19, "On the Bending of Space";

406. H. Servus, Inaugural Dissertation, Halle, (1885).

407. O. Liman, Inaugural Dissertation, Halle, (1886).

408. M. Lévy, "Sur l'Application des Lois Électrodynamiques au Mouvement des Planètes", Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, Volume 110, (1890), pp. 545-551; and "Sur les Diverse Théories de l'Électricité", Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, Volume 110, (1890), pp. 740-742; and "Observations sur le Principe des Aires", Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie

des sciences, Volume 119, (1894), pp. 718-721.

- 409. J. Epstein, Die logischen Prinzipien der Zeitmessung, Berlin, Leipzig, (1887).
- 410. R. Beez, "Ueber Mannigfaltigkeiten höherer Ordnung", Mathematische Annalen, Volume 7, p. 392; and "Ueber conforme Abbildung von Mannigfaltigkeiten höherer Ordnung", Zeitschrift für Mathematik und Physik, Volume 20, Part 4, Leipzig, (1875), pp. 253-270; Volume 21, Part 6, (1876), pp. 373-401; and "Ueber die Euklidische und nicht-Euklidische Geometrie", Gymnasialprogramm, Nr. 514, Moritz Wieprecht, Plauen, (1888).
- 411. A. Cayley, "A Sixth Memoir upon Quantics", Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, Volume 149, (1859); reprinted in Collected Papers, Volume 2; and Presidential Address Report of the British Association for the Advancement of Science, Southport Meeting, London, (1883), pp. 3-37; and The Collected Mathematical Papers of Arthur Cayley, Volume 11, CUP, (1889-1897), pp. 429-459.
- 412. J. de Tilly, "Etudes de Méchanique Abstraite", Mémoires Publiés par l'Académie Royale de Belgique, Volume 21, (1868); and "Essai sur les Principes Fondamentaux de la Géometrie et de la Mécanique", Bordeaux, (1878); and "Sur les Notions de Force, d'Accélération et d'Énergie en Mécanique, Bulletins de l'Académie Royale des Sciences, des lettres et des beaux-arts de Belgique (Bruxelles), Series 3, Volume 16, (1887), pp. 975-1020; and "Sur Divers Points de la Philosophie des Sciences Mathématiques", Classe des sciences de l'Académie Royale de Belgique, (1901).
- 413. F. A. Lindemann, "Über unendlich kleine Bewegungen und Kraftsysteme bei allgemeiner Maßbestimmung", Inaugural Dissertation, (1873), Mathematische Annalen, Volume 7;
- and "Über Molekular-Physik. Versuch einer einheitlichen dynamischen Behandlung der physikalische und chemischen Kraften", Schriften der Physikalisch-ökonomischen Gesellschaft zu Königsberg, Volume 29, (1888), pp. 31-81;

- and the notations by Ferdinand and Lisbeth Lindemann in their German translation, Wissenschaft und Hypothese, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1904), of Poincaré's La Science et l'Hypothèse;
- and F. A. Lindemann and A. Magnus, "Über die Abhängigkeit der spezifischen Wärme fester Körper von der Temperatur", Zeitschrift für Elektrochemie und angewandte physikalische Chemie, Volume 16, (1910), pp. 269-279;
- and F. A. Lindemann, "Über die Berechnung molekularer Eigenfrequenzen", *Physikalische Zeitschrift*, Volume 11, (1910), pp. 609-612;
- and F. A. Lindemann and W. Nernst, "Spezifische Wärme und Quantentheorie", Zeitschrift für Elektrochemie und angewandte physikalische Chemie, Volume 17, (1911), pp. 817-827;
- and F. A. Lindemann and W. Nernst, "Untersuchungen über die spezifische Wärme bei tiefen Temperaturen", Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1911), pp. 494-501;
- and Nature, Volume 95, (1915), pp. 203-204, 372;
- and F. A. Lindemann, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, Volume 77, (1916), p. 140;
- and F. A. Lindemann, The Observatory, Volume 41,(1918), p. 323;
- and F. A. Lindmann and C. V. Burton, Nature, Volume 98, (1917), p. 349.
- 414. E. Schering, "Erweiterung des Gaussschen Fundamentalsatzes für Dreiecke in stetig gekrümmten Flächen", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften und der Georg-Augusts-Universität zu Göttingen, (1868), pp. 389-391;
- and "Die Schwerkraft im Gaussischen Raum", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften und der Georg-

Augusts-Universität zu Göttingen, (July 13, 1870), pp. 311-321;

and "Linien, Flächen und höhere Gebilde in mehrfach ausgedehnten Gausschen und Riemannschen Räumen", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften und der Georg-Augusts-Universität zu Göttingen, (1873), pp. 13-21;

and "Die Schwerkraft in mehrfach ausgedehnten Gaussischen und Riemannschen Räumen", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften und der Georg-Augusts-Universität zu Göttingen, (February 26, 1873), pp. 149-159, 177;

and "Hamilton-Jacobische Theorie für Kräfte, deren Maass von der Bewegung der Körper anhängt", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften und der Georg-Augusts-Universität zu Göttingen, (1873), pp. 744-753;

and "Hamilton-Jacobsche Theorie für Kräfte, deren Maass von der Bewegung der Körper abhängt", Abhandlungen der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften in Göttingen, Mathematische Classe, Volume 18, (1873), pp. 3-54;

and "Verallgemeinerung der Poisson- Jacobischen Störungsformeln", Abhandlungen der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften in Göttingen, Mathematische Classe, Volume 19, (1874), pp. 3-38.

415. H. Cox, "Homogeneous Coordinates in Imaginary Geometry and their Applications to Systems of Forces", Quarterly Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics, Volume 18, (1881), pp. 178-215; and "On the Application of Grassmann's Ausdehnungslehre to Different Kinds of Uniform Space", Transactions of the Cambridge Philosophical Society, Volume 13, (1882, part 2), pp. 69-143.

416. F. Klein, "Ueber die sogenannte Nicht-Euklidische Geometrie", Mathematische Annalen, Volume 4, (1871), p. 573-611, Volume 6 (1873), Volume 7, (1874);

"Ueber die sogenannte Nicht-Euklidische Geometrie", Nachrichten

von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften und der Georg-Augusts-Universität zu Göttingen, (1871), pp. 419-433.

and "Zur nichteuklidische Geometrie", Mathematische Annalen, Volume 37, (1890), pp. 544-572;

and Nicht-Euklidische Geometrie, Göttingen, Second Printing, (1893), Part IIB, p. 206;

and The Evanston colloquium: lectures on mathematics delivered from Aug. 28 to Sept. 9, 1893 before members of the Congress of mathematics held in connection with the World's fair in Chicago at Northwestern university, Evanston, Ill., by Felix Klein. Reported by Alexander Ziwet. Pub. for H.S. White and A. Ziwet, Macmillan, New York, London, (1894), pp. 89-90;

and "Über die geometrischen Grundlagen der Lorentzgruppe", Jahresbericht der Deutschen Mathematiker-Vereinigung, Volume 19, (1910), pp. 281-300;

and Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 12, (1911), p. 17;

and Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen. Mathematisch-physikalische Klasse, (1918), pp. 414-423.

417. R. S. Heath, "On the Dynamics of a Rigid Body in Elliptic Space", *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, Volume 175, (1884), pp. 281-324.

418. A. Buchheim, "A Memoir on Biquaternions", American Journal of Mathematics, Volume 7, (1884), pp. 293-326; and "On Clifford's Theory of Graphs", Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society, Volume 17, (November 12, 1885), pp. 80-106; and "On the Theory of Screws in Elliptic Space", Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society, Volume 15, (January 10, 1884), pp. 83-98; Volume 16, (November 13, 1884), pp. 15-27; Volume 17, (June 10, 1886), pp. 240-254; Volume 18, (November 11, 1886), pp. 88-96.

- 419. W. K. J. Killing, "Die Mechanik in den nicht-Euklidischen Raumformen", Journal für die reine und angewandte Mathematik (Crelle's Journal), Volume 98, (1884), pp. 1-48; Die nichteuklidischen Raumformen in analytischer Behandlung, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1885); and "Clifford-Klein'sche Raumformen", Mathematische Annalen, Volume 39, (1891), pp. 257-278.
- 420. de Francesco, "Alcuni Problemi di Meccanica in uno Spazio di Curvature Constante", Atti della Reale Accademia delle Scienze Fisiche e Mathematiche di Napoli, Series 2, Volume 10, (1900).
- 421. G. L. Le Sage, read by P. Prevost to the Berlin Academy in 1782, "Lucrèce Neutonien", Nouveaux Mémoires de l'Académie royale des Sciences et Belles-Lettres de Berlin, Year 1782, (Berlin, 1784), pp. 404-427; reprinted in Notice de la Vie et des Écrits de George-Louis Le Sage, Chez J. J. Paschoud, Genève, (1805), pp. 561-604; English translation by C. G. Abbot with an introduction by S. P. Langley appears in: "The Le Sage Theory of Gravitation", Annual Report of the Board of Regents of the Smithsonian Institution Showing the Operations, Expenditures, and Condition of the Institution for the Year Ending June 30, 1898, (U.S.) Government Printing Office, Washington, (1899), pp. 139-160. W. Thomson, S. Tolver Preston, H. A. Lorentz, and J. J. Thomson, among many others, pursued Le Sage's shadow theory of ultramundane particles. Maxwell and Poincaré opposed it, on the basis that it would result in excessive heat accumulation.
- 422. J. Herapath, "On the Physical Properties of Gases", Annals of Philosophy, Volume 8, (July, 1816), pp. 58-59; "A Mathematical Enquiry into the Causes, Laws, and Principle Phenomena of Heat, Gases, Gravitation, &c.", Annals of Philosophy, Volume 17, New Series, Volume 1, p. 276; and Mathematical Physics: or, The Mathematical Principles of Natural Philosophy: with a Development of the Causes of Heat, Gaseous Elasticity, Gravitation, and other Great Phenomena of Nature, In Two Volumes, Whittaker and Co., London, (1847).
- 423. T. H. Pasley, A Theory of Natural Philosophy on Mechanical Principles Divested of all Immaterial Chymical Properties, Showing

- for the First Time the Physical Cause of Continuous Motion, Whittaker & Co., London, (1836).
- 424. É. Saigey (under the pen name, "Edgar Saveney"), Revue de Deux Mondes, Volume 66, (November 1, 1866), pp. 148-149; and Revue de Deux Mondes, Volume 66, (December 15, 1866), pp. 922-923.
- 425. P. Leray, through Faye, Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, Volume 69, (September 6, 1869), pp. 616-620.
- 426. L. de Boisbaudran, Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, Volume 69, (September 20, 1869), pp. 703-704.
- 427. F. Guthrie, "On Approach Caused by Vibration", *Philosophical Magazine*, Volume 39, (1870), p. 309; Volume 40, (November, 1870), pp. 345-354.
- 428. S. T. Preston, *Physics of the Ether*, London, New York, E. & F. N. Spon, (1875);
- and "On the Direct Conversion of Dynamic Force into Electricity", Philsophical Magazine, (July 1871), pp. 53-55;
- and "Mode of the Propagation of Sound, and the Physical Conduction Determining its Velocity on the Basis of the Kinetic Theory of Gases", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 5, Volume 3, Number 20, (June, 1877), pp. 441-453;
- and "On the Nature of what is Commonly Termed a 'Vacuum'", Philosophical Magazine, Series 5, Volume4, Number 23, (August, 1877), pp. 110-114;
- and "On some Dynamical Conditions applicable to Le Sage's Theory of Gravitation", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 5, Volume 4, Number 24, (September, 1877), pp. 206-213; Number 26, (November, 1877), pp. 365-375;

and Nature, (November 8, 1877), p. 31;

and "On the Diffusion of Matter in Relation to the Second Law of Thermodynamics", Nature, (November 8, 1877), pp. 31-32;

and "On a Means for Converting the Heat-Motion Possessed by Matter at Normal Temperature into Work", *Nature*, (January 10, 1878), pp. 202-204;

and "On the Equilibrium of Pressure in Gases", Philosophical Magazine, p. 77;

and "Application of the Kinetic Theory of Gases to Gravitation", Philosophical Magazine, Series 5, Volume 5, (February, 1878), pp. 117-127;

and "The Age of the Sun's Heat in Relation to Geological Evidence", Nature, (March 28, 1878), pp. 423-424;

and "The Bearing of the Kinetic Theory of Gravitation on the Phenomena of 'Cohesion' and 'Chemical Action,' together with the Important Connected Inferences Regarding the Existence of Stores of Motion in Space", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 5, Volume 5, Number 31, (April, 1878), pp. 297-311;

and "On the Availability of Normal-Temperature Heat-Energy", Nature, (May 23, 1878), pp. 92-93;

and "On the View of the Propagation of Sound Demanded by the Acceptance of the Kinetic Theory of Gases", *Nature*, (July 4, 1878), pp. 253-255;

and "On the Possibility of Explaining Past Changes in the Universe by Causes in Present Operation", *Quarterly Journal of Science*, (July, 1878);

"On Diffusion as a Means for Converting Normal-Temperaature Heat into Work", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 5, Volume 6, Number 38, (November, 1878), p. 400;

and "The Motion of a Luminous Source as a Test of the Undulatory Theory of Light", Nature, (December 26, 1878), pp. 178-180;

and "A Consideration Regarding the Proper Motion of the Sun in Space", Philosophical Magazine, (November, 1878), pp. 393-394;

and "On the Possibility of Explaining the Continuance of Life in the Universe Consistent with the Tendency to Temperature-Equilibrium", Nature, (March 20, 1879), pp. 460-464;

and "On the Possibility of Accounting for the Continuance of Recurring Changes in the Universe, Consistently with the Tendency to Temperature-Equilibrium", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 5,(August, 1879, November, 1880); pp. 152-163;

and "On a Mode of Explaining the Transverse Vibrations of Light", Nature, (January 15, 1880), pp. 256-259;

and "A Psychological Aspect of the Vortex-Atom Theory", Nature, (February 5, 1880), p. 323;

and "A Suggestion in Regard to Crystallization, on the Hjypothesis that Molecules are not Infinitely Hard", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 5, Volume 9, Number 56, (April, 1880), pp. 267-271;

and "On Method in Causal Research", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 5, Volume 9, Number 57, (May, 1880), pp. 356-367; January and March, 1881;

and "On a Point Relating to Brain Dynamics", Nature, (May 13, 1880), pp. 29-30; Responses by G. Romanes, Nature, Volume 22, p. 75, and W. C. Ley, Nature, Volume 22, (June 10, 1880), p. 121; Reply by Preston, Nature, (June 10, 1880), p. 121;

and "On the Physical Aspects of the Vortex-Atom Theory", Nature, (May 20, 1880), pp. 56-59;

and "Vortex Atoms", Nature, Volume 22, (June 10, 1880), pp. 121-122;

and "A Question Regarding One of the Physical Premises upon which the Finality of Universal Change is Based", *Philosophical Magazine*, (November, 1880), pp. 338-342;

and "Evolution and Female Education", Nature, (September 23, 1880), pp. 485-486; Revised, Original essays. I. On the social relations of the sexes. II. Science and sectarian religion. III. On the scientific basis of personal responsibility, with a reprint from an essay on "Evolution and female education," revised from Nature, September 23, 1880, Williams and Norgate, London, Edinburgh, (1884);

and "On Some Points Relating to the Dynamics of 'Radiant Matter'", Nature, Volume 23, (March 17, 1881), pp. 461-464;

and "Action at a Distance", Philosophical Magazine, (May, 1881);

and "Comparative Review of some Dynamical Theories of Gravitation", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 5, Volume 39, (1895), pp. 145-159.

429. J. Guyot, Eléments de Physique Générale, Paris, (1832).

430. M. Faraday, "A Speculation Touching Electric Conduction and the Nature of Matter", *Philosophical Magazine*, Volume 24, (1844), p. 136;

and "Thoughts on Ray-vibrations", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 3, Volume 28, Number 188, (May, 1846), pp. 345-350; reprinted in *Experimental Researches in Electricity*, Three Volumes Bound as Two, Volume 3, Dover, New York, (1965), pp. 447-452;

and "On the Magnetization of Light and the Illumination of Magnetic Lines of Force", Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, (1846), p. 1; reprinted in Experimental Researches in Electricity, Series 19, Section 26, Paragraphs 2146-2242;

and "On the Possible Relation of Gravity to Electricity",

Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, Volume 141, (1851), pp. 1-6; reprinted in Experimental Researches in Electricity, Series 24, Section 30, Paragraphs 2702-2717;

and "On Lines of Magnetic Force; their Definite Character; and their Distribution within a Magnet and through Space", *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, (1852), p. 1; reprinted in *Experimental Researches in Electricity*, Series 28, Section 34, Paragraphs 3070-3176;

"On the Physical Lines of Magnetic Force", Royal Institution Proceedings, (June 11, 1852); reprinted in Experimental Researches in Electricity, Volume 3, p. 438; reprinted in A Source Book in Physics, W. F. Magie, Editor, McGraw-Hill, New York, London, (1935), pp. 506-511;

and Philosophical Magazine, Volume 13, (1857), p. 228.

See also: E. Brücke, "On Gravitation and the Conservation of Force", Philosophical Magazine, Series 4, Volume 15, Number 98, (February, 1858), p. 81-90, at 87-88; English translation of Brücke's 1857 article for the Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Classe der Kaiserlichen Akademie der Wissenschaften (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), which was a reaction to Faraday's lecture before the Royal Institution on February 27th, 1857.

431. Zalewski, Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, Volume 30, (1850), p. 485; Volume 31, (1850), p. 225; Volume 35, (1852), pp. 49, 95.

432. E. Du Bois-Reymond, Über die Grenzen Naturerkennens/Die sieben Welträtsel, Multiple Editions.

See also: E. Dreher, Ueber das Causalitätsprincip der Naturerscheinungen mit bezugnahme auf Du Bois-Reymonds rede: "Die sieben Welträthsel", F. Dummler, Berlin, (1890).

- 433. A. Secchi, L'Unità della Forze Fisiche: Saggio di Filosofia Naturale, Multiple Improved and Enlarged Editions; French translation: L'Unité des Forces Physiques. Essai de Philosophie Naturelle German translation: Die Einheit der Naturkräfte: ein Beitrag zur Naturphilosophie.
- 434. P. E. Chase, Experiments upon the Mechanical Polarization of Magnetic Needles, under the Influence of Fluid Currents or: Lines of Force", Philadelphia, (1865); and Numerical Relations of Gravity and Magnetism, Philadelphia, (1865); and On some General Connatations of Magnetism, Philadelphia, (1868).
- 435. G. Lamé, Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, Volume 14, (January 3, 1842), p. 37; and Leçons sur la Théorie Mathématique de l'Élasticité des Corps Solides, Bachelier, Paris, (1852), Lesson 1, p. 2; Lesson 24, Section 131, pp. 327-328, Section 134, 332-335.
- 436. E. Brücke, "On Gravitation and the Conservation of Force", Philosophical Magazine, Series 4, Volume 15, Number 98, (February, 1858), p. 81-90.
- 437. J. Challis, "Mathematical Theory of Attractive Forces", Philosophical Magazine, Volume 18, (November, 1859), p. 334; and "A Theory of the Force of Gravity", Philosophical Magazine, series 4, Volume 8, (1859), pp. 442-451; and Philosophical Magazine, Volume 19, (1860), pp. 89-91; and "On the Planet within the Orbit of Mercury", Proceedings of the Cambridge Philosophical Society, Volume 1, Number 15, (1861), pp. 219-222; and Philosophical Magazine, Volume 23, (1862), pp. 319-320; and "A Theory of the Zodiacal Light", Philosophical Magazine, Series 4, Volume 25, (1863), pp. 117-125, 183-189; and Philosophical Magazine, Volume 25, (1863), p. 465; and Philosophical Magazine, Volume 26, (1863), p. 284; and "On the Fundamental Ideas of Matter and Force in Theoretical Physics", Philosophical Magazine, Series 4, Volume 31, (June, 1866), p. 467; and Notes on the Principles of Pure and Applied Calculation; and Applications of Mathematical Principles to Theories of the Physical Forces, Deighton, Cambridge Bell and Co., Bell and Daldy, London, (1869), pp. XLV, 437, 456, 459, 463,

- 489, 499; and "On the Hydrodynamical Theory of Attractive and Repulsive Forces", *Philosophical Magazine*, Volume 44, (September, 1872), pp. 203-204, 209; *Philosophical Magazine*, Volume 2, (1876), p. 191.
- 438. J. S. S. Glennie, "On the Principles of the Science of Motion", *Philosophical Magazine*, Volume 21, (January, 1861), pp. 41-45; and "On the Principles of Energetics", *Philosophical Magazine*, Volume 21, (April, 1861), p. 276; *Philosophical Magazine*, Volume 21, (May, 1861), pp. 351-352; *Philosophical Magazine*, Volume 22, (July, 1861), p. 62.
- 439. J. Croll, On Certain Hypothetical Elements in the Theory of Gravitation", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 4, Volume 34, (December, 1867), p. 450; and "On the Transformation of Gravity", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 5, Volume 2, (October, 1776), p. 241.
- 440. W. Crookes, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, Volume 164, (1874), p. 527; and Quarterly Journal of Science, Volume 5, (July, 1875), p. 351; and "The Mechanical Action of Light", Quarterly Journal of Science, Volume 6, (1876), p. 254.
- 441. C. Isenkrahe, Das Räthsel von der Schwerkraft. Kritik der bisherigen Lösungen des Gravitationsproblems und Versuch einer neuen auf rein mechanischer Grundlage, Braunschweig, F. Vieweg, (1879); and Das Verfahren der Funktionswiederholung: seine geometrische Veranschaulichung und algebraische Anwendung, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1897); and Zum Problem der Evidenz. Was bedeutet, was leistet sie?, J. Kösel, Kempten, München, (1917); Untersuchungen über das Endliche und das Unendliche: mit Ausblicken auf die philosophische Apologetik, A. Marcus & E. Webers, Bonn, (1920); and Zur Elementaranalyse der Relativitätstheorie, F. Vieweg, Braunschweig, (1921).
- 442. Schramm, Die allgemeine Bewegung und Materie, Wien, (1872).

443. H. Fritsch, Theorie der Newton'schen Gravitation und des Mariotte'schen Gesetzes, Königsberg, (1874); and Die Newtonschen Zentralkräfte abgeleitet aus Bewegungen undurchdringlicher Massen, Hartungsche Buchdr., Königsberg, (1905).

444. A. Anderssohn, Die Mechanik der Gravitation, Breslau, (1874); and Zur Loesung des Problems ueber Sitz und Wesen der Anziehung, Breslau, (1874); and Physikalische Prinzipien der Naturlehre, G. Schwetschke, Halle, (1894).

See also: G. Hoffmann, Die Anderssohn'sche Drucktheorie und ihre Bedeutung für die einheitliche Erklärung der physischen Erscheinung, G. Schwetschke, Halle, (1892).

 A. Rysának, "Versuch einer dynamischen Erklärung der Gravitation", Repertorium der Physik, Volume 24, (1888), pp. 90-114.

446. A. Stroh, "On Attraction and Repulsion due to Sonorous Vibrations and a comparison of the Phenomena with those of Magnetism", Journal of the Society of Telegraph Engineers and of Electricians, Volume 11, (1882), pp. 192-228, 293-300.

447. P. Spiller, Die Urkraft des Weltalls nach ihrem Wesen und Wirken auf allen Naturgebieten, G. Gerstmann, Berlin, (1876); and Das Phantom der Imponderabilien in der Physik, Posen, (1858).

448. R. Avenarius, Ueber die beiden ersten Phasen des Spinozischen Pantheismus und das Verhältniss der zweiten zur dritten Phase. Nebst einem Anhang: Ueber Reihenfolge und Abfassungszeit der älteren Schriften Spinoza's, E. Avenarius, Leipzig, (1868); and Philosophie als Denken der Welt gemäss dem Princip des kleinsten Kraftmasses. Prolegomena zu einer Kritik der reinen Erfahrung, Feus, Leipzig, (1876); and Kritik der reinen Erfahrung, Volumes 1 & 2, Feus, Leipzig, (1888, 1890); and Der menschliche Weltbegriff, O. R. Reisland, Leipzig, (1891).

449. Refer to James E. Beichler, "Twist Til' We Tear the House Down", YGGDRASIL: The Journal for Paraphysics, URL:

http://members.aol.com/jebco1st/Paraphysics/issue1.htm

Ball's works include: R. S. Ball, "On the Small Oscillations of a Rigid Body about a Fixed Point under the Action of any Forces, and, more Particularly, when Gravity is the only Force acting", *The Transactions of the Royal Irish Academy*, Volume 24, (1870), pp. 593-627;

and Experimental Mechanics, Macmillan, London, New York, (1871);

and "Non-Euclidean Geometry", Hermathena, (Dublin), Volume 3, (1879), pp. 500-541;

and "Notes on Non-Euclidean Geometry", Report of the Fiftieth Meeting of the British Association for the Advancement of Science, Volume 50, (1880), pp. 476-477;

and "The Distance of Stars", Royal Institution of Great Britain. Notices of the Proceedings, Volume 9, (1879/1882), pp. 514-519;

and "On the Elucidation of a Question in Kinematics by the Aid of Non-Euclidean Space", Report of the Fifty-First Meeting of the British Association for the Advancement of Science, Volume 51, (1881), pp. 535-536;

and "Certain Problems in the Dynamics of a Rigid System Moving in Elliptic Space", *The Transactions of the Royal Irish Academy*, Volume 28, (1881), pp. 159-184;

and "Notes on the Kinematics and Dynamics of a Rigid System in Elliptic Space", *The Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy*, Volume 4, (1884), pp. 252-258;

and "Measurement", an article for the Encyclopaedia Britannica, Ninth Edition;

and "Note on the Character of the Linear Transformation which Corresponds to the Displacement of a Rigid System in Elliptical Space", The Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy, Volume 4, (1885), pp. 532-537;

and Dynamics and the Modern Geometry: A New Chapter in the Theory of Screws, Royal Irish Academy, Dublin, (1887);

and "A Dynamical Parable", Nature, Volume 36, (September 1, 1887), pp. 424-429;

and "The Twelfth and Concluding Memoir on the 'Theory of Screws', with a Summary of the Twelve Memoirs", The Transactions of the Royal Irish Academy, Volume 31, (1897), pp. 143-196; reprinted The Twelfth and Concluding Memoir on the Theory of Screws; with a Summary, Royal Irish Academy, Dublin, (1898);

and "On the Theory of Content", The Transactions of the Royal Irish Academy, Volume 29, (1887), pp. 123-182;

and The Elements of Astronomy, Macmillan, London, New York, (1900);

and A Treatise on the Theory of Screws, CUP, (1900);

and A Treatise on Spherical Astronomy, CUP, (1908).

See also: Reminiscences and letters of Sir Robert Ball / ed. by his son W. Valentine Ball, Little, Brown, Boston, (1915).

450. T. Oppolzer, Lehrbuch zur Bahnbestimmung der Kometen und Planeten, Multiple Editions; and "Elements des Vulcans", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 94, cols. 97-99, 303-304.

See also: W. Klinkerfues, Theoretische Astronomie, Third Enlarged and Improved Edition, F. Vieweg, Braunschweig, (1912).

451. H. Streintz, Die physikalischen Grundlagen der Mechanik, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1883).

452. E. Mach, "Zur Theorie der Pulswellenzeichner", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Classe der Kaiserlichen Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 47, (1863), pp. 43-48;

and "Zur Theorie des Gehororgans", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Classe der Kaiserlichen Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 48; unaltered reprint, Zur Theorie des Gehororgans, J. G. Calve, Prag, (1872);

and "Untersuchungen über den Zeitsinn des Ohres", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Classe der Kaiserlichen Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 51, (1865), pp. 133-150; Zeitschrift für Philosophie und philosophische Kritik vormals Fichte-Ulricische Zeitschrift, (1866);

and Zwei populäre Vorträge über Optik, Leuschner & Lubensky, Graz, (1867);

and "Mach's Vorlesungs-Apparate", Repertorium für Experimental-Physik, für physikalische Technik, mathematische & astronomische Instrumentenkunde, Volume 4, (1868), pp. 8-9;

and Die Geschichte und die Wurzel des Satzes von der Erhaltung der Arbeit, J. G. Calve, Prag, (1872); English translation by Philip E. B. Jourdain, History and Root of the Principle of the Conservation of Energy, Open Court, Chicago, 1911;

and "Resultate einer Untersuchung zur Geschichte der Physik", Lotos. Zeitschrift für Naturwissenschaften, Volume 23, (1873), pp. 189-191;

and Grundlinien der Lehre von den Bewegungsempfindungen, W. Engelmann, Leipzig, (1875);

and "Neue Versuche zur Prüfung der Doppler'schen Theorie der Ton- und Farbenänderung durch Bewegung", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Classe der Kaiserlichen Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 77, (1878), pp. 299-310;

and Die ökonomische Natur der physikalischen Forschung, Wien, (1882);

and Die Mechanik in ihrer Entwicklung historisch-kritisch dargestellt, F. A. Brockhaus, Leipzig, (1883 and multiple revised editions, thereafter); Translated into English as The Science of Mechanics, Open Court, La Salle, (numerous editions);

and Über Umbildung und Anpassung im naturwissenschaftlichen Denken, Wien, (1884);

and Beiträge zur Analyse der Empfindungen, G. Fischer, Jena, (1886); English translation by C. M. Williams, Contributions to the Analysis of the Sensations, Open Court, Chicago, (1897);

and Der relative Bildungswert der philologischen und der mathematisch-naturwissenschaftlichen Unterrichtsfächer, Prag, (1886);

and "Über den Unterricht in der Wärmelehre", Zeitschrift für den physikalischen und chemischen Unterricht, Volume 1, (1887), pp. 3-7;

and "Über das psychologische und logische Moment im naturwissenschaftlichen Unterricht", Zeitschrift für den physikalischen und chemischen Unterricht, Volume 4, (1890), pp. 1-5;

and "Some Questions of Psycho-Physics", The Monist, Volume 1, (1891), pp. 394-400;

and Populär-wissenschaftliche Vorlesungen, 4th Expanded Edition, J. A. Barth, Leipzig, (1896/1910); English translation of initial lectures by Thomas McCormack, Popular Scientific Lectures, Open Court, Chicago, (1895);

and Die Principien der Wärmlehre: Historisch-kritisch entwickelt, J. A. Barth, Leipzig, (1896); Principles of the theory of heat: historically and critically elucidated, Dordrecht, Boston, (1986);

and "Über Gedankenexperimente." Zeitschrift für den physikalischen und chemischen Unterricht, Volume 10, (1896), pp. 1-5;

and "On the Stereoscopic Application of Roentgen's Rays", The Monist, Volume 6, (1896), pp. 321-323;

and "Durchsicht-Stereoskopbilder mit Röntgenstrahlen." Zeitschrift für Elektrotechnik, Volume 14, (1896), pp. 359-361;

and "The Notion of a Continuum", The Open Court, Volume 14, (1900), pp. 409-414;

and Erkenntnis und Irrtum: Skizzen zur Psychologie der Forschung, J. A. Barth, Leipzig, (1905);

and Space and Geometry in the Light of Physiological, Psychological and Physical Inquiry, English translation by Thomas J. McCormack, Open Court, Chicago, (1906);

and "Die Leitgedanken meiner naturwissenschaftlichen Erkenntnislehre und ihre Aufnahme durch die Zeitgenossen", Scientia: Revista di Scienza, Volume 7, Number 14, (1910), p. 2; Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 11, (1910), pp. 599-606;

and Die Analyse der Empfindungen und das Verhältnis des Physischenzum Psychischen, 6th Expanded Edition, G. Fischer, Jena, (1911); English translation by C.M. Williams, The Analysis of Sensations, and the Relation of the Physical to the Psychical, Open Court, Chicago, (1914);

and Kultur und Mechanik, Stuttgart, (1915);

and Die Leitgedanken meiner naturwissenschaftlichen Erkenntnislehre und ihre Aufnahme durch die Zeitgenossen. Sinnliche Elemente und naturwissenschaftliche Begriffe, J. A. Barth, Leipzig, (1919);

and Die Prinzipien der physikalischen Optik: Historisch und erkenntnispsychologischenwickelt, J.A. Barth, Leipzig, (1921); The Principles of Physical Optics: An Historical and Philosophical Treatment, English translated by John S. Anderson, Methuen & Co., London, (1926).

453. E. K. Dühring, Kritische Geschichte der allgemeinen Principien der Mechanik, Multiple Editions.

454. F. Cohn, Encyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften, 6, 2, 2.

E. Cohn, "Zur Elektrodynamik bewegter Systeme", Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, Sitzung der physikalisch-mathematischen Classe, (November, 1904), pp. 1294-1303.

E. Cohn, "Zur Elektrodynamik bewegter Systeme. II", Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, Sitzung der physikalisch-mathematischen Classe, (December, 1904), pp. 1404-1416.

E. Cohn, "Ueber die Gleichungen des elektromagnetischen Feldes für bewegte Körper", Annalen der Physik, 7, (1902), pp. 29-56. "(Aus den Nachrichten d. Gesellsch. D. Wissensch. zu Göttingen, 1901, Heft 1; Sitzung vom 11. Mai 1901. Mit einer Aenderung p. 31.)"

E. Cohn, "Über die Gleichungen der Elektrodynamik für bewegte Körper", Archives Néerlandaises des Sciences Exactes et Naturelles, Series 2, Volume 5, (1900), pp. 516-523.

E. Cohn, Physikalisches über Raum und Zeit, Multiple Editions, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (Nach einem im Naturwissenschaftlichmedizinischen Verein zu Strassburg am 11. Februar 1910 gehaltenen Vortrag).

455. J. Bauschinger, Untersuchungen über die Bewegung der Planeten Merkur, München, (1884); "Zur Frage über die Bewegung der Mercurperihels", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 109, (1884), cols. 27-32; and Encyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften, 6, 2, 17; and Die Bahnbestimmung der Himmelskörper, W. Engelmann, Leipzig, (1906/1928).

456. S. Newcomb, "On the Supposed intra-Mercurial Planets", *The Astronomical Journal*, Volume 6, (1860), pp. 162-163;

and "Über Dr. Lehmann's Neubestimmung der Gauß'schen Konstanten", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 57, (1862), col. 65;

and "On Hansen's Theory of the Physical Constitution of the Moon", American Journal of Science, Series 2, Volume 46, (1868), pp. 376-378;

and "On the Lunar Equation in the Heliocentric Motion of the Earth", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 132, Number 3155, cols.11-12;

and "Elementary Theorems Relating to the Geometry of a Space of Three Dimensions and of Uniform Positive Curvature in the Fourth Dimension", Journal für die reine und angewandte Mathematik (Crelle's Journal), Volume 83, (1877), pp. 293-299;

and "Note on a Class of Transformations Which Surfaces May Undergo in Space of More than Three Dimensions", American Journal of Mathematics, Volume 1, (1878), pp. 1-4;

and "Discussion and Results of Observations on Transits of Mercury from 1677-1881", Astronomical Papers Prepared for the Use of the American Ephemeris and Nautical Almanac, Washington, Volume 1, (1882), pp. 363-487;

and "A Generalized Theory of the Combination of Observations so as to Obtain the Best Result", *American Journal of Mathematics*, Volume 8, (1886), pp. 343-366; and "On the Fundamental Concepts of Physics", Bulletin of the Washington Philosophical Society, Volume 11, (1888/1891), pp. 514-515;

and "Modern Mathematical Thought", Bulletin of the New York Mathematical Society, Volume 3, Number 4, (January, 1894), pp. 95-107;

and "On the Elements of (33) Polyhmnia and the Mass of Jupiter", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 136, (1894), col. 130;

and "The Elements of the Four Inner Planets and the Fundamental Constants of Astronomy", Supplement to the American Ephemeris and Nautical Almanac for 1897, Washington, (U.S.) Government Printing Office, (1895);

and Astronomical Papers Prepared for the Use of the American Ephemeris and Nautical Almanac, Volume 6, (U.S.) Government Printing Office, Washington, (1898);

and "The Philosophy of Hyperspace", Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society, Series 2, Volume 4, Number 5, (February, 1898), pp. 187-195; Science, Volume 7, (1898), pp. 1-7;

"Is the Airship Coming?", McClure's Magazine, Volume 17, (September, 1901), pp. 432-435;

and "The Fairyland of Geometry", Harper's Magazine, Volume 104, Number 620, (January, 1902), pp. 249-252;

and Reminiscences of an Astronomer, Harper, London, (1903);

and "On the Position of the Galactic and other Principal Planes Toward which the Stars Tend to Crowd", Carnigie Institute of Washington Contributions to Stellar Statistics, Number 10, (1904);

and "An Observation of the Zodiacal Light to the North of the Sun", The Astronomical Journal, Volume 25, (1905), pp. 209-212; and Sidelights on Astronomy, New York, (1906);

and "A Search for Fluctuations in the Sun's Thermal Radiation Through Their Influence on Terrestrial Temperature", *Transactions of the American Philosophical Society*, New Series, Volume 21, (1908), pp. 309-387;

and "La Théorie du Mouvement de la Lune", Revue Générale des Sciences Pures et Appliquées, Volume 19, (1908), pp. 686-691;

and "Researches in the Motion of the Moon", Astronomical Papers Prepared for the Use of the American Ephemeris and Nautical Almanac, Volume 9, (U.S.) Government Printing Office, Washington, (1912);

See also: E. Grossmann, "Die Bewegung des Mercurperihels nach Arbeiten Newcombs", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 214, (1921), cols. 41-54; and F. E. Brasch, "Einstein's Appreciation of Simon Newcomb", Science, Volume 69, pp. 248-249.

For a bibliography of Newcomb's works, see: R. C. Archibald, Biographical Memoirs. National Academy of Sciences, Volume 17, (1924), pp. 19-69.

457. R. Lehman-Filhés, "Über die Bewegung der Planeten unter der Annahme einer sich nicht momentan fortpflanzenden Schwerkraft", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 110, (1884), col. 209-210; and "Über die Säkularstörungen der Länge des Mondes unter der Annahme einer sich nicht momentan fortpflanzenden Schwerkraft", Sitzungsberichte der mathematische-physikalische Classe der Königlich Bayerische Akademie der Wissenschaften zu München, Volume 25, (1895), pp. 371-422.

458. J. v. Hepperger, "Über die fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien, Volume 97, (1888), pp. 337-362.

- 459. W. Harkness, "On the Solar Parallax and its Related Constants", Washington Observations for 1885, (U.S.) Government Printing Office, Washington, (1891).
- 460. W. W. R. Ball, "A Hypothesis Relating to the Nature of the Ether and Gravity", Messenger of Mathematics, Volume 21, (1891), pp. 20-24
- 461. E. Budde, Zur Kosmologie der Gegenwart, Bonn, (1872); and Lehrbuch der Physik für höhere Lehranstalten, Wiegandt, Hempel & Parey, Berlin, (1879); and Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 9, (1880), p. 261; Volume 10, (1880), p. 553; and De statu sphaeroidali; and Naturwissenschaftliche Plaudereien, Berlin, G. Reimer, (1898/1906); and Allgemeine Mechanik der Punkte und starren Systeme, In Two Volumes, G. Reimer, Berlin, (1890-1891); and Energie und Recht, eine physikalisch-juristische Studie, C. Heymann, Berlin, (1902); and Tensoren und Dyaden im dreidimensionalen Raum; ein Lehrbuch von E. Budde, F. Vieweg & Sohn, Braunschweig, (1914).
- 462. S. Günther, Handbuch der mathematischen Geographic, J. Engelhorn, Stuttgart, (1890), p. 758 Notes; and Handbuch der Geophysik, Volume 1, Second Edition, F. Enke, Stuttgart, (1897), p. 283.
- 463. E. Vicaire, "Sur la Loi de l'Attraction Astronomique et sur les Masses des Divers Corps du Système Soliare", Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de L'Académie des sciences, Volume 74, (1874), pp. 790-794; and "Sur le Principe de l'Inertie et sur la Notion du Mouvement Absolu en Mécanique", Annales de la Société Scientifique de Bruxelles, Volume 18A, (1894), pp. 37-98;
- E. Vicaire, "Sur la Réalité de l'Espace et le Mouvement Absolu", Annales de la Société Scientifique de Bruxelles, Volume 18B, pp. 283-310;
- P. Mansion, "Sur l'Inutilité de la Considération de l'Espace dit Réel, en Mécanique", Annales de la Société Scientifique de Bruxelles, Volume 19A, pp. 56-58;

- E. Vicaire, "Sur la Réalité de l'Espace", Annales de la Société Scientifique de Bruxelles, Volume 19A, pp. 113-116;
- E. Vicaire, "Observations sur une Note de M. Mansion", Annales de la Société Scientifique de Bruxelles, Volume 20A, pp. 8-19;
- P. Mansion, "Réponse", Annales de la Société Scientifique de Bruxelles, Volume 20A, pp. 19-20, 56;
- E. Goedseels, "Note", Annales de la Société Scientifique de Bruxelles, Volume 20A, pp. 20 f.
- E. Vicaire, "Sur la Nature et sur les Principes de la Mécanique Rationelle", Bulletin de la Société Philomatique de Paris, Series 8, Volume 8, (1896), pp. 19-20;
- E. Vicaire, "Sur la Nécessité du Mouvement Absolu en Mécanique", Bulletin de la Société Philomatique de Paris, Series 8, Volume 8, (1896), pp. 20-22;
- P. Mansion, Sur les Principes Fondamentaux de la Géometrie, de la Mécanique et de l'Astronomie, Paris (1898).
- See also: P. Mansion, "Analyse des Recherches du P. Saccheri S.J. sur le Postulatum d'Euclide", Annales de la Société Scientifique de Bruxelles, Volume 14B, (1889/1890), pp. 46-59.
- 464. J. R. Schütz, "Prinzip der absoluten Erhaltung der Energie", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen. Mathematisch-physikalische Klasse, (1897), pp. 110-123.
- 465. A. König, "Ueber die neueren Versuche zu einer einwurfsfreien Grundlegung der Mechanik", Verhandlungen der physikalische Gesellschaft zu Berlin, Volume 5, (1886), p. 73f.
- 466. L. Couturat, "Note sur la Géométrie non-Euclidienne et la Relativité de l'Espace", Revue de Métaphysique et de Morale, Volume 1, (1893), p. 302.

- 467. G. Frege, "Ueber das Trägheitsgesetz", Zeitschrift für Philosophie und philosophische Kritik, Volume 98, (1891), pp. 145-161.
- 468. W. Wundt, "Ueber die physikalischen Axiome (Lecture)", Festschrift des historischen-philosophischen Vereins zu Heidelberg, (1886).
- 469. K. Pearson, "On the Motion of Spherical and Ellipsoidal Bodies in Fluid Media", Quarterly Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics, Volume 20, (1885), pp. 60-80, 184-211; and "On a Certain Atomic Hypothesis", Transactions of the Cambridge Philosophical Society, Volume 14, (1889), pp. 71-120; and "On a Certain Atomic Hypothesis", Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society, Volume 20, (1888), pp. 38-63; and "Ether Squirts", American Journal of Mathematics, Volume 13, (1891), 309-362; and The Grammar of Science, Second Edition, Adam and Charles Black, London, (1900), throughout, but especially pp. 533-537; and the Third Edition of The Grammar of Science, (1911), throughout, but especially pp. 355-387.
- 470. G. A. Schott, "On the Electron Theory of Matter and the Explanation of Fine Spectrum Lines and of Gravitation", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 6, Volume 12, (1906), pp. 21-29.
- 471. J. Petzoldt, "Maxima, Minima und Oekonomie, Vierteljahrsschrift für wissenschaftliche Philosophie, (1890), reprinted Altenburg, (1891);
- and "Das Gesetz der Eindeutigkeit", Vierteljahrsschrift für wissenschaftliche Philosophie, (1894), p. 196;
- and Einführung in die Philosophie der reinen Erfahrung; Volume 1, "Die Bestimmtheit der Seele", (1900); Volume 2, "Auf dem Wege zum Dauernden", B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1904);
- and Das Weltproblem von positivistischem Standpunkte aus, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1906);

- and "Die Gebiete der absoluten and der relativen Bewegung", Annalen der Naturphilosophie, Volume 7, (1908), pp. 29-62;
- and Das Weltproblem vom Standpunkte des relativistischen Positivismus aus, historisch-kritisch dargestellt, B. G. Teubner, Berlin, Leipzig, (multiple editions);
- and "Naturwissenschaft", an article in Handwörterbuch der Naturwissenschaften, (1912), §§ 31-34;
- and Zeitschrift für positivistische Philosophie, Volume 1, Number 1, (November, 1912);
- and "Die Relativitätstheorie im erkenntnistheoretischen Zusammenhange des relativistischen Positivismus", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 14, (1912), p. 1055;
- and "Die Relativitätstheorie der Physik", Zeitschrift für positivistische Philosophie, Volume 2, (1914), 1-56;
- and "Verbietet die Relativitätstheorie, Raum und Zeit als etwas Wirkliches zu denken?", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 20, (1918), p. 189; Volume 21, (1918), p. 495;
- and "Die Unmöglichkeit mechanischer Modelle zur Veranschaulichung der Relativitätstheorie", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, (1919);
- and "Mechanistische Naturauffassung und Relativitätstheorie", Annalen der Philosophie, (1920);
- and "Kausalität und Relativitätstheorie", Zeitschrift für Physik, Volume 1, (1920), p. 467;
- and Die Stellung der Relativitätstheorie in der geistigen Entwicklung der Menschheit, Sibyllen, Dresden, (1921).

See also: E. Mach, Die Mechanik in ihrer Entwicklung, 8th ed. F. A. Brockhaus, Leipzig, (1921), Appendix: "Das Verhältnis der Mach'schen Gedankenwelt zur Relativitätstheorie" by Joseph Petzoldt, pp. 490-517.

472. Most, Neue Darlegung der absoluten Geometrie und Mechanik mit Berücksichtigung der Frage nach den Grenzen des Weltraums, (1883).

473. O. F. Mossotti, Sur les Forces qui Régissent la Constitution Intérieure des Corps Aperçu pour Servir à la Détermination de la Cause et des Lois de l'Action Moléculaire, par O.F. Mossotti, De l'Imprimerie Royale, Turin, (1836); appears in Zöllner's Erklärung der universellen Gravitation aus den statischen Wirkungen der Elektricität und die allgemeine Bedeutung des Weber'schen Gesetzes, von Friedrich Zöllner... Mit Beiträgen von Wilhelm Weber nebst einem vollständigen Abdruck der Originalabhandlung: Sur les Forces qui Régissent la Constitution Intérieure des Corps Aperçu pour Servir à la Détermination de la Cause et des Lois de l'Action Moléculaire, par O.F. Mossotti. Mit dem Bildnisse Newton's in Stahlstich, L. Staackmann, Leipzig, (1882).

474. W. Weber, "Elektrodynamische Massbestimmungen über ein allgemeines Grundgesetz der elektrischen Wirkung", Abhandlungen der mathematisch-physische Classe der Königlich Sächsischen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Leipzig, (1846), pp. 209-378; reprinted in Werke, Volume 3, pp. 25-214; and Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 73, (1848), pp. 193-240; reprinted in Wilhelm Weber's Werke, hrsg. von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen, In Six Volumes, J. Springer, Berlin, (1892-94), Volume 3, p. 215ff.; English translation in Scientific Memoirs, Selected from the Transactions of Foreign Academies of Science and Learned Societies, and from Foreign Journals, Volume 5, (1852), pp. 489-529;

Berichte über die Verhandlungen der Königlich Sächsischen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Leipzig, Volume 1, (1847), p. 346; Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 73, (1848), p. 241; English translation in Scientific Memoirs, Selected from the Transactions of Foreign Academies of Science and Learned Societies, and from Foreign Journals, Volume 5, (1852), p. 477;

and Abhandlungen der mathematisch-physische Classe der Königlich Sächsischen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Leipzig, (1852), p. 483; Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 87, p. 145; English translation in Scientific Memoirs, Selected from the Transactions of Foreign Academies of Science and Learned Societies, and from Foreign Journals, (1853), p. 163;

and Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 99, (1856), p. 10;

and W. Weber and R. Kohlrausch, "Elektrodynamische Massbestimmungen insbesondere Zuruckfahrung der Stromintensitäts-Messung auf mechanisches Mass", Abhandlungen der mathematisch-physische Classe der Königlich Sächsischen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Leipzig, Volume 5, (1857), p. 265;

and W. Weber "Elektrodynamische Massbestimmungen insbesondere über das Prinzip der Erhaltung der Energie", Abhandlungen der mathematisch-physische Classe der Königlich Sächsischen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Leipzig, Volume 10, (1873), pp. 1-61; reprinted in Werke, Volume 4, pp. 247-299; English translation in Philosophical Magazine, Volume 43, (1872), pp. 1, 119;

and "Ueber die Bewegung der Elektricität in Körpern von molekularer Konstitution", Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 156, (1875), pp. 1-61; reprinted in Werke, Volume 4, pp. 312-357.

475. C. Seegers, De motu perturbationibusque planetarum secundum logem electrodynamicam Weberianam solem ambientum, Inaugural Dissertation, Göttingen, (1864)..

476. L. Weber, Ueber das Galilei'sche Princip, Kiel, (1891).

477. E. Härdtl, "Zur Frage nach der Perihelbewegung des Planeten Merkur", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-

Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien, Volume 103, (1894).

- P. Johannesson, Das Beharrungsgesetz, Programm des Sophien-Realgymnasiums, Geartners Verlag, Berlin, (1896).
- 479. L. E. Jewell, "The Coincidence of Solar and Metallic Lines: A Study of the Appearance of Lines in the Spectra of the Electric Arc and the Sun", *The Astrophysical Journal*, Volume 3, (1896), p. 89-113; response: E. Bouty, *Journal de Physique*, Volume 6, (1897), pp. 84-85.
- 480. C. d. Engelmeyer, "Sur l'Origine Sensorielle des Notions Méchanique", Revue Philosophique de la France et de l'Étranger, Volume 39, (1895), pp. 511-517.
- 481. O. Backlund, Zur theorie des Encke'schen Cometen, St.-Pétersbourg, (1881); and Comet Encke, 1865-1885, Eggers & cie, St.-Pétersbourg, (1886); and "Sur la Masse de la Planète Mercure et sur l'Accéleration du Mouvement moyen de Comète d'Encke", Bulletin Astronomique (Paris), Volume 11, (1894); and La Comète d'Encke, Académie Impériale des Sciences, St.-Pétersbourg, (1911); and A. V. Backlund, "Zusammenstellung einer Theorie der klassischen Dynamik und der neuen Gravitationstheorie von Einstein", Arkiv för Mathematik, astonomie, och Fysik, Volume 14, Number 11, p. 64.
- 482. P. Harzer, Die säkularen Veränderungen der Bahnen der grossen Planeten, S. Hirzel, Leipzig, (1895); and Über die Mitführung des Lichtes in Glas und die Aberration", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 198, (1914), cols. 377-392; and "Bemerkungen zu meinem Artikel in Nr. 4748 im Zusammenhange mit den vorstehenden Bemerkungen des Herrn Einstein", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 199, (1914), cols. 9-12.
- 483. R. v. Eötvös, "A Föld Vonzása Különböző Anyagokra", Akadémiai Értesítő, Volume 2, (1890), pp. 108-110; German translation, "Über die Anziehung der Erde auf verschiedene Substanzen", Mathematische und naturwissenschaftliche Berichte aus Ungarn, Volume 8, (1890), pp. 65-68; response, W. Hess,

Beiblätter zu den Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 15, (1891), p. 688-689;

and R. v. Eötvös, "Untersuchung über Gravitation und Erdmagnetismus", Annalen der Physik, Series 3, Volume 59, (1896), pp. 354-400;

and "Beszéd a kolozsvári Bolyai-emlékünnepen", Akadémiai Értesítő, (1903), p. 110;

and "Bericht über die Verhandlungen der fünfzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung abgehalten vom 20. bis 28. September 1906 in Budapest", Verhandlungen der vom 20. bis 28. September 1906 in Budapest abgehaltenen fünfzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, Part 1, G. Reimer, Berlin, (1908), pp. 55-108;

and Über geodetischen Arbeiten in Ungarn, besonders über Beobachtungen mit der Drehwaage, Hornyánszky, Budapest, (1909);

and "Bericht über Geodätische Arbeiten in Ungarn, besonders über Beobachtungen mit der Drehwage", Verhandlungen der vom 21. Bis 29. September 1909 in London und Cambridge abgehaltenen sechzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, Part 1, G. Reimer, Berlin, (1910), pp. 319-350;

and "Über Arbeiten mit der Drehwaage: Ausgführt im Auftrage der Königlichen Ungarischen Regierung in den Jahren 1908-1911", Verhandlungen der vom in Hamburg abgehaltenen siebzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, Part 1, G. Reimer, Berlin, (1912), pp. 427-438;

and Eötvös, Pekár, Fekete, Trans. XVI. Allgemeine Konferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, (1909); Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen (1909), geschäftliche Mitteilungen, p. 37;

and "Beiträge zur Gesetze der Proportionalität von Trägheit und Gravität", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 68, (1922), pp. 11-

16:

and D. Pekár, Die Naturwissenschaften, Volume 7, (1919), p. 327.

484. B. and I. Friedlaender, Absolute oder Relative Bewegung?, Leonhard Simion, Berlin, (1896).

485. A. H. Bucherer, "Über den Einfluß der Erdbewegung auf die Intensität des Lichtes", *Annalen der Physik*, Series 4, Volume 11, (1903), pp. 270-283;

and Mathematische Einführung in die Elektronentheorie, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1904);

and Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 6, (1908), p. 688;

and "Messungen an Becquerelstrahlen. Die experimentelle Bestätigung der Lorentz-Einstein Theorie", *Physikalische Zeitschrift*, Volume 9, Number 22, (November 1, 1908), pp. 755-762;

and Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 28, (1909), p. 513;

and Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 29, (1909), p. 1063;

and Bucherer, Woltz, Bestelmeyer, Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 30, (1909), pp. 166, 373, 974;

and Bestelmeyer, Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 22, (1907), p. 429; Volume 32, (1910), p. 231;

and Bucherer, Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 37, (1912), p. 597;

and "Gravitation und Quantentheorie", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 68, (1922), pp. 545-550.

486. F. Hasenöhrl, Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 107, (1898), p. 1015;

and "Zur Theorie der Strahlung in bewegten Körpern", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Classe der Kaiserlichen Akademie der Wissenschaften (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 113,(1904), pp. 1039-1055;

and "Zur Theorie der Strahlung in bewegten Körpern", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 15, (1904), pp. 344-370; corrected: Series 4, Volume 16, (1905), pp. 589-592;

and Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 116, (1907), p. 1391ff. especially p. 1400;

and "Über die Umwandlung kinetischer Energie in Strahlung", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 10, (1909), pp. 829-830;

and "Bericht über die Trägheit der Energie", Jahrbuch der Radioaktivität und Elektronik, Volume 6, (1909), pp. 485-502;

and "Über die Widerstand, welchen die Bewegung kleiner Körperchen in einem mit Hohlraumstrahlung erfüllten Raume erleidet", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 119, (1910), pp. 1327-1349;

and "Die Erhaltung der Energie und die Vermehrung der Entropie", in E. Warburg, Die Kultur der Gegenwart: Ihre Entwicklung und ihre Ziele, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1915), pp. 661-691.

487. P. Drude, "Über Fernwirkungen", Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 62, (1897); and Lehrbuch der Optik, S. Hirzel, Leipzig, (1900); translated into English The Theory of Optics, Longmans, Green and Co., London, New York, Toronto, (1902), see especially pp. 457-482; and "Zur Elektronentheorie der Metalle. I & II", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 1, (1900), pp. 566-613;

Volume 3, (1900), pp. 369-402; and "Optische Eigenschaften und Elektronentheorie, I & II", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 14, (1904), pp. 677-725, 936-961; and "Die Natur des Lichtes" in A. Winkelmann, Handbuch der Optik, Volume 6, Second Edition, J. A. Barth, Leipzig, (1906), pp. 1120-1387; and P. Drude, Physik des Aethers auf elektromagnetischer Grundlage, F. Enke, Stuttgart, (1894), Posthumous Second Revised Edition, W. König, (1912).

488. L. Schulhof, "Les Comètes Periodiques, l'État Actuel de leurs Théories", Bulletin Astronomiques (Paris), Volume 15, (1898).

489. H. Kleinpeter, "Zur Formulirung des Trägheitsgesetzes", Archiv für systematische Philosophie, New Series, Volume 6, (1900), pp. 461-469;

and Erkenntnisslehre und Naturwissenschaft in ihrer Wechselwirkung, (Aus d. 25. Jahresbericht der deutschen Landesoberrealschule in Prossnitz i. Mähren.), (1900);

and "Zur Einführung der Grundbegriffe der Mechanik", Zeitschrift für Rechtswesen, Volume 29, (1904), see Höfler's response: Zeitschrift für den physikalischen und chemischen Unterricht, Volume 17, Number 5, (September, 1904), pp. 300-303;

and "Über Volkmanns 'Postulate, Hypothesen und Naturgesetze'", Annalen der Naturphilosophie, Volume 1, (1902), see Höfler's response *Beiblätter zu den Annalen der Physik*, Volume 28, 1904, pp. 4-5;

and "Zur Einführung der Grundbegriffe der Mechanik" (1904); "Über den Begriff der Kraft" (1904); see Höfler's responses: Beiblätter zu den Annalen der Physik, Volumes 29 and 30, (1905, 1906), pp. 8-9;

and Die Erkenntnistheorie der Naturforschung der Gegenwart, unter Zugrundelegung der Anschauungen von Mach, Stallo, Clifford, Kirchhoff, Hertz, Pearson und Ostwald, J.A. Barth, Leipzig, (1905); see Höfler's response: Beiblätter zu den Annalen der Physik, Volumes 29 and 30, (1905, 1906), pp. 9-10;

and Der Phänomenalismus, eine naturwissenschaftliche Weltanschauung, J. A. Barth, Leipzig, (1913).

490. A. Höfler, "Einige Bemerkungen über das C.S.G.-System im Unterricht", Zeitschrift für den physikalischen und chemischen Unterricht, Volume 11, (1898), p. 79;

and Studien zur gegenwärtigen Philosophie der Mechanik: Als Nachwort zu: Kant's Metaphysische Anfangsgründe der Naturwissenschaft, C. E. M. Pfeffer, Leipzig, (1900);

and Metaphysische Anfangsgründe der Naturwissenschaft, C. E. M. Pfeffer, Leipzig, (1900), p. 76; from Veröffentlichungen der philosophischen Gesellschaft an der Universität zu Wien, Volume 3 (a), (1900);

and "Studien zur gegenwärtigen Philosophie der Mechanik", Veröffentlichungen der philosophischen Gesellschaft an der Universität zu Wien, Volume 3 (b), (1900);

and "Zur gegenwärtigen Naturphilosophie", Sonderhefte der Zeitschrift für den physikalischen und chemischen Unterricht, Volume 1, Number 2, (1904);

and Zur gegenwärtigen Naturphilosophie, J. Springer, Berlin, (1904);

and his response to Poincaré's Science and Hypothesis: Zeitschrift für den physikalischen und chemischen Unterricht, Volume 18, Number 1, (January, 1905), pp. 55-56;

and his response to Neißer's Ptolemäus oder Kopernikus? Eine Studie über die Bewegung der Erde und über den Begriff der Bewegung, J. A. Barth, Leipzig, (1907); Zeitschrift für den physikalischen und chemischen Unterricht, Volume 21, Number 1, (January, 1908), p. 61;

and his response to Holzmüller's Elementare kosmische Betrachtungen über das Sonnensystem und Wiederlegung der von Kant und Laplace aufgestellten Hypothesen über dessen Entstehungsgeschichte, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1906); Zeitschrift für den physikalischen und chemischen Unterricht Volume 21, Number 1, (January, 1908), pp. 61-64;

and "Zur Geschichte und Wurzel der Machschen Philosophie", Zeitschrift für den physikalischen und chemischen Unterricht, Volume 23, Number 1, (January, 1910);

and "Relativitätstheorie und Erkenntnistheorie", Zeitschrift für den Physikalischen und chemischen Unterricht, Volume 35, Number 2, (March, 1922), pp. 88-90.

- 491. T. Wulf, "Zur Mach'schen Massendefinition", Zeitschrift für den physikalischen und chemischen Unterricht, Volume 12, (1899), pp. 205-208.
- 492. J. Larmor, Aether and Matter, CUP, (1900); and Nature, Volume 97, (1916), pp. 321, 421; and Nature, Volume 99, (1917), pp. 44-45; and "Essence of Physical Relativity", Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, Volume 4, (November, 1918).
- 493. P. Volkmann, Erkenntnistheoretische Grundzüge der Naturwissenschaften und ihre Beziehungen zum Geistesleben der Gegenwart, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1896); Second Edition, (1910);

and "Über Newton's 'Philosophiae naturalis principia mathematica' und ihre Bedeutung für die Gegenwart", Schriften der Physikalisch-ökonomischen Gesellschaft zu Königsberg, (1898);

and Beiblätter zu den Annalen der Physik und Chemie, (1898), pp. 917-918;

and Einführung in das Studium der theoretischen Physik. insbesondere in das der analytischen Mechanik. Mit einer Einleitung in die Theorie der physikalischen Erkenntniss, B. G. Teubner. Leipzig, (1900);

and "Über die Fragen der Existenz, Eindeutigkeit und

Vieldeutigkeit", Annalen der Naturphilosophie, Volume 1, (1902), see Höfler's response: Beiblätter zu den Annalen der Physik, Volume 28, (1904), pp. 3-4.

494. K. Schwarzschild, "Die Poincarésche Theorie des Gleichgewichts einer homogenen rotierenden Flüssigkeitsmasse", Neue Annalen der Königlichen Sternwarte zu Bogenhausen bei München, Volume 3, (1897), pp. 231-299;

and "Ueber eine Classe periodischer Lösungen des Dreikörperproblems", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 147, (1898), cols. 17-24;

and "Ueber weitere Classen periodischer Lösungen des Dreikörperproblems", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 147, (1898), cols. 289-298;

and "Ueber Abweichungen vom Reciprocitätsgesetzes für Bromsilbergelatine", *Photographische Correspondenz*, Volume 36, (1899), pp. 109-112; English translation, "On the Derivations from the Law of Reciprocity for Bromide of Silver Gelatine", *The Astrophysical Journal*, Volume 11, (1900), pp. 89-91;

and "Die Bestimmung von Sternhelligkeiten aus extrafocalen photographischen Aufnahmen", Publicationen der von Kuffner'schen Sternwarte in Wien, Volume 5, (1900), b3-b23;

and "Über das zulässige Krümmungsmaß des Raumes", Vierteljahrsschrift der Astronomischen Gesellschaft, Volume 35, (1900);

and "Der Druck des Lichtes auf kleine Kugeln und die Arrhenius'sche Theorie der Cometenschweife", Sitzungsberichte der mathematische-physikalische Classe der Königlich Bayerische Akademie der Wissenschaften zu München, Volume 31, (1901), pp. 293-338;

and "Zur Elektrodynamik: I. Zwei Formen des Princips der Action in der Elektronentheorie. II. Die elementare elektrodynamische Kraft. III. Über die Bewegung des Elektrons", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen, Mathematisch-Physikalische Klasse, (1903), pp. 126-131, 132-141, 245-278;

and "Untersuchungen zu geometrischen Optik. I. Einleitung in die Fehler Theorie optischer Instrumente auf Grund des Eikonalbegriffs. II. Theorie der Spiegelteleskope. III. Ueber die astrophotographischen Objektive", Abhandlungen der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften in Göttingen, Volume 4, Number 1, (1905), pp. 3-31; Number 2, (1905), pp. 3-28; Number 4, (1905), pp. 3-54;

and "Ueber das Gleichgewicht der Sonnenatmosphäre", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen, Mathematisch-Physikalische Klasse, (1906), pp. 41-63;

and "Ueber die Eigenbewegungen der Fixsterne", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen, Mathematisch-Physikalische Klasse, (1907), pp. 614-632;

and "Ueber die Bestimmung von Vertex und Apex nach der Ellipsoidhypothese aus einer geringeren Anzahl beobachter Eigenbewegungen", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen, Mathematisch-Physikalische Klasse, (1908), pp. 191-200;

and "Über Diffusion und Absorption in der Sonnenatmosphäre", Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1914), pp. 1183-1200;

and Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1914), p. 1201-1213;

and "Über das Gravitationsfeld eines Massenpunktes nach der Einsteinschen Theorie", Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1916), pp. 189-196; and "Über das Gravitationsfeld einer Kugel aus inkompressibler Flüssigkeit nach der Einsteinschen Theorie", Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1916), pp. 424-434;

and "Zur Quantenhypothese", Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1916), pp. 548-568.

495. A. Voss, "Die Principien der rationellen Mechanik", Encyclopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften, 4, 1, (1901), pp. 3-121.

496. A. Föppl, Einführung in die maxwell'sche Theorie der Elektricität: mit einem einleitenden Abschnitte über das rechnen mit Vectorgrössen in der Physik, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1894);

and "Ueber eine mögliche Erweiterung des Newton'schen Gravitations Gesetzes", Sitzungsberichte der mathematischephysikalische Classe der Königlich Bayerische Akademie der Wissenschaften zu München, Volume 27, (1897), pp. 6, 93-99;

and Vorlesungen über technische Mechanik, in 6 Volumes, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1900-1910);

and "Über einen Kreiselversuch zur Messung der Umdrehungsgeschwindigkeit der Erde", Sitzungsberichte der mathematische-physikalische Classe der Königlich Bayerische Akademie der Wissenschaften zu München, Volume 34, (1904), pp. 5-28;

and "Über absolute und relative Bewegung", Sitzungsberichte der mathematische-physikalische Classe der Königlich Bayerische Akademie der Wissenschaften zu München, Volume 34, (1904), pp. 383-395.

497. E. Wiechert, "Ueber die Grundlagen der Electrodynamik", Annalen der Physik, Series 3, Volume 59, (1896), pp. 283-323;

and "Über die Massenverteilung im Innern der Erde", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen. Mathematisch-physikalische Klasse, (1897);

and Schriften der Physikalisch-ökonomischen Gesellschaft zu Königsberg, Volume 38, (January, 1897), p. 1;

and "Electrodynamische Elementargesetze", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 4, p. 676; Archives Néerlandaises des Sciences Exactes et Naturelles, Series 2, Volume 5, (1900), p. 549;

and Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen. Mathematisch-physikalische Klasse, (1910), p. 101;

and Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 12, (1911), pp. 689, 737;

and "Die Mechanik im Rahmen der allgemeinen Physik", in E. Warburg, Die Kultur der Gegenwart: Ihre Entwicklung und ihre Ziele, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1915), pp. 3-78

and Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 17, (1916), p. 442;

and "Die Gravitation als elektrodynamische Erscheinung", Annalen der Physik, Volume 63, (1920), p. 301;

and Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 211, Number 5054, (1920), col. 275;

and Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen. Mathematisch-physikalische Klasse, (May 18, 1920);

and Der Äther im Weltbild der Physik, Weidmann, Berlin, 1921.

A bibliography of Wiechert's works is found in "Zum Gedenken Emil Wiecherts anlässlich der 100. Wiederkehr seines Geburtstages", Veröffentlichungen des Institutes für Bodendynamik und Erdbebenforschung in Jena, Number 72, (1962), pp. 5-21.

498. G. Mie, "Entwurf einer allgemeinen Theorie der Energieübertragung", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 107, (1898), pp. 1113-1182;

and "Grundlagen einer Thoerie der Materie. I", Annalen der Physik, Volume 37, (1912), pp. 511-534;

and "Grundlagen einer Thoerie der Materie. II", Annalen der Physik, Volume 39, (1913), pp. 1-40;

and "Grundlagen einer Theorie der Materie. III", Annalen der Physik, Volume 40, (1913), p. 1-66, especially 25-63;

and "Bemerkungen zu der Einsteinschen Gravitationstheorie", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 15, (1914), pp. 115-122, 169-176, 263;

and Arbeiten aus den Gebieten der Physik, Mathematik, Chemie. Festschrift Julius Elster und Hans Geitel zum sechzigsten Geburtstag gewidmet von Freunden und Schülern. Mit 149 Abbildungen im Text und auf Tafeln sowie 5 Taellen., F. Vieweg, Braunschweig, (1915), pp. 251-268.

499. G. F. FitzGerald, The Scientific Writings of the Late George Francis Fitzgerald, Collected and Ed. with a Historical Introduction by Joseph Larmor, Hodges, Figgis, & Co., Itd., Dublin, Longmans, Green, & Co., London, (1902), p. 313.

500. H. Seeliger, "Kritisches Referat über Lange's Arbeiten", Vierteljahrsschrift der Astronomischen Gesellschaft, Volume 22, (1886), pp. 252-259;

and "Zur Theorie der Beleuchtigung der grossen Planeten, insbesondere des Saturns", Abhandlungen der mathematischephysikalische Classe der Königlich Bayerische Akademie der Wissenschaften zu München, Volume 16, (1887), pp. 403-516; and Sitzungsberichte der mathematische-physikalische Classe der Königlich Bayerische Akademie der Wissenschaften zu München, Volume 19, (1889), p. 19;

and "Über Zussamenstöße und Teilungen planetarischer Massen", Abhandlungen der mathematische-physikalische Classe der Königlich Bayerische Akademie der Wissenschaften zu München, Volume 17, (1891);

"Theorie der Beleuchtung staubförmiger Massen, insbesondere des Saturnringes", Abhandlungen der mathematische-physikalische Classe der Königlich Bayerische Akademie der Wissenschaften zu München, Volume 18, (1893), pp. 1-72;

and "Über das Newton'sche Gravitationsgesetz", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 137, (1895), cols. 129-136;

and Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 137, (1895), cols. 137, 138; Volume 138, (1895), cols. 51-54, 255-258;

and "Über das Newton'sche Gravitationsgesetz", Sitzungsberichte der mathematische-physikalische Classe der Königlich Bayerische Akademie der Wissenschaften zu München, Volume 26, (1896), pp. 373-400;

and "Über kosmische Staubmassen und das Zodiakallicht", Sitzungsberichte der mathematische-physikalische Classe der Königlich Bayerische Akademie der Wissenschaften zu München, Volume 31, (1901);

and "Ueber die sogenannte absolute Bewegung", Sitzungsberichte der mathematische-physikalische Classe der Königlich Bayerische Akademie der Wissenschaften zu München, (1906), Volume 36, pp. 85-137;

and "Das Zodiakallicht und die empirischen Glieder in der Bewegung der innern Planeten", Sitzungsberichte der mathematische-physikalische Classe der Königlich Bayerische Akademie der Wissenschaften zu München, Volume 36, (1906), pp. 595-622; Vierteljahrsschrift der Astronomischen Gesellschaft, Volume 41, (1906);

and "Sur d'Application des lors de la Nature à l'Univers", Scientia, Volume 6 (Supplement), (1909), pp. 89-107;

and "Über den Einfluss des Lichtdruckes auf die Bewegung planetarischer Körper", Astronomische Nachrichte, Volume 187, (1911), p. 417;

and "Über die Anomolien in der Bewegung der innern Planeten", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 201, (1915), cols. 273-280;

and Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 202, (1916), col. 83;

and "Bemerkung zu P. Gerbers Aufsatz 'Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation'", Annalen der Physik, Volume 53, (1917), pp. 31-32;

and "Weiters Bemerkungen zur 'Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation", Annalen der Physik, Volume 54, (1917), pp. 38-40;

and "Bemerkung zu dem Aufsatze des Herrn Gehrcke 'Über den Äther'", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 20, (1918), p. 262.

A bibliography of Seeliger's works appears in H. Kienle, Vierteljahrsschrift der Astronomischen Gesellschaft, Volume 60, (1925), pp. 18-23.

A. Schuster, "A Holiday Dream", Nature, Volume 58, (1898),
 p. 367; and Nature, Volume 58, (1898),
 p. 618.

502. P. Gerber, "Die räumliche und zeitliche Ausbreitung der Gravitation", Zeitschrift für Mathematik und Physik, Leipzig, Volume 43, (1898), pp. 93-104; reprinted Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation, Programmabhandlung des städtischen Realgymnasiums zu Stargard

in Pommerania, (1902); reprinted "Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 52, (1917), pp. 415-441;

Einstein stated, "...Gerber, who has given the correct formula for the perihelion motion of Mercury before I did [Albert Einstein's Theory of General Relativity, Crown, New York, (1979), p. 98]."

Seeliger attacked Gehrcke and Gerber: H. v. Seeliger, "Bemerkung zu P. Gerbers Aufsatz 'Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation", Annalen der Physik, Volume 53, (1917), pp. 31-32; "Weiters Bemerkungen zur 'Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation", Annalen der Physik, Volume 54, (1917), pp. 38-40; and "Bemerkung zu dem Aufsatze des Herrn Gehrcke 'Über den Äther", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 20, (1918), p. 262;

For counter-argument, see: E. Gehreke, "Zur Kritik und Geschichte der neueren Gravitationstheorien", Annalen der Physik, Volume 51, (1916), pp. 119-124; and Annalen der Physik, Volume 52, (1917), p. 415; and "Über den Äther", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 20, (1918), pp. 165-169; and "Zur Diskussion über den Äther", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 21, (1919), pp. 67-68; Gehreke's articles are reprinted in Kritik der Relativitätstheorie, Hermann Meusser, Berlin, (1924), pp. 40-48;

Forfurther Discussion, see also: S. Oppenheim, "Zur Frage nach der Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation", Annalen der Physik, Volume 53, (1917), pp. 163-168;

and P. Weyland, Tägliche Rundschau, (August 6, 14, and 16, 1920);

and M. v. Laue, "Die Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation. Bemerkungen zur gleichnamigen Abhandlungen von P. Gerber", Annalen der Physik, Volume 53, (1917), pp. 214-216; and Tägliche Rundschau, (August 11, 1920); and "Historisch-Kritisches über die Perihelbewegung des Mercur", Die Naturwissenschaften, Volume 8, (1920), pp. 735-736;

and P. Lenard's analysis in, "Über die Ablenkung eines Lichtstrahls von seiner geradlinigen Bewegung durch die Attraktion eines Weltkörpers, an welchem er nahe vorbeigeht; von J. Soldner, 1801", Annalen der Physik, Volume 65, (1921), pp. 593-600, 602-604; and Über Äther und Uräther, Second Edition, S. Hirzel, Leipzig, (1922); and, the later the edition, the better, Über Relativitätsprinzip, Äther, Gravitation, Third Enlarged Edition, S. Hirzel, Leipzig, (1921);

and A. Einstein, "Bemerkung zu E. Gehrckes Notiz 'Über den Äther" Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, 20, (1918), p. 261; and "Meine Antwort", Berliner Tageblatt und Handels-Zeitung, (August 27, 1920); English translation in Albert Einstein's Theory of General Relativity, Crown, New York, (1979), pp. 97-99;

and N. T. Roseveare, Mercury's Perihelion from Le Verrier to Einstein, Oxford University Press, (1982), pp. 78, 115, 137-146.

503. E. Pringsheim, with O. Lummer, "Die Vertheilung der Energie im Spectrum des schwarzen Körpers und des blanken Platins", Verhandlungen der Deutsche Physikalische Gesellschaft, Volume 1, (1899), pp. 215-230; and "Über die Jeans-Lorentzsche Strahlungsformel", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 9, (1908), pp. 459-450; and E. Pringsheim, Vorlesungen über die Physik der Sonne, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1910), p. 278 ff.

504. W. H. Julius, "Bemerkungen über einige Grundsätze der Elektricitätslehre", Archives Néerlandaises des Sciences Exactes et Naturelles, Series 2, Volume 5, (1900), p. 497; and Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 2, (1901), p. 348; and Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 3, (1902), p. 154; and Le Radium, Volume 7, (1910), p. 281; Archives Néerlandaises des Sciences Exactes et Naturelles, Volume 6, (1922), p. 92; and, with P. H. van Cittert, Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen te Amsterdam, Wis en Natuurkundige Afdeeling, Verslagen van de Gewone Vergaderingen, Volume 29, (1920), Archives Néerlandaises des Sciences Exactes et Naturelles, Volume 5, (1921), p. 296.

505. G. Ricci and T. Levi-Civita, "Méthodes de Calcul Différentiel Absolu et leurs Applications", Mathematische Annalen, Volume 54, (1901), pp. 125-201; and T. Levi-Civita, "Sulla Espressione Analitica Spettante al Tensore Gravitazionale nella Teoria di Einstein", Atti della Reale Accademia dei Lincei. Rendiconti. Classe di scienze fisiche, mathematiche e naturali (Roma), Volume 26, I Semestre, (1917), pp. 381-391; and Atti della Reale Accademia dei Lincei. Rendiconti. Classe di scienze fisiche, mathematiche e naturali (Roma), Volume 26, I Semestre, (1917), p. 458; "Nozione di Parallelismo....", Rendiconti del Circolo matimatico di Palermo, (1917), p. 173; Revista d'Ottica e Mecanica, Volume 1, (1920), p. 199.

506. S. Oppenheim, Die bahn des periodischen kometen 1886 IV (Brooks), K. K. Hof-buchlandlung W. Frick, Wien, (1891);

and "Zur Frage nach der Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation", Jahresbericht über das K K Akademische Gymnasium in Wien für das Schuljahr 1894/95, Wien, (1895), pp. 3-28; see Höfler's response: Vierteljahrsberichte des Wiener Vereins zur Förderung des physikalischen und chemischen Unterrichtes, Volume 1, Number 3, (1896), pp. 103-105;

and Kritik des Newton'schen Gravitationsgesetzes; mit einem Beitrag: Gravitation und Relativitätstheorie von F. Kottler, Deutsche Staatsrealschule in Karolinenthal, Prag, (1903);

and Das astronomische Weltbild im Wandel der Zeit, B.G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1906/multiple later editions);

and Die gleichgewichtsfiguren rotierender Flüssigkeitsmassen und die Gestalt der Himmelskörper, A. Haase, Prag, (1907);

and Probleme der Modernen Astronomie, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1911);

and Über die Eigenbewegungen der Fixsterne; Kritik der Zweischwarmhypothese, Wien, (1912);

and "Zur Frage nach der Fortpflanzungsgeschwindigkeit der Gravitation", Annalen der Physik, Volume 53, (1917), pp. 163-168;

and Statistische Untersuchungen über die Bewegung der kleinen Planeten, (1921);

and Astronomie, B.G. Teubner, Leipzig, Berlin, (1921);

and Encyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften, 6, 2, 22.

See also: H. Gyldén, Hülfstafeln zur Berechnung der Hauptungleichheiten in den absoluten Bewegungstheorien der kleinen Planeten. Unter Mitwirkung von Dr. S. Oppenheim Hrsg. von Hugo Gyldén, W. Engelmann, Leipzig, (1896).

507. F. Kottler and S. Oppenheim, Kritik des Newton'schen Gravitationsgesetzes; mit einem Beitrag: Gravitation und Relativitätstheorie von F. Kottler, Deutsche Staatsrealschule in Karolinenthal, Prag, (1903);

and F. Kottler, "Über die Raumzeitlinien der Minkowski'schen Welt", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 121, (1912), pp. 1659-1759;

and "Relativitätsprinzipund beschleunigte Bewegung", Annalen der Physik, Volume 44, (1914), pp. 701-748;

and "Fallende Bezugssysteme vom Standpunkt des Relativitätsprinzip", Annalen der Physik, Volume 45, (1914), pp. 481-516;

and "Beschleunigungsrelative Bewegungen und die konforme Gruppe der Minkowski'schen Welt", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 125, (1916), pp. 899-919;

and "Über Einsteins Äquivalenzhypothese und die Gravitation",

Annalen der Physik, Volume 50, (1916), pp. 955-972;

and "Über die physikalischen Grundlagen der Einsteinschen Gravitationstheorie", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 56, (1918), pp. 401-462;

and F. Kottler, Encyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften, 6, 2, 22a, pp. 159-237;

and "Newton'sches Gesetz und Metrik", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 131, (1922), p. 1-14;

and "Maxwell' schen Gleichungen und Metrik", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 131, (1922), pp. 119-146.

508. E. W. Brown, "On the Mean Motions of the Lunar Perigee and Node", Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, Volume 57, (1897), pp. 332-341, 566; and "On the Verification of the Newtonian Law", Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, Volume 63, (1903), pp. 396-397; and "On the Degree of Accuracy of the New Lunar Theory", Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, Volume 64, (1904), p. 530; and "On the Effects of Certain Magnetic and Gravitational Forces on the Motion of the Moon", American Journal of Science, Volume 29, (1910), pp. 529-539.

509. E. Anding, "Über Koordinaten und Zeit", Encyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften, 6, 2, 1, Leipzig, (1905), pp. 3-15; French translation by H. Bourget, "Système de Référence et Mesure du Temps", Encyclopédie des Sciences Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées Publiée sous les Auspices des Académies des Sciences de Göttingue, de Leipzig, de Munich, et de Vienne avec la Collaboration de Nombreux Savants. Édition Française Rédigée et Publiée d'Après l'Édition Allemande sous la Direction de Jules Molk. . . , Tome VII, Volume I, Part VII-1, Gauthier-Villars, Paris.

510. H. Liebmann, Nichteuklidische Geometrie, G. J. Göschen, Leipzig, (1905/1912/1923), Sammlung Schubert 49, Numerous Editions; and "Die Kegelschnitte und die Planetenbewegung im nichteuklidischen Raum", Berichte über die Verhandlungen der Königlich Sächsischen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Leipzig, mathematisch-physische Classe, Volume 54, (1902), pp. 393-423; and "Über die Zweideutigkeit des Potentials im elliptischen gegenüber dem im sphärischen Raume", Berichte über die Verhandlungen der Königlich Sächsischen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Leipzig, mathematisch-physische Classe, Volume 54, (1902).

511. J. Zenneck, "Gravitation", Encyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften, 5, 2, 24, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1903), pp. 25-67.

512. A. Wilkens, "Zur Elektronentheorie", Vierteljahrsschrift der Astronomischen Gesellschaft, Volume 39, (1904), pp. 209-212; and Untersuchungen über Poincaré'sche periodische Lösungen des Problems der drei Korper, C. Schaidt, Kiel, (1905); and "Zur Gravitationstheorie", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 7, (1906), pp. 846-850.

513. M. Planck, "Das Prinzip der Relativität und die Grundgleichungen der Mechanik", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 8, (1906), pp. 136-141;

and "Zur Dynamik bewegter Systeme", Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, Sitzung der physikalisch-mathematischen Classe, Volume 13, (June, 1907), 542-570, especially 542 and 544; reprinted Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 26, (1908), pp. 1-34; reprinted Physikalische Abhandlungen und Voträge, Volume 2, F. Vieweg und Sohn, Braunschweig, (1958), pp. 176-209;

and "Bemerkungen zum Prinzip der Aktion und Reaktion in der allgemeinen Dynamik", Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, Volume 10, (1908), pp. 728-731;

and "Bemerkungen zum Prinzip der Aktion und Reaktion in der

allgemeinen Dynamik (With a Discussion with Minkwoski)", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 9, Number 23, (November 15, 1908), pp. 828-830;

and "Gleichförmiger Rotation und Lorentz-Kontraktion", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 11, (1910), p. 294.

See also, R. v. Eötvös, "A Föld Vonzása Különböző Anyagokra", Akadémiai Értesítő, Volume 2, (1890), pp. 108-110; German translation, "Über die Anziehung der Erde auf verschiedene Substanzen", Mathematische und naturwissenschaftliche Berichte aus Ungarn, Volume 8, (1890), pp. 65-68; response, W. Hess, Beiblätter zu den Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Volume 15, (1891), p. 688-689;

and R. v. Eőtvős, "Untersuchung über Gravitation und Erdmagnetismus", *Annalen der Physik*, Series 3, Volume 59, (1896), pp. 354-400;

and "Beszéd a kolozsvári Bolyai-emlékünnepen", Akadémiai Értesítő, (1903), p. 110;

and "Bericht über die Verhandlungen der fünfzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung abgehalten vom 20. bis 28. September 1906 in Budapest", Verhandlungen der vom 20. bis 28. September 1906 in Budapest abgehaltenen fünfzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, Part 1, G. Reimer, Berlin, (1908), pp. 55-108;

and Über geodetischen Arbeiten in Ungarn, besonders über Beobachtungen mit der Drehwaage, Hornyánszky, Budapest, (1909);

and "Bericht über Geodätische Arbeiten in Ungarn, besonders über Beobachtungen mit der Drehwage", Verhandlungen der vom 21. Bis 29. September 1909 in London und Cambridge abgehaltenen sechzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, Part 1, G. Reimer, Berlin, (1910), pp. 319-350;

and "Über Arbeiten mit der Drehwaage: Ausgführt im Auftrage der

Königlichen Ungarischen Regierung in den Jahren 1908-1911", Verhandlungen der vom in Hamburg abgehaltenen siebzehnten allgemeinen Conferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, Part 1, G. Reimer, Berlin, (1912), pp. 427-438;

and Eötvös, Pekár, Fekete, Trans. XVI. Allgemeine Konferenz der Internationalen Erdmessung, (1909); Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen (1909), geschäftliche Mitteilungen, p. 37;

and "Beiträge zur Gesetze der Proportionalität von Trägheit und Gravität", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 68, (1922), pp. 11-16;

and D. Pekár, Die Naturwissenschaften, Volume 7, (1919), p. 327.

cf. H. E. Ives, "Derivation of the Mass-Energy Relation", Journal of the Optical Society of America, Volume 42, Number 8, (August, 1952), pp. 540-543; reprinted R. Hazelett and D. Turner Editors, The Einstein Myth and the Ives Papers, a Counter-Revolution in Physics, Devin-Adair Company, Old Greenwich, Connecticut, (1979), pp. 182-185;

cf. E. Whittaker, A History of the Theories of Aether and Electricity, Volume II, Philosophical Library, New York, (1954), pp. 151-152;

cf. G. B. Brown, "What is Wrong with Relativity?", Bulletin of the Institute of Physics and the Physical Society, Volume 18, Number 3, (March, 1967), p. 71;

see also, A. Einstein, Jahrbuch der Radioaktivität und Elektronik, Volume 4, (1907), pp. 411-462; Annalen der Physik, Volume 35, (1911), pp. 898-908.

514. K. v. Mosengeil, Dissertation, Berlin, (1906); and "Theorie der stationären Strahlung in einem gleichförmig bewegten Hohlraum", *Annalen der Physik*, Series 4, Volume 22, (1907), pp. 867-904. Mosengeil was Planck's student.

See also: Theorie der Elektrizität, Volume 2, Second Edition, p. 44.

- 515. F. Noether, "Zur Kinematik des starren Körpers in der Relativtheorie", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 31, (1910), pp. 919-944.
- 516. W. Ignatowsky, "Der starre Körper und das Relativitätsprinzip", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 31, (1910), pp. 607-630; and "Zur Elastizitätstheorie vom Standpunkte des Relativitätsprinzips", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 12, (1911), pp. 164-169, 441.
- 517. V. Varičak, "Bemerkung zu einem Punkte in der Festrede L. Schlesingers über Johann Bolyai", Jahresbericht der Deutschen Mathematiker-Vereinigung, Volume 16, (1907), pp. 320-321;

and "Beiträge zur nichteuklidischen Geometrie", Jahresbericht der Deutschen Mathematiker-Vereinigung", Volume 17, (1908), pp. 70-83;

and Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 11, (1910), pp. 93-96, 287-294, 586-587;

and "Zum Ehrenfestschen Paradoxon", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 12, (1911), pp. 169-170;

and Glas, Srpska Kraljevska Akademija, Volume 88, (1911);

and "Über die nichteuklidische Interpretation der Relativitätstheorie", Jahresbericht der Deutschen Mathematiker-Vereinigung, Volume 21, (1912), pp. 103-127;

and Rad Jugoslavenska Akademija Znanosti i Umjetnosti, (1914), p. 46; (1915), pp. 86, 101; (1916), p. 79; (1918), p. 1; (1919), p. 100.

518. R. Gans, "Gravitation und Elektromagnetismus", Physikalisch Zeitschrift, Volume 6, (1905), pp. 803-805; and Jahresbericht der Deutschen Mathematiker-Vereinigung, Volume 14, (1905), p. 578; and "Zur Elektrodynamik in bewegten Medien", Annalen der Physik,

- Volume 16, (1905), pp. 516-534; and "Über das Biot-Savartsche Gesetz", *Physikalische Zeitschrift*, Volume 12, (1911), pp. 806-811; "Ist die Gravitation elektromagnetischen Ursprungs?", *Festschrift Heinrich Weber zu seinem siebzigsten Geburtstag am 5. März 1912 / gewidmet von Freunden und Schülern*, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1912), pp. 75-94; and *Annalen der Physik*, Volume 49, (1916), p. 149.
- 519. F. Wacker, "Über Gravitation und Elektromagnetismus", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 7, (1906), pp. 300-302; and "Ueber Gravitation und Elektromagnetismus", Inaugural Dissertation, Tübingen, (1909).
- 520. O. Hecker, Beobachtungen an Horizontalpendeln über die Deformation des Erdkörpers unter dem einfluss von sonne und mond, P. Stankiewicz, Berlin, (1907), Veröffentlichung der Königlich preuszischen geodätischen Institutes, New Series, Number 32.
- 521. C. V. Charlier, "Wie eine unendliche Welt aufgebaut sein kann", Meddelande Från Lunds Astronomiska Observatorium, Series 2, Number 38, (1908), p. 22.
- 522. W. Ritz, "Recherches Critiques sur l'Électrodynamique Générale", Annales de Chimie et de Physique, Volume 13, (1908), pp. 145-275; and "Über die Grundlagen der Elektrodynamik und die Theorie der Schwarzen Strahlung" Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 9, (1908), pp. 903-907; and "Die Gravitation", Scientia, Volume 5, (1909), pp. 241-255.
- 523. W. Hofmann, Kritische Beleuchtung der beiden Grundbegriffe der Mechanik: Bewegung und Trägheit und daraus gezogene Folgerungen betreffs der Achsendrehung der Erde und des Foucault'schen Pendelversuches, M. Kuppitsch Witwe, Leipzig, Wien, (1904).
- 524. E. Gehrcke, Kritik der Relativitätstheorie, Hermann Meusser, Berlin, (1924).

525. P. Ehrenfest, "Gleichförmige Rotation starrer Körper und Relativitätstheorie", *Physikalische Zeitschrift*, Volume 10, (1909), p. 918; *Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Amsterdam*, Volume 15, (1913), p. 1187.

526. W. de Sitter, "On the Bearing of the Principle of Relativity on Gravitational Astronomy", *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society*, Volume 71, (1911), pp. 388-415, 524, 603, 716;

and "Absorption of Gravitation", The Observatory, Volume 35,(1912), p. 387;

and "The Absorption of Gravity and the Longitude of the Moon", Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Amsterdam, Volume 21, (1912);

and "Some Problems of Astronomy. VII. The Secular Variation of the Elements of the Four Inner Planets", *The Observatory*, Volume 36, (1913), pp. 296-303;

and "Ein astronomischer Beweis für die Konstanz der Lichtgeschwindigkeit", *Physikalische Zeitschrift*, Volume 14, (1913), p. 429;

and "Über die Genauigkeit, innerhalb welcher die Unabhängigkeit der Lichtgeschwindigkeit von der Bewegung der Quelle behauptet werden kann", *Physikalische Zeitschrift*, Volume 14, (1913), p. 1267;

and "On Absorption of Gravitation and the Moon's Longitude", Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Amsterdam, Volume 15, (1913), pp. 808-839;

and Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Amsterdam, Volume 15, (1913), p. 1297; Volume 16, (1913), p. 395;

and "Ein astronomisches Beweis für die Konstanz der Lichtgeschwindigkeit", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 14, (1913), p. 429;

and "Über die Genauigkeit, innerhalb welcher die Unabhängigkeit der Lichtgeschwindigkeit von der Bewegung der Quell behauptet werden kann", *Physikalische Zeitschrift*, Volume 14, (1913), p. 1267;

and "Remarks on M. Woltjer's Paper concerning Seeliger's Hypothesis", *Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Amsterdam*, Volume 17, (1914), pp. 33-37; a response to: J. Woltjer, "On Seeliger's Hypothesis about the Anomalies in the Motion of the Four Inner Planets," *Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Amsterdam*, Volume 17, (1914), pp. 23-33;

and Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen te Amsterdam, Wis en Natuurkundige Afdeeling, Verslagen van de Gewone Vergaderingen, Volume 22, (1914), p. 1239;

and, Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Amsterdam, Volume 17, (1915), p. 1309;

and "Proposal for a New Method of Determining the Constant of Aberration", Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, Volume 75, (1915), pp. 458-464;

and "The Figure of the Earth", The Observatory, Volume 38,(1915), p. 397;

and Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen te Amsterdam, Wis en Natuurkundige Afdeeling, Verslagen van de Gewone Vergaderingen, Volume 25, (1916), p. 232;

and "Planetary Motion and the Motion of the Moon According to Einstein's Theory", *Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences* at Amsterdam, Volume 19, (1916), pp. 367-381;

and "The Longitude of Jupiter's Satellites, derived from Photographic Plates taken at the Cape Observatory in the Year 1913", Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, Volume 76, (1916), pp. 448-468;

and "Space, Time, and Gravitation", The Observatory, Volume 39,(1916), p. 412;

and "De Relativiteit der Rotatie in de Theorie van Einstein" Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen te Amsterdam, Wis en Natuurkundige Afdeeling, Verslagen van de Gewone Vergaderingen, Volume 25, (1916), pp. 499-504; English translation in "On the Relativity of Rotation in Einstein's Theory", Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Amsterdam, Volume 19, (1916), pp. 527-532;

and "On Einstein's Theory of Gravitation and its Astronomical Consequences", Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, Volume 76, (1916), pp. 699-728; Volume 77, (1916), pp. 155-183; Volume 78, (1917), pp. 3-28;

and "The Motion of the Perihelion on the Classical Theory of Relativity", The Observatory, Volume 40,(1917), p. 302;

and "On the Relativity of Inertia: Remarks Concerning Einstein's Latest Hypothesis", Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Amsterdam, Volume 19, (1917), p. 1217-1255;

and Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Amsterdam, Volume 20, (1917), p. 229;

and "Further Remarks on the Solutions of the Field Equations of Einstein's Theory of Gravitation", *Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Amsterdam*, Volume 20, (1918), pp. 1309-1312;

and "On the Einstein Terms in the Motion of the Lunar Perigee and Node", Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, Volume 81,(1920), p. 102.

See also: Gill, Sir David & W.H. Finlay, Determination of the Mass of Jupiter and Elements of the Orbits of its Satellites from

Observations Made with the Cape Heliometer, reduced and discussed by W. de Sitter, H.M. Stationery Off., Edinburgh, (1915).

527. R. Hargreaves, Transactions of the Cambridge Philosophical Society, Volume 21, (1908), p. 107. See also: H. Bateman, The Physical Review, Volume 12, (1918), p. 459.

528. H. Bateman, "The Conformal Transformations of a Space of Four Dimensions and their Applications to Geometrical Optics", Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society, Series 2, Volume 7, (1909), pp. 70-89;

and Philosophical Magazine, Volume 18, (1909), p. 890;

and "The Transformation of the Electrodynamical Equations", Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society, Series 2, Volume 8, (1910), pp. 223-264, 375, 469;

and "The Physical Aspects of Time", Memoirs and Proceedings of the Manchester Literary and Philosophical Society, Volume 54, (1910), pp. 1-13;

and American Journal of Mathematics, Volume 34, (1912), p. 325;

and The Mathematical Analysis of Electrical and Optical Wave-Motion on the Basis of Maxwell's Equations, CUP, (1915);

and The Physical Review, Volume 12, (1918), p. 459;

and "On General Relativity", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 6, Volume 37, (1919), pp. 219-223 [Bateman refers, without citation, in this article to: F. Kottler's, "Über die Raumzeitlinien der Minkowski'schen Welt", *Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien* (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 121, (1912), pp. 1659-1759];

and Bateman, Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society, Series 2, Volume 21, (1920), p. 256.

- L. Silberstein, "General Relativity without the Equivalence Hypothesis", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 6, Volume 36, (July, 1918), pp. 94-128.
- E. Besselhagen, Mathematische Annalen, Volume 84, (1921), p. 258.
- F. D. Murnaghan, The Physical Review, Volume 17, (1921), p. 73.
- G. Kowalewski, Journal für reine und angewandte Mathematik, Volume 157, (1927), p. 193.
- 529. L. Silberstein, Vectorial Mechanics, London, Macmillan, (1913); and The Theory of Relativity, Macmillan, London, (1914); and "General Relativity without the Equivalence Hypothesis", Philosophical Magazine, Series 6, Volume 36, (July, 1918), pp. 94-128.
- 530. E. Cunningham, Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society, Series 2, Volume 8, (1910), p. 77; and The Principle of Relativity, CUP, (1914, enlarged 1922); and Relativity and the Electron Theory, Longmans, Green and Co., London, New York, (1915); Relativity and the Electron Theory and Gravitation, Longmans, Green and Co., London, New York, (1921).
- 531. H. Minkowski, "Das Relativitätsprinzip", Lecture of November 5th, 1907, Annalen der Physik, Volume 47, (1915), pp. 927-938;
- and "Relativitätsprinzip", Jahresbericht der Deutschen Mathematiker-Vereinigung, Volume 24, (1915), pp. 1241-1244;

and "Die Grundgleichungen für die elektromagnetischen Vorgänge in bewegten Körpern", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen. Mathematischphysikalische Klasse, (1908), pp. 53-111; reprinted Gesammelte Abhandlungen, Volume 2, D. Hilbert, Editor, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1911), pp. 352-404;

and "Raum und Zeit", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 10, (1909), pp. 104-111; reprinted Gesammelte Abhandlungen, Volume 2, D. Hilbert, Editor, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1911), pp. 431-444;

and "Raum und Zeit", With notes by A. Sommerfeld, Das Relativitätsprinzip: eine Sammlung von Abhandlungen, B. G. Teubner, Berlin, Leipzig, (1913), pp. 56-73;

and "Eine Ableitung der Grundgleichungen für die elektromagnetischen Vorgänge in bewegten Körpern vom Standpunkte der Elektronentheorie", Mathematische Annalen, Volume 68, (1910), pp. 526-551; reprinted Gesammelte Abhandlungen, Volume 2, D. Hilbert, Editor, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1911), pp. 405-430;

English translations of some of Minkowski's works are found in: The Principle of Relativity, Dover, New York, (1952); and The Principle of Relativity; Original Papers by A. Einstein and H. Minkowski, Tr. into English by M. N. Saha and S. N. Bose. . . with a Historical Introduction by P. C. Mahalanobis, University of Calcutta, Calcutta, (1920).

532. J. F. Hayford, Geodesy. The Figure of the Earth and Isostasy from Measurements in the United States, (U.S.) Government Printing Office, Washington, (1909); and Geodesy. Supplementary Investigation in 1909 of the Figure of the Earth and Isostasy, (U.S.) Government Printing Office, Washington, (1910); and Geodesy. The Effect of Topography and Isostatic Compensation upon the Intensity of Gravity, (U.S.) Government Printing Office, Washington, (1912).

With W. Bowie, Effect of Topography and Isostatic Compensation upon the Intensity of Gravity, (U.S.) Government Printing Office, Washington, (1912).

533. F. Helmert, Die mathematischen und physikalischen Theorieen der Höhere Geodäsie, In Two Volumes, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1880-1884); Encyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften, 6,

1,7; and "Über die Genauigkeit der Dimensionen des Hayford'schen Erdellipsoids", Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1911); and "Neue Formeln für den Verlauf der Schwerkraft im Meeresniveau beim Festland", Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1915), p. 676.

534. H. Reissner, Annalen der Physik, Volume 50, (1916), p. 106; and "Über die Relativität der Beschleunigungen in der Mechanik", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 15, (1914), pp. 371-375; and "Über eine Möglichkeit die Gravitation als unmittelbare Folge der Relativität der Trägheit abzuleiten", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 16, (1915), pp. 179-185.

535. P. Frank, "Relativitätstheorie und Elektronentheorie in ihrer Anwendung zur Ableitung der Grundgleichungen für die elektromagnetischen Vorgänge in bewegten ponderablen Körpern", Annalen der Physik, Volume 27, (1908), 1059-1065; and "Die Stellung des Relativitätsprinzips im System der Mechanik und der Elektrodynamik", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Classe der Kaiserlichen Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 118, (1909), pp. 373-446.

536. G.W. de Tunzelmann, A Treatise on Electrical Theory and the Problem of the Universe. Considered from the Physical Point of View, with Mathematical Appendices, C. Griffin, London, (1910); and "Physical Relativity Hypotheses Old and New", Science Progress, Volume 13, (1918/1919), pp. 474-482; and "The General Theory of Relativity and Einstein's Theory of Gravitation", Science Progress, Volume 13, (1918/1919), pp. 652-657.

537. W. Schweydar, Untersuchungen über die Gezeiten der festen Erde und die hypothetische Magmaschicht, B.G. Teubner in Leipzig, Potsdam, (1912), Veröffentlichung des Königlich preuszischen geodätischen Institutes, New Series, Number, 54;

and Harmonische Analyse der Lotstörungen durch Sonne und Mond, B.G. Teubner in Leipzig, Potsdam, (1914), Veröffentlichung des Königlich preuszischen geodätischen Institutes, New Series, Number 59;

and "Beobachtungen der Änderung der Intensität der Schwerkraft durch den Mond", Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, (1914);

and Theorie der Deformation der Erde durch Flutkräfte, B.G. Teubner in Leipzig, Potsdam, (1916), Veröffentlichung der Königlich preuszischen geodätischen Institutes, New Series, Number 66;

and Lotschwankung und Deformation der Erde durch Flutkräfte, gemessen mit zwei Horizontalpendeln im Bergwerk in 189 Meter tiefe bei Freiberg, P. Stankiewicz, Berlin, (1921), Zentralbureau der Internationalen Erdmessung, New Series, Number 38.

538. H. A. Lorentz, "Considerations on Gravitation", *Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Amsterdam*, Volume 2, (1900), pp. 559-574;

and Abhandlungen über theoretische Physik, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1907), Numbers 14, 17-20;

and "Alte und neue Fragen der Physik", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 11, (1910), pp. 1234-1257; reprinted, in part, as: "Das Relativitätsprinzip und seine Anwendung auf einige besondere physikalische Erscheinungen", Das Relativitätsprinzip: eine Sammlung von Abhandlungen, B. G. Teubner, Berlin, Leipzig, (1913), pp. 74-89;

and "La Gravitation", Scientia, Volume 6, (1914), pp. 28-59;

and Het Relativiteitsbeginsel; drie Voordrachten Gehouden in Teyler's Stiftung, Erven Loosjes, Haarlem, (1913); Archives du Musée Teyler, Series 3, Volume 2, (1914), pp. 1-60; German translation: Das Relativitätsprinzip. Drei Vorlesungen gehalten in Teylers Stiftung zu Haarlem, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, Berlin, (1914/1920);

- and "Over Einstein's Theorie der Zwaartekracht. I, II, & III", Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen te Amsterdam, Wis en Natuurkundige Afdeeling, Verslagen van de Gewone Vergaderingen, Volume 24, (1916), pp. 1389-1402, 1759-1774; Volume 25, (1916), pp. 468-486; English translation, "On Einstein's Theory of Gravitation. I, II & III", Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Amsterdam, Volume 19, (1917), pp. 1341-1354, 1354-1369; Volume 20, (1917), pp. 2-19.
- 539. G. Le Bon, L'Évolution de la Matière, 12th Edition, E. Flammarion, Paris, (ca. 1905); English translation, The Evolution of Matter, Charles Scribner's Sons, New York, (1907); and L'Évolution des Forces; avec 42 Figures Photographiées au Laboratoire de l'Auteur, E. Flammarion, Paris, (1907); English translation, The Evolution of Forces, D. Appleton, New York, (1908).
- 540. E. B. Wilson, "The So-Called Foundations of Geometry", Archiv der Mathematik und Physik, Series 3, Volume 6, (1904), pp. 104-122;
- E. B. Wilson, "The Revolution of a Dark Particle about a Luminous Centre", Annals of Mathematics, (1907), p. 134;
- and G. N. Lewis, "A Revision of the Fundamental Laws of Matter and Energy", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 6, Volume 16, (1908), pp. 707-717;
- and G. N. Lewis and R. C. Tolman, "The Principle of Relativity and Non-Newtonian Mechanics", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 6, Volume 18, (1909), p. 510-523;

- and G. N. Lewis, "A Revision of the Fundamental Laws of Matter and Energy", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 6, Volume 16, (1908), pp. 707-717;
- and R. C. Tolman, "Non-Newtonian Mechanics, the Mass of a Moving Body", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 6, Volume 23, (1912), pp. 375-380; *The Theory of the Relativity of Motion*, University of California at Berkeley Press, (1917);
- and E. B. Wilson and G. N. Lewis, "The Space-Time Manifold of Relativity: The Non-Euclidean Geometry of Mechanics and Electrodynamics", *Proceedings of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences*, Volume 48, Number 11, (November, 1912), pp. 389-507;
- and E. B. Wilson, "Differential Geometry of Two-Dimensional Spaces in Hyperspace", *Proceedings of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences*, Volume 52, (1916), pp. 270-386.
- 541. E. Hupka, "Beitrag zur Kenntnis der trägen Masse bewegter Elektronen", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 31, (1910), pp. 169-204; and Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 33, (1910), p. 400.
- 542. G. Herglotz, "Über den vom Standpunkt des Relativitätsprinzips aus als 'starr' zu bezeichnenden Körper", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 31, (1910), pp. 393-415; Volume 36, (1911), p. 493.
- 543. E. Lamla, "Über die Hydrodynamik des Relativitätsprinzip", Dissertation, Berlin, *Annalen der Physik*, Series 4, Volume 37, (1912), p. 772.
- 544. C. V. Burton, "A Modified Theory of Gravitation", *Philosophical Magazine*, Series 6, Volume 17, (1909), pp. 71-113.
- 545. G. Nordström, "Relativitätsprinzip und Gravitation", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 13, (November, 1912), pp. 1126-1129;

and "Träge und schwere Masse in der Relativitätsmechanik", Annalen der Physik, Volume 40, (April, 1913), pp. 856-878;

and "Zur Theorie der Gravitation vom Standpunkt des Relativitätsprinzips", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 42, (October, 1913), pp. 533-554;

and "Die Fallgesetze und Planetenbewegung in der Relativitätstheorie", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 43, (1914), p. 1101-1110;

and Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 15, (1914), p. 375;

and Annales Academiae Scientiarum Fennicae, Volume 57, (1914/1915); Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen te Amsterdam, Wis en Natuurkundige Afdeeling, Verslagen van de Gewone Vergaderingen, Volume 25, (1916), p. 836.

546. M. Behacker, "Der frei Fall und die Planetenbewegung in Nordströms Gravitationstheorie", *Physikalische Zeitschrift*, Volume 14, (1913), pp. 989-992.

547. K. F. Bottlinger, "Die Gravitationstheorie und die Bewegung des Mondes", Inaugural Dissertation, München, (1912); and "Die Erklärung der Empirische Glieder der Mondbewegung durch die Annahme einer extinction der Gravitation im Erdinnern", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 191, (1912), cols. 147-150; and "Zur Frage nach der Absorption der Gravitation", Sitzungsberichte der mathematische-physikalische Classe der Königlich Bayerische Akademie der Wissenschaftenzu München, (1914), pp. 223-229; and "Die astronomischen Prüfungsmöglichkeiten der Relativitätstheorie", Jahrbuch der Radioaktivität und Elektronik, Volume 17, (1920), pp. 146-161.

548. M. Abraham, "Dynamik des Elektrons", Nachrichten von der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen. Mathematisch-physikalische Klasse, (1902), pp. 20-41;

and "Prinzipien der Dynamik des Elektrons", Physikalische

Zeitschrift, Volume 4, (1902), pp. 57-62;

and "Prinzipien der Dynamik des Elektrons", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 10, (1903), pp. 105-179;

and "Der Lichtdruck auf einen bewegten Spiegel und das Gesetz der schwarzen Strahlung", Festschrift Ludwig Boltzmann gewidmet zum sechzigsten geburtstage 20. februar 1904. Mit einem Portrait, 101 Abbildungen im Text und 2 Tafeln, J. A. Barth, Leipzig, (1904), pp. 85-93;

and "Zur Theorie der Strahlung und des Strahlungsdruckes", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 14, (1904), pp. 236-287;

and Theorie der Elektrizität, In Two Volumes, B.G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1904/1905);

and M. Abraham and A. Föppl, Theorie der Elektrizität/Einführung in die Maxwellsche Theorie der Elektrizität,, B.G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1907);

and M. Abraham, "Geometrische Grundbegriffe", Encyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften, 4, 3, 14, pp. 3-47, especially p. 28;

and "Zur Elektrodynamik bewegter Körper", Rendiconti del Circolo matimatico di Palermo, Volume 28, (1909), pp. 1-28;

and "Die Bewegungsgleichungen eines Massenteilichens in der Relativitätstheorie", *Physikalische Zeitschrift*, Volume 11, (1910), pp. 527-531;

and "Sull'Elettrodinamica di Minkowski. Vettori e Tensori di Quattro Dimensioni", Rendiconti del Circolo matimatico di Palermo, Volume 30, (1910), p. 33;

Atti della Reale Accademia dei Lincei. Rendiconti. Classe di Scienze Fisiche, Matematiche e Naturali, Volume 20, (December, 1911), p. 678;

and Il Nuovo Cimento, Volume 4, (December, 1912), p. 459;

and "Zur Theorie der Gravitation", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 13, (1912), pp. 1-4;

and "Das Elementargesetz der Gravitation", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 13, (1912), pp. 4-5;

and "Berichtigung", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 13, (1912), pp. 176,

and "Der freie Fall", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 13, (1912), pp. 310-311;

and "Die Erhaltung der Energie und der Materie im Schwerkraftfelde", *Physikalische Zeitschrift*, Volume 13, (1912), pp. 311-314;

and "Das Gravitationsfeld" Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 13, (1912), pp. 739-797;

and "Relativität und Gravitation. Erwiderung auf eine Bemerkung des Hrn. A. Einstein" *Annalen der Physik*, Series 4, Volume 38, (1912), pp. 1056-1058;

and "Nochmals Relativität und Gravitation. Bemerkungen zu A. Einsteins Erwiderung", *Annalen der Physik*, Series 4, Volume 39, (1912), pp. 444-448;

and "Die neue Mechanik", Scientia, Volume 15, (1914), pp. 8-27;

and "Sur le Problème de la Relativité", Scientia, Volume 16, (1914), pp. 101-103;

and "Neuere Gravitationstheorien", Jahrbuch der Radioativität und Elektronik, Volume 11, (1915), pp. 470-520.

549. G. Pavanini, "Prime Consequenze d'una Recente Teoria della Gravitazione", Atti della Reale Accademia dei Lincei. Rendiconti.

Classe di Scienze Fisiche, Matematiche e Naturali, Series 5, Volume 21, Number 2, (1912), pp. 648-655; and "Prime Consequenze d'una Recente Teoria della Gravitazione. Le Disuguaglianze Secolari", Atti della Reale Accademia dei Lincei. Rendiconti. Classe di Scienze Fisiche, Matematiche e Naturali, Series 5, Volume 22, Number 1, 369-376.

- 550. B. Caldonazzo, "Traiettorie dei Raggi Luminosi e dei Punti Materiali nel Campo Gravitazionale" *Il Nuovo Cimento*, Series 6, Volume 5, (1913), pp. 267-300.
- 551. E. Kretschmann, Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 48, (1915), pp. 907, 943; and "Über den physikalischen Sinn der Relativitäts-Postulat, A. Einsteins neue und seine ürspringliche Relativitätstheorie", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 53, (1917), pp. 575-614.
- 552. G. Jaumann, Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 121, (1912), p. 95.
- 553. J. Evershed, Kodaikanal Observatory Bulletins, Number 36, (1914); and Kodaikanal Observatory Bulletins, Number 41, (1918); and, with T. Royds, Number 39, (1916).
- 554. G. O. James, "Relation of the Inertial and Empirical Trihedrion on a Gravitational System", *Astronomical Journal*, Volume 27, (1913), p. 77.
- 555. E. Freundlich, "Zur Frage der konstanz der Lichtgeschwindigkeit", *Physikalische Zeitschrift*, Volume 14, (1913), pp. 835-838;

and Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 15, (1914), p. 369;

and Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 16, (1915), p. 115;

and Beobachtungs-Ergebnisse der Königlichen Sternwarte zu Berlin, Number 15, (1915), p. 77; and "Über die Gravitationsverschiebung der Spektrallinien bei Fixsternen", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 202, (1915), cols. 17-24;

and "Über die Erklärung der Anomalien im Planeten-System durch die Gravitationswirkung interplanetarer Massen", Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 201, (1915), cols. 49-56;

and Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 202, (1916), col. 147;

and "Die Grundlagen der Einsteinschen Gravitationstheorie", Die Naturwissenschaften, Volume 4, (1916), pp. 363-372, 386-392;

and Die Grundlagen der Einsteinschen Gravitationstheorie, Multiple Revised and Enlarged Editions;

and "Zur Prüfung der allgemeine Relativitätstheorie", Die Naturwissenschaften, Volume 7, (1919), pp. 629-636, 696;

and Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 20, (1919), p. 561.

556. W. Gyllenberg, Meddelande Från Lunds Astronomiska Observatorium, Series 2, Number 13, (1915).

557. [M. Grossmann?] A. Einstein, "Die Grundlage der allgemeinen Relativitätstheorie", Annalen der Physik, Series 4, Volume 49, Number 7, (1916), p.769: "In conclusion, I would like to take this opportunity to thank my friend, the mathematician Grossman, who, through his help, not only spared me the study of the relevant mathematical literature, but also assisted me in the search for the field equations for gravity.

"Endlich sei an dieser Stelle dankbar meines Freundes, des Mathematikers Grossmann, gedacht, der mir durch seine Hilfe nicht nur das Studium der einschlägigen mathematischen Literatur ersparte, sondem mich auch beim Suchen nach den Feldgleichungen der Gravitation unterstützte."

and M. Grossmann, "Mathematische Begriffsbildung zur

Gravitationstheorie", Vierteljahrsschrift der Naturforschenden Gesellschaft in Zürich, Volume 58, (1913), pp. 291-237;

A. Einstein and M. Grossmann, Entwurf einer verallgemeinerten Relativitätstheorie und einer Theorie der Gravitation. I. Physikalischer Teil, von Albert Einstein; II. Mathematischer Teil, von Marcel Grossmann, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1913); reprinted in Zeitschrift für Mathematik und Physik, Volume 62, (1914), pp. 225-259;

and "Définitions Méthodes et Problèmes Mathématiques Relatifs à la Théorie de la Gravitation", Archives des Sciences Physiques et Naturelles, Series 4, Volume 37, (January-June, 1914), pp. 13-19;

and A. Einstein and M. Grossmann, "Kovarianzeigenschaften der Feldgleichungen der auf die verallgemeinerte Relativitätstheorie gegründeten Gravitationstheorie", Zeitschrift für Mathematik und Physik, Volume 63, (1914), pp. 215-225.

558. E. V. Huntington, "A New Approach to the Theory of Relativity", Festschrift Heinrich Weber zu seinem siebzigsten Geburtstag am 5. März 1912 / gewidmet von Freunden und Schülern, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1912), pp. 147-169; Philosophical Magazine, Volume 23, (1912), p. 494; and Earth and Sun: An Hypothesis of Weather and Sunspots, Yale University Press, (1923).

559. M. Brillouin, "Propos Sceptiques au Sujet du Principe de Relativité", *Scientia*, Volume 13, (1913), pp. 10-26; and *Annalen der Physik*, Series 4, Volume 44, (1914), p. 203.

560. A. W. Conway, "Relativity", Edinburgh Mathematical Tracts, Number 3, London, (1913); reprinted G. Bell and Sons, London, (1915).

561. J. Lense, "Das Newton'sche Gesetz in nicht-euklidischen Räumen", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien (Wiener Sitzungsberichte), Volume 126, (1917), pp. 1037-

1063; and Astronomische Nachrichten, Volume 206, (1918), col. 117; and, with H. Thirring, "Über den Einfluß der Eigenrotation der Zentralkörper auf die Bewegung der Planeten und Monde nach der Einsteinschen Gravitationstheorie", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 19, (1918), pp. 156-163; and H. Thirring, "Über die Wirkung rotierender ferner Massen in der Einsteinschen Gravitationstheorie", Physikalische Zeitschrift, Volume 19, (1918), pp. 33-39.

- 562. A. v. Brill, "Das Relativitätsprinzip: Eine Einführung in die Theorie", Second Edition, B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, (1914).
- 563. J. Ishiwara, Jahrbuch der Radioaktivität und Elektronik, Volume 9, (1912), p. 560; and "Zur relativistischen Theorie der Gravitation", Science Reports. First Series, Volume 4, Tohoku Imperial University, Shendai, Japan, (1914), pp. 111-160; and Tokyo Sugaki Butsuri Gakkai: Proceedings. Kizi, Series 2, Volume 8, Number 4, p. 106; and Proceedings of the Physico-Mathematical Society of Tokyo, Volume 8, (1915), p. 318.
- 564. C. E. St. John, Communications to the National Academy of Sciences/Carnegie Institution of Washington, Mount Wilson Solar Observatory, Volume 3, Number 46, (July, 1917), pp. 450-452; and "The Principle of Generalized Relativity and the Displacement of the Fraunhofer Lines toward the Red", Communications to the National Academy of Sciences/Carnegie Institution of Washington, Mount Wilson Solar Observatory, Volume 7, number 138; and The Astrophysical Journal, Volume 46, (1917), p. 249.
- 565. J. Droste, "On the Field of a Single Centre in Einstein's Theory of Gravitation", Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Amsterdam, Volume 17, (1914), pp. 998-1011;

and "The Field of Moving Centers in Einstein's Theory of Gravitation", Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Amsterdam, Volume 19, (1916), pp. 447-475;

and "The Field of a Single Center in Einstein's Theory of Gravitation and the Motion of a Particle in that Field", Proceedings

of the Royal Academy of Sciences at Amsterdam, Volume 19, (1916), pp. 197-218;

and Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen te Amsterdam, Wis en Natuurkundige Afdeeling, Verslagen van de Gewone Vergaderingen, Volume 25, (1916), p. 163.

566. M. Zackheim, Einstein's Daughter, The Search for Lieserl, Riverhead Books, New York, (1999), p. 69.

567. H. Dukas and B. Hoffmann, Albert Einstein, The Human Side, Princeton University Press, (1979), p. 38.

Abbott, 91, 101 Abraham, 45, 165, 233 D'Alembert, 72, 108 Alexander, 135 Anaximander, 114 Anderssohn, 141, 232 Anding, 232 Aristotle, 113, 114, 121, 125-127, 167, 172 Avenarius, 141, 232 Backlund, 232 Bacon, 111 Bain, 166 Ball, R. S., 232 Ball, W. W. R., 232 Bateman, 14, 86, 233 Bauschinger, 232 Behacker, 233 Beltrami, 231 Bentham, 232 Bergmann, 31 Bergson, 15, 104, 105, 223 Berkeley, 141, 144, 231 Bertrand, 232 Bessel, 165, 187, 231 Besso, 216 Boisbaudran, 232 Boltzmann, 211 Bolyai, 231 Born, 29, 30, 155, 157, 205 Boscovich, 36, 37, 54, 60-65, 103, 108, 141, 167, 191, 223, 229, 231

Bottlinger, 233 Boucheporn, 232 Bowie, 233 Bradlev, 45 Brill, 233 Brillouin, 233 Brown, 232 Brücke, 52, 54, 232 Bruns, 232 Bucherer, 8, 191, 232 Buchheim, 232 Budde, 232 Burton, 233 Caldonazzo, 233 Capek, 119 Cassini, 45 Cayley, 232 Challis, 232 Chapin, 232 Charlier, 233 Chase, 232 Christoffel, 232 Clausius, 232 Clifford, 51-58, 101, 177, 178, 232Cohn, 48, 191, 215, 216, 230, 232 Comte, 141, 143 Conway, 233 Couturat, 232 Cox, 232 Croll, 232 Crookes, 232 Cunningham, 116, 137,

233

Cutler, 113 Danin, 196 Davidson, 158 De Pretto, 163, 165 Delboeuf, 232 Des Cartes, 88, 141, 206, 233 Dingle, 24 Dolbear, 109, 167 Doppler, 7, 28, 34, 35, 43, 158, 191, 218 Droste, 233 Drude, 7, 47, 232 Dühring, 232 Dyson, 158 Eddington, 21, 158 Ehrenfest, 8, 233 Engelmeyer, 232 Eötvös, 165, 187, 232 Epstein, 232 Erdmann, 232 Everett, 36, 40, 41 Evershed, 233 Faraday, 49-51, 54, 232 Fechner, 152, 231 Fiedler, 232 FitzGerald, 7, 33, 62, 82, 155-157, 191, 213, 215, 216, 232 Fizeau, 7, 158, 218, 223 Flammarion, 162, 220, 223 Föppl, 232 Francesco, 232 Frank, 10, 233

Frege, 232 Freundlich, 233 Friedlaender, 232 Fritsch, 232 Galileo, 37, 53, 82, 114, 151, 215, 224, 233 Gans, 233 Gauss, 231 Gehrcke, 13, 169, 187, 206, 210, 213, 233 Gerber, 128, 129, 187, 188, 213, 232 Gibbs, 211 Glennie, 232 Goldberg, 140 Green, 232 Grossmann, 233 Günther, 232 Guthrie, 232 Guyot, 232 Gyllenberg, 233 Hall, A., 232 Hall, T. P., 109 Halstead, 107 Hamilton, William (1788-1856), 141, 172 Hamilton, William Rowan, (1805-1865), 233 Härdtl, 232 Hargreaves, 86, 233 Harkness, 232 Harzer, 232 Hasenöhrl, 165, 186, 232 Hayford, 233

Heath, 232

Heaviside, 25, 166, 169, 205 Hecker, 233 Helmert, 233 Helmholtz, 111, 231 Hepperger, 232 Heraclitus, 122, 167 Herapath, 232 Herbart, 127, 231 Herglotz, 233 Hertz, 48, 191, 215, 216 Hilbert, 188, 231 Hinton, 91, 92, 101, 119 Höfler, 232 Hofmann, 233 Holzmüller, 232 Humboldt, 108, 232 Hume, 141, 171, 231 Hundhausen, 232 Huntington, 233 Hupka, 233 Huyghens, 37, 141, 162, 233 Ignatowsky, 233 Infeld, 26, 179 Isenkrahe, 232 Ishiwara, 233 Ives, 161, 167, 186 Jacobi, 233 James, 233 Jammer, 165 Jaumann, 233 Jevons, 45, 180, 182-185 Jewell, 232 Joffe. 160, 172, 171,

195-201, 219 Johannesson, 232 Julius, 232 Kacser, 140 Kant, 135, 231 Kantor, 135, 139 Kaufmann, 8, 165, 166 Kayser, 115, 201 Kennedy, 223 Kepler, 215, 233 Keswani, 31 Keyser, 87 Khavvam, 231 Killing, 232 Klein, 232 Kleinpeter, 232 König, 232 Kottler, 14, 18, 232 Kretschmann, 233 Lagrange, 108, 233 Lamé, 232 Lamla, 233 Lange, 7, 17, 18, 36, 37, 41, 82, 156, 191, 215, 216 Langevin, 7, 156, 215, 216, 230 Laplace, 231 Larmor, 7, 29, 33, 47, 65, 82, 87, 103, 156, 191, 213, 215, 216, 230, 232 Laub, 8, 128, 129, 191 Laue, 8, 10, 205 Lehmann, 232 Lehmann-Filhés, 232 Leibnitz, 141, 143, 153,

162, 233 Lenard, 210 Lense, 233 Leray, 232 Levi-Civita, 232 Lévy, 232 Lie, 231 Liebmann, 232 Liman, 232 Lindemann, 70-76, 79, 232 Lipschitz, 233 Lobatschewsky, 72, 231 Locke, 72, 109, 141, 231 Lorentz, 7-14, 16, 19-21, 20, 21, 23, 24, 27-33, 35, 36, 43, 46, 47, 52, 63-65, 68, 77, 82, 83, 86, 104, 129-131, 133, 155-158, 165, 169, 186, 188, 191, 192, 206, 207, 210, 212, 213, 215, 216, 220, 224, 226, 228-230, 233 Love, 232 MacGregor, 232 Mach, 54, 71, 105, 108, 109, 114, 128, 141, 142, 171, 172, 232 Mackaye, 23 Manning, 107, 113, 114 Mansion, 232 Marcolongo, 86, 87, 104, 133 Marić, Mileva Einstein-Marity, 7, 31, 156, 164,

195-218, 224, 228, 231 Maxwell, 12, 16, 24, 29, 31, 34, 45, 48, 49, 55-57, 156, 165, 177, 178, 182, 232 Mayer, 231, 232 Michelson, 11, 43, 62, 77. 182, 185, 187, 191, 192, 224-226, 230, 234 Mie, 232 Mill, 180 Minkowski, 8-10, 12, 14, 26, 34, 36, 85-89, 103-119, 128, 129, 133, 135, 138, 140, 191, 205, 219, 233 More, 109 Morley, 11, 62, 225, 226, 234 Mosengeil, 233 Mossotti, 232 Most, 232 Neumann, 82, 232 Newcomb, 91, 92, 165, 232 Newton, 9, 31, 40, 53-55, 66, 67, 71, 74, 79, 82, 104, 135, 139, 140, 142-144, 151, 153, 156, 161-165, 172-176, 179, 187, 189, 190, 206, 231, 233 Noether, 233 Nordmann, 7, 15, 137, 206 Nordström, 233

Occam, 176 Oppenheim, 232 Oppenheimer, 160 Oppolzer, 232 Pais, 201 Palágyi, 104, 119, 138, 210 Parmenides. 115, 121-125 Pasley, 232 Pauli, 14-17, 233 Pavanini, 233 Pearson, 170, 232 Petzoldt, 141, 171, 232 Planck, 8, 9, 135-137. 159, 165, 187, 232 Poe, 107, 108, 232 Poincaré, 7-13, 15-17, 19-20, 22, 27-33, 35-37, 41, 42, 44, 48, 59, 65-71, 76-79, 82, 85-88, 104, 128, 129, 133, 155-158, 165, 166, 177, 178, 191-193, 204, 206, 211, 215, 216, 219, 223, 225, 227, 230, 235 Poisson, 26, 233 Pope, 110 Preston, 92, 163-165, 232 Pringsheim, 232 Ptolemy, 113, 114 Rabelais, 206 Reich, 231 Reissner, 233 Resnick, 140

Ricci, 232 Riemann, 53, 103, 109, 112, 231 Ritz, 233 Robb, 14 Rodwell, 103 Roemer, 45, 66, 223 Roosevelt, 159, 161 Roseveare, 233 Rougier, 165 Rowland, 37, 42, 76 Russell, 137 Rysának, 232 Saccheri, 231 Sachs, 159 Saigev, 232 Salmon, 232 Sanford, 109 Scheibner, 232 Schering, 232 Schott, 232 Schramm, 232 Schubert, 110, 112, 131-133 Schulhof, 232 Schuster, 232 Schütz, 232 Schwarzschild, 232 Schweydar, 233 Secchi, 232 Seegers, 232 Seeliger, 18, 232 Seguin, 231 Servus, 232

Shankland, 11

Silberstein, 14, 233 Sitter, 233 Soddy, 166 Soldner, 158, 162, 231 Sommerville, 107 Souchon, 232 Spencer, 27, 141, 143 Spiller, 130, 232 St. John, 233 Stachel, 202 Stallo, 36, 37, 101, 108, 112, 133, 141, 232 Stewart, 106, 113 Streintz, 36, 142, 232 Stroh, 232 Szilard, 159 Tait, 106, 111, 113 Taylor, 225 Tesla, 216 Thirring, 19 Thomson, 163, 165, 167 Tilly, 72, 232 Tisserand, 232 Trbuhović-Gjurić, 197 Troemel-Ploetz, 204 Tunzelmann, 233 Turner, 114 Twain, 193 Ueberweg, 120 Vaihinger, 21, 25, 232 Varičak, 210, 233 Veblen, 107 Vicaire, 232 Voigt, 7, 8, 15, 29, 33-36,

65, 82, 87, 156, 191, 213,

215, 216 Volkmann, 232 Voltaire, 206 Volterra, 11 Voss, 232 Wacker, 233 Walker, 7, 196, 202 Wallis, 113 Waterston, 232 Weber, H. F. 203 Weber, L. 232 Weber, W. 232 Webster, 12 Wells, 88, 91, 219 Weyl, 115 Weyland, 206, 210 Wheeler, 225 Whittaker, 27-28, 157, 165, 233 Wiechert, 232 Wien, 212, 213 Wigner, 159 Wilkens, 232 Wilson, 233 Wulf, 232 Wundt, 232 Xenophanes, 120, 121 Zalewski, 232 Zenneck, 232 Zeno, 124-127 Zöllner, 109-111, 232





OTHER BOOKS

BY

CHRISTOPHER JON BJERKNES

Einstein's Modus Operandi for Plagiarism The Two Postulate Myth

> The Special Theory of Relativity A Historico-Critical Analysis

The Special Theory of Relativity A Source Book of Pre-Einstein Primary Sources

> The General Theory of Relativity A Historico-Critical Analysis

The General Theory of Relativity A Source Book of Pre-Einstein Primary Sources

DATE DUE			
			3-5
			ANAMES BUILDS



WAS ALBERT EINSTEIN A PLAGIARIST?

"Although generally associated with the names of Einstein and Minkowski, the really essential physical considerations underlying the theories are due to Larmor and Lorentz."—ALFRED ARTHUR ROBB

"Einstein's explanation is a dimensional disguise for Lorentz's... Thus Einstein's theory is not a denial of, nor an alternative for, that of Lorentz. It is only a duplicate and disguise for it... Einstein continually maintains that the theory of Lorentz is right, only he disagrees with his 'interpretation.' Is it not clear, therefore, that in this, as in other cases, Einstein's theory is merely a disguise for Lorentz's, the apparent disagreement about 'interpretation' being a matter of words only?"—JAMES MACKAYE

"Einstein published a paper which set forth the relativity theory of Poincaré and Lorentz with some amplifications, and which attracted much attention."—SIR EDMUND WHITTAKER

"Many of you have looked upon [Einstein's] paper 'Zur Elektrodynamik bewegter Körper' in Annalen der Physik... and you will have noticed some peculiarities. The striking point is that it contains not a single reference to previous literature. It gives you the impression of quite a new venture. But that is, of course, as I have tried to explain, not true."—MAX BORN

"In point of fact, therefore, Poincaré was not only the first to enunciate the principle, but he also discovered in Lorentz's work the necessary mathematical formulation of the principle. All this happened before Einstein's paper appeared."—G. H. KESWANI

